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BBB–/Baa3 (stable)
Credit rating (Standard & Poor’s/Moody’s)

$10.1 billion
Funds under management

55,492
Total number of securityholders

11,094
Total number of employees

   Cover: Urban regeneration is a core competency for Lend Lease.  
The cover shows Lend Lease Jacksons Landing team members in 
front of the Evolve apartment building at Jacksons Landing community 
development on Sydney Harbour. See the inside back cover for full details. 

1.  Distributions include interim and final distributions. June 2010 also includes 
a dividend ‘in specie’ of Lend Lease Trust units of 0.1 cents per security.

2.  Operating Profit after Tax excludes net property investment revaluation  
gains/losses.

3.  Earnings per security is calculated based on Operating Profit after Tax 
and the weighted average number of securities on issue including treasury 
securities. June 2009 has been adjusted by a factor of 1.02 in respect of 
new securities issued during March and April 2010 via a 5 for 22 single  
book build accelerated renounceable entitlement offer at $7.70 per security.

4. Based on operating profit after tax from operating businesses.
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 *  Exact dates will be confirmed on the Lend Lease website  
Investor Relations section at www.lendlease.com in due course

Important dates to remember*

February  Announcement of Half Year Results

March  Security price quoted ex distribution

March  Interim distribution record date

March  Interim distribution payable

August  Announcement of Full Year Results

August  Security price quoted ex distribution

August  Final distribution record date

September  Final distribution payable

November  Annual General Meeting
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Lend Lease is a member of the Dow Jones Sustainability 
World Index which is used by DJSI licensed asset managers 
to manage investments worth close to US$8 billion each year.

* All financial amounts in this report are in Australian Dollars 
unless otherwise specified 
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 Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited ABN 72 122 883 185 
AFS Licence 308983 as responsible entity for  
Lend Lease Trust ABN 39 944 184 773 ARSN 128 052 595

Our philosophy 
Founded in Sydney in 1958 by 
Dutch immigrant and innovator 
Dick Dusseldorp, Lend Lease 
was born out of a vision to 
create a company that could 
successfully combine four 
disciplines: property, financing, 
development and investment. 
Our vision is to be the leading 
international property company. 

We are committed to being 
Incident & Injury Free wherever 
we have a presence. We 
are committed to creating 
and building innovative and 
sustainable solutions, forging 
partnerships and delivering 
strong investment returns. 
Sustainability has been an 
integral part of our culture, as 
we believe every action adds up. 
Through design and investment 
in new technologies, we are 
delivering the next generation 
of sustainable property solutions. 

Our philosophy, coupled with our 
integrated capabilities, enables us 
to deliver the best outcomes for 
our securityholders, our clients, 
our partners and our employees.

Together… 

Front cover: Urban regeneration is a core competency for Lend Lease. 
Jacksons Landing is a major mixed-use residential and commercial 
development on the Pyrmont peninsula, on Sydney Harbour. The 
cover shows Lend Lease Jacksons Landing team members in front of 
the Evolve apartment building. (L-R) Trent English, Bovis Lend Lease 
structure foreman; Jennifer Cooper, Vivas Lend Lease senior development 
manager; Peter Sheehan, Bovis Lend Lease site manager; and 
Tarah Spencer, Vivas Lend Lease marketing manager.

Contact details

Lend Lease Corporation Limited ABN 32 000 226 228

Incorporated in NSW Australia and

Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited ABN 72 122 883 185

AFS Licence 308983 as responsible entity for 

Lend Lease Trust ABN 39 944 184 773 ARSN 128 052 595

Registered Office

Level 4, 30 The Bond 

30 Hickson Road Millers Point 

NSW 2000 Australia

Contact

T: 61 (2) 9236 6111

F: 61 (2) 9252 2192

W: www.lendlease.com

Environmentally Friendly in Every Way

Environmental Credentials Statement 
The cover and editorial section of this Report are printed on Nordset, 
an environmentally responsible paper produced from FSC (Mixed Sources) 
CoC certified pulp from Well Managed Forests, is Elemental Chlorine 
Free (ECF) and is made Carbon Neutral. The greenhouse gas emissions 
produced from the transport, processing and manufacture of the wood 
pulp to the delivery to Raleigh Paper’s clients (the cradle to gate lifecycle) 
has been calculated, offset and certified by the Carbon Reduction 
Institute (CRI). Raleigh Paper has purchased carbon offset credits under 
the Voluntary Carbon Standard to offset these emissions. Nordset is 
manufactured by Nordland Papier, a company certified with environmental 
management systems ISO14001 and EMAS, the EU Eco-Management 
and Audit Scheme (Reg.No.D-162-00007) Nordset has also been awarded 
the EU “Flower” eco-label certification.

The financials of this Report are printed on Sumo Offset Laser. It is an 
environmentally responsible papers manufactured under the environmental 
management system ISO14001 using Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) 
pulp sourced from sustainable, well managed forests. Sumo Offset Laser 
is FSC Chain of Custody (CoC) certified (mixed sources).

Printing specifications
The cover and editorial of this Report are printed using vegetable based 
inks and varnish. These inks are biodegradable. They do not harm the 
environment.
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Annual General Meeting 2010

The 2010 General Meeting 
of Lend Lease Corporation 
Limited and Meeting 
of Securityholders of 
Lend Lease Trust will be 
held at 10am on Thursday 
11 November 2010 at 
The Four Seasons Hotel, 
199 George Street, Sydney. 
Full details are contained 
in the Notice of Meeting 
sent with this Report.

precinct.com.au
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2011 Financial Calendar

February  Announcement of Half Year Results

March  Interim distribution payable

August  Announcement of Full Year Results

September  Final distribution payable

November  Annual General Meeting
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Together

Lend Lease is one of the 
world’s leading fully integrated 
property solutions providers. 
Our longstanding experience 
and market insight enables 
us to deliver the best property 
outcomes through a full range 
of economic and market cycles. 
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2010 overview
I am pleased to report that Lend Lease delivered an Operating 
Profit after Tax of $323.6 million, a 5.2% increase on the prior year, 
despite difficult market conditions offshore and reduced overseas 
earnings due to a strengthening Australian dollar.

Earnings growth was largely driven by the strong 
performance from our retail and communities businesses and a 
record profit from our project management, design & construction 
business in the Asia Pacific region. Our offshore construction 
businesses continue to be impacted by a significant slowdown 
in construction markets.

Lend Lease reported a Statutory Profit after Tax for 
the year of $345.6 million, including net property investment 
revaluation gains of $22.0 million. The Board declared a fully 
franked final distribution of 12 cents per security. This brings the 
full year distribution to 32.1 cents per security, which is a payout 
ratio of 50% of Operating Profit after Tax. 

Financial strength
Prudent capital management has placed Lend Lease in a 
strong financial position, with significant capacity to fund growth 
opportunities. During the year the Group put in place $1.2 billion 
of new and refinanced debt facilities and raised $0.8 billion 
in equity. The Group’s investment grade credit rating has been 
confirmed with a stable outlook and Lend Lease continues to 
access third party capital through its managed funds platform.

New stapled structure
Lend Lease created a stapled structure which will enable 
us to be more flexible in how we hold passive assets in future. 
While Lend Lease has not yet utilised this new stapled structure, 
it places Lend Lease in a better position to generate yield 
enhancement opportunities going forward.

Our people
Our people and culture ensure the ongoing success of our 
business. This year Lend Lease conducted an extensive 
review of its remuneration policy to ensure that it continues 
to be aligned with the long term strategic business imperatives 
which will drive long term value creation for our securityholders. 

The enhancements made seek to address securityholder 
feedback from 2009 and focus on increasing securityholder 
returns while continuing to attract, retain and motivate 
talented people. These changes are detailed in the Remuneration 
Report (pages 95–114).

Sustainability and safety
Lend Lease is a leader in sustainability and is actively focused 
on developing and investing in sustainable solutions. Over the 
past year Lend Lease has delivered over 100 green buildings.

Our Incident & Injury Free vision lies at the heart 
of Lend Lease’s ambition to be a truly sustainable Group. 
Tragically three people died on Lend Lease construction 
projects this financial year. Fatal incidents are unacceptable and 
Lend Lease continues to work very hard to achieve zero incidents 
and injuries in our business. 

Outlook
The Australian economy remains resilient and has been one of 
the best performing in the western world. In Australia, Lend Lease 
had an exceptional year having secured a number of outstanding 
development opportunities. The outlook for Lend Lease is very 
positive provided we execute well on the delivery of this pipeline. 
There are signs of opportunities emerging in Asia and over the 
next few years the Group will invest more capital in this region. 

In the UK, Lend Lease has secured leading urban 
regeneration positions in London and is in a strong position 
to invest capital as the market strengthens. Economic conditions 
in the US remain challenging and the Group will look for further 
signs of recovery before committing new capital for investment.

With talented people and an exceptional project pipeline 
Lend Lease is well placed for growth.

Chairman’s report

David Crawford AO, Chairman

 Outlook
 “The Australian economy remains resilient 

and has been one of the best performing in 
the western world. In Australia, Lend Lease had 
an exceptional year having secured a number 
of outstanding development opportunities.” 
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2010 was a very important and successful year for Lend Lease. 
We have worked hard to position Lend Lease for long term growth. 
During 2010 the Group demonstrated the strength of its integrated 
model in securing a number of outstanding urban regeneration 
projects around the world. Our key focus in the 2011 financial year 
will be to ensure we have the right teams and strategic approach 
to execute well and deliver the optimal mix of risk and return on 
these projects.

Building our long term pipeline
In Australia, Lend Lease secured the $6.0 billion first stage of 
Barangaroo in Sydney, the $400 million first stage of the Alkimos 
master-planned community in Western Australia, two significant 
apartment development sites in Richmond and Orrong Road in 
Melbourne and led a consortium which acquired the $1.4 billion 
ING Retail Property Fund assets. In addition, we signed a 
conditional project development agreement for the $2.5 billion 
RNA Showgrounds development in Brisbane and consolidated 
our position in the retirement sector with the acquisition of the 
remaining 56.8% interest in Lend Lease Primelife. 

In Singapore, Lend Lease, along with one of its managed 
funds, was awarded Jurong Gateway, a large mixed-use 
development opportunity. In the UK, we are pleased to have 
progressed two major urban regeneration opportunities, the 
£1.3 billion second stage of Stratford City and the £1.5 billion 
regeneration of Elephant & Castle. In the US, Lend Lease 
continued to work closely with the US military under the 
Military Housing Privatization Initiative and Lodging programs.

Progress on strategy
In early 2009, Lend Lease committed to a clear and simple strategy 
based on a three stage journey of Restore, Build and Lead. Over 
the past year, we have made significant progress in restructuring 
and repositioning the Group and have exceeded our targets in 
relation to building our development pipeline. Where necessary, 
we have also reduced our overheads in line with declining volumes. 

During the year, the Group moved to a regional structure 
focused on the four major regions of Australia, Asia, Europe and 
the Americas to enhance the efficiency benefits of our integrated 
business model and provide a platform to develop regional 
investment opportunities. In addition, Lend Lease has significantly 
strengthened its senior management team with a number of key 
internal and external appointments.

As a development led business, the key to long term 
success is securing high quality projects at attractive prices at the 
right time in the cycle and then executing them well. Lend Lease 
has an enviable global pipeline of opportunities which will allow 
the Group to deliver growth over the medium term. Successful 
delivery also requires a strong balance sheet which was enhanced 
through our equity raising during the year. This financial strength, 
and our access to third party capital through our investment 
management business, provides the flexibility to extract significant 
value from these projects while managing our own capital 
exposure sensibly.

Growth opportunities
Lend Lease is well positioned to capitalise on the key growth 
trends which underpin long term demand for property. 
These include urban regeneration, retirement, sustainability, 
public private partnerships and growth in superannuation and 
sovereign wealth funds. These trends underpin our strategy and 
growth. In particular, our significant urban regeneration pipeline 
provides the opportunity for us to demonstrate world leadership 
in sustainable design, construction and technology with the 
capacity to deliver a new generation of green precincts.

Lend Lease is in a very strong competitive position 
and our integrated business model will drive our future success.

Chief Executive Officer’s report

Steve McCann, Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

 Growth opportunities
“… our significant urban regeneration pipeline 
provides the opportunity for us to demonstrate 
world leadership in sustainable design, 
construction and technology with the capacity 
to deliver a new generation of green precincts.” 
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Our capabilities

Our capabilities span the entire 
property value chain, from the 
origination of opportunities through 
to the delivery of great property 
outcomes. We can offer investors 
and clients one element or an 
end‑to‑end solution. 

 Development  
management

 Investment  
management
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 Project management, 
design & construction

 Asset & property  
management

We find
Sourcing the best property opportunities

We buy 
Structuring the right deal 

We fund 
Providing the right investment solutions 

We design 
Creating innovative and sustainable property 
solutions 

We build 
Building and project managing using our global 
construction reach 

We manage 
Continually enhancing the value of property 
over time 
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We 
fund

We 
manage

We 
build

We find

With the right mix of assets and skills, 
Lend Lease is well positioned to 
capitalise on five of the key growth 
trends driving the property sector: 
urban regeneration, ageing population, 
sustainability, public private 
partnerships, and growth in the 
sovereign and pension fund markets.

Opportunities  
for future growth
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We 
design

We 
buy

•		By	2050,	more	than	69%	of	the	world’s	
population will be urban dwellers

•		As	urbanisation	increases,	inner	city	
industrial areas will be regenerated

•		Governments	increasing	infrastructure	
spend to drive economic stimulus

•		Driven	by	greater	transparency,	governance	
and discipline of government spend

•		Mandatory	retirement	savings	–	
Australian superannuation funds are forecast 
to reach $2.8 trillion by 2020 

•		Sovereign	wealth	funds	are	forecast	to	triple	
in size to US$10 trillion by 2015

•		Driven	by	mandatory	carbon	trading,	
statutory and regulatory changes

•		Cost	and	productivity	advantages

•		Continued	increases	in	life	expectancy:
 –  By 2020, 27% of world’s population 

to be over 65 in more developed regions
 –  Number of Australians over 65 to grow 

to 27% by 2051

 Growth in sovereign 
and pension fund market

 Public private 
partnerships Ageing population

Urban regeneration Sustainability
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Our safety

‘Incident & Injury Free’ simply means that we believe anyone 
who works for us or visits our assets has the right to go home 
in the same condition as they arrived.

Our Incident & Injury Free vision lies at the heart of 
Lend Lease’s ambition to be a truly socially sustainable 
company. This ethos is deeply entrenched across all levels 
of our operations and activities. 

Being Incident & Injury Free is about people, actions and 
business relationships, not just numbers. Over the past year we 
have focused on embedding our Global Minimum Requirements 
for safety. This has been supported by extensive education, 
training and engagement programs, along with compliance 
oversight across all sites and assets. 

Measurement is also key, and our online incident and 
compliance reporting system provides transparency for major 
incidents and enables us to learn from incident risk trending 
and take proactive actions to improve our safety performance.

We have also assigned safety roles and responsibilities 
for our front-line construction employees and have completed 
safety leadership workshops for senior management within 
our construction business. 

Recognising best practice in safety
Each year, Lend Lease hosts the ‘Incident & Injury Free Global 
Awards’, recognising and rewarding exceptional employees 
across our global businesses who are leading our vision to 
be Incident & Injury Free. The winners embody our passion 
for delivering best practice and innovation in safety and are 
an inspiration for us all. 

Award winning safety innovations
The Bovis Lend Lease team in Shanghai won the Civilised 
Safe Site Award for its role in the construction of the Australian 
Pavilion for the 2010 World Expo in Shanghai.

Onsite safety innovations included the introduction 
of a birdcage scaffold throughout the construction of the 
Act 3 exhibition space. This scaffolding system is not common 
practice in China, but was so successful in eliminating the risk 
of worker falls from height, that the Expo Bureau used it as 
a benchmark example for the construction of other Pavilions.

More than 1,500 construction workers on the site were 
given Incident & Injury Free induction training. The project 
recorded 807,800 man hours worked without Incident and 
Injury, a significant achievement for a project of this complexity 
in this region. 

Incident & Injury Free 
is a fundamental part 
of Lend Lease culture.

 We continue to invest in safety and are 
confident that we are on the right track. 
Lagging and leading indicators show that we 
are making progress and we are determined 
to move closer to our goal of becoming 
a truly Incident & Injury Free organisation.

Dan Labbad, CEO Europe, Middle East and Africa with Incident & Injury Free Global 
award winner Ian Shepherd.



5,000 Lend Lease employees attended
face‑to‑face Incident & Injury Free 
briefings
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The fall of people 
and materials, 
property damage 
and electrical shock 
were the most common 
circumstances 
surrounding major 
incidents over the 
past financial year.

It is pleasing to report 
that our Lost Time Injury 
Frequency Rates have 
fallen significantly over 
the past few years. 

   Bovis Lend Lease Australia

  Bovis Lend Lease US

  Bovis Lend Lease UK

   Bovis Lend Lease CEMEA

  Bovis Lend Lease Asia

  Actus Lend Lease

Our safety performance
Lend Lease is working very hard to be Incident & Injury Free. 

Tragically, within our global construction business, three 
people died this financial year and although this is the lowest 
number of reported fatalities since Lend Lease commenced 
global safety reporting a decade ago, any loss of life is 
simply unacceptable. 

Australian Pavilion in Shanghai under construction.

 4% Failure of equipment

 5% Struck by vehicle 

 8% Slip/trip 

 9% Other 

 11% Electric shock 

 14% Fall of person

 16% Property damage

 33% Fall of materials

Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rates 
(LTIFR) 

Global major
incidents by
circumstance

4 5
8

9

11

1416

33

By circumstance

FY10

LTIFR

0.
86 1.

01

0.
93

0.
72

0.
19

0.
19

LTIFR

1.
39

1.
0

0

0.
99

1.
23

0.
19

0.
13

FY09

FY10 FY08

1.
63

1.
25

1.
15

1.
43

0.
20

LTIFR

0.
08

7,000 employees completed online Safety training 
Passport modules

650 peer review audits carried out to assess
GMR compliance globally

Fatalities on Lend Lease controlled projects* in FY10

      Assignment 
Project Date Circumstance 1 2 3 type

Hotel Libertador, Dec 09 Fell from scaffold  x  CM 

Urubamba, Peru

Columbia, New York, Feb 10 Fell into lift shaft  x  CM 

USA

Denistone Primary, May 10 Struck by moving   x MC 

Sydney, Australia  vehicle outside 

  site boundary

Employment status:  CM: Construction Manager 
1 Lend Lease employee MC: Managing Contractor 
2 Sub-contractor employee   
3 Sub-contractor of sub-contractor employee

*  Lend Lease reports incidents and injuries on our sites or assets where we 
have any degree of control or involvement, whether they relate to employees, 
subcontractors or other indirect relationships.

Employ‑ 
ment  
status
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 PHASE 1
 What we have delivered

✔		Regional structure  
effective 1 July 2010

✔	 Reduced overheads in line 
with declining volumes

✔	Focus on efficiency

✔		Raised $1.1 billion in equity 
over last 18 months

✔		Raised over $6.4 billion 
in equity and debt 
in investment 
management platform 
over the last 18 months

 PHASE 2
 What we have delivered

✔  Key internal and 
external appointments

✔  Secured significant urban 
regeneration pipeline

✔  Acquired 100% of 
Lend Lease Primelife

✔  Scaling Investment 
Management platform 

✔  Public private partnership 
capability established 
in Australia and Canada 

 PHASE 3
 Set the industry standards

•	 	World class property 
solutions company

•	 	Strong integrated offering

•	 	Trusted investment partner

Restore Build Lead

Delivering on our strategy

Lend Lease has a clear strategy to realise 
the long term growth potential of our business. 
Over the past year we have made significant 
progress in delivering the first two phases 
of that strategy.
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Year in review

Bovis Lend Lease 
commences work on the 
$300 million new Melbourne 
Wholesale Fruit, Vegetable 
and Flower Markets.

A consortium led by 
Lend Lease, including 
Lend Lease managed funds, 
is appointed preferred bidder 
to acquire the 14 assets of 
the $1.4 billion ING Retail 
Property Fund. 

Lend Lease is selected as 
preferred proponent for 
Stage 1 of Barangaroo, the 
largest CBD development 
in the history of Sydney with 
an end value of $6 billion. 
The project is expected to 
be completed over the next 
10 to 15 years.

JANUARY 2010
Lend Lease is appointed 
preferred proponent by 
the Western Australian 
Government for the 
$400 million first stage  
of the Alkimos master-
planned community 
development.

FEBRUARY 2010
Australian Prime Property 
Fund Retail to proceed 
with the $210 million 
redevelopment and 
expansion of Caneland 
Central shopping centre 
in Mackay, Queensland.

Lend Lease acquires a 
three hectare Richmond 
site in Melbourne to create 
a master-planned residential 
development with an end 
value of $400 million.

MARCH 2010
Lend Lease completes 
$807 million equity raising.

APRIL 2010
Lend Lease signs 
Conditional Framework 
Agreement worth £1.3 billion, 
with London & Continental 
Railways for the stage 2 
regeneration of the Stratford 
City site. Construction of the 
development is expected 
to start post the London 
Olympic and Paralympic 
Games in 2013.

Australian Prime Property 
Fund Retail completes 
$500 million equity raising.

Lend Lease moves to a 
regional business structure, 
effective 1 July 2010.

JUNE 2010
A joint bid by Lend Lease 
and one of its managed 
funds is awarded the Jurong 
Gateway Road site, a large 
scale mixed-use suburban 
development in Singapore.

JULY 2009
Australian Prime Property 
Fund Retail completes new 
$250 million, three year 
Medium Term Note.

AUGUST 2009
Bovis Lend Lease wins 
$250 million education 
contract in NSW by 
Catholic Archdiocese of 
Sydney for new facilities 
and refurbishments across 
110 Catholic schools.

Lend Lease acquires nine 
aged care facilities and 
four retirement villages 
from Prime Retirement and 
Aged Care Property Trust.

Actus Lend Lease reaches 
financial close on Phase One 
of the Privatisation of Army 
Lodging Group A program, 
involving the refurbishment 
and management of 
62 lodging facilities across 
10 US Army installations.

Lend Lease forms an advisory 
origination business focused 
on the Australian public 
private partnership market 
called Capella Capital.

Catalyst Lend Lease 
achieves financial close on 
the first phase of the Building 
Schools for the Future 
project in Birmingham  
worth £180 million.

OCTOBER 2009
Lend Lease and joint 
venture partner Quintain 
Estates & Development plc 
completes the sale of the 
share capital in Meridian 
Delta Dome Limited.

NOVEMBER 2009
Catalyst Lend Lease sells 
its 50% interest in Queen’s 
Hospital, Romford.

Lend Lease becomes 
a stapled entity.

DECEMBER 2009
Lend Lease agrees Heads 
of Terms with the London 
Borough of Southwark for 
the £1.5 billion regeneration 
of Elephant & Castle.

Lend Lease Primelife 
securityholders approve 
Lend Lease’s acquisition 
of remaining securities, 
taking Lend Lease to 100% 
ownership.

1  Darling Quarter site, 
Sydney.

2  The new Royal 
Children’s Hospital, 
Melbourne.

3  Greenwich Peninsula, 
UK.

4  313@somerset, 
Singapore.

1 2

3 4
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We build

Operating result $ million FY10 FY09

Operating profit after tax by geography 66.3 60.3

Asia Pacific 13.3 8.9

Europe 35.4 24.0

Americas 17.6 27.4

Portfolio summary FY10 FY09

No. of centres managed 23 16

Assets under management ($ billion) 10.7 8.7

Retail development pipeline ($ billion) 2.9 4.7

What we do 
Lend Lease’s retail business comprises retail property 
management, asset management, asset ownership and 
development in Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, the UK 
and the US.

How we performed
The retail business reported a higher operating profit after tax 
in 2010 due to higher investment income on newly acquired and 
completed assets in Asia Pacific and the sale of the Group’s 
interest in the Performance Retail Limited Partnership in the UK. 
The retail business significantly increased its number of centres 
managed from 16 to 23 with the acquisition of the ING Retail 
assets as part of a consortium with the investment management 
business. In addition, Lend Lease was awarded the Jurong Road 
site in Singapore in conjunction with the Asian Retail Investment 
Fund managed by Lend Lease.

Key	events	during	the	year	included:
•	 Completion	of	the	313@somerset	retail	development	in	

Singapore which opened fully leased in December 2009;
•	 Completion	of	the	MidCity	retail	centre	in	Sydney	

which opened fully leased in June 2010;
•	 Completion	of	the	Caroline	Springs	retail	development	

in Melbourne; and
•	 Commencement	of	a	$210	million	redevelopment	

at Caneland Central in Queensland on behalf of the 
Australian Prime Property Fund Retail.

In the UK, the value of prime retail assets has stabilised 
with a firming of capitalisation rates. In the US, the value 
of Lend Lease’s interest in the King of Prussia shopping 
centre (in US dollars) was relatively unchanged from last year. 

 Outlook
 The retail centres we manage continue 

to perform well. In the UK and the 
US, the valuation of prime retail assets 
has stabilised.  

Retail report
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We find

MIDCITY OPENING
Successful opening 
of MidCity in Sydney 
in June 2010.

MidCity and 420 George Street
Sydney’s premium retail district

MidCity is transforming 
Sydney’s premium 
retail district.

When the new MidCity style space opened in June 2010, 
it was the market forerunner to the transformation of Sydney’s 
premium retail district. 

The A$662 million redevelopment offers 9,000 square 
metres of prime retail space in one of the most successful retail 
precincts in Australia. The four level retail centre links two of 
Sydney’s busiest thoroughfares, George Street and Pitt Street 
Mall – with over 60,000 people passing through the centre each 
day. MidCity has been designed to maximise natural light and 
create an open space feel using glass and steel, coupled with 
clean lines and natural stone finishes. 

The MidCity project is another great example of how 
Lend Lease’s integrated capabilities work together for successful 
outcomes. Bovis Lend Lease undertook the redevelopment 
over a three year period. The owners of the development are the 
Lend Lease managed Australian Prime Property Fund Retail and 
Fortius Funds Management. 

Lend Lease is responsible for the development, marketing 
and leasing of the retail levels, as well as the long term 
management of the new MidCity. Having successfully secured 
some of the best Australian ‘high street’ brand names including 
General Pants, Witchery and Rebel Sport, the premium tenancy 
mix reflects MidCity’s prime location.

The redevelopment incorporates the new 37,900 square 
metre commercial tower, known as 420 George Street. 
Scheduled for completion in August 2010, the 5 Star Green Star 
– Office Design v2 rated office tower directly links into the retail 
centre, squarely positioning MidCity as one of Sydney’s leading 
retail destinations.

We 
manage
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Q+A 
Retail 

Interview 

Eng‑Peng Ooi, CEO Asia, talks about 
retail prospects in the Asian market

Q: What is Lend Lease’s retail presence in Asia? 
A: Lend Lease has a well established position as one 
of the top property managers and owners of shopping 
centres in Singapore. 

Our Asian retail portfolio includes the newly opened 
prime	Orchard	Road	centre,	313@somerset,	in	addition	
to suburban shopping centres Parkway Parade and 
PoMo. In Malaysia, the Lend Lease managed Asian Retail 
Investment Fund is in a joint venture with S P Setia to build 
a regional mall, Setia City Mall, in Shah Alam.

Our commitment to delivering sustainable property 
solutions	has	been	recognised	with	313@somerset,	
Parkway Parade and PoMo being awarded the Building and 
Construction Authority (BCA) Green Mark Platinum Award, 
Singapore’s highest accolade for sustainable buildings.

Q: What is the outlook for Asian retail?
A: Long term economic fundamentals are very supportive 
of the retail sector, backed by strong consumption and 
robust economic growth supported by trade with China. 

Q: Which Asian countries are the most attractive? 
A: Our near term focus for retail is on three countries, 
Singapore, Malaysia and China. Singapore retail remains very 
competitive because retail malls are very tightly held.  

Q:  How has the market responded to the opening  
of 313@somerset in Singapore?

A:		 Since	its	opening,	313@somerset	has	seen	an	average	
of three million visitors per month and is undergoing 
stabilisation to maximise sales through some refinement 
of retail mix.

On	the	back	of	the	opening	of	313@somerset	we	have	
seen greater interest from potential capital partners seeking 
to work with us on future development projects.

Q: What’s next for retail in Asia?
A: We will continue to increase our retail footprint in Asia 
by securing integrated positions in shopping centres with 
expansion potential in growing catchment areas.

As part of this strategy, in June this year Lend Lease 
expanded its presence in the highly sought after Singapore 
retail market with the acquisition of a suburban land parcel 
at Jurong Gateway Road with capacity for 108,000 square 
metres of mixed-use development. The Jurong Gateway 
precinct will be the biggest commercial hub outside the city 
centre. It will have a unique lakeside setting and a good mix 
of office, retail, hotel, entertainment, food and beverage and 
other complementary uses. 

Lend Lease will create and deliver a prime suburban 
shopping mall and commercial tower providing end-to-end 
property solutions services, including development 
management, design, project management, construction, 
and asset and property management services. 

The asset will be owned 75% by the Asian Retail 
Investment Fund, managed by Lend Lease, which is now 
fully invested, and Lend Lease will have a 25% direct interest.

Q+A

“We will continue to 
increase our retail 
footprint in Asia by 
securing integrated 
positions in shopping 
centres with expansion 
potential in growing 
catchment areas.” 

 Eng‑Peng Ooi, CEO Asia



 Lend Lease 15

We  
fund

We 
design

CS Square 
refurbishment
Reinvigorating the Caroline 
Springs community

313@somerset
Singapore prime retail

The recent expansion of CS Square 
within the Delfin Lend Lease 
developed Caroline Springs 
community in Melbourne’s west 
has tripled the size of the centre to 
over 19,000 square metres – now 
housing approximately 70 retailers.

Planned in response 
to community needs, the 
redevelopment included the 
introduction of ALDI, Target, 
1st Choice Liquor Superstore and 
around 40 specialty stores.

Completed in October 2009, 
the new CS Square enhances the 
profile of the Caroline Springs 
Town Centre and provides greater 
convenience and a broader scope 
of amenities to both residents and 
visitors from surrounding suburbs.

Managed by Lend Lease and 
jointly owned by Australian Prime 
Property Fund Retail and the Lend 
Lease Core Plus Fund, this project 
is a great example of Lend Lease’s 
integrated model – with Lend Lease 
showcasing its retail and project 
management and construction 
capabilities to deliver a thriving retail 
centre which has become a hub 
of the Caroline Springs community. 

“The successful opening of 313@somerset 
in December 2009, fully leased in an extremely 
challenging environment reinforces our 
reputation as an organisation with the capacity 
to design and deliver prime, sustainable retail 
developments in Asia.” 

  Eng‑Peng Ooi, CEO Asia 

1-4  Opening of 
313@somerset 
in Singapore, 
December 2009.

We build
2

1

3

4
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Operating result $ million FY10 FY09

Operating profit after tax by geography 164.7 88.3

Asia Pacific 122.1 99.9

Europe 42.5 (10.4)

Americas 0.1 (1.2)

Portfolio summary FY10 FY09

Backlog (residential lots and apartments) 89,220 102,770

Asia Pacific 72,940 85,525

Europe 12,425 13,390

Americas 3,855 3,855

Communities report

What we do 
The communities business is involved in the development 
of master-planned urban communities, inner city mixed-use 
developments, apartments and the retirement sector.

How we performed
The communities business had a very successful year adding 
to its significant development pipeline in Australia and the 
UK. In Australia, Lend Lease was selected by the Barangaroo 
Delivery Authority as the preferred proponent to deliver Stage 1 
of Barangaroo, the largest CBD development in the history 
of Sydney, with an end development value of $6 billion. 

In addition, Lend Lease was selected as preferred 
proponent by the Western Australian Government to 
develop the $400 million first stage of the Alkimos master-
planned community in Perth and signed a conditional project 
development agreement for the $2.5 billion RNA Showgrounds 
development in Brisbane. In the UK, Lend Lease signed 
a conditional framework agreement worth £1.3 billion for 
the development of the second stage of Stratford City post 
the Olympics. Lend Lease also finalised the conditional 
agreement for the £1.5 billion regeneration of Elephant 
and Castle.

The communities business reported a significantly higher 
profit than last year. This was driven by the inclusion of 100% 
of the trading result of Lend Lease Primelife since the acquisition 
in December 2009, improved trading conditions in Australia 
and the UK and a tax benefit in Australia. In addition, in the 
UK we sold the Millennium Dome and recognised development 
management fees on the Athletes Village project. 

 Outlook
 In Asia Pacific, conditions remain fairly 

resilient and trading activity remains positive. 
We have seen significant momentum 
in our communities business this year, 
securing a record number of projects 
with an end development value of $10 billion. 
We also made great progress on our urban 
regeneration projects in the UK during 
the year. We are extremely well placed 
to progress development of these projects 
into the recovery in the UK market, with 
minimal capital required in the short term. 

We find
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Our  
sustainability 
ambitions for  
Barangaroo 
South

HEALTHY  
BUILDINGS
•   World leading 6 Star 

Green Star Office 
design

CARBON  
NEUTRAL
•  20% reduction in 

embodied carbon 
building materials

•  Onsite solar power 
generation

ZERO CARBON  
WASTE
•  100% reduction in 

waste greenhouse 
gas emissions

•  >90% diversion of 
construction waste 
from landfill

•  >80% diversion of 
operational waste 
from landfill

WATER  
POSITIVE 
•  100% treatment of 

storm water catchment
•  Onsite wastewater 

recycling

LANDSCAPE AND 
BIODIVERSITY
•  Promotion of 

marine life ecology
•  Water sensitive 

urban design

We build

Barangaroo South
Creating a legacy for future 
generations

Barangaroo 
South is one 
of the world’s 
most significant 
waterfront 
regeneration 
projects.

Barangaroo is one of the most significant city waterfront 
regeneration projects in the world. Twenty-two hectares of 
a once privatised container port are set to be transformed 
into an iconic new public place and a dynamic extension 
of Sydney’s central business district.

In December 2009, Lend Lease was selected by the 
Barangaroo Delivery Authority on behalf of the New South 
Wales Government as developer for the 7.5 hectare southern 
area of the site – Barangaroo South.

Barangaroo South will support the city’s growth, establish 
a vibrant public area that celebrates the harbour, and enhance 
the city’s appeal as a global destination.

The development of Barangaroo South will also increase 
Sydney’s global competitiveness as an innovative Asian 
financial and professional services hub.

World-class sustainable office space will attract leading 
financial and professional services organisations, drawn to this 
exciting business location by a landmark international hotel, 
apartments, shops, cafés, restaurants, cultural and recreational 
facilities, and great harbourside public spaces. 

With an end value of $6 billion, it is estimated that when 
the project is completed it will inject $1.5 billion a year into the 
economy. The project is expected to be completed over the 
next 10 to 15 years.

Lend Lease will utilise its fully integrated property skills 
across all key facets of the project including development, 
design, project and construction management, retail, 
apartments, and funds management.

Lend Lease will invest capital alongside joint venture capital 
partners in Barangaroo South. Our investment management 
business is working to structure and deliver attractive investment 
solutions for capital partners and investors. Lend Lease has 
received significant interest from investors and tenants seeking 
to be part of this new sustainable development.

Not only will Barangaroo South demonstrate what our 
integrated capabilities can deliver in urban regeneration, it 
will showcase Lend Lease as a world leader in sustainable 
precincts. It is an opportunity to create a new generation 
of buildings. Together with government, our aim is to make 
Barangaroo South climate positive – carbon neutral, zero waste 
and water positive. In practical terms, that means a healthier 
city for everyone. 

Work on the project is expected to commence in late 
2010, with the first building targeted for completion in 2014. 

We 
manage
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Interview 

Hugh Martin, Executive Director of our 
apartments business, Vivas Lend Lease, 
talks about urban regeneration trends 
and the inner city apartments market

Q:  How does inner city apartment development 
fit into the Lend Lease growth strategy?

A: With more than two-thirds of Australians now living 
in urban areas, there will be an even greater demand for 
apartment living as areas close to transport and amenities 
are being regenerated.

Countries across the world are experiencing this 
demographic shift, and this trend plays very strongly 
to our mixed-use capabilities. 

Drawing on the Group’s development pipeline, which 
includes prime waterfront locations across the eastern 
seaboard, Vivas Lend Lease is Australia’s leading urban 
residential developer of high-density inner-city communities. 
There is a rising demand for apartments close to the city, 
and our apartment development expertise in both the 
premium and middle markets adds to our competitive 
ability to win projects such as Barangaroo.

Q:  How do apartments blend into mixed-use 
developments?

A: Creating mixed-use precincts with a strong residential 
presence is key to the long term sustainability of the community. 
Quality design, sustainable practice and distinctive 
character of place are all important elements of designing 
sustainable urban communities. However, it is the diversity 
of people and the engagement of the community that are 
key to driving a truly sustainable community. In Victoria 
Harbour, Lend Lease worked successfully with the Victorian 
Government to introduce key worker housing to the precinct.

Q: Is now the right time to be focusing on residential? 
A: Lend Lease made a conscious decision to aspire to 
leadership status in the apartments space and we see the 
current market as a great opportunity.

With quality design, sustainability initiatives and a 
diverse range of product, Vivas Lend Lease is very well 
placed in the current cycle. There is a shortage of quality 
residential sites in premium locations and our current 
development pipeline is a great platform for us to take 
a leading position in this market.

Q: What next?
A: Our portfolio currently includes outstanding locations 
like Jacksons Landing and Barangaroo in Sydney, 
Victoria Harbour, Armadale and Richmond in Melbourne. 

We also have a prime development project located 
on the city fringe of Brisbane through a relationship with 
the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of 
Queensland. The development is one of Brisbane’s largest 
urban renewal projects and will include a mix of residential 
apartments, commercial, retail and cultural facilities, while 
retaining and enhancing the existing showground facilities.

Our project pipeline is already attracting interest 
from joint venture capital development partners. From a 
customer perspective, the quality of our apartment product 
is being reflected in very strong presale levels. The Silk 
and Antias apartment projects in Jackson Landing have 
both been well received, as have the Convesso and Serrata 
projects in Melbourne.

Q+A 
Communities 

Q+A

“Lend Lease made 
a conscious 
decision to aspire 
to leadership status 
in the apartments 
space and we see 
the current market as 
a great opportunity.” 

  Hugh Martin, Executive Director, 
Vivas Lend Lease
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Urban regeneration Waterford Park
Lend Lease Primelife: 
leading the Australian 
retirement living sector

Lend Lease Primelife retirement 
village Waterford Park in Victoria 
is a new development due for 
completion in mid 2011. 

The Waterford Park village 
will have 145 independent living 
units with lock-up garages. 
The newly completed Community 
Centre features a lounge and dining 
area, library and business centre, 
hair salon, indoor heated pool and 
spa, bowling green, tennis court, 
billiards room and meeting room. 

Conveniently located in the 
heart of the south-eastern suburbs 
of Melbourne, 33 kilometres from 
the Melbourne CBD, Waterford 
Park has generated steady sales 
as construction progresses. 
With a current backlog of 
40 units, consumer demand 
for completed villa-style product 
has been very strong.

Drawing on the integrated 
capabilities of the Group, 
Lend Lease Primelife is a leader in 
the Australian senior living sector 
and remains focused on enhancing 
its position in owning, operating 
and developing quality product 
for this expanding market.

 Lend Lease 
Primelife is the market 
leader in the Australian 
senior living sector 

Urban regeneration 
continues to be a key 
focus for Lend Lease. 
Our integrated model 
includes land sourcing, 
master planning, design, 
product development, 
innovative solutions 
on sustainability and 
marketing. Examples 
of this include Jacksons 
Landing in Sydney and 
the Greenwich Peninsula 
project in London.

1, 4  Evolve, Jacksons Landing, 
Sydney.

2  Greenwich Peninsula, UK.
3  Sugar Dock display home, 

Jacksons Landing.

1

2

3

4
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Operating result $ million FY10 FY09

Operating profit after tax by geography 59.1 74.4

Europe 10.2 6.2

Americas 55.3 68.2

Asia Pacific (6.4) –

Portfolio summary (number of projects) FY10 FY09

Europe 19 19

Americas 20 20

Asia Pacific 1 –

Public private partnerships  
report

What we do
The PPP business operates in the US and the UK with newly 
established businesses in Australia and Canada. In the US, 
Actus Lend Lease has been creating high quality communities 
and homes for the military for over 50 years. In the UK, 
the	PPP	business	focuses	on	four	sectors:	health,	education,	
waste and accommodation. 

How we performed
The PPP business reported a lower profit due to currency 
impact on US earnings and costs associated with entering 
the Australian and Canadian markets. In the UK, we continue 
to progress the projects under construction and we will seek 
to recycle our equity in PPP projects. The increase in profit 
after tax for the UK business is largely attributable to the 
sale of the Group’s interest in the Queen’s Hospital, Romford.

In the US, the business reached financial close 
on Phase 1 of the Privatization of Army Lodging project. 
There remain a number of airforce and army lodging projects 
in the US that we are bidding on, and in the Canadian market 
we are shortlisted on two projects.

 Outlook
 We expect to see continued government 

investment in infrastructure projects under 
the public private partnership (PPP) model. 
Globally, Lend Lease has 40 PPP projects 
and is currently shortlisted on another 
eight projects. We are looking to expand 
in Australia and Canada. 
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We fund

We build

LANCASHIRE WASTE
Mechanical separation 
conveyors in the 
Leyland Plant – part of 
the Lancashire Waste 
project in the UK. The 
project is a joint venture 
partnership between 
Lend Lease and AMEC 
to provide facilities and 
services that manage 
municipal waste in 
an environmentally 
and economically 
sustainable manner. 

Lend Lease has made its first 
Australian PPP equity investment 
as part of the Pinnacle Education 
Consortium, reaching financial close 
on the $323 million South Australian 
New Schools public private 
partnership project in July 2009.

Lend Lease has formed an 
advisory origination business known 
as Capella Capital focused on the 
Australian PPP market. The South 
Australian Schools Project marks 
a first for Lend Lease in Australian 
PPP deal origination. 

Lend Lease has a long 
track record in partnering with 
governments worldwide to create, 
own and operate high quality social 
infrastructure assets. Lend Lease 
has strong positions in both the 
US and UK PPP markets and 
sees Australia as an excellent 
growth opportunity for the Group, 
providing the potential for multiple 
earnings streams. 

The Pinnacle Education 
Consortium project involves building 
six new schools in Adelaide. Over a 
30 year concession term, the 
consortium will finance, design 
and construct and also provide 
facilities management. Lend Lease 
provided financial advisory and 
transaction management services 
to the consortium, is a 50% equity 
investor in the project and will 
provide ongoing asset management 
services to the project company. 

The Capella Capital 
partnership will focus on 
Australian PPP projects in the 
health, justice, defence and 
education sectors, while also 
selectively targeting specific 
economic infrastructure projects 
where a government availability 
payment model is used.

South Australian 
Schools
Entry into 
Australian market
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Q+A

“Our success stems 
from the ability to 
deliver the best 
solution through 
integration across 
the value chain…”

  Mark Menhinnitt, Group Head 
of public private partnerships

Q+A 
Public private 
partnerships 

Interview 

Mark Menhinnitt, Group Head of public 
private partnerships, talks about markets 
and opportunities in the public private 
partnerships model

Q: What are public private partnerships? 
A: PPPs are partnerships between the public sector and 
the private sector for the purposes of designing, planning, 
financing, constructing and/or operating projects which 
would traditionally have been provided by the public sector.

Q: Why are governments attracted to the PPP model?
A: From a government perspective, it comes down to value 
for money, risk transfer and vastly improved accountability. 
Under a PPP model, governments can more accurately 
measure the total cost of ownership of an asset and have 
this warranted by the private sector. Sovereign debt capital 
adequacy issues also suggest that governments will 
look more to the private sector for funding solutions. 

PPPs will be an enduring feature of government 
procurements. A competitive bidding process enhances 
efficiency, drives innovation and promotes continuous 
improvement to offer better facilities and services 
to the general public.

Q: What’s driving PPP infrastructure growth? 
A: The PPP model is being driven by growing trends of 
urbanisation around the world, where governments are clearly 
required to deliver better and more expansive infrastructure. 
Economic stimulus packages have also underpinned 
the expansion of public infrastructure projects in 
major economies.

Q: How is Lend Lease positioned?
A: Lend Lease is very well positioned in the PPP market, 
where we have established long term partnerships with 
governments as an owner, manager, developer, financier 
and deliverer of major social infrastructure projects around 
the world.

Our success stems from the ability to deliver the best 
solution through integration across the value chain, from 
product development, project financing and transaction 
management, detailed design and construction, to ongoing 
asset operations and lifecycle management.

Q:  What differentiates Lend Lease from others 
in the PPP market?

A: The PPP market is about delivering an end-to-end 
value proposition that generates a long term income stream. 
The Lend Lease integrated platform and core capabilities 
map very well into this model.

Our primary focus is on social infrastructure, where 
we have strong established credentials in schools, hospitals 
and public housing. As a private sector partner, Lend Lease 
can generate more value through our ability to integrate 
capital costs with operating costs over the lifecycle of 
a project.

Importantly, from a risk management perspective, 
social infrastructure is structured under an availability based 
payment mechanism so we are not exposed to greenfield 
patronage risk. 

Q: Where are the greatest growth opportunities?
A: We see the UK, the US, Canada, Australia and parts of 
Europe as the developed markets having the greatest scale.
Markets such as the US will continue to look to the private 
sector, which should offer significant opportunities – 
for example, sustainable utilities initiatives where we are 
exploring ways to develop renewable energy solutions 
with the US military.

We are well positioned to pursue emerging PPP 
opportunities that play well into our integrated model.
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 1,2,3  North Haven  
Community,  
Alaska.

 4  Army Hawaii  
Family Housing. 

 All homes will be built to be energy efficient 
and to maximise solar energy including triple 
glazing a ‘cold roof’ to prevent ice damage 
and heat loss

Actus Lend Lease is partnering with 
the InterContinental Hotels Group 
(IHG) to provide superior lodging 
services and facilities for soldiers 
and government travellers on military 
installations across the United States.

The first phase of the three-
phase Privatization of Army Lodging 
(PAL) program involves 62 lodging 
facilities on 10 Army posts across 
the United States.

Phase one of the program 
involves construction and renovation 
of approximately 4,000 hotel rooms 
to be operated under IHG brands. 
Both Actus Lend Lease and IHG 
were selected by the Army for 
the project because of their track 
record in working with public and 
government entities to deliver 
best practice in finance, design, 
development and operations in the 
ownership of real estate portfolios. 

Some of the benefits and 
services made available to all Army 
Lodging guests include Priority 
Club Reward points, complimentary 
breakfast, concierge services and 
courtesy shuttles. Sustainable 
initiatives include recycling, seasonal 
energy efficiency heating and cooling 
systems and social sustainability 
focused on creating a sense 
of community.

Privatization of 
Army Lodging
Providing superior 
hotel services

Actus Lend Lease is working with the US Army to develop 
and upgrade military family housing at Fort Wainwright and 
Fort Greely in Alaska.

Known as North Haven, the project includes the 
construction, renovation and property management operations of 
1,800 homes on both sites. In a 50-year sustainable development 
and management real estate transaction, the project has an 
initial development budget of approximately US$400 million over 
six years. 

Given that both locations see just a few hours of daylight 
during the winter months, Actus Lend Lease has given special 
attention to the impact of seasonal affective disorder through 
bright colours, full spectrum lighting and maximising the use 
of natural lighting within the design. All homes will be built to 
be energy efficient and to maximise solar energy including triple 
glazing a ‘cold roof’ to prevent ice damage and heat loss. 

Using an integrated approach to community development, 
Actus Lend Lease has become a leader in the planning, 
design, building and management of fully master-planned, 
mixed-use communities on military installations throughout 
the United States.

North Haven Communities, Alaska
Upgrading US military housing

 Phase one of the 
program involves 
construction and 
renovation of 
approximately 
4,000 hotel rooms

3

2

1

4
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We manage

We build 

GOLD COAST 
UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL
At the peak of 
construction the project 
is expected to employ 
around 2,300 workers.

Operating result $ million FY10 FY09

Operating profit after tax by geography 86.2 168.9

Asia Pacific 105.4 94.7

Europe 25.8 39.0

Americas (45.0) 35.2

Profitability ratio (EBITDA/realised GPM) 30% 39%

Gross margin (realised GPM/revenue) 5.7% 5.2%

Backlog FY10 FY09

Backlog gross profit margin ($ million) 435.9 690.1

New work secured ($ million) 294.8 491.9

Project management, 
design and construction 
report

What we do
Bovis Lend Lease provides an integrated, global project 
management, design and construction service, particularly in the 
commercial, retail, residential, industrial and mixed-use sectors. 

How we performed
Our project management, design and construction business 
reported a lower profit due to a significant slowdown in 
construction markets offshore, despite a record year in the 
Asia Pacific region. We have seen a significant slowdown 
in construction markets, particularly in the US, Europe and 
the Middle East. 

The result was negatively impacted by restructuring costs 
relating to cost saving initiatives, costs in relation to the ongoing 
investigations in New York, and a provision against debtor 
exposures in the Middle East.

 Outlook
 In Australia there is a strong base of work 

from government with 50% of the backlog 
from government clients and a good 
pipeline of internally generated major projects 
such as Barangaroo in Sydney and the 
Royal Showgrounds project in Brisbane. 
However, as the government stimulus spend 
softens, this will impact new work secured. 

In Asia, there continues to be a solid 
pipeline of work from the pharmaceutical 
industry in Singapore and the 
telecommunications industry in Japan.

Market conditions remain tough in both 
the UK and Continental Europe. Our position 
has been underpinned by our public private 
partnerships projects and the Athletes Village 
project. However, it will remain challenging for 
the next few years until we see markets recover. 

Conditions remain very difficult in the 
US market, particularly in our core markets 
of multi‑family and commercial, with very 
limited new work. In terms of the market 
outlook, we are not anticipating a recovery 
in volumes in the US until at least 2012.
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We design

Bovis Lend Lease is project managing the new Gold Coast 
University Hospital, which is the largest social infrastructure 
project currently operating in Australia.

The healthcare sector provides an opportunity 
for Bovis Lend Lease to capitalise on large government 
infrastructure spend in a changing market environment.

At a total project cost to Queensland Health of $1.8 billion, 
the new hospital will offer the Gold Coast community a 
more comprehensive range of specialised health services 
in cancer, cardiac neurosciences, neonatal intensive care 
and trauma services.

Bovis Lend Lease was engaged by Queensland Health 
to manage the design and construction in December 2008. 
Due for completion in late 2012, the magnitude of the project 
is clear, with a total floor space of 170,000 square metres – 
an area equivalent to 25 football fields.

 At the peak of construction, the project is expected 
to employ a total onsite workforce of around 2,300, with 
an anticipated eight million man hours required for completion. 

Some of the sustainable practices being implemented 
across the project include rainwater harvesting, energy efficient 
lighting, waste minimisation and a rigorous recycling program. 

All major components of this large scale, technically 
complex project are progressing well and Bovis Lend Lease 
will continue to work closely with project partners to deliver 
the new hospital to the people of Queensland safely, on time 
and on budget.

Gold Coast University Hospital
Australia’s largest social 
infrastructure project

The magnitude 
of the project is 
clear with a total 
floorspace of 
170,000 square 
metres.
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Bovis Lend Lease was appointed by the Australian Government 
in November 2007 to provide construction, exhibition and 
technical operations services for the Australian Pavilion at 
the World Expo 2010 in Shanghai.

The $49 million Australian Pavilion was delivered by 
Bovis Lend Lease as the design and construction contractor 
in just 15 months on a fast-track program.

The Pavilion has proven to be an exceptionally popular 
destination at the World Expo 2010 and has been Australia’s 
largest ever commitment to a World Expo event. Around seven 
million visitors are expected to visit the Australian Pavilion 
over the duration of the Expo. 

Bovis Lend Lease was recognised for its successful 
project management skills and overall professionalism with 
the project being identified as a ‘best practice’ model by 
the Expo Bureau. 

Bovis Lend Lease also adapted and played a key role 
in including sustainable features such as rainwater harvesting, 
solar power and energy saving lighting into the design.

Lend Lease has been a Gold Sponsor of the Australian 
Pavilion for the World Expo in Shanghai. The Expo theme, 
Better City/Better Life, ties in with Lend Lease’s positioning 
as a leader in the creation of sustainable cities.

Australian Pavilion, Shanghai
Best practice in construction 

 The Australian Pavilion was completed 
on time and on budget. It has proven 
to be an exceptionally popular 
destination at the World Expo 2010 
and has been Australia’s largest 
ever commitment to a World Expo 
event. Around seven million visitors 
are expected to visit the Australian 
Pavilion over the duration of the Expo. 

 Bovis Lend Lease was recognised for its 
successful project management skills and 
overall professionalism with the project 
being identified as a ‘best practice’ model 
by the Expo Bureau
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 MediaCityUK features a trio of buildings 
including two residential towers of 
22 and 26 storeys, plus a new triangular 
shaped building which will house the 
British Broadcasting Corporation

The newly opened Vivian and Seymour 
Milstein Family Heart Center at New 
York-Presbyterian Hospital (NYPH) 
is the first hospital in the Mid-Atlantic 
Region to receive the highest 
commendation for its sustainable 
energy saving initiatives.

Bovis Lend Lease managed 
the construction of the Vivian and 
Seymour Milstein Family Heart Center 
with a construction value of US$150 
million over a three year period.

The Hospital has been 
awarded a LEED (Leadership in 
Energy & Environmental Design) 
Gold Designation from the United 
States Green Building Council, firmly 
positioning Bovis Lend Lease as a 
leader in the US healthcare sector.

Located between two 
functioning hospital wings, the project 
presented many logistical challenges 
during construction, such as relocating 
Heating, Ventilation and Air 
Conditioning units in order to facilitate 
excavation for the main building and 
replacing the existing cooling system 
and the Generator Exhaust stack 
while minimising any disruptive 
impact to the surrounding hospital. 

The six-storey, 142,000-square-
foot Milstein Family Heart Center 
features a five-storey exterior ‘climate 
wall’ to improve energy efficiency, 
making the facility 30% more energy 
efficient than its counterparts in the 
healthcare sector. 

The wall consists of an outer 
and inner glass wall separated by 
a three-foot ventilated cavity that 
recovers air from common areas 
while an innovative solar shading 
system reduces glare. The design 
saves energy by reducing the need for 
powered cooling, heating and lighting. 

To reduce carbon costs and 
carbon emissions, the building also 
uses occupancy sensor controlled 
lighting, as well as high-performance 
window systems that eliminate 
the need for perimeter heating 
and an array of environmentally 
friendly building materials, including 
post-consumer recycled content.

NYPH Heart 
Center
Leading the US 
Healthcare sector

MediaCityUK in Manchester has been named as the first 
Excellent BREEAM Community in the UK. BREEAM is the 
UK’s leading environmental assessment method for best practice 
in sustainable building design and environmental performance.

Bovis Lend Lease project managed the £497 million 
urban regeneration project, which is scheduled for completion 
in September 2011. 

The large scale broadcasting and media development is 
set to transform the local area into a hub for companies linked 
to the UK broadcasting and media industry. MediaCityUK 
features a trio of buildings, including two residential towers 
of 22 and 26 storeys, plus a new triangular shaped building 
which will house the British Broadcasting Corporation.

Located on the banks of the Manchester Ship Canal, 
the site required an innovative approach to methodology and 
programming over a three-year construction period. The heavy 
industrial history of the site presented the project team with 
land contamination issues and robust systems were put in place 
to assess the variability of trace elements within the ground. 
As a result, more than 86% of waste was diverted from landfill, 
delivering a substantial cost saving for the client. 

In addition, the adjacent Manchester Ship Canal was 
used to transport 400 containers of materials delivering the 
equivalent CO

2 savings of around 53 tonnes – enough to power 
a medium sized petrol car around the earth more than six times.

One of the most innovative energy saving initiatives that 
Bovis Lend Lease brought to the development has been the 
introduction of a Tri-Generation System, the first of its kind 
in the UK. This system uses water from the canal to generate 
heating, cooling and electricity onto the site. The Tri-Generation 
system will reduce the project’s operating carbon footprint by 
approximately 40%. 

MediaCityUK
Energy saving innovation
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We build

We  
fund

Operating result $ million FY10 FY09

Operating profit after tax by geography 53.1 28.9

Asia Pacific 45.7 27.1

Europe 4.7 3.1

Americas 2.7 (1.3)

Portfolio summary FY10 FY09

Funds under management ($ billion) 10.1 9.9

 Outlook
 The investment management business 

continues to deliver strong relative 
performance for our investors. In addition, 
our strategy is to position the investment 
management business as the provider 
of capital solutions to the wider group. 

Investment management 
report

What we do
Our investment management business provides real 
estate investment management services and includes the 
Group’s interests in property investments held indirectly 
through investments in Lend Lease managed funds. As at 
30 June 2010, the investment management business had 
funds under management of $10.1 billion. 

How we performed
Our investment management business reported a strong 
increase in profit after tax for the year. This was principally 
due to the inclusion in the Asia Pacific results of a proportion 
of the Group’s interest in the Australian Prime Property Fund. 
The investment management business in Asia Pacific had a 
successful year with the launch of a new wholesale fund, Real 
Estate Partners 3, in December 2009. This fund, together with a 
Lend Lease led consortium including Australian Prime Property 
Fund (APPF) Retail and individual client mandates, acquired 
the assets of the $1.4 billion ING Retail Property Fund. 

In June 2010, a joint bid by Lend Lease and the 
Lend Lease managed Asian Retail Investment Fund was 
successful in acquiring the Jurong Gateway Road site, 
a large scale mixed-use suburban development in Singapore. 
This opportunity builds upon Lend Lease’s strong existing 
retail capability in Singapore, as well as the Group’s urban 
regeneration capabilities.
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We manage

The recently completed commercial development at 
800 Collins Street, Victoria Harbour, Melbourne has become 
the new National Support Office for Australian retail giant Myer. 

Opened in April 2010, the building is an integral part 
of Lend Lease’s Victoria Harbour master plan, which boasts 
the highest concentration of green buildings in Australia. 
It is a core asset within the Lend Lease managed Australian 
Prime Property Fund Commercial and is jointly owned by 
an offshore institutional investor.

Developed by Lend Lease, the building was successfully 
delivered under the Lend Lease integrated model in which 
our development, construction and investment management 
businesses all worked together to deliver a quality asset. 
The building provides approximately 28,620 square metres 
of office space over 10 levels and 875 square metres of fully 
leased retail space, plus three levels of parking. 

Building on a longstanding relationship with the 
Australian retailer through our retail business, the innovative 
and integrated design of the new Myer National Support Office 
created a comfortable and functional working environment 
for Myer employees. 

The energy efficiency achievements of the building 
have earned it a 5 Star Green Star v2 Office Design rating 
from the Green Building Council of Australia. Sustainable 
features include maximising natural light, reducing lift 
use, an east-facing atrium with interconnecting stairs 
and a gas fired cogeneration plant producing around 30% 
of the building’s electricity requirements.

Myer, Victoria Harbour
Delivering sustainable 
precincts

Opened in April 2010, 
the building is an integral 
part of Victoria Harbour’s 
master plan.

Myer, Victoria Harbour
Delivering sustainable 
precincts
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Q+A

“Post the global 
financial crisis, 
investors are focusing 
on real estate skills 
and on the ground 
management 
expertise which can 
add value to their 
real estate portfolio.”

  Tarun Gupta, Group Head 
of investment management

Q+A 
Investment 
management 

Interview 

Tarun Gupta, Group Head of investment 
management, talks about trends in institutional 
funds inflows

Q: Where are growth opportunities coming from?
A: We are seeing an increased focus from some 
investors on the separate mandate business through joint 
venture and consortium style investments. We now have 
funds under management exceeding $1 billion sourced 
from this investor base.

Many large sovereign and pension funds are seeking 
to rationalise the number of managers in their property 
portfolio, instead focusing on partnerships with managers 
who have a proven track record and competitive advantage 
in the sectors and geographies that they choose to invest in. 

Allocations to quality properties are likely to increase 
as many institutional investors are at weight or underweight 
property. Many large pension funds are also undergoing 
a process of consolidating their managers to fewer key 
relationships going forward, and we think we are well 
positioned to attract capital from these investors. 

Q: Why Lend Lease?
A: Investors are attracted to Lend Lease as a 
longstanding specialist real estate company with a deep 
skill base and demonstrated track record within our areas 
of core competency. This is enhanced by our in-house 
capital solutions approach where we can do the product 
development, debt and capital raising, deal strategy and 
execution and provide fully integrated property expertise 
across the real estate value chain and across the major 
property sectors.

Our solid development pipeline in large mixed-use 
projects and waterfront apartments, as well as our strengths 
in the retail, retirement and commercial sectors, present 
competitive investment propositions to this market.

The key planks that we have built our investment 
platform on have been best practice corporate governance, 
strong alignment of interest between Lend Lease and 
third party capital, a strong investment performance track 
record, and an open, consultative and communicative 
management style.

Post the global financial crisis, investors are 
focusing on real estate skills and on the ground management 
expertise which can add value to their real estate portfolio. 
As a leading, diversified and integrated property company, 
this market trend plays to our strengths.

Q:  How does this trend apply to our long term 
strategy?

A: A key role for investment management is to provide 
ready access to third party capital to support the Lend Lease 
Group strategy. Over the past 18 months, we have raised 
$6.4 billion in new debt and equity across our platform. A joint 
venture capital partner structure is very supportive of our 
integrated model as it engages all parts of the Group. 

Employing a third party capital model improves 
the return on investment for Lend Lease and allows us 
to participate in a much broader product pipeline.

Q: What next?
A: We will continue to draw on our extensive global 
investor network to identify and deliver investment 
opportunities in an attractive investment structure for our 
investors. Mixed-use development projects, the apartments 
business, our retail and retirement assets, and the commercial 
sector present competitive propositions for Lend Lease in 
this market.

We have strong capital partner interest in residential 
and commercial assets for Barangaroo in central Sydney, 
Victoria Harbour in Melbourne and the Royal National 
Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland urban 
regeneration site in Brisbane.
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1,3  Lakeside Joondalup, 
Western Australia.

 2 A diverse mix of retail assets.

 Acquired at a low point in the property 
cycle, the portfolio includes a diverse mix 
of regional, sub‑regional and outlet retail 
centres across Australia and New Zealand

Darling Quarter
Regenerating 
Sydney’s CBD

In December 2009 a Lend Lease led consortium of investors, 
including two of Lend Lease’s wholesale managed funds and 
third party capital partners, acquired a $1.4 billion portfolio of 
14 assets from the ING Retail Property Fund. 

The transaction achieves a $1.2 billion increase in funds 
under management for Lend Lease and is a significant boost 
to the scale of our retail platform in Australia. Acquired at a 
low point in the property cycle, the portfolio includes a diverse 
mix of regional, sub-regional and outlet retail centres across 
Australia and New Zealand.

A core asset within the portfolio is the Lakeside Joondalup 
shopping centre in Western Australia, situated in one of the 
highest population growth corridors in Australia. The delivery 
of a Myer department store is expected to transform the 
Lakeside Joondalup Shopping Centre to major-regional status.

Two of Lend Lease’s managed funds, Australian Prime 
Property Fund Retail and Lend Lease Real Estate Partners 3, 
each acquired interests in three retail assets. Our Retail business 
manages five of the centres, increasing the number of Australian 
retail centres under management to 15. 

Lend Lease introduced Australia’s Future Fund as a capital 
partner on the transaction. The Future Fund acquired interests 
in five assets, making Lend Lease the first Australian property 
investment manager to win a mandate from the Future Fund.

Lend Lease leads retail 
acquisition consortium
Expanding our retail portfolio  

 The Darling Quarter 
site in Sydney will 
include a 55,000 square 
metre, campus‑style 
commercial 
development

On completion in mid-2011, 
the Darling Walk site, now known 
as Darling Quarter, in Sydney 
will include a 55,000 square 
metre, campus-style commercial 
development across two 
nine-storey buildings, providing 
accommodation for 5,000 
employees of the Commonwealth 
Bank. The remainder of the site 
comprises retail and mixed-use. 
Lend Lease is the development 
manager for the project, 
with the Lend Lease managed 
APPF Commercial financing and 
acquiring the project in joint venture 
with one of Lend Lease’s offshore 
institutional investment clients. 
Bovis Lend Lease is responsible 
for project management, design 
management and construction. 

2

1

3

Darling Quarter.
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Lend Lease continues to 
work towards sustainability 
leadership and is actively 
focused on developing 
and investing in sustainable 
solutions through clean 
technology and buildings, 
green utilities and creating 
better places to live.

Next generation

We build

Sustainability has been a  
part of Lend Lease culture 
for more than 50 years. 
Making a difference in our 
communities, improving health 
and safety standards, and 
reducing our environmental 
impacts are central to our 
business strategy.

Our environmental and social 
initiatives generate long term 
commercial value and provide 
a sustainable growth platform 
for the communities we create. 
Only by lending our expertise 
and working in partnership 
with government, business 
and other key stakeholders can 
we tackle the significant social 
and environmental challenges 
that face us all. 



We  
fund

We 
design

Investing 
in the future

LEND LEASE  
SOLAR
•   Delivering renewable 

energy solutions 
to the residential, 
commercial, 
industrial and 
energy generation 
markets 

CLEANTECH 
INVESTMENTS 
•  Investing in 

innovative clean 
tech firms to 
commercialise 
viable technology 
in sustainable 
industries such 
as water recycling 
and wind farms. 

SUSTAINABLE 
PRECINCTS 
•  Lend Lease urban 

regeneration 
projects in London’s 
Elephant and 
Castle, Melbourne’s 
Victoria Harbour 
at Docklands, 
and Sydney’s 
Barangaroo South 
have been included 
in the Clinton 
Climate Initiative’s 
Climate Positive 
Program.
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Online reporting  
www.lendlease.com/sustainability

Our environment We are delivering performance improvement through each 
generation of change in our systems and processes, and 
we now have a baseline defined by reporting boundaries 
across businesses, investments, and geographies. In the 
past year, we have stepped up the reporting of environmental 
performance in our offices, projects and investments. 

For the first time, Lend Lease is able to calculate the 
energy and emissions intensity of the construction projects 
and assets we manage for clients, as well as for the offices 
we occupy.

Lend Lease was listed for the third consecutive year 
on the 2009 Goldman Sachs JBWere Climate Leadership Index 
(Australia/New Zealand) for Carbon Disclosure and we have 
maintained our position on external social, environmental 
and good governance reporting indices, including the 
Dow Jones Sustainability World Index, since 2001.

Building green
We employ 1,375 Green Building trained professionals, a 
global pool of technical expertise that drives our green agenda 
through investments in clean technology, research, and the 
planning and design of communities that will set international 
benchmarks in carbon positive living and contribute to 
a higher quality of life in our cities. 

Three years ago, we made public our aspiration to 
achieve zero net carbon, water and waste as a minimum 
across our assets and projects, which is why we are passionate 
about promoting next generation green building practices. 
Green buildings conserve the Earth’s natural resources through 
the efficient and intelligent use of energy, materials and water, 
and they improve human health and productivity.

Of the 383 active projects undertaken by Lend Lease 
in FY10, a total of 52 (13.5%) projects were certified by 
Green Building Councils and a further 52 projects (13.5%) 
are registered or in the process of certification. 

Positive difference  

Green buildings 
conserve the Earth’s 
natural resources 
through the efficient and 
intelligent use of energy, 
materials and water, and 
they improve human 
health and productivity.

Green skilling our people

 Green building trained 

 Over the past 12 months Lend Lease  
has received over 70 awards 
recognising leadership in sustainability 
and environmental performance.

 We continue our aspiration to obtain 
green office ratings in the buildings 
we build, own or occupy.

855

08 09 10

1,054 1,375
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Leading the way
Through the role of Chair of the United Nations Environment 
Program Sustainable Buildings & Climate Initiative, Lend Lease 
continues to advocate for the development of international 
common carbon metrics for the construction and real estate 
sector. This work will enable the establishment of baselines 
and benchmarks for the performance of all building types in all 
geographies and will provide a key platform for the monetisation 
of carbon in the built environment. It will also give the sector an 
internationally consistent measurement and reporting framework 
to address the consumption of other critical resources such as 
water and indoor environment quality. 

In order to address the issue of common carbon 
metrics, we have invested heavily in the development of 
a streamlined system that gathers and analyses data from 
buildings to better understand the baseline and shape of 
future environmental performance. This tool, known as Insight 
Environment, is helping Lend Lease create new benchmarks 
in environmental reporting. 

Partnerships that  
generate change 
Lend Lease is a founding member  
of Green Building Councils in the 
United States, United Kingdom, 
United Arab Emirates, Singapore, 
Spain, Mexico and Australia.

We support the activities of the World Green Building Council 
and we are actively involved in the establishment of Green 
Building Councils in countries such as China and Malaysia.   

Currently, our executives hold board directorships 
of the US Green Building Council, Green Building Council 
of Australia and UK Green Building Council and our 
employees participate in council chapters and technical and 
management committees. We maintain our involvement in the 
development of the Global Reporting Initiative Construction 
and Real Estate Sector Supplement and continue to 
participate as members and signatories to the World Business 
Council for Sustainable Development; the World Economic 
Forum Global Agenda Council on the Future of Sustainable 
Construction; the United Nations Environment Program 
Finance Initiative Property Working Group; and the United 
Nations Principles for Responsible Investment.

 Additionally, Lend Lease provides advice to 
governments worldwide on sustainability and the built 
environment, through policy document and submissions, 
as well as ongoing engagement with policymakers and 
government representatives.

Information sourced from utility bills and collated using Lend Lease’s internal 
environmental reporting tool.

 2009 2010
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Maria Atkinson, Group Head of Sustainability, Lend Lease.
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In 2010 Courtenay Smith, 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Bovis Lend Lease Australia 
was named as one of 
the Australian Financial 
Review Boss Magazine’s 
Young Executives of the Year. 

Our people

 People underpin the success of Lend Lease 
and investing to ensure we have the most 
qualified, skilled and motivated workforce 
is an ongoing focus. The Lend Lease people 
priorities include: 

•	Ensuring	the	right	people	are	recruited,	
developed and placed into roles which 
are beneficial and rewarding for both the 
individual and Lend Lease;

•	Driving	a	performance	management	culture	
where individual performance is rewarded 
against business objectives; 

•	Ensuring	consistent	systems	and	processes	
are in place regarding all human resources 
practices including compensation, career 
development and talent management; and

•	Providing	all	our	people	with	a	consistent	
and positive employee experience, where 
they are fully supported in focusing on 
Lend Lease’s goals and priorities. 

  Following are a few initiatives and 
achievements in relation to our people.

Our aim is to create an 
environment in which all 
individuals are involved, 
supported, respected 
and connected.

 We value and harness people’s ideas, 
backgrounds and perspectives, and respect 
them for who they are and what they do.

1  Springboard program 
manager (right) with 
Mossman local taking 
part in Springboard 2010.

2  Employees taking part 
in Community Day, one 
of Foundation’s most 
successful programs.
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Delivering a positive 
community legacy
Springboard is Lend Lease’s flagship 
employee development program and has 
been operating since 1998. This program 
brings employees from different cultures 
and businesses together for an intensive 
four‑day experience. 

Our diversity agenda 
A diverse workplace leads to greater creativity, a positive impact 
on our bottom line and improved leadership, thus creating 
a company where the best people want to work. Lend Lease 
is committed to increasing the diversity of our workplaces. 

Our aim is to create an environment in which all 
individuals are involved, supported, respected and connected. 
We embrace our differences, including age, gender, 
ethnicity, physical appearance, disability, lifestyle, religion, 
sexual orientation and identity, nationality and education. 
We define diversity as all the ways in which we differ.

We value and harness people’s ideas, backgrounds 
and perspectives, and respect them for who they are and 
what they do. We also aim to build a workplace where every 
employee can develop the skills and experience they need 
to perform at their best and pursue their career aspirations. 

Foundation – developing inspired and motivated teams
‘Foundation’ is an independent business unit focused on 
employee and community wellbeing. Employees are encouraged 
to join Foundation programs, which are designed to inspire 
Lend Lease people to be the best they can be. Programs 
are developed under the categories of health and wellbeing, 
personal development and community. 

The benefits of Foundation programs are vast and 
varied. From an employee’s perspective, Foundation 
encourages employees to do things they wouldn’t normally 
do, stretching them beyond their own limits and expectations. 

Communities where employees live and work also 
benefit, as Foundation programs support the establishment 
of long term partnerships, where community needs 
are aligned with employee skills and opportunities. 

Now in its 27th year, Foundation is an important part 
of Lend Lease’s heritage and culture, helping to differentiate 
Lend Lease from its peers. 

1

2

 Lend Lease Springboard participants in Mossman, North Queensland. 

The program also incorporates a community 
partnership	element	and	is	designed	to	help	employees:	
•	 Deal	with	and	understand	change;
•	 Explore	their	hidden	potential;
•	 	Develop	greater	self-awareness,	leadership	skills	

and confidence; and
•	 	Recognise	and	manage	the	impact	of	their	actions	–	

socially, environmentally and economically. 

Springboard partners with an external community 
organisation and is focused on generating a positive legacy 
for the local community. Our current partner is Mossman 
Community Centre, an inspiring community organisation 
in Far North Queensland, Australia. 

The Centre supports the vast Mossman region 
which has a significant indigenous population, with 
many of its residents facing challenges in regard to 
finances, employment, social inclusion and education. 
This Centre is run by employees and volunteers who 
deliver programs that improve quality of life for Mossman 
residents. Springboard delegates work on real life projects, 
collaborating with the Community Centre to ensure our 
contributions support the ongoing achievement of the 
Centre’s goals. 

Current	projects	include:	the	establishment	of	a	
playgroup for young mums; soup kitchen and vegetable 
garden; emergency relief program and community festival. 
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 Lend Lease is committed to the long term 
success and prosperity of the Group for 
the benefit of securityholders. Reflecting 
this commitment, Lend Lease places great 
importance on the governance of the Group 
and continually reviews its governance 
practices to address its obligations as 
a responsible corporate entity. 



Commitment to Governance
Lend Lease is committed to exceptional corporate governance 
policies and practices, which are fundamental to the long term 
success and prosperity of Lend Lease and its subsidiaries 
(the Group).
As a listed entity, Lend Lease must comply with the ASX Listing 
Rules, which require that Lend Lease provide a statement in 
the Annual Report disclosing the extent to which Lend Lease 
has complied with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 
Principles and Recommendations (ASX Recommendations). 
A table summarising the Group’s compliance with the ASX 
Recommendations is provided at the end of this Corporate 
Governance Statement.

In addition to the information set out in this section, the 
corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website at 
www.lendlease.com contains further information on the 
Group’s governance practices, including copies of key policies 
and charters.
A reference in this Corporate Governance Statement to 
the Board is a reference to the Boards of Directors of 
Lend Lease Corporation Limited (LLC) and Lend Lease 
Responsible Entity Limited (LLREL) which is the responsible 
entity of the Lend Lease Trust, unless indicated otherwise.

Date of this Corporate Governance Statement
This Corporate Governance Statement reflects the corporate 
governance and other related policies and practices in place  
for the Group as at 1 September 2010.

 Governance Structure

Lend Lease Board

Group CEO and 
Managing Director

1 Lend Lease Board
1.1 Role and Responsibilities
The main focus of the Lend Lease Board is the long term success 
and prosperity of the Group for the benefit of securityholders. 
The Board is responsible for leading the Group in the achievement 
of its objective to continually deliver strong securityholder value. 
The Board Charter sets out the role, structure, responsibilities and 
operation of the Board, as well as the function of, and division of 
responsibilities between the Board and Senior Management. 
The Board has identified certain functions and responsibilities 
which are reserved to the Board pursuant to the Board Charter  
and these are set out in the table on page 40. 

The Board delegates authority for all other functions and matters 
necessary for the day-to-day management of the Group to the 
Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The Group CEO then 
delegates to Senior Management as required. 
Limits of authority have been put in place by the Board for the 
Group CEO and Senior Management, and the Group CEO is 
accountable to the Board for the authority delegated to other  
levels of management.
The Board has established various Committees to assist it 
in discharging specific responsibilities. Details of the Board 
Committees and their respective Charters are provided in 
part 4 of this Corporate Governance Statement.
A copy of the Board Charter is available at the 
corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website 
at www.lendlease.com.

Nomination  
Committee

Sustainability 
Committee

Personnel and 
Organisation 
Committee

Executive  
Management Team

Risk Management  
and Audit Committee
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Corporate Governance continued

1 Lend Lease Board continued
1.1 Role and responsibilities continued

Stakeholders Responsibilities Reserved to the Board

Securityholders •	 	Approval	of	business	strategy	and	vision	in	line	with	efforts	to	drive	securityholder	value	creation

•	 	Approval	of	business	plans,	ensuring	that	sufficient	resources	are	available	to	implement	strategy	
and monitoring of the implementation of strategy

•	 	Approval	and	monitoring	of	major	investments	or	divestitures	and	strategic	commitments

•	 	Determination	of	capital	structure	and	distribution	policy

•	 	Approval	and	monitoring	of	financial	reporting

•	 	Oversight	of	risk	management,	internal	control	and	compliance	systems

•	 	Appointment	or	removal	of	external	auditors,	and	determination	of	the	remuneration	and	terms	
of appointment of the auditors

•	 	Oversight	of	securityholder	reporting	and	communications

Customers •	 	Benchmarking	the	delivery	of	value	to	customers,	clients	and	partners

Employees •	 	Reinforcement	of	culture,	core	values	and	employer	of	choice

•	 	Approval	of	employee	security	ownership,	superannuation	and	pension	plans

•	 	Review	of	CEO	and	Executive	Management	Team	performance	and	results

•	 	Review	and	approval	of	CEO	and	Executive	Management	Team	contractual	arrangements,	remuneration	
and benefits

•	 	Oversight	of	succession	planning	for	the	CEO,	Executive	Management	Team	and	such	other	executives	
as the Board may determine

Community •	 Oversight	of	the	management	of	social,	economic	and	environmental	concerns	consistent	with	the	delivery	
of sustainable outcomes for stakeholders and achievement of the Group’s Incident & Injury Free vision

•	 	Reinforcement	of	reputation,	brand	and	community	relations

Directors •	 Review	of	the	size	and	composition	of	the	Board

•	 	CEO	and	Executive	Director	selection	or	removal	and	oversight	of	succession	planning

•	 	Non	Executive	Director	nomination,	selection,	removal,	succession	planning	and	remuneration

•	 Review	of	Board	performance

1.2 Composition of the Board
The Constitutions of LLC and LLREL set the minimum number 
of Directors at three. The Board, which is permitted to do so 
in accordance with the Constitutions, has fixed the maximum 
number of Directors at seven. 
While LLREL is a wholly owned subsidiary of LLC, LLC is entitled 
to appoint and remove Directors from the Board of LLREL. The 
Constitution of LLREL requires that, as far as possible, LLREL and 
LLC share a common Board. 
There are currently seven Directors on the Board, comprising one 
Executive Director and six Non Executive Directors. Membership 
of the Board as at 1 September 2010 is set out in the table on 
the facing page.
The composition of the Board embraces diversity. The Directors 
have a range of local and international experience and expertise, 
and specialised skills to assist with decision making and leading 
the Group for the benefit of securityholders. 
Assisted by the Nomination Committee, the Board selects 
Directors having regard to, among other things, an individual’s 
skills, experience and expertise. For further information on the 
selection of new Directors, refer to part 1.4 of this Corporate 
Governance Statement. Biographical details for the Directors 
are provided in the Directors’ Report on page 91.

1.3 Independent Directors
Policy on Independence
The Board’s Policy on the Independence of Directors sets out 
the criteria and guidelines for assessing the independence 
of Directors, and assists the Board in determining whether 
a Director is to be regarded as independent. 
The predominant test used by the Board is whether the Director 
is independent of management and free of any business or 
other relationship that could materially interfere with – or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with – the exercise 
of their unfettered and independent judgment. This general test of 
independence is supplemented by specific criteria and thresholds, 
which encompass the definition of independence set out in 
the ASX Recommendations. A copy of the Policy is available 
at the corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website 
at www.lendlease.com. 
The Board evaluates the materiality of any interests or 
relationships that could be perceived to compromise 
independence on a case-by-case basis, having regard to the 
circumstances of each Director. Where the Board is satisfied 
in the circumstances that the Director meets the general test 
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of independence, the Board may, in its absolute discretion, 
determine that a Director is independent even though not all 
of the criteria under the Policy are satisfied. Where the Board 
makes such a determination, it will make an appropriate disclosure 
to the market and in the Annual Report at the time of the 
Director’s appointment. 
The Board assesses the independence of each Director 
annually and on disclosure by a Director of any new interests 
or relationships. Where the Board considers that an independent 
Director has ceased to be independent, appropriate disclosures 
will be made to the market.

Current Board Composition
The Board has a majority of independent Directors in accordance 
with the Board Charter. 
The Board considers that all six Non Executive Directors, David 
Crawford (Chairman), Phillip Colebatch, Gordon Edington, Peter 
Goldmark, Julie Hill and David Ryan, are independent because 
each Director is independent of management and free of any 
business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, 
or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, 
the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgment.
Executive Director Stephen McCann (Managing Director 
and Group CEO) is not considered to be an independent Director 
due to his integral involvement in the day-to-day management of 
the Group’s businesses.

Circumstances which may be perceived to affect 
a Director’s Independence
Having regard to the current composition of the Board, the Board 
has determined two Directors to be independent notwithstanding 
the existence of factors which could be perceived to impact on 
their independence. 
The Board does not consider David Crawford’s independence 
to be compromised by his previous association with KPMG, on 
the basis that he resigned as a Partner and Australian National 
Chairman of KPMG in June 2001, prior to his appointment to 
the Lend Lease Board, and has no financial arrangements with 
KPMG, including pension arrangements, retainers or advisory 
fees. Mr Crawford has never been part of KPMG’s audit practice, 
nor in any way involved in, or able to influence, the audit activity 
associated with the Group.
The Board considers David Ryan independent notwithstanding 
that, before his appointment to the Board, Mr Ryan (as a principal 
of Ryvan Pty Limited) provided professional advisory services to 
Lend Lease in respect of the then proposed merger with General 
Property Trust. The Board does not consider Mr Ryan’s advisory 
role to have compromised his independence, given that his role 
related to a specific transaction and was for a limited period in 
the year leading up to his appointment. 

1.4 Selection and Appointment of New Directors
The Nomination Committee is responsible for the selection and 
appointment of new Directors. 
The process of selecting a new Director usually involves 
commissioning an international recruitment firm to identify and 
present appropriate candidates following a briefing as to the 
Board’s requirements. Candidates undergo a thorough recruitment 
process which involves background checks and formal interviews 
with each of the Directors of the Board. In making its selection, 
the Board considers the ability of candidates to devote the time 
necessary to fulfil their duties as a Director.

1.5 Retirement and Re-election of Directors
Pursuant to clause 6 of the LLC Constitution, at each Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) one-third of the Directors and any other 
Director who will have been in office for three or more AGMs since 
he or she was last elected (excluding the Managing Director) must 
retire from office and may offer themselves for re-election. Newly 
appointed Directors (excluding the Managing Director) must seek 
election at the first AGM following their appointment.

A copy of the LLC Constitution is available at the 
corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website at 
www.lendlease.com. 
The Board unanimously endorses the re-election of Directors 
David Crawford and Gordon Edington standing for re-election 
at the 2010 AGM.

1.6 Chairman of the Board
The Chairman of the Board is elected to the office of Chairman 
by the Directors. The Directors may, in accordance with the 
Constitutions, determine the period of office the Chairman will hold. 
David Crawford has been Chairman of the Board since May 2003. 
As noted above, the Board considers that the Chairman is 
independent. 
The Chairman serves as the primary link between the Board 
and management, and works with the Group CEO and Group 
Company Secretary to set the agenda for Board meetings. It is 
the Chairman’s responsibility to provide leadership to the Board 
and ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges 
its responsibilities. 

Director Independent Appointed Last elected

 Retiring  
 and seeking  
 re-election  
 in 2010

Executive Director

Stephen McCann, Managing Director and Group CEO No 2009 n/a1 n/a1

Non Executive Directors

David Crawford, Chairman Yes 2001 2007 Yes

Phillip Colebatch Yes 2005 2009 No

Gordon Edington Yes 1999 2007 Yes

Peter Goldmark Yes 1999 2008 No

Julie Hill Yes 2006 2009 No

David Ryan Yes 2004 2008 No

1 The Directors have appointed Stephen McCann as Managing Director for a term not exceeding five years in accordance with the LLC Constitution.
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1 Lend Lease Board continued
1.7 Meetings
The number of meetings of the Board and the Committees of 
the Board held during the financial year, and the attendance of 
Directors at those meetings, is disclosed in the Directors’ Report 
on page 93. There are nine scheduled meetings each year, and 
additional meetings are held in between scheduled meetings as 
required. Members of Senior Management are invited to attend 
and present at Board meetings.
The number of Directors required to constitute a quorum is three. 

1.8 Board Performance
The Board and the Nomination Committee review Board and 
Board Committee performance and the performance of each 
of the Directors each year. In accordance with the Nomination 
Committee Charter, the Nomination Committee undertakes an 
external performance review at a minimum on a biennial basis, 
and the Board undertakes a self-assessment of their performance 
each alternate year. 

External Review
Each year that the external performance review is conducted, the 
performance of the Board and Board Committees is compared 
to prior year reviews as well as to the results of other Australian 
companies which have undertaken the same review process.
An external performance review was conducted in March 2010 
by Heidrick & Struggles in accordance with the process 
described above. 
The main areas reviewed included:
•	 Role	of	the	Board;
•	 Size	and	composition	of	the	Board;
•	 Procedures	and	practices	of	the	Board;
•	 Meeting	arrangements	and	meeting	discipline;
•	 Relationship	with	Management;	and
•	 New	challenges.

The findings of the external review have been considered by 
the Board and remedial action taken where required. 

Internal Review
In addition to those matters considered during an external 
review, the Nomination Committee Charter requires that an 
internal review also includes an evaluation of the performance 
of the Board and its Committees against the requirements of 
their respective Charters, and a review of the performance, 
contribution and time commitment of the Chairman, the Chair 
of each Committee and individual Directors. The internal review 
process includes interviews with the Directors and Senior 
Management, and may involve interviews with key stakeholders, 
and generates recommendations to ensure the Board continues 
to operate effectively and efficiently with the requisite mix of skills 
and experience. 
The Chairman of the Nomination Committee, acting in close 
consultation with other Board members, is responsible for 
conducting the annual evaluation of the Group CEO and 
the Chairman.
Directors also undertake a self-assessment of their performance 
as part of this internal review for review by the Chairman. Non 
Executive Directors are also required pursuant to the Board 
Charter to consult with the Chairman before accepting new 
commitments which could impact on their available time.

Following analysis of all internal review processes, an action plan 
is formulated and remedial action taken where required.
During the financial year, an internal review and evaluation of the 
performance of the Board, its Committees and the Directors was 
undertaken in accordance with the process described above.

1.9 Security.holdings
Pursuant to the LLC Constitution, Directors are required to 
hold a minimum of 1,000 Lend Lease securities. Through 
the Non Executive Directors Retirement Benefit Plan, the 
Non Executive Directors have accumulated interests in securities 
in excess of this minimum. Details of Directors’ securityholdings 
in Lend Lease are disclosed in the Directors’ Report. However, 
as described in the Directors’ Report, no further issue of securities 
under the Non Executive Directors Retirement Benefit Plan will 
be made.
The Directors are prohibited from trading Lend Lease securities 
at certain times and under certain circumstances as set out in the 
Group’s Securities Trading Policy. More information on the Policy 
is provided in part 9 of this Statement.

1.10 Induction and Briefing Programmes
New Directors are provided with a letter of appointment which 
sets out their rights, duties and responsibilities as a Director of 
Lend Lease. New Directors participate in an induction programme 
involving comprehensive briefings from management and 
site visits.
All Directors have access to Group information, Senior 
Management and employees as required to enable them to 
fulfil their responsibilities. In addition to management briefings 
at every Board meeting, Directors are regularly briefed on key 
business and industry developments and matters material to 
their role as Directors. Directors also have access as required 
to externally administered training seminars and programmes to 
assist the Directors in discharging their obligations as Directors 
of Lend Lease.

1.11 Independent Decision Making
Pursuant to the Board Charter, any Director may seek external, 
independent, professional advice at the expense of Lend Lease. 
The policy of the Board is that external advice will be made 
available to all Directors, unless the Chairman of the Board 
determines otherwise. It is expected that a Director will consult 
the Chairman of the Board, Managing Director or Group Company 
Secretary before obtaining external advice.
To further facilitate independent decision making by the Board, 
a separate session for Non Executive Directors to meet without 
management present is scheduled as a permanent agenda item 
at Board meetings.

1.12 Group Company Secretary
Appointed by the Board, the Group Company Secretary works 
with the Chairman of the Board to monitor and enhance corporate 
governance processes and to ensure that Board policies and 
procedures are followed.
During the financial year, William Hara undertook the role of Group 
Company Secretary. 

Corporate Governance continued
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2 Senior Management
2.1 Structure
The management structure of Lend Lease consists of the Group 
CEO and the Executive Management Team.
The Executive Management Team comprises the Group Director 
of Operations (DOO), Scott Charlton, the Group Chief Financial 
Officer, Brad Soller, certain functional heads, regional CEOs and 
the heads of the four businesses: project management, design 
and construction, development, public and private partnerships, 
and investment management. The Executive Management Team 
is responsible for managing the Group’s performance and key 
business issues in line with the Group’s long term strategy and for 
talent and performance management.
The Executive Management Team is chaired by the Managing 
Director and Group CEO, Stephen McCann, and the team meets 
face-to-face on a regular basis.

2.2 Performance Review
The Group CEO is responsible for setting financial targets, as 
well as operational and management goals for senior executives 
in consultation with the Personnel and Organisation Committee 
and the individual senior executives. Immediate, short term and 
long term goals form part of the performance management for 
most senior executives. Long term goals are directly linked to 
remuneration benefits, which include Performance Securities 
as set out in the Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). 
Short term goals are generally directly linked to an annual bonus 
award. Further details of the Incentive Plans are contained in 
the Directors’ Report.
The Group CEO and the Personnel and Organisation Committee 
conduct a detailed review of the performance of senior executives 
against these goals on an annual basis at the end of each 
financial year. In addition, each senior executive also conducts 
a performance evaluation of their own performance which is 
submitted to the Group CEO or DOO for consideration. 
In accordance with this Policy, a review of the performance 
of all senior executives was conducted in the financial year 
and was in accordance with the procedure described above.

2.3 Remuneration
Details of the Group’s Remuneration Policy including the 
remuneration of senior executives, is contained in the 
Directors’ Report.
Bonus payments to all senior executives are based on 
performance measured against financial and individual targets, 
as set out above in part 2.2. Further information on executive 
incentive programmes is set out in the Directors’ Report.

3 Directors’ Remuneration
Details of the Group’s Remuneration Policy and the remuneration 
of Directors is contained in the Directors’ Report.

3.1 Pre Vesting Hedging Arrangements
Executives are prohibited from entering into pre-vesting hedging 
arrangements in relation to LTIP Awards. 
Directors, designated executives and employees must notify 
the Group General Counsel prior to entering into transactions 
or arrangements that operate to limit the economic risk of 
vested entitlements to Lend Lease securities. Transactions or 
arrangements must only be entered into during the prescribed 
trading periods set out in the Securities Trading Policy. 
The Policy states that Directors, designated executives and 
employees must also not enter into transactions or arrangements 
that operate to limit the economic risk of unvested entitlements to 
Lend Lease securities. Key Management Personnel are required 
to complete an annual declaration that they have complied with 
the terms of the Securities Trading Policy.

3.2 Retirement Benefits Plan
Non Executive Directors accrue benefits in Lend Lease securities 
which will fluctuate in line with the value of these securities. 
Under the plan, Lend Lease will issue to, or acquire for, or for the 
benefit of, each Non Executive Director a number of Lend Lease 
securities equal in value to 0.2 times the Director’s fees (being 
fees for attending and chairing Board and Board Committee 
meetings), but not additional fees. Allocations are made on the 
first business day of each year based on the weighted average 
price of Lend Lease securities traded on the ASX during the 
five business days prior to 1 January each year. 
The securities are accessible only on retirement, except if the 
securities need to be sold at an earlier time to meet a tax liability 
in respect of the securities.
Further details of the retirement plan for Non Executive Directors 
are also provided in the Directors’ Report.
As detailed in the Director’s Report, the last allocation of securities 
was made in January 2010 in respect of the previous year. No 
further issue of securities under the Non Executive Directors 
Retirement Benefits Plan will be made.

4 Board Committees
The Board has established four permanent Board Committees 
to assist, advise and make recommendations to the Board on 
matters falling within their respective responsibilities: 
•	 Nomination	Committee;	
•	 Personnel	and	Organisation	Committee;	
•	 Risk	Management	and	Audit	Committee;	and
•	 Sustainability	Committee.

Each Committee is governed by a formal Charter approved by 
the Board setting out its objectives, responsibilities, structure 
and operation. Copies of the Committee Charters are available 
at the corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website 
at www.lendlease.com. 
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Corporate Governance continued

4 Board Committees continued
4.1 Overview of Committees

Nomination Committee Personnel and Organisation Committee
Risk Management 
and Audit Committee Sustainability Committee

Membership Peter Goldmark (Chair)
Phillip Colebatch
David Crawford
Gordon Edington
Julie Hill
David Ryan

Phillip Colebatch (Chair)
Julie Hill
David Ryan

David Ryan (Chair)
Phillip Colebatch
Gordon Edington

Julie Hill (Chair)
Gordon Edington
Peter Goldmark

Purpose To provide advice and 
support to the Board in 
fulfilling its responsibilities to 
securityholders to be assured 
that the Board is comprised of 
individuals who in combination 
bring a mix of expertise, skills, 
experience and perspectives 
and contribute to the discharge 
of diligent oversight and 
effective corporate governance 
of the Lend Lease Group.

To assist the Board in fulfilling its 
corporate governance and oversight 
responsibilities in relation to establishing 
people management and compensation 
policies for the Lend Lease Group that:
•	 Foster	exceptional	human	

talent and motivate and 
support employees to pursue 
the growth and success of the 
Group in alignment with the 
Group’s	values;

•	 Assure	that	human	capital	
considerations are central to 
and integrated into the Group’s 
strategy	and	business	plans;

•	 Enable	the	Group	to	attract	
and retain employees who 
can create sustainable value 
for	stakeholders;	and

•	 Equitably	and	responsibly	
reward employees, having 
regard to the performance 
of the Group, individual 
performance, and statutory 
and regulatory requirements.

To assist the Board 
in fulfilling its 
corporate governance 
and oversight 
responsibilities in 
relation to the risk 
management and 
internal control 
systems, accounting 
policies and practices, 
internal and external 
audit functions, and 
financial reporting of 
the Lend Lease Group.

To assist the Board 
in monitoring the 
decisions and actions 
of management 
in achieving the 
Lend Lease Group 
aspiration to be 
a sustainable 
organisation.

Meetings During the period 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, meetings of the Committees were held concurrently with scheduled Board 
meetings. Attendance at those meetings is summarised on page 93 of the Directors’ Report.

4.2 Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has the following responsibilities:
•	 Regularly	review	the	size	and	composition	of	the	Board	and	

the mix of expertise, skills, experience and perspectives 
desirable	to	permit	the	Board	to	execute	its	functions;

•	 Identify	any	competencies	not	adequately	represented	and	
agree the process necessary to be assured that a candidate 
with	those	competencies	is	selected;

•	 Identify	and	evaluate	Board	candidates	with	the	assistance	
of recruitment consultants if required, and recommend 
individuals	for	appointment	to	the	Board;

•	 Be	assured	that	individuals	recommended	for	appointment	
as Non Executive Directors expressly acknowledge, prior to 
their appointment, their ability to devote the time necessary 
to carry out their responsibilities as a Director. In satisfying 
this requirement, the Committee should review on a regular 
basis the time commitments of Non Executive Directors 
to provide a basis for assessing whether candidates for 
appointment as Non Executive Directors can (having 
regard	to	other	commitments)	meet	these	commitments;

•	 Review	and	recommend,	in	cooperation	with	management,	
a process for the induction and education of new Directors 
and a continuing education and development plan for all 
Non	Executive	Directors;
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•	 Evaluate	the	performance	of	the	Board.	The	Committee	will	
undertake an external review of the Board’s performance at 
a minimum on a biennial basis, and an internal assessment 
during those years when there is no external assessment. 
Matters addressed in performance reviews will include, 
but not be limited, to an evaluation of the performance of 
the Board and its Committees against the requirements of 
their respective Charters, and a review of the performance, 
contribution and time commitment of the Chairman, 
Committee	Chairpersons	and	individual	Directors;

•	 Review	the	re-election	by	securityholders	of	any	
Director under the retirement by rotation provisions 
in the Constitutions of LLC and LLREL and make a 
recommendation to the Board as to whether the Board 
should support the re-nomination of the retiring Director. 
In making the recommendation, the Committee should have 
regard, among other factors, to an assessment of the retiring 
Director’s	performance	by	both	peers	and	self;	and	

•	 Establish	processes	for	the	review	of	succession	plans	
for the Board, taking into account both the Group’s current 
business operations and its future strategy and what skills 
and expertise may be needed on the Board in the future.

A copy of the Nomination Committee Charter is available 
at the corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website 
at www.lendlease.com.

4.3 Personnel and Organisation Committee 
The Personnel and Organisation Committee has the following 
responsibilities:
•	 Review	and	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on:
	 •	 	The	specific	contractual	arrangements	for	the	Group	

CEO	and	Executive	Directors;
	 •	 	Remuneration	programmes	and	performance	targets	for	

the Group CEO and Executive Directors, and assessing 
individual	performance	against	those	targets;	and

	 •	 	Termination	payments	for	the	Group	CEO	and	Executive	
Directors for consistency with contractual entitlements 
and	the	rules	of	any	incentive	scheme	or	policy;

•	 Review	and	approve:
	 •	 	The	specific	contractual	arrangements	for	members	

of	the	Executive	Management	Team;
	 •	 	Remuneration	programmes	and	performance	targets	

for members of the Executive Management Team, and 
assessing	individual	performance	against	those	targets;	
and

	 •	 		Termination	payments	for	members	of	the	Executive	
Management Team for consistency with contractual 
entitlements and the rules of any incentive scheme 
or	policy;

•	 Monitor	and	advise	the	Board	on	succession	planning	for	
the	Group	CEO	and	Executive	Directors;

•	 Monitor	succession	planning	for	members	of	the	Executive	
Management	Team;

•	 Review	and	approve	strategy	and	principles	for	people	
management, including:

	 •	 	Career,	skills	and	leadership	development	and	continuing	
education	programmes;

	 •	 	Employee	remuneration	and	benefit	programmes	to	
be	adopted	across	the	Group;

	 •	 	Employee	security	ownership,	superannuation	and	
pension	plans;	

	 •	 	International	assignee	policies;	and
	 •	 	Review	and	approve	any	individual	employee	

remuneration arrangement materially diverging 
from	Group	policy	or	practice;

•	 Review	and	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	
on the remuneration framework for Non Executive 
Directors, including:

	 •	 	The	level	of	fees	payable	to	each	Non	Executive	Director,	
including the fee payable as Chairman or Committee 
Chairman (within the maximum aggregate level of 
remuneration	approved	by	securityholders);

	 •	 	Any	changes	to	the	maximum	level	of	remuneration	
approved	by	securityholders;

	 •	 	Superannuation,	retirement	or	other	benefits;
	 •	 	The	manner	in	which	fees	may	be	taken;	and
	 •	 	Any	other	applicable	arrangements;
•	 Review	and	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	

remuneration and related disclosures required under 
statutory and regulatory requirements, including the 
remuneration report in Lend Lease’s Annual Report and 
disclosure of the Committee’s membership, functions 
and	responsibilities;	and

•	 Perform	other	functions	referred	to	the	Committee	by	
the Board.

The Chairman of the Committee liaises with the Group Head of 
Human Resources to ensure that the Committee is appropriately 
briefed on matters relating to employees.
A copy of the Charter of the Personnel and Organisation 
Committee is available at the corporate governance area of the 
Lend Lease website at www.lendlease.com.

4.4 Risk Management and Audit Committee
Lend Lease has a Risk Management and Audit Committee which 
is governed by the Risk Management and Audit Committee 
Charter. The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its corporate 
governance responsibilities and is responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, 
accounting policies and practices, internal and external audit 
functions and financial reporting.
The Committee Chairman regularly meets with the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Group Head of Internal Audit and the Group Head 
of Health, Safety and Risk to ensure that Committee members 
are kept regularly informed of key issues. The Committee also 
meets with the external auditor, without members of management 
present, as it deems appropriate. 
It is a requirement of the Risk Management and Audit Committee’s 
Charter that all Committee members are financially literate and 
that at least one member has accounting or relevant financial 
expertise. Information about the qualifications and experience 
of Committee members can be found in the Directors’ Report. 
The Risk Management and Audit Committee has the following 
responsibilities:

Audit
•	 Make	recommendations	to	the	Board	as	to	the	selection,	

appointment, re-appointment or replacement of the external 
auditor	and	rotation	of	the	engagement	partner;

•	 Review	with	the	external	auditor	the	scope	and	terms	of	the	
audit and audit fee in accordance with the Board’s Policy 
on the provision of audit and other services by the external 
auditor, and make recommendations to the Board in respect 
of	the	audit	fee;

•	 Review	and	approve	the	scope	and	terms	of	the	internal	
audit	and,	where	appropriate,	the	audit	fee;

•	 Monitor	the	coordination	between	the	external	audit	and	
internal	audit	programmes;

•	 Oversee	and	appraise	the	quality	and	effectiveness	of	the	
audits	conducted	by	the	auditors;

•	 Discuss	and	resolve	any	issues	arising	from	audit	reports,	
including any matters the auditors may wish to discuss in 
the	absence	of	management;
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4 Board Committees continued
4.4 Risk Management and Audit Committee continued
Audit continued
•	 Discuss	with	the	external	auditor	any	relationship	that	may	

impact on the auditor’s objectivity or independence, and 
recommend to the Board any appropriate action to satisfy 
itself	of	the	auditor’s	independence;

•	 Require	the	external	auditor	to	provide	a	formal	
written statement on an annual basis confirming the 
auditor’s	independence;

•	 Obtain	confirmation	that	the	external	auditor	is	aware	that	
the auditor is responsible to the Board as the representative 
of	securityholders;	

•	 Approve	non	audit	assignments	that	will	be	undertaken	by	
the external auditor in accordance with the Board’s Policy 
on the provision of audit and other services by the external 
auditor,	and	monitor	compliance	with	the	Policy;	

•	 Review	the	performance	of	the	Group	Head	of	Internal	
Audit and the internal audit function and recommend to the 
Board, if necessary, the replacement of the Group Head of 
Internal	Audit;

Risk Management
•	 Review	the	parameters	of	the	Group’s	risk/reward	strategy;
•	 Monitor	changes	anticipated	for	the	economic	and	business	

environment, including consideration of emerging trends 
and	other	factors	relevant	to	the	Group’s	risk	profile;

•	 Review	the	Group’s	Risk	Management	Policy	Statement	and	
the effectiveness of the Enterprise Risk Management system 
within the Group, and be assured that material risks are 
identified and appropriate risk management processes are 
in place, including the formulation and subsequent updating 
of	appropriate	Group	policies;

•	 Review	actual	and	potential	material	risk	exposures;
•	 Monitor	the	implementation	of	business	unit	and	corporate	

risk	management	plans;
•	 Review	insurance	and	other	risk	transfer	arrangements,	

and	consider	whether	appropriate	coverage	is	in	place;
•	 Review	the	business	contingency	planning	process	within	

the Group and be assured that material risks are identified 
and	appropriate	contingency	plans	are	in	place;	

•	 Review	the	performance	of	the	Group	Head	of	Health,	Safety	
and Risk and the risk management system and recommend 
to the Board, if necessary, the replacement of the Group 
Head	of	Health,	Safety	and	Risk;

Financial reporting
•	 Evaluate	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	administrative,	

operating	and	accounting	controls	used	by	the	Group;
•	 Review	the	half	year	and	annual	financial	statements	

presented by management, together with reports and 
opinions	from	external	auditors;

•	 Review	significant	financial	reporting	issues	and	assess	the	
appropriateness of accounting policies and methods chosen 
by management, particularly those relating to significant 
estimates	and	judgments;

•	 Consider	and	make	appropriate	recommendations	to	
the Board regarding major changes to Group accounting 
policies	and	procedures;

•	 Review	the	reliability	and	appropriateness	of	disclosure	
in the financial statements and financial reporting to 
stakeholders, particularly with regard to estimates and 
judgments;	

•	 Make	appropriate	recommendations	to	the	Board	as	
to	whether	financial	statements	should	be	approved;

Compliance
•	 Monitor	the	effectiveness	of	Group	policies	and	practices	

that relate to compliance with laws, regulations and 
accounting	standards;	

•	 Consider	the	impact	of	changes	in	accounting	standards,	
listing	rules	and	the	Corporations	Act;

Related party transactions
•	 Review	and	monitor	related	party	transactions;

Other matters
•	 Conduct	or	authorise	investigations	into	any	matters	within	

the	Committee’s	charter;
•	 Review	disclosure	in	the	Annual	Report	of	information	

regarding the membership, functions and responsibilities 
of the Committee, including its views on the independence 
of	the	external	auditor;	and

•	 Perform	other	functions	referred	to	the	Committee	by	
the Board.

As a requirement of the Committee, Senior Management has 
designed and implemented a risk management and internal 
control system to manage the Group’s material business risks, 
and reports to the Committee on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. 
The Board’s Risk Management and Audit Committee is 
responsible for being kept informed on a regular basis of material 
business risks. In the reporting period, the Committee has 
received regular reports on material risks facing Lend Lease 
businesses worldwide, and management has reported to the 
Board as to the effectiveness of Lend Lease’s management of 
its known material business risks.
A copy of the Charter of the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee is available at the corporate governance area of the 
Lend Lease website at www.lendlease.com.

4.5 Sustainability Committee
Sustainability encompasses how Lend Lease conducts business, 
now and in the future, through the pursuit of workplace safety, 
a commitment to corporate social responsibility, environmentally 
sustainable solutions and employee diversity, development 
and opportunity. Lend Lease is strategically and culturally 
committed to achieving commercial success in ways that honour 
ethical values and respect people, communities and the natural 
environment.
The Sustainability Committee has the following responsibilities:

Health and Safety
•	 Oversee	the	Global	Health	and	Safety	function	of	the	Group;	
•	 Review	the	effectiveness	of	Group	policies	and	initiatives	

designed to be assured of the well-being of employees and 
the	workforce;

Corporate Social Responsibility
•	 Review	the	effectiveness	of	Group	policies	on	

corporate social responsibility, workplace diversity 
and	equal	opportunity;

Environment
•	 Oversee	the	Global	Environment	function	of	the	Group;	
•	 Review	the	effectiveness	of	Group	policies	and	initiatives	

designed to deliver best practice environmentally 
sustainable	solutions;
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Foundation
•	 Monitor	the	activities	and	programmes	of	the	Lend	

Lease Foundation to be assured that its activities are 
directed towards opportunities for the development and 
well-being of Lend Lease employees, their families, and 
the	communities	in	which	they	work	and	live;	

•	 Review	the	performance	of	the	Lend	Lease	Foundation	
for	consistency	with	sustainability	objectives;	and

Compliance
•	 Assist	the	Board	in	its	oversight	of	the	Group’s	compliance	

with applicable legal and regulatory requirements in relation 
to environmental matters, socially responsible initiatives, 
and health and safety issues.

5 Securityholder Communications and 
Continuous Disclosure
5.1 External Communications and Continuous 
Disclosure Policy
Lend Lease recognises the importance of complying with 
its continuous disclosure obligations as set out in the ASX 
Listing Rules. The Group has an External Communications 
and Continuous Disclosure Policy in place, setting out protocols 
applicable to Directors, executive officers and employees 
designed to ensure that Lend Lease complies with these 
continuous disclosure obligations. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Policy, the Group CEO has primary 
responsibility and accountability for ensuring that Lend Lease 
complies with its continuous disclosure responsibilities. The 
Group Company Secretary, the Group General Counsel and 
the Corporate Disclosure Manager are responsible for:
•	 Supporting	the	Group	CEO	to	ensure	compliance;	and
•	 All	communications	with	the	ASX	and	NZX.

Directors and Senior Management are required to:
•	 Have	in	place	reporting	systems	which	are	adequate	to	

bring to their immediate attention, information which may 
be	required	to	be	disclosed;	and

•	 Ensure	that	all	employees	are	aware	of	these	continuous	
disclosure protocols.

Directors are required to state in writing to Lend Lease on an 
annual basis that they are familiar with the contents of this Policy.
The Policy explains the continuous disclosure obligations of Lend 
Lease and the procedure to be followed when information needs 
to be disclosed to the market, contains guidance on how to identify 
information which may fall within the disclosure requirements, and 
sets out the consequences of breaching the Policy. 
The Policy states that Lend Lease must disclose information to 
the	ASX	and	NZX	immediately	if:
•	 A	director	or	officer	of	Lend	Lease	becomes	aware	of	

information;	and
•	 A	reasonable	person	would	expect	that	information	to	have	

a material effect on the Lend Lease security price or value.

The Policy also sets out management accountabilities for ensuring 
that the market is fully informed, as well as procedures governing 
analyst briefings and public comment by Group spokespersons. 
The Corporate Disclosure Manager is responsible for employee 
education on continuous disclosure obligations, external 
communications, monitoring of market information in relation to 
Lend Lease, maintaining records of information released to the 
market and ensuring that information on the Lend Lease website 
is up to date.
A copy of the External Communications and Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is available at the corporate governance area 
of the Lend Lease website at www.lendlease.com.

5.2 Communications with Securityholders
Lend Lease also recognises that while there is a legal obligation 
of disclosure, there is also an important ethical obligation to 
securityholders to ensure that investor confidence is maintained 
through effective, full and timely communication and disclosure 
to securityholders and the market. 
The External Communications and Continuous Disclosure Policy 
is designed to facilitate this important objective, and promotes 
effective communication with securityholders by ensuring that 
information (in addition to information that may be required to be 
disclosed pursuant to legal continuous disclosure obligations) 
that may otherwise be important to a securityholder, such as 
information about the Group’s activities, is available to the investor 
in a timely and readily accessible manner.
The Policy ensures that all stock exchange announcements are:
•	 Available	on	the	“News”	area	of	the	Lend	Lease	website	

at www.lendlease.com as soon as practicable following 
confirmation	of	receipt	by	the	ASX	and	NZX.	Additionally,	
interested parties can register for an email alert service 
which	notifies	them	of	new	announcements;

•	 Distributed	to	major	wire	services;	and
•	 Emailed	to	major	media	and	investor	organisations.

The Lend Lease website is the key information dissemination point 
to the broader market. In addition to including on the website all 
announcements to the market:
•	 Copies	of	current	and	past	annual	and	half-year	reports	are	

available	on	the	website;	
•	 Presentations	made	to	analysts	or	institutional	investors	are	

available	on	the	website;	and
•	 Market	briefings	to	analysts	and	institutional	investors	are	

webcast live and archived on the website for three months. 
Presentation material used during a webcast can be viewed 
simultaneously or accessed from the archive subsequently.

Group executives and the Chairman also meet with investors and 
their representatives on a regular basis to discuss the Group and 
its performance.

5.3 Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) is the primary opportunity 
for securityholders to meet face-to-face with the Board and senior 
executives. All securityholders receive the Notice of Meeting 
detailing time and venue, and outlining the resolutions to be put to 
the AGM. Accompanying the Notice is a proxy form, instructions on 
completion and lodgement, and a postage paid, return addressed 
envelope to encourage maximum securityholder participation. The 
Notice also invites securityholders to submit questions ahead of the 
AGM by using an online facility available through the share registry. 
During the AGM the Chairman will seek to address as many of the 
more frequently raised topics as possible within the time available.
Securityholders attending the venue are given the opportunity 
to ask questions during the course of the AGM. Directors also 
make themselves available after the formal part of the AGM to 
meet with securityholders. Question cards are available for those 
securityholders who do not wish to raise matters in a public forum. 
The external auditor attends the AGM and is available to answer 
any questions on the conduct of any audits and the preparation 
and content of the auditor’s report.
For securityholders who are unable to attend in person, the 
proceedings of the AGM are webcast live on the Lend Lease 
website and later archived for three months. Access to the archive 
is via a link from the home page. Presentations made at the 
AGM are also available on the website for access by interested 
stakeholders. In addition, representatives of the media are invited 
to attend the AGM to enable a report of the proceedings to reach 
as wide an audience as possible. As soon as practicable following 
the AGM, a summary of the questions and answers taken from the 
transcript of the meeting is included on the Lend Lease website at 
www.lendlease.com.
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6 Risk Management
6.1 Enterprise Risk Management
The Group uses an Enterprise Risk Management approach to 
identify, evaluate, address, monitor, quantify and report material 
business risks to the Risk Management and Audit Committee. The 
objective of this approach is to enhance stakeholder value through 
continuous improvement in the Group’s management of risk. The 
Group’s Corporate Risk Management is led by the Group Head of 
Health, Safety and Risk. Corporate Risk Management liaises with 
business unit CEOs and risk specialists on both business specific 
and enterprise wide risks. Corporate Risk Management’s objective 
is to assist the Group’s businesses to further develop their risk 
management processes. Its role includes: 
•	 Advising	on	and	implementing	risk	treatment	strategies	

at	Group	level;	
•	 Assisting	management	to	embed	Enterprise	Risk	

Management;	
•	 Assisting	Group	businesses	to	implement	and	maintain	

effective	risk	management	practices;	
•	 Maintaining	effective	early	warning	reporting	systems;	and	
•	 Consolidating	information	for	presentation	to	the	Risk	

Management and Audit Committee.

6.2 Risk Management Reporting 
Lend Lease uses an online risk matrix to report and monitor risks 
in the following categories: 
•	 Financial;
•	 Legal/Regulatory;
•	 Health	and	Safety;
•	 Performance;
•	 Environment	and	Community;
•	 People;
•	 Property/Business	Continuity;	and
•	 Information	Technology.

The categorisation drives functional accountability for managing 
the primary cause or consequence of the risk, noting that all risks 
may impact our reputation or have a secondary effect.
The risk matrix defines risk tolerance of Lend Lease by setting 
thresholds for impact and likelihood and defining the material 
business risks required to be reported to the Board.

6.3 Key Risk Management Practices 
Operational businesses are responsible for risk management 
outcomes and implementing self-assurance programs to assess 
the effectiveness of risk management procedures. Formal 
internal and external audit procedures are utilised to provide 
supplementary assurance. The Group uses sensitivity analysis and 
value at risk modelling to identify the most important assumptions 
affecting the delivery of the Group’s business plans. Project 
Control Groups (PCGs) are set up as required to focus attention 
on particular risks, some of the risk PCGs set up this year focused 
attention on:
•	 Residential	sales	performance;
•	 Construction	project	pipeline	and	delivery;
•	 Global	minimum	safety	requirements;
•	 Counterparty	credit	exposures;	and
•	 Overhead	cost	structure.

The Group’s approach to risk management is guided by 
the	Australian/New	Zealand	Standard	on	Risk	Management,	
AS/NZ4360	on	Risk	Management,	and	the	Committee	of	
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Committee (COSO) 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework.

6.4 Key Policies 
A number of key global policies in addition to Board delegated 
Limits of Authority and business unit specific policies govern the 
way Lend Lease conducts its business globally and manages 
material business risks. These policies are listed in part 11 below. 
These policies (including the Risk Management Policy) are also 
available at the corporate governance area of the Lend Lease 
website at www.lendlease.com.

6.5 Integrity in Financial Reporting, Risk Management 
and Internal Control
In accordance with Lend Lease’s legal obligations, the Group Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have declared in 
writing to the Board that, for the year ended 30 June 2010:
With regard to the financial reports of the consolidated entity 
comprising Lend Lease Corporation Limited and its consolidated 
entities (the Consolidated Entity):
•	 The	Consolidated	Entity’s	financial	records	have	been	

properly maintained in accordance with section 286 of the 
Corporations Act 2001;	and

•	 The	Consolidated	Entity’s	Financial	Reports	present	a	true	
and fair view, in all material respects, of the Consolidated 
Entity’s financial condition and operational results and 
comply with relevant accounting standards.

With regard to risk management and internal compliance and 
control systems of the Consolidated Entity, the statements made 
with respect to the integrity of the Consolidated Entity’s Financial 
Reports are founded on a sound system of risk management 
and internal control and the system is operating effectively in 
all material respects.
Since 30 June 2010, nothing has come to the attention of the 
Group Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
that would indicate any material change to any of the statements 
made above.

7 External Auditor
KPMG is the external auditor of Lend Lease and its controlled 
entities. KPMG’s predecessor was appointed at the first Lend 
Lease AGM in 1958. 

7.1 Performance Management
It is the responsibility of the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee to oversee and appraise the quality and effectiveness 
of the audits conducted by the external auditor. 

7.2 Selection, Appointment and Rotation
The Risk Management and Audit Committee is responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board as to the selection, 
re-appointment or replacement of the auditor and the rotation of 
the lead audit engagement partner. The audit engagement partner 
is rotated every five years. The current audit engagement partner 
is Chris Hall who was appointed with effect from 1 July 2006.

7.3 Provision of Non Audit and Other Services
In September 2006, the Board renewed its Policy on the provision 
of audit and other services by the external auditor. Pursuant to the 
Committee Charter, the Risk Management and Audit Committee 
must approve the appointment of the external auditor for other 
service engagements in compliance with this Policy.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Policy, the auditor should be 
appointed for other service engagements only where it is best 
suited to undertake the work. The Policy further provides that 
the auditor should not provide services having the potential to 
impair the independence of its role. Generally these include the 
following services:
•	 Bookkeeping,	preparation	of,	and	other	services	in	relation	

to,	accounting	records	and	financial	statements;
•	 Design	and	implementation	of	financial	information	systems	

or	financial	controls;
•	 Valuation	services,	appraisals	or	fairness	opinions,	where	the	

results are material to the financial statements or where the 
external auditor would be required to audit those statements 
or	opinions;

•	 Outsourced	internal	audit	services;
•	 Secondments;
•	 Recruitment	and	other	human	resources	services,	including	

international	assignee	services;
•	 Actuarial	services;
•	 Management	functions;
•	 Legal	services;
•	 Taxation	advice	of	a	strategic	or	tax	planning	nature;
•	 Broker-dealer,	investment	advisor	or	investment	banking	

services;
•	 Work	that	is	remunerated	through	a	“success	fee”	structure;
•	 Expert	services	unrelated	to	the	audit;	and
•	 Work	that	involves	the	auditor	acting	in	an	advocacy	role	

for the Group.

The Chief Financial Officer and the auditor are each required to 
provide a statement that the non audit assignment will not impair 
the auditor’s independence. As detailed in the Directors’ Report, 
the Board considers that the provision of non audit services by 
the auditor during the financial year is consistent with auditor 
independence requirements.

7.4 Attendance at Annual General Meeting
The external auditor is required to attend the AGM, and is available 
to answer any questions on the conduct of any audits and the 
preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

7.5 Auditor’s Independence
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act and in 
relation to the audit conducted by the external auditor, the external 
auditor is required to provide to Lend Lease a written declaration 
that, to the best of the auditor’s knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements 
set out in the Corporations Act or any applicable code of 
professional conduct.

A copy of the Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
has been included in the Directors’ Report.

7.6 Fees
Fees paid to the auditor during the financial year are detailed 
in the Directors’ Report.

8 Trading in Lend Lease Securities
Lend Lease has a Securities Trading Policy to assist Directors, 
senior executives and employees to comply with their legal 
obligations while they are in possession of price-sensitive 
information. This Policy reinforces the insider trading provisions 
of the Corporations Act. A copy of the Policy is available at 
the corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website 
at www.lendlease.com.
The Policy contains an explanation and prohibition of insider 
trading, and sets out restrictions on dealing in Lend Lease 
securities. Directors and designated executives may only deal in 
Lend Lease securities during the six-week period commencing 
on the third business day after:
•	 The	announcement	of	the	annual	results;
•	 The	announcement	of	the	half	year	results;	and
•	 The	Annual	General	Meeting.

The Policy restricts all other employees from dealing in 
Lend Lease securities between the close of the financial year, 
or half year, and a day which is at least the next business day 
after the announcement of Lend Lease’s results.
Notwithstanding any period where trading is permitted in 
accordance with the Securities Trading Policy, each person 
covered by the Policy is prohibited from dealing in Lend Lease 
securities if they are in possession of price-sensitive information 
that is not generally available to the public. 
Lend Lease also prohibits Directors, designated executives and 
employees from entering into transactions or arrangements that 
operate to limit the economic risk of unvested entitlements to 
Lend Lease securities. 

9 Lend Lease Core Values
9.1 Core Values
Lend	Lease	actively	subscribes	to	a	set	of	Core	Values.	These	
Core	Values	underpin	how	the	Group	does	business,	how	it	
interacts with stakeholders, and how its people operate in the 
workplace.	The	Core	Values	are	promoted	across	all	of	the	
Group’s businesses and are as follows:

Respect We respect the ideas, culture, views, knowledge and the health and safety of all people.

Integrity Integrity is non-negotiable. We don’t do it if it compromises the individual or Lend Lease’s integrity. 
In particular, we will not compromise on safety, either within our organisation or in doing business with 
any of our clients or suppliers.

Innovation We challenge and seek to find a better solution, think outside the box and dare to do things differently. 
We are innovative and creative – we don’t just do it because we did it yesterday.

Collaboration We redefine the way our business works by truly sharing knowledge, building on this and drawing insights. 
Through teamwork we value the insights of others and build on them – we truly take the time to help.

Excellence We strive for excellence in all we do. It is evident not only in the products and services we deliver, but in how 
we deliver them. We embody excellence – whether it be in the decisions we make, the products we build, or 
the	service	we	deliver.	On	construction	sites	in	particular,	but	everywhere,	excellence	equals	zero	incidents.

Trust We insist on transparency and accountability from our people so that our business can achieve its goals. 
We build trusted relationships with our clients, partners and colleagues. We earn each other’s trust and the 
trust of our securityholders, partners and the communities in which we operate to do our best to deliver in 
their best interests. 
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9 The Lend Lease Core Values continued
9.2 Code of Conduct
The	Lend	Lease	Code	of	Conduct	supports	the	Core	Values	and	
provides guidance for employees on the standards that Lend 
Lease expects in the conduct of its operations. The Code of 
Conduct describes the behaviours required to maintain confidence 
in the Group’s integrity, and to take into account the expectations 
of all stakeholders and the Group’s legal obligations. 
The Code of Conduct was updated in July 2010 and has been 
endorsed by the Board. It applies to the Directors and every 
employee across the Group. 
The Code of Conduct also describes the standards of behaviour 
which require that employees must:
•	 Obey	the	law;
•	 Put	the	safety	of	employees	and	the	communities	in	which	

we	operate	first;
•	 Be	aware	of	conflicts,	actual	or	perceived;
•	 Comply	with	the	Securities	Trading	Policy;
•	 Not	make	unauthorised	gains	or	payments,	or	engage	

in	corrupt	conduct;
•	 Only	use	Lend	Lease	assets	as	authorised;
•	 Not	disclose	confidential	information;
•	 Treat	everyone	equally	and	fairly;
•	 Compete	fairly;
•	 Report	accurately;
•	 Strive	to	achieve	sustainable	outcomes	for	stakeholders	

before	making	business	decisions;
•	 Not	make	unauthorised	public	statements;
•	 Not	make	political	donations	on	behalf	of	Lend	Lease;
•	 Be	familiar	with	the	business	unit	policies	and	procedures	

that	relate	to	our	work;	
•	 Help	each	other	and	work	collaboratively;	and
•	 Take	action	when	faced	with	questionable	behaviour.

Employees are encouraged to apply the following ‘Lend Lease 
Test’ when in doubt as to whether any action might breach the 
Code of Conduct:
  “Would I be willing to see what I’m doing or about to do 

described in detail on the front page of a national newspaper 
to be read by family and friends?”

Employees must not undertake any action that fails the Lend 
Lease Test, even if it is not expressly prohibited by the Code 
of Conduct. 
The Code is supported by various global, regional and 
local business unit policies and procedures. Copies of the 
Lend	Lease	Core	Values	and	Code	of	Conduct	are	available	
at the corporate governance area of the Lend Lease website 
at www.lendlease.com.

9.3 Code of Conduct Breach Reporting Policy
Employees are encouraged to take action when faced with 
behaviour which seems to depart from the Code of Conduct. The 
Code of Conduct Breach Reporting Policy supports the Code of 
Conduct, and provides a mechanism for raising concerns about 
unethical or illegal business conduct, including behaviour which 
may	not	accord	with	our	Core	Values	or	Code	of	Conduct,	and	
offers protections to anyone who reports concerns in good faith. 

This Policy applies to all officers, employees and contractors of the 
Lend Lease Group in all jurisdictions where the Group operates. In 
some instances, Group companies in each jurisdiction also have 
their own more detailed reporting procedures which supplement 
this Policy and take into account local protected disclosure and 
other laws.
Concerns are reported either to management, human resources, 
legal or the compliance department, or via a telephone hotline. 
A thorough investigation and remedial action is taken where 
required. 
The action taken to investigate disclosures under this Policy 
depends on the particular circumstances. Generally, disclosures 
made under this Policy are treated confidentially. 
If an individual’s identity is disclosed during the investigation 
process, the individual will not be disadvantaged in their 
employment by any Group company. Lend Lease does not tolerate 
detrimental action being taken against any individuals who make 
a disclosure under this Policy. 

9.4 Conflicts of Interest
Directors are required, upon their appointment, to disclose 
to Lend Lease any interests or directorships which they have 
with other organisations. Directors are required to update this 
information with Lend Lease if it changes during the course of 
the directorship. Further, Directors and Senior Executives are 
required to identify any conflicts of interest they may have in 
dealing with the Group’s affairs and refrain, as appropriate, from 
participating in any discussion or voting on these matters. In 
addition to general guidelines in the Code of Conduct, a range of 
procedures designed to ensure compliance with the Corporations 
Act, the ASX Listing Rules and the highest standards in relation to 
managing conflicts of interest have been implemented at a Group 
and business level. Directors are required to raise any matters that 
may give rise to a conflict of interest with the Company Secretary.

9.5 Political Donations
As a matter of policy, Lend Lease does not make donations to 
political parties or individuals holding or standing for public office. 
Lend Lease does, however, participate in public policy debate 
and policy development on issues that may impact the Group’s 
businesses and the interests of securityholders, employees and 
other stakeholders. At times, Lend Lease pays fees for employees 
to attend policy forums, trade missions and functions – such as 
conferences and lunches – which involve discussion of issues 
relevant to Lend Lease or the real estate and construction sector. 
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10. Diversity Governance 
10.1 Goals
There are six key goals that underpin the delivery of our 
diversity agenda:
•	 Become	an	industry	leader	in	establishing	and	maintaining	

a	diverse	and	inclusive	workplace;
•	 Ensure	all	diversity	and	inclusion	principles	are	embedded	

in	the	Lend	Lease	culture,	our	people	and	our	projects;
•	 Hold	every	employee	accountable	for	creating	a	diverse	

and	inclusive	culture;
•	 Provide	career	development	opportunities	for	every	

employee,	irrespective	of	any	differences;
•	 Continually	educate	all	employees	about	the	importance	

of	a	diverse	and	inclusive	workplace;	and
•	 Ensure	fairness	and	parity	in	creating	and	maintaining	

a diverse and inclusive workplace.

Lend Lease operates in some professional fields that have 
not traditionally been hospitable to women and minorities. The 
Group is committed to seeking out, valuing and rewarding the 
highest level of professional achievement by all individuals 
regardless of their gender, ethnicity or other background. 
Lend Lease has two committees that oversee our Diversity and 
Inclusion strategies, namely the Sustainability Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. These committees operate hand in hand, 
and are focused on our aspiration of achieving an employee 
base that reflects the broadest range of talent, viewpoints and 
professional skills that society can offer. 

10.2 Sustainability Committee
The Sustainability Committee oversees management’s Diversity 
and Inclusion strategy and initiatives. We are committed to 
becoming an industry leader in establishing and maintaining a 
diverse and inclusive workplace. Through internal and external 
benchmarking, Lend Lease can champion diversity and contribute 
to shifting business and community attitudes regarding diversity 
in the workplace. 
Improving the diversity of our workforce is a key objective across 
our business. For example, we are focused on increasing the 
representation of women at all levels of our business as part 
of a larger process of increasing overall diversity. Recruitment 
and promotion targets are being established, and these will be 
supported by succession planning, career development programs, 
graduate programs, mentoring programs and recruiting activities. 

10.3 Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
performance of existing Lend Lease Board members and 
identifying potential Board candidates, including candidates 
who will enhance the Board’s diversity and overall strength. 

10.4 Diversity Councils 
Lend Lease has established a Diversity Council in each region. 
Each Council oversees a number of Employee Resource Groups, 
which represent and engage with employees directly, to further 
drive our diversity agenda. Employee Resource Groups represent 
key focus areas including women in the workplace, cultural 
diversity, intergeneration, Indigenous, workplace flexibility, 
disability and sexual orientation.

10.5 Measurement and Implementation
Tracking employee perceptions and benchmarking performance 
against best practice within the industry is critical. Lend Lease 
measures internal perceptions and issues through employee 
surveys, which are undertaken periodically. Survey results drive 
our diversity agenda and priorities. 
In addition, employee data helps to shape best-practice strategies 
for the good health of the organisation. Annual information 
on workforce diversity, employee learning and development, 
succession planning and other recruitment issues is tracked 
and used to further refine our diversity strategies and initiatives. 
This data is also used to assess the impact of existing strategies 
and processes. 
For example, in relation to woman, we can track women in our 
workforce by region, business, role and level, as well as turnover 
rates, age and years of service. This data informs our diversity 
strategies in relation to women on an ongoing basis.
We have also undertaken focus groups with many employees 
regarding cultural diversity, workplace flexibility, women in 
the workplace and age diversity, to further identify issues and 
collect ideas. 
Our diversity strategies and initiatives are well on the way 
to delivering real change. 

11 Corporate Governance – Further Information
The Corporate Governance area of the Lend Lease website at 
www.lendlease.com contains further comprehensive information 
on Lend Lease’s Corporate Governance practices. The following 
material is available for viewing:
•	 LLC	Constitution;
•	 Lend	Lease	Trust	Constitution;
•	 Board	Charter;
•	 Nomination	Committee	Charter;
•	 Personnel	and	Organisation	Committee	Charter;
•	 Risk	Management	and	Audit	Committee	Charter;
•	 Sustainability	Committee	Charter;
•	 Core	Values;
•	 Code	of	Conduct;
•	 Code	of	Conduct	Breach	Reporting	Policy;
•	 Policy	on	Independence	of	Directors;
•	 External	Communications	and	Continuous	Disclosure	Policy;	
•	 Securities	Trading	Policy;	
•	 Risk	Management	Policy;	
•	 Health	and	Safety	Policy;	
•	 Environment	Policy;	and
•	 Political	Donations	Policy.
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12 Compliance with ASX Recommendations

ASX Recommendations Reference1 Comply (Yes/No)

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and those 
delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions.

1.1 Yes

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of 
senior executives.

2.2 Yes

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 1.

1.1 and 2.2 Yes

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors. 1.3 Yes

2.2 The chairman should be an independent director. 1.3, 1.6 Yes

2.3 The roles of chairman and chief executive officer should not be exercised by 
the same individual.

1.6, 2.1 Yes

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee. 4.1, 4.2 Yes

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of 
the board, its committees and individual directors.

1.8 Yes

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 2.

1.3, 1.6, 1.8, 4.1, 
4.2 and Section 1 
of the Directors’ 
Report

Yes

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or 
a summary of the code as to:
•	 	the	practices	necessary	to	maintain	confidence	in	the	company’s	integrity;
•	 	the	practices	necessary	to	take	into	account	their	legal	obligations	and	

the	reasonable	expectations	of	their	stakeholders;	and
•	 	the	responsibility	and	accountability	of	individuals	for	reporting	and	

investigating reports of unethical practices.

9.2, 9.3 Yes

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy 
or a summary of that policy. The policy should include requirements for the board 
to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the 
board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them. 

Refer to Note 2 
below

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy.

Refer to Note 2 
below

3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women 
employees in the whole organisation, women in senior executive positions 
and women on the board.

Refer to Note 2 
below

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 3.

9.2, 9.3 Yes

1 This is a reference to the relevant sections of this Corporate Governance Statement or to the Directors’ Report commencing on page 90.
2 ASX Recommendations 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 apply to Lend Lease from the 2011 financial year, and will be addressed in the 2011 Annual Report. Refer to section 10 of the 

Corporate Governance Statement for information about Lend Lease’s Diversity Governance.
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ASX Recommendations Reference1 Comply (Yes/No)

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. 4.1, 4.4 Yes

4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:
•	 consists	only	of	non	executive	directors;
•	 consists	of	a	majority	of	independent	directors;
•	 is	chaired	by	an	independent	chairman,	who	is	not	chairman	of	the	board;	

and
•	 has	at	least	three	members.

4.4 Yes

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter 4.4 Yes

4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 4.

4.1, 4.4 Yes

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with 
ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior 
executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of 
those policies.

5.1 Yes

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 5.

5.1 Yes

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders and encouraging their participation at general 
meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of that policy.

5.2, 5.3 Yes

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 6.

5.2, 5.3 Yes

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of 
material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

6.4 Yes

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk 
management and internal control system to manage the Company’s material 
business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed 
effectively. The board should disclose that management has reported to it as to 
the effectiveness of the company’s management of its material business risks.

4.4, 6.1, 6.2, 6.3 Yes

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the CEO 
(or equivalent) and the CFO (or equivalent) that the declaration provided 
in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a 
sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is 
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

6.5 Yes

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 7.

4.4, 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 
6.4, 6.5

Yes

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. 4.1, 4.3 Yes

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:
•	 consists	of	a	majority	of	independent	directors;
•	 is	chaired	by	an	independent	director;	and
•	 has	at	least	three	members.

4.3 Yes

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of Non Executive Directors’ 
remuneration from that of executive directors and senior executives.

Section 3(b) of the 
Directors’ Report

Yes

8.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting 
on Principle 8.

4.1, 4.3 
Directors’ Report

Yes

1 This is a reference to the relevant sections of this Corporate Governance Statement or to the Directors’ Report commencing on page 90.
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Overview

All currency amounts in the MD&A are expressed in 
Australian dollars unless otherwise specified. The following 
discussion and analysis is based on the Lend Lease Group 
(the Group) Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 and should be read in conjunction with 
those financial statements.

Introduction
The Group has five lines of business that operate in three 
geographic regions: Asia Pacific, Europe and the Americas.
− The Retail business comprises retail property management, 

asset management and development. This business also 
includes the Group’s ownership interests in direct property 
investments,	including	those	held	via	limited	partnerships;

− The Communities business is involved in the development 
of master-planned urban communities, inner city mixed-
use	developments,	apartments	and	the	retirement	sector;

− The Public Private Partnerships (PPP) business manages 
and	invests	equity	in	large	PPP	projects;

− The Investment Management business provides real estate 
investment management services. This business includes 
the Group’s ownership interests in property investments 
held indirectly through investments in Lend Lease 
managed	funds;	and

− The Project Management, Design and Construction business 
provides construction, project management and design 
services through Bovis Lend Lease.

Results Summary

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) After Tax1

 June  
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Retail 107.5 125.8 99.0 86.0 66.3 60.3

Communities 733.9 586.4 180.8 70.0 164.7 88.3

Public Private Partnerships 1,069.0 1,507.0 81.8 66.7 59.1 74.4

Investment Management 73.2 69.1 78.2 35.3 53.1 28.9

Project Management, Design and Construction 8,530.8 12,422.0 145.3 251.6 86.2 168.9

Total operating businesses 10,514.4 14,710.3 585.1 509.6 429.4 420.8

Group Services 14.5 23.4 (103.5) (80.6) (75.2) (67.8)

Group Treasury 41.1 51.3 0.9 (17.2) (26.9) (41.4)

Group Amortisation (3.7) (4.1)

Total corporate 55.6 74.7 (102.6) (97.8) (105.8) (113.3)

Total operating 10,570.0 14,785.0 482.5 411.8 323.6 307.5

Property investment revaluations 33.7 (325.7) 22.0 (263.0)

Other asset impairments (712.0) (645.9)

Savings implementation costs (120.8) (83.9)

Net gain on Bovis UK pension scheme curtailment 44.3 31.7

Total statutory 10,570.0 14,785.0 516.2 (702.4) 345.6 (653.6)

1 Profit/(loss) after tax is after adjusting for the profit after tax attributable to minority interests of A$2.6 million (June 2009: A$12.3 million loss after tax).

 Lend Lease Group 55



(MD&A) continuedOverview continued

Results Summary continued
The Group’s statutory profit after tax for the year ended 
30 June 2010 was A$345.6 million compared to a loss after tax 
of A$653.6 million for the prior year, which included a number 
of net write-downs and charges. 
The Group’s operating profit after tax increased by 5% to 
A$323.6 million. Operating profit after tax was negatively impacted 
by foreign exchange movements of approximately A$30.0 million 
due to a strengthening of the Australian dollar compared to the 
prior year.
The Group recognised net property investment revaluations of 
A$22.0 million profit after tax (June 2009: A$263.0 million loss 
after tax).
The Group is well positioned for future growth having secured 
a number of opportunities in the year, including:
− Being selected by the Barrangaroo Delivery Authority (BDA), 

on behalf of the New South Wales (NSW) Government, 
as preferred proponent to develop Stage 1 of Barrangaroo, 
the largest central business district (CBD) development in 
the history of Sydney, with an end value of approximately 
A$6.0 billion. In March 2010, a project development 
agreement was signed with the BDA under which Lend 
Lease	will	develop	the	7.5	hectare	Stage	1	site	of	the	project;

− Being selected as preferred proponent by the Western 
Australian (WA) Government for the approximately 
A$400.0 million first stage of the 710 hectare Alkimos 
Community development. Subsequent to year end, 
Lend Lease signed a development agreement with 
LandCorp	for	this	project;	

− Signing a conditional project development agreement with 
the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of 
Queensland (RNA) formalising its contract for the A$2.5 billion 
redevelopment	of	Queensland’s	premier	showground;

− A consortium led by Lend Lease acquired the 14 assets of 
the A$1.4 billion ING Retail Property Fund, increasing funds 
under	management	by	A$1.2	billion;	

− Launching a new wholesale fund, Lend Lease Real Estate 
Partners 3 (REP3), after receiving A$250.0 million in 
commitments	from	investors;

− A joint bid by Lend Lease and one of its managed funds, 
the Asian Retail Investment Fund (ARIF), was awarded 
the Jurong Gateway Road site, a large scale mixed-use 
suburban development in Singapore. The asset will be 
owned 75% by ARIF and Lend Lease will have a 25% 
direct	interest;

− Agreeing Heads of Terms with the London Borough of 
Southwark (the Council) for the approximately £1.5 billion 
regeneration of Elephant and Castle, in the United Kingdom 
(UK). Subsequent to year end, Lend Lease signed a 
conditional	regeneration	agreement	with	the	Council;

− Signing a conditional framework agreement worth 
approximately £1.3 billion with London & Continental 
Railways (LCR) to carry out a 4.5 million square feet 
mixed use development at Stratford Stage 2 following 
the	London	2012	Olympic	and	Paralympic	Games;	and

− Consolidating its position in the retirement sector with the 
acquisition of the remaining 56.8% interest in Lend Lease 
Primelife (Primelife) and the purchase of nine aged care 
facilities and four retirement villages from Prime Retirement 
and Aged Care Property Trust (Prime Trust). 

Following shareholder approval on 12 November 2009, the 
shares of the Company and the units in Lend Lease Trust (LLT) 
were combined as stapled securities. From 13 November 2009 
the shares in the Company and units in the Trust have been 
traded as one security under the name of Lend Lease Group 
on	the	Australian	Securities	Exchange	and	the	New	Zealand	
Stock Exchange. LLT was 100% owned by the Company prior to 
approval of the stapling proposal. Units in LLT were subsequently 
distributed to Lend Lease Corporation Limited shareholders as 
an ‘in specie’ dividend. The Company is deemed to control LLT 
for accounting purposes and therefore LLT is consolidated into 
the Group’s financial report. LLT held assets of A$0.6 million as 
at 30 June 2010. 
During March and April 2010, Lend Lease raised A$806.6 million 
through the issue of 104.7 million new securities via a 5 for 
22 single bookbuild accelerated renounceable entitlement 
offer at A$7.70 per new security.

Operating Profit After Tax 
The Retail business operating profit after tax increased due 
to higher investment income on newly acquired and developed 
assets in Asia Pacific. In addition, the Retail business in 
Europe completed the sale of the Group’s 33.3% interest 
in the Performance Retail Limited Partnership (PRLP).
The Asia Pacific Communities profit after tax reflects the 100% 
interest in Primelife from 15 December 2009, the tax benefit 
resulting from amendments relating to the tax consolidation 
legislation in Australia and increased volumes as evidenced by 
increased settlements in the year. Residential markets in the UK 
improved, resulting in higher settlements compared to the prior 
year. In addition, the Communities business in Europe completed 
the sale of its interest in Meridian Delta Dome Limited (MDDL). 
Profit after tax in the Americas PPP business declined principally 
due to negative foreign exchange movements. This business 
achieved financial close on Phase 1 of the Privatised Army 
Lodging project during the year. The increase in operating profit 
after tax for the UK PPP business is largely attributable to the 
sale of the Group’s interest in the Queen’s Hospital, Romford. 
In Australia, costs relate to the Group’s establishment of a PPP 
advisory origination business, Capella Capital.
The contribution to operating profit after tax from Investment 
Management increased principally due to a profit on the sale 
of a proportion of the Group’s interest in the Australian Prime 
Property Fund (APPF).
Project Management, Design and Construction operating 
profit after tax decreased, reflecting the significant slowdown 
in construction markets, particularly in the US, Europe and the 
Middle East. The result was negatively impacted by additional 
restructure costs relating to cost savings initiatives implemented 
in response to the slowdown in construction markets, costs in 
relation to the New York investigations and a provision against 
debtor exposures in the Middle East. These reductions have been 
partially offset by a strong performance in the Australian business. 
Group Services costs after tax increased by A$7.4 million 
and include costs associated with establishing the LLT and 
an increased charge relating to the Group’s superannuation 
plan in Australia.
Group Treasury costs decreased due to lower average net debt 
following the equity raising and the UK syndicated bank facility 
being drawn to a lower amount compared with the prior year. 
There were also lower hedge costs in the current year. 
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Shareholder Returns

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

Earnings per security (EPS) on statutory profit/(loss) after tax1 cents 69.5 (151.1)

EPS on operating profit after tax1 cents 65.1 71.1

Return on equity (ROE) on statutory profit/(loss) after tax2 % 12.6 (24.4)

1 EPS is calculated using the weighted average number of securities on issue including treasury securities. Under the Australian Accounting Standards, securities held in employee 
benefit vehicles, including employee security plans, which Lend Lease sponsors, are treated as treasury securities and are excluded from the calculation. This would have the 
effect of increasing the EPS calculations above if applied. June 2009 has been adjusted by a factor of 1.02 in respect of new securities issued during March and April 2010 via 
a 5 for 22 single bookbuild accelerated renounceable entitlement offer at A$7.70 per new security.

2 ROE is calculated based on statutory profit/(loss) after tax and weighted average equity.

Distributions
A final 100% franked dividend of 12 cents per security will be paid on 24 September 2010 (June 2009: 16 cents per share 100% franked). 
Together with the interim 100% franked dividend of 20 cents per security (December 2008: 25 cents per share 60% franked) and the 
‘in specie’ dividend of A$0.5 million following the stapling of LLT units to shares in the Company in November 2009, this represents a 
payout ratio of 50% of operating profit after tax for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

Group Funding

 June  
 2010

 June 
 2009

Net (cash)/debt1 A$m (19.7) 195.8

Gross borrowings to total tangible assets2 % 15.1 16.9

Net debt to total tangible assets, less cash3 % Note 3 2.9

Interest coverage4 times 6.7 5.2

1 Net (cash)/debt is borrowings, including other financial liabilities, less cash.
2 Calculated as borrowings, including other financial liabilities, divided by total tangible assets. 
3 Calculated as net debt divided by total tangible assets, less cash. This ratio is not relevant in the current year as the Group is in a net cash position. 
4 Calculated as operating EBITDA plus interest income divided by interest finance costs, including capitalised finance costs.

The Group had a net cash position as at 30 June 2010 of A$19.7 million, including other financial liabilities of A$169.6 million. 
Interest coverage at 6.7 times significantly exceeds the Group’s banking covenant thresholds. 
The Group is in a strong liquidity position with cash and cash equivalents of A$1,635.9 million at 30 June 2010. In addition, the Group 
had undrawn committed bank facilities of A$688.6 million. 
The average maturity of Lend Lease’s drawn debt at 30 June 2010 was 5.5 years, with the earliest maturity date being December 2011. 
As at 30 June 2010, the mix of borrowings, adjusted for interest rate swaps and including other financial liabilities, was 65% at fixed 
rates and 35% at floating rates. 

Cash Flow

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Net cash provided by operating activities 228.0 382.2

Net cash used in investing activities (309.9) (473.9)

Net cash provided by financing activities 652.5 356.0

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents (55.5) 13.7

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 515.1 278.0

Operating cash inflows of A$228.0 million represent the underlying cash flows from the Group’s operating businesses net of continued 
investment	in	property	developments.	The	current	year	includes	the	acquisition	of	four	retail	centres	in	New	Zealand	for	a	consideration	
of A$147.8 million, as part of the Lend Lease led acquisition of the ING Retail Property Fund assets. 
Investing cash outflows of A$309.9 million includes the acquisition of the remaining 56.8% interest in Primelife for a consideration 
of A$171.9 million and the purchase of nine aged care facilities and four retirement villages from Prime Trust for a consideration of 
A$82.6 million. Investing cash outflows also include the proceeds from the sale of the Group’s interest in investments including PRLP, 
the Queen’s Hospital, Romford, MDDL, and a proportional interest in APPF. These sales proceeds were partially offset by an equity 
contribution to REP3.
Financing cash inflows of A$652.5 million include the A$806.6 million equity raising and the proceeds of the A$570.0 million committed 
club facility established in the year. This was partially offset by the repayment of borrowings of A$445.6 million on the acquisition of 
Primelife, the full repayment of the amount drawn on the UK syndicated bank facility and distribution payments of A$126.1 million.
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(MD&A) continuedOverview continued

Investments

 Lend Lease  
 Share of Income1

 Lend Lease 
 Share of Income1  Market Value2  Market Value2

 June 2010 
 A$m

 June 2009 
 A$m

 June 2010  
 A$m

 June 2009 
 A$m

Retail

Asia Pacific 6.1 0.9 275.5 86.1

Europe 53.3 58.7 849.0 951.0

Americas 27.2 33.9 410.0 427.0

Total 86.6 93.5 1,534.5 1,464.1

Investment Management

Asia Pacific 44.7 17.4 305.6 387.1

Europe 6.0 8.1 120.9 118.2

Total 50.7 25.5 426.5 505.3

Total investments 137.3 119.0 1,961.0 1,969.4

1 Represents Lend Lease’s share of income before tax from investments, net of direct expenses and allocated overhead. Lend Lease’s share of income includes gains on the 
disposal or redemption of available for sale financial assets and associates accounted for using the equity method and excludes property investment revaluations.

2 Market value is based on independent valuations and is net of project-specific debt.

Lend Lease held property investments, directly or indirectly, with a market value of A$2.0 billion as at 30 June 2010 which is broadly 
in line with the prior year. The market value of property investments in the current year, however, has been impacted by negative foreign 
exchange movements of A$158.0 million compared to the prior year.

Retail
The value of Asia Pacific investments increased by A$189.4 million, principally due to Lend Lease acquiring a 100% interest in four 
retail	centres	in	New	Zealand,	as	part	of	the	Lend	Lease	led	acquisition	of	the	ING	Retail	Property	Fund	and	the	increase	in	valuation	
of 313@somerset of A$34.1 million.
The decrease of A$102.0 million in the UK Retail assets is due primarily to the negative impact of exchange rate movements 
of A$118.8 million and the disposal of the Group’s 33.3% interest in PRLP. This was partially offset by net revaluation gains. 
The value of 100% of Bluewater at 30 June 2010 increased by 8% to £1,440.0 million (A$2,571.4 million). However, the value of 
Lend Lease’s 30% direct interest in Australian dollars decreased to A$771.4 million, due to negative foreign exchange movements. 
As Bluewater is held as inventory, the asset is recorded at cost in the financial statements, which at 30 June 2010 was A$451.9 million 
(June 2009: A$506.2 million).
The value of Lend Lease’s 50% interest in King of Prussia at 30 June 2010 was in line with the prior year at US$348.5 million 
(June 2009: US$345.9 million), although the Australian dollar equivalent value decreased by 4% due mainly to a negative foreign 
exchange movement.

Investment Management
The value of investments in Asia Pacific reduced by A$81.5 million, principally due to the disposal of a proportion of the Group’s interest 
in APPF partially offset by an equity contribution to REP3.
The investments in Europe remained broadly in line with the prior year at A$120.9 million.

Property Investment Revaluations

 Unrealised Revaluation  
 Gain/(Loss) Before Tax

 Unrealised Revaluation  
 Gain/(Loss) Before Tax

 Unrealised Revaluation  
 Gain/(Loss) After Tax

 Unrealised Revaluation  
 Gain/(Loss) After Tax

 June 2010 
 A$m

 June 2009 
 A$m

 June 2010 
 A$m

 June 2009 
 A$m

Retail

Asia Pacific 32.1 (3.6) 21.9 (3.6)

Europe 0.5 (175.3) (0.4) (158.8)

Americas (4.8) (84.5) (2.8) (49.4)

Total 27.8 (263.4) 18.7 (211.8)

Communities

Europe (14.5) (14.5)

Total (14.5) – (14.5) –

Investment Management

Asia Pacific 7.7 (11.6) 5.1 (8.1)

Europe 12.7 (50.7) 12.7 (43.1)

Total 20.4 (62.3) 17.8 (51.2)

Total property investment revaluations 33.7 (325.7) 22.0 (263.0)
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Retail

Overview of Business
Lend Lease’s strategy is to focus on shopping centres with development potential. This business strategy is designed to secure 
integrated positions, which play to the Group’s core skills and involve all components of the property value chain (ownership, 
development, construction and property management). 

Key Financial Results
The key financial results for the Retail business are summarised below.

 Revenue1  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) After Tax

 June  
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Total Operating

Asia Pacific 43.4 41.2 17.5 12.5 13.3 8.9

Europe 64.1 84.6 54.3 39.6 35.4 24.0

Americas 27.2 33.9 17.6 27.4

Total operating 107.5 125.8 99.0 86.0 66.3 60.3

Property Investment Revaluations

Asia Pacific 32.1 (3.6) 21.9 (3.6)

Europe 0.5 (175.3) (0.4) (158.8)

Americas (4.8) (84.5) (2.8) (49.4)

Total – – 27.8 (263.4) 18.7 (211.8)

1 Revenue excludes proceeds received from the sale of investments and Lend Lease’s share of profits from associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method.

Total operating profit after tax increased by A$6.0 million from 
the prior year, including negative foreign exchange movements 
of A$12.4 million. The Group’s retail property investment 
revaluations included the revaluation increase on 313@somerset 
of A$23.9 million after tax. The valuations on other retail assets 
remained relatively stable.

Retail – Asia Pacific
Operating profit after tax increased by A$4.4 million to 
A$13.3 million due to increased investment income following 
the commencement of trading at 313@somerset and from 
the retail assets acquired as part of the ING Retail Property 
Fund transaction. 

Key trading events in the year include:
− Completion of the 313@somerset retail development in 

Singapore. The first stage of the retail centre commenced 
trading in December 2009 and was fully leased on opening. 
Lend Lease has a 25% direct ownership interest in the 
centre, with the remaining 75% held by ARIF. The centre 
was independently valued at S$1.2 billion (A$935.0 million) 
at June 2010. This has resulted in an investment revaluation 
increase of A$34.1 million before tax being recognised in 
the income statement on the Group’s direct ownership 
interest and A$10.3 million before tax being recognised in 
the	Fair	Value	Revaluation	Reserve	in	relation	to	the	Group’s	
interest	in	ARIF;

− Completion of the Caroline Springs retail development in 
western Melbourne in October 2009. The Lend Lease Core 
Plus Fund holds a 50% interest in the retail development 
and	APPF	Retail	holds	the	remaining	50%	interest;

− Completion of Mid City, the retail component of the 
420 George Street development in the Sydney CBD. The 
final retail stage of Mid City commenced trading in June 
2010, and was fully leased on opening. APPF Retail holds 
a 25% interest in Mid City and APPF Commercial holds 
a 25% interest in the office development. Completion 
of	the	commercial	development	is	expected	in	late	2010;

− Commencement of a A$210.0 million expansion at Caneland 
Central in Mackay, Queensland. The centre is 100% owned 
by	APPF	Retail;

− Property management of five additional centres previously 
owned by the ING Retail Property Fund. These centres were 
acquired in April 2010 by a consortium including Lend Lease 
managed funds, resulting in an increase in assets under 
management	of	A$860.0	million;

− Lend Lease acquired a 100% interest in four retail centres in 
New	Zealand,	for	a	consideration	of	A$147.8	million,	as	part	
of	the	ING	Retail	Property	Fund	transaction;	and

− On 28 June 2010, a joint bid by Lend Lease and ARIF was 
awarded the Jurong Gateway Road site, a large scale mixed-
use suburban development in Singapore. Lend Lease will 
have a 25% direct interest in the project, with the remaining 
75% to be owned by ARIF. The project is expected to involve 
the development of approximately 108,000 sqm of retail and 
office space.

Retail – Europe
Operating profit after tax of A$35.4 million increased by 
A$11.4 million compared with the prior year, including a negative 
foreign exchange movement of A$7.6 million. The increase in 
profit after tax from the prior year was primarily due to a profit 
on the sale of the Group’s 33.3% interest in PRLP. 

Key trading events in the year include:
−	 The	Bluewater	Events	Venue,	a	purpose	built	venue	for	trade	

shows, commenced construction in April 2010. Completion 
of	this	development	is	expected	in	2012;

−	 Other	than	Bluewater	Events	Venue,	there	has	been	no	
significant	capital	invested	by	Lend	Lease	in	the	year;	and

− Lend Lease sold its 33.3% interest in PRLP in the year.

Retail – Americas
In the Americas, Lend Lease’s retail business comprises a 50% 
ownership interest in the partnership that owns the King of Prussia 
Mall in Pennsylvania. Lend Lease’s share of operating income in 
US	dollar	terms	is	in	line	with	the	prior	year;	however,	profit	after	
tax declined due to a negative foreign exchange movement and 
a higher tax rate in the current year. 
The value of Lend Lease’s 50% interest in King of Prussia was 
largely unchanged from June 2009 at US$348.5 million (June 2009: 
US$345.9 million). The Australian dollar equivalent value decreased 
by 4% to A$410.0 million (June 2009: A$427.0 million), mainly due 
to negative foreign exchange movements. 
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(MD&A) continuedCommunities

Overview of Business
The Communities business is involved in the development of master-planned urban communities, inner city mixed-use developments, 
apartments and the retirement sector. The Lend Lease development model includes land sourcing, master-planning and design, product 
development and marketing. The scale and scope of development positions ensure earnings are derived from a diverse range of projects. 
This diversity reduces the portfolio risk and also generates product for both the Investment Management and the Project Management, 
Design and Construction businesses. The Communities business also includes the ownership and management of senior living assets.

Key Financial Results
The key financial results for the Communities business are summarised below.

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) After Tax

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Total Operating

Asia Pacific 610.3 463.0 132.7 90.4 122.1 99.9

Europe 123.6 123.4 47.9 (18.8) 42.5 (10.4)

Americas 0.2 (1.6) 0.1 (1.2)

Total operating 733.9 586.4 180.8 70.0 164.7 88.3

Property Investment Revaluations

Europe (14.5) (14.5)

Total – – (14.5) – (14.5) –

Total operating profit after tax increased by A$76.4 million from the prior year. The Asia Pacific profit after tax reflects the 100% interest 
in Primelife from 15 December 2009 and the tax benefit resulting from amendments relating to the tax consolidation legislation in 
Australia. Trading conditions improved in both the Australian and UK markets, as evidenced by increased settlements in the year. 
The Europe business includes the profit after tax on sale of the Group’s interest in MDDL.

Communities – Asia Pacific 
The key financial results for Communities – Asia Pacific are detailed below.

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

Operating profit after tax (A$m) 122.1 99.9

Number of units settled1 3,127 2,901

Gross sales value of units settled (A$m)1,2 881.2 1,024.7

Gross sales value of pre-sales (A$m)1,3 718.3 339.3

Number of development projects4 32 31

Number of retirement villages4,5 70 69

Number of aged care facilities4,5 33 33

Backlog (number of units)4,6

−	 Zoned	(with	planning	approval) 38,595 26,375

− Retirement villages (with planning approval) 1,310 1,145

−	 Unzoned	(awaiting	planning	approvals) 33,035 58,005

Backlog – Residential (units) 72,940 85,525

Backlog – Commercial (sqm/000s) 3,500.5 3,478.7

1 Includes 100% of joint venture projects and therefore will not necessarily correlate with Lend Lease’s profit after tax.
2 Gross sales value of units settled reflects residential and non-residential revenue from projects and the sale of interests in retirement villages. 
3 Pre-sales represent contracts entered into prior to 30 June 2010 that have not settled and therefore do not form part of profit after tax in the current year. These sales are 

expected to settle in future periods. 
4 The June 2009 comparatives for the number of development projects, retirement villages and aged care facilities and backlog have been adjusted to include Primelife. 
5 The number of retirement villages and aged care facilities includes owned and managed properties.
6 Backlog includes the total number of units in both Company-owned and joint venture projects. The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning 

applications are obtained. 

The Asia Pacific Communities business is focused on building a portfolio of market leading projects and assets in key sectors, including 
master-planned	urban	communities	through	Delfin	Lend	Lease;	apartments	through	Vivas	Lend	Lease;	integrated	mixed-use	property	
developments	through	Lend	Lease	Development;	and	senior	living	through	Primelife.	The	product	lines	of	the	Communities	business	
are:	residential	land	lots;	residential	built-form	(including	houses,	terraces	and	apartments);	commercial	(including	retail,	office,	light	
industrial	and	social	infrastructure);	and	senior	living	(including	retirement	villages,	aged	care	and	village	operations).

60 2010 Annual Report to Securityholders



The key financial results of the business by product line are detailed below.

 Residential Land Lots  Residential Built-Form  Commercial5  Senior Living  Total

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

Settlements1

Number of units2 2,658 2,419 234 352 235 130 3,127 2,901

Gross sales 
value (A$m)3

510.6 415.4 165.1 338.0 114.1 233.1 91.4 38.2 881.2 1,024.7

Pre-sales1,4

Number of units 1,046 860 469 212 28 1,543 1,072

Gross sales 
value (A$m)

233.6 163.4 438.9 164.7 33.3 11.2 12.5 718.3 339.3

1 Includes 100% of joint venture projects and therefore will not necessarily correlate with Lend Lease’s profit after tax.
2 The number of units settled during the period for Senior Living refers to primary sales (new development sites) and excludes any resales.
3 Gross sales value of units settled reflects residential and non-residential revenue from projects and the sale of interests in retirement villages.
4 Pre-sales represents contracts entered into prior to 30 June 2010 that have not settled and therefore do not form part of profit after tax in the current year. These sales are 

expected to settle in future periods. 
5 The number of units settled and the pre-sales number of units are not relevant measures for Commercial.

Key opportunities secured in the year include:
− In December 2009, Lend Lease was selected by the BDA 

on behalf of the NSW Government as preferred proponent 
to develop Stage 1 of Barrangaroo. In March 2010, a project 
development agreement was signed with the BDA under 
which Lend Lease will develop the 7.5 hectare Stage 1 site 
of the project. Stage 1 is expected to provide approximately 
490,000 sqm of new build floor area and 2.6 hectares 
of public realm and open space. With an end value of 
approximately A$6.0 billion, the project is expected to 
be	completed	over	the	next	10	to	15	years;

− On 30 June 2010, Lend Lease signed a conditional project 
development agreement with the RNA for the A$2.5 billion 
redevelopment of Queensland’s premier showground. 
The 15 year regeneration project includes building new 
showground facilities and the development of up to 
340,000 sqm of residential, commercial and retail on 
5.5	hectares	of	the	22	hectare	site;

−	 In	February	2010,	Vivas	Lend	Lease	secured	a	three	hectare	
parcel of land in Melbourne located in the residential 
suburb of Richmond approximately three kilometres from 
Melbourne’s CBD. Lend Lease will create a master-planned 
residential development on the site with an end value of 
approximately	A$400.0	million;

−	 Vivas	Lend	Lease	secured	development	rights	to	a	
2.5 hectare site on Orrong Road in Armadale located 
approximately six kilometres from Melbourne’s CBD. 
Lend Lease will create a master-planned residential 
development on the site with an end value of approximately 
A$600.0	million;

− Subsequent to year end, on 20 July 2010, Delfin 
Lend Lease signed a development agreement with 
LandCorp in WA for the first stage of the 710 hectare 
Alkimos Community development with an end value of 
approximately A$400.0 million. Development of the initial 
224	hectare	stage	is	expected	to	commence	in	2011;	and

− Lend Lease completed the acquisition of the remaining 
56.8% interest in Primelife, effective 15 December 2009, 
for a consideration of A$171.9 million. Additionally, on 
acquisition, the Primelife borrowings of A$445.6 million 
were repaid. Lend Lease also purchased nine aged care 
facilities and four retirement villages from Prime Trust for 
a consideration of A$82.6 million in August 2009. 

Key trading events in the year include:
−	 The	Rocky	Springs	project	in	Townsville	was	rezoned	to	

residential	in	February	2010,	adding	13,000	lots	to	zoned	
backlog. Lend Lease will create a master-planned residential 
development	on	the	site;

− The total number of residential land lots settled increased 
by 10% to 2,658 units due to improved trading conditions, 
notably in NSW. The commencement of trading at 
Springbank Rise in the Australian Capital Territory and a 
full year of trading at Blakes Crossing in South Australia 
(SA)	also	contributed	to	the	increase;

− The average sales price per residential land lot increased 
by 12% from A$171,700 to A$192,100, which reflects strong 
price	growth	in	Victoria	and	SA	plus	an	increase	in	the	
number	of	sales	in	NSW;

− Residential built-form unit settlements decreased by 
118 units to 234 units. This decrease is a result of no projects 
being completed at Jacksons Landing during the year whilst 
evolve and Stonecutters were completed in the prior year. 
The current year includes built-form settlements on The 
Merchant	building	at	Victoria	Harbour,	Melbourne;	Varsity	
Lakes,	Queensland;	Rouse	Hill,	Sydney;	and	St	Patricks	
Estate,	Manly,	Sydney;	

− The average sales price per residential built-form unit 
decreased by 26% from A$960,000 to A$706,000, reflecting 
the significant proportion of high value evolve apartments 
at Jacksons Landing sold in the prior year. Settlements in 
the current year include a larger proportion of mid market 
apartments	such	as	The	Merchant	in	Victoria	Harbour;

− The gross sales value of commercial projects of 
A$114.1 million is lower than the prior year, which included 
the sale of seven retirement villages and an aged care 
facility to Primelife prior to it becoming part of the 
consolidated	Group;

− The number of pre-sales as at 30 June 2010 of 1,543 units 
increased by 44% on the prior year. Pre-sales include 
Sugardock at Jacksons Landing, which is under 
construction and due for completion by December 2010. 
During the year, four apartment buildings, Silk and Antias 
at	Jacksons	Landing	and	Convesso	and	Serrata	at	Victoria	
Harbour,	were	launched	to	market;

− The Lockerbie project being pursued by Delfin Lend 
Lease, representing 9,700 units, has been removed from 
backlog units in the year as the exclusivity period under 
the agreement with the landowner has lapsed. Delfin Lend 
Lease continues to negotiate with the land owner in relation 
to	this	project;	

− During the year, Senior Living achieved resales of 828 units 
across its owned and managed retirement village portfolio. 
As at 30 June 2010, Senior Living held contracts for 
75	resales,	which	are	to	be	settled	in	the	next	financial	year;

− The aged care operations of Primelife were 94.5% occupied 
at	30	June	2010	(June	2009:	94.1%);	and

− The result includes A$8.7 million profit after tax from the 
close out of the Group’s equity derivative swap in relation 
to the FKP Property Group.
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(MD&A) continuedCommunities continued

Communities – Europe
In Europe, the Communities business comprises Crosby, an urban regeneration specialist operating in major northern England cities, 
and large scale redevelopment projects at Greenwich, Stratford and Elephant and Castle in London. 

The key financial results for Communities – Europe are detailed below.

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

Operating profit/(loss) after tax (A$m) 42.5 (10.4)

Number of units settled1 634 451

Gross sales value of units settled (A$m)1,2 123.9 111.9

Number of pre-sales1 232 286

Gross sales value of pre-sales (A$m)1,3 11.6 28.5

Number of projects 24 27

Backlog (number of units)4

−	 Zoned	(with	planning	approval) 12,165 13,115

−	 Unzoned	(awaiting	planning	approvals) 260 275

Backlog – Residential (units) 12,425 13,390

Backlog – Commercial (sqm/000s) 393.4 410.1

1 Includes 100% of joint venture projects and therefore will not necessarily correlate with Lend Lease’s profit after tax.
2 Gross sales value of units settled reflects residential and non-residential revenue from projects. 
3 Pre-sales represent contracts entered into prior to 30 June 2010 that have not settled and therefore do not form part of profit after tax in the current year. These sales are expected 

to settle in future periods. 
4 Backlog includes the total number of units in both Company-owned and joint venture projects. The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning applications 

are obtained. 

Key opportunities secured in the year include:
− In July 2007, Lend Lease was appointed as preferred bidder for the development of land at Elephant and Castle. Subsequent to 

year end, Lend Lease and the Council signed a conditional regeneration agreement for the approximately £1.5 billion regeneration 
of the site. The project is one of the most significant schemes of its type in Europe, comprising over 300,000 sqm of new 
mixed-use	development,	together	with	major	infrastructure	improvements	and	a	range	of	enhanced	community	facilities;	and

− In May 2010, Lend Lease entered into a conditional framework agreement worth approximately £1.3 billion with LCR to carry out 
a 4.5 million square feet mixed-use development at Stratford Stage 2 following the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games.

Key trading events in the year include:
−	 The	business	completed	the	sale	of	its	interest	in	MDDL;
− The number of units settled increased by 183 units and the gross sales value of units settled increased by A$12.0 million. 

The	sales	prices	achieved	were	in	excess	of	the	previous	written	down	values;
− The Greenwich Peninsula project is a mixed-use development on 59 hectares of land on the Greenwich Peninsula in London. 

The project will be developed through a combination of land sales to third party developers and direct development with joint 
venture partners. An office development with a substantial pre-let to Transport for London for 19,400 sqm was completed in 
July	2009.	The	Ravensbourne	College	of	Design	&	Communications	is	also	now	under	construction;	and

− In August 2008, Lend Lease was appointed as Development and Construction Manager for the first phase of Stratford City, 
a mixed-use development on 54 hectares of land with an existing planning consent of 9.4 million square feet. This first phase 
involves	building	the	Athletes	Village	for	the	London	2012	Olympic	and	Paralympic	Games	for	the	Olympic	Delivery	Authority.

Communities – Americas
In the US, the Communities business focuses on large scale urban greenfield development and regeneration opportunities. 
The	business	has	one	project,	Horizon	Uptown	in	Denver,	Colorado.	The	project	is	expected	to	be	launched	in	2012,	subject	
to favourable market conditions. 

The key financial results for Communities – Americas are detailed below.

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

Operating profit/(loss) after tax (A$m) 0.1 (1.2)

Backlog	–	Zoned	residential	(number	of	units)1 3,855 3,855

Backlog – Commercial (sqm/000s) 841.3 841.3

1 The actual number of backlog units for any particular project can vary as planning applications are obtained.
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Overview of Business
The PPP business consists of Actus in the US, the PPP projects in Europe and the newly established PPP advisory origination business, 
Capella Capital in Australia.

Key Financial Results
The key financial results for the PPP business are summarised below.

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) After Tax

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Americas 935.0 1,378.1 89.9 79.5 55.3 68.2

Europe 126.7 128.9 1.0 (12.8) 10.2 6.2

Asia Pacific 7.3 (9.1) (6.4)

Total operating 1,069.0 1,507.0 81.8 66.7 59.1 74.4

Total operating profit after tax decreased by A$15.3 million compared to the prior year, including a negative foreign exchange movement 
of A$15.0 million. The result includes the profit after tax on sale of the Group’s 50% interest in the Queen’s Hospital, Romford. 

Public Private Partnerships – Americas
The	primary	focus	of	Actus	is	the	Military	Housing	Privatization	Initiative	(MHPI)	for	all	branches	of	the	USA	Military.	Under	the	MHPI,	
Actus is selected to own, finance, construct and operate projects for a period of 50 years. 

The key financial results for PPP – Americas are detailed below.

 June  
 2010

 June 
 2009

Profit after tax (A$m) 55.3 68.2

Development gross profit margin (GPM) (A$m) 20.6 24.5

Construction GPM (A$m) 75.8 62.7

Asset management GPM (A$m) 17.1 17.2

Equity returns (A$m) 3.9 3.7

Number of projects1 20 20

Backlog (number of units under management)

− Operational (secured) 41,700 38,500

− Preferred bidder (awarded) 2,350 5,550

Total backlog 44,050 44,050

1 Number of projects includes extensions of existing projects and projects where Lend Lease is preferred bidder.

Key trading events in the year include:
− Profit after tax declined due to a negative foreign exchange movement of A$12.9 million. An increase in construction GPM 

was	offset	by	a	higher	tax	rate	in	the	current	year;
− Development fee income includes Phase 1 of the Privatised Army Lodging project which reached financial close in the year. 

Development	fees	represent	a	fee	for	service	and	are	not	at	risk	from	project	performance;
−	 Construction	GPM	and	asset	management	GPM	remain	in	line	with	the	delivery	program;	and
− This business includes costs relating to pursuing investment opportunities in Canada in line with the Group’s strategy. 

Public Private Partnerships
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(MD&A) continuedPublic Private Partnerships continued

Public Private Partnerships – Americas continued

New Work Secured and Backlog GPM

 New Work  
 Secured  
 GPM1

 New Work  
 Secured  
 GPM1

 Backlog  
 GPM2

 Backlog  
 GPM2

 June 2010  
 A$m

 June 2009  
 A$m

 June 2010  
 A$m

 June 2009  
 A$m

Projects in operational status (secured) 96.2 64.0 332.5 431.0

Projects in preferred bidder status (awarded)3 (10.1) (28.5) 32.0 52.1

Total 86.1 35.5 364.5 483.1

1 New Work Secured is the total project GPM to be earned from projects secured during the year, net of margin movements.
2 Backlog GPM disclosed includes a maximum of 10 years backlog from facilities management, even though the contracts run for up to 50 years. Although Backlog GPM is realised 

over several years, the average foreign exchange rate for the current year has been applied to the closing Backlog GPM balance in its entirety as the average rates for later years 
cannot be predicted. In local currency the Backlog GPM is US$328.0 million (June 2009: US$352.7 million).

3 Projects in preferred bidder status include the GPM on projects that were awarded preferred bidder status in the year, offset by the GPM transferred from preferred bidder status 
to operational status following financial close of projects in the year. 

Backlog GPM at 30 June 2010 was impacted by a negative movement in foreign exchange of A$91.2 million.

Backlog GPM Realisation

 Year Ending 
 June 2011 
 %

 Year Ending 
 June 2012 
 %

 Post 
 June 2012 
 %

 Total 
 %

Projects in operational status (secured) 22 14 64 100

Projects in preferred bidder status (awarded) 18 23 59 100

Total 22 13 65 100

Public Private Partnerships – Europe
The PPP business in the UK is focused on four sectors: health, education, waste and accommodation. Under PPP schemes, Lend Lease 
is selected to own, finance, construct and operate projects for a period of up to 40 years. The PPP result includes asset management 
GPM, facilities management GPM, returns on equity, loan stock interest and net bid costs. The PPP result does not include construction 
GPM, which is included in Project Management, Design and Construction. 

The key financial results for PPP – Europe are detailed below.

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

Profit after tax (A$m) 10.2 6.2

Operating GPM (A$m)1 14.8 14.7

Equity returns (A$m)2 41.4 33.8

Number of projects3 19 19

Backlog GPM (A$m)4 68.8 75.5

Equity

− Invested (A$m) 147.3 163.3

− Committed (A$m) 52.1 62.9

1 Operating GPM relates to asset and facilities management services provided.
2 Including loan stock interest and the profit before tax from the sale of the Group’s 50% interest in the Queen’s Hospital, Romford.
3 Number of projects includes projects where Lend Lease is preferred bidder and combines extensions of existing projects.
4 Backlog GPM disclosed includes a maximum of 10 years backlog from facilities management, even though PPP contracts run for periods of up to 40 years. 

Key trading events in the year include:
−	 Sale	of	the	Group’s	50%	interest	in	the	Queen’s	Hospital,	Romford	in	December	2009;
− An increase in the number of operational assets, with the practical completion and operational handover of the two 

schools (£34.0 million) in Phase 2 of the Lancashire Building Schools for the Future (BSF) project and Sheffield University 
accommodation	(£169.0	million);	and

− Reaching financial close in August 2009 on the £180.0 million first phase of the Birmingham BSF project for the City of Birmingham.

Public Private Partnerships – Asia Pacific
Key trading events in the year include:
−	 In	August	2009,	the	Group	established	in	Australia	a	PPP	advisory	origination	business,	Capella	Capital;
− The Group made its first PPP equity investment as part of the Pinnacle Education Consortium, reaching financial close on the 

South Australian New Schools PPP project, which involves the building of six new schools in Adelaide. Lend Lease is a 50% 
equity investor and is providing financial advisory and transaction management services to the consortium.
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Overview of Business
The Investment Management business has A$10.1 billion (June 2009: A$9.9 billion) of funds under management (FUM). The 
Investment Management business also includes investments held indirectly in property assets with a market value of A$426.5 million 
(June 2009: A$505.3 million). 

Key Financial Results
The key financial results for the Investment Management business are summarised below.

 Revenue1  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) After Tax

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Total Operating

Asia Pacific 56.7 60.5 62.0 35.5 45.7 27.1

Europe 16.4 7.8 13.3 1.9 4.7 3.1

Americas 0.1 0.8 2.9 (2.1) 2.7 (1.3)

Total operating 73.2 69.1 78.2 35.3 53.1 28.9

Property Investment Revaluations

Asia Pacific 7.7 (11.6) 5.1 (8.1)

Europe 12.7 (50.7) 12.7 (43.1)

Total – – 20.4 (62.3) 17.8 (51.2)

1 Revenue excludes redemption of available for sale financial assets and Lend Lease’s share of profits from associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method.

Key trading events in the year include:

Asia Pacific
− Profit after tax increased by A$18.6 million to A$45.7 million and includes the profit after tax from the sale of a proportion of the 

Group’s	interest	in	APPF;
− REP3 was launched in December 2009 after receiving A$250.0 million in commitments from a small group of investors. The fund 

has	substantially	achieved	its	invested	target	of	over	A$400.0	million;
− A consortium led by Lend Lease secured the 14 assets of the A$1.4 billion ING Retail Property Fund. A number of Lend Lease 

managed	funds	and	third	party	client	mandates	participated	in	the	transaction,	resulting	in	A$1.2	billion	in	FUM	growth;
− In April 2010, APPF Retail completed a A$0.5 billion equity raising. The equity raising was completed at the current unit value 

for	APPF	Retail	and	was	oversubscribed	by	existing	investors;
− ARIF completed the 313@somerset retail development in Singapore during the year. ARIF holds a 75% interest in the centre. 

The centre was independently valued at S$1.2 billion (A$935.0 million) at 30 June 2010. This has resulted in an investment 
revaluation	increase	of	A$10.3	million	before	tax	being	recognised	in	the	Fair	Value	Revaluation	Reserve	in	relation	to	the	
Group’s	interest	in	ARIF;	and

− On 28 June 2010 a joint bid by Lend Lease and ARIF was awarded the Jurong Gateway Road site, a large scale mixed-use 
suburban development in Singapore. The asset will be owned 75% by ARIF and Lend Lease will have a 25% direct interest. 
This acquisition will invest the remainder of the S$700.0 million of equity commitments in ARIF.

Europe
− Profit after tax increased by A$1.6 million to A$4.7 million and includes profit after tax from the Group’s investment in 

Lend Lease Global Properties, SICAF. 

Americas
− The profit after tax relates to the continued wind-up of the residual US Real Estate Investment business.

Investment Management
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Funds Under Management 

 Asia Pacific  
 A$b

 Europe 
 A$b

 Total 
 June 2010  
 A$b

 Total  
 June 2009  
 A$b

FUM at the beginning of the financial year 8.5 1.4 9.9 9.3

Foreign exchange movement1 (0.1) (0.2) (0.3) 0.2

Additions 1.8 1.8 2.1

Reductions (1.5) (1.5) (0.2)

Net revaluations 0.2 0.2 (1.5)

FUM at the end of the financial year2 8.7 1.4 10.1 9.9

1 Foreign exchange movement arising from translating opening FUM in local currency between June 2009 and June 2010.
2 FUM represents the gross market value of real estate and other related assets managed on behalf of investors.

FUM increased by A$0.2 billion from A$9.9 billion to A$10.1 billion during the year. 
Asia Pacific FUM increased by A$0.2 billion primarily as a result of securing A$1.2 billion of FUM relating to the ING Retail Property 
Fund transaction, offset by a reduction of A$1.5 billion of FUM as the underlying Primelife net assets were consolidated at 30 June 2010 
following the acquisition by the Group of the remaining 56.8% interest in Primelife during the year. Additionally, the APPF series of funds 
and ARIF completed capital expenditure of A$0.5 billion during the year. 
Lend Lease and ARIF are due to settle on the acquisition of the Jurong Gateway Road site in Singapore early next financial year, 
following which A$0.5 billion will be added to FUM.
Europe FUM was unchanged from the prior year at A$1.4 billion, as revaluation increases in underlying asset values were offset 
by foreign exchange movements.

Investment Management continued
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Project Management, Design and Construction

Key Financial Results
The key financial results for the Project Management, Design and Construction business are summarised below.

Revenue Realised GPM EBITDA Profit/(Loss) After Tax

June  
2010  
A$m

June  
2009  
A$m

June  
2010  
A$m

June  
2009  
A$m

June  
2010  
A$m

June  
2009  
A$m

June  
2010  
A$m

June  
2009 
 A$m

Asia Pacific 3,436.5 3,012.2 238.7 222.6 161.6 136.5 105.4 94.7

Europe 2,167.2 3,382.6 163.7 208.9 50.4 62.5 25.8 39.0

Americas 2,927.1 6,027.2 81.8 213.4 (66.7) 52.6 (45.0) 35.2

Total operating 8,530.8 12,422.0 484.2 644.9 145.3 251.6 86.2 168.9

Project Management, Design and Construction profit after tax was A$86.2 million, a decrease of A$82.7 million from the prior year. 
Profit after tax for the year was positively impacted by foreign exchange movements of A$1.9 million.
Total revenue decreased by A$3.9 billion compared with the prior year, including negative foreign exchange movements of A$1.2 billion. 
The decrease is primarily due to difficult trading conditions in the Americas and Europe. 

Key trading events in the year include:

Asia Pacific
− The Asia Pacific profit after tax of A$105.4 million increased by A$10.7 million compared with the prior year and includes a negative 

foreign	exchange	movement	of	A$2.9	million	relating	to	Asia.	Key	contributions	to	GPM	in	Australia	included	the	ANZ	and	Myer	
Head Office buildings in Melbourne and Sydney Water Desalination Pipeline, 420 George Street and the Darling Walk Commercial 
Office development in Sydney. In Asia, the telecommunications rollout in Japan, 313@somerset retail development, Abbott 
Pharmaceutical plant and REC solar panel plant in Singapore were key contributors during the year.

Europe
− The European profit after tax of A$25.8 million has decreased due to difficult trading conditions across Europe and the Middle 

East, where a provision has been taken against the recovery of certain debtors balances. Profit after tax for the year was also 
negatively	impacted	by	foreign	exchange	movements	of	A$5.7	million.	Key	contributions	to	GPM	included	the	Athletes	Village	
project for the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games in London, Peel Media City mixed-use project in Manchester, UK Ministry 
of Defence projects, Cadbury facilities in Poland and the BP Global Alliance project across Europe.

Americas
− The Americas loss after tax of A$45.0 million is due to a continued weakness in the American market and costs in relation 

to the New York investigations. In response to the slowing momentum, a number of cost reduction initiatives have also been 
implemented, which have resulted in significant implementation costs being incurred in the year. 

Profitability Ratio
The profitability ratio (defined as EBITDA divided by realised GPM) decreased from 39% to 30%, principally due to the loss in the 
Americas. The profitability ratio increased to 68% in Asia Pacific (June 2009: 61%), while the Europe profitability ratio of 31% was 
consistent with the prior year (June 2009: 30%). 
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New Work Secured and Backlog GPM

New Work 
Secured  

GPM 

New Work 
Secured  

GPM
Backlog

GPM 1
Backlog

GPM 1

June 2010 
A$m

June 2009 
A$m

June 2010 
A$m

June 2009 
A$m

Asia Pacific 163.8 264.1 248.6 323.5

Europe 101.0 167.8 126.8 228.1

Americas 30.0 60.0 60.5 138.5

Total 294.8 491.9 435.9 690.1

1 Although Backlog GPM is realised over several years, the average foreign exchange rate for the current year has been applied to the closing Backlog GPM balance in its entirety as 
the average rates for later years cannot be predicted. In local currency, the Americas Backlog GPM was US$54.5 million (June 2009: US$101.1 million) and the European Backlog 
GPM was £72.3 million (June 2009: £107.2 million).

New Work Secured is the total project GPM to be earned from projects secured during the year, net of margin movements. 
Backlog GPM is the expected GPM to be realised in future financial years from contracts committed at the end of the year. Backlog 
GPM at 30 June 2010 was impacted by a negative foreign exchange movement of A$64.8 million. The decrease in New Work 
Secured GPM in the year reflects the economic conditions across all regions, resulting in fewer projects being secured. Australia’s 
backlog	includes	significant	Government	projects,	namely,	Gold	Coast	University	Hospital;	Royal	Children’s	Hospital,	and	Melbourne	
Wholesale	Markets,	Melbourne;	Liverpool	Hospital,	Sydney;	Catholic	Schools	Building	Education	Revolution	projects;	and	Brisbane	
Supreme Court. 

Backlog GPM Realisation 

Year Ending 
June 2011

%

Year Ending 
June 2012

%

Post 
June 2012

%
Total

%

Asia Pacific 68 25 7 100

Europe 68 19 13 100

Americas 72 23 5 100

Total 68 23 9 100

As at 30 June 2010, 68% of Bovis Lend Lease Backlog GPM is projected to be realised in the year ended 30 June 2011. 
The proportion of Bovis Lend Lease secured Backlog GPM to be realised beyond 12 months decreased to 32% (June 2009: 42%).

Project Management, Design and Construction
continued
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Corporate

The key financial results for Corporate are summarised below.

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) After Tax

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June  
 2009  
 A$m

 June  
 2010  
 A$m

 June  
 2009  
 A$m

 June  
 2010  
 A$m

 June  
 2009  
 A$m

Group Services 14.5 23.4 (103.5) (80.6) (75.2) (67.8)

Group Treasury 41.1 51.3 0.9 (17.2) (26.9) (41.4)

Group Amortisation (3.7) (4.1)

Total operating 55.6 74.7 (102.6) (97.8) (105.8) (113.3)

Group Services
Group Services costs after tax increased by A$7.4 million and include costs associated with establishing the LLT and an increased 
charge relating to the Group’s superannuation plan in Australia. 

Group Treasury
Group Treasury manages the Group’s liquidity, foreign exchange exposures, interest rate risk and debt. The result for the year is 
detailed in the table below.

 Profit/(Loss) Before Tax  Profit/(Loss) After Tax

 June  
 2010  
 A$m

 June  
 2009  
 A$m

 June  
 2010  
 A$m

 June  
 2009  
 A$m

Interest revenue 41.1 51.3 29.3 38.5

Interest expense and borrowing costs (85.0) (96.6) (56.3) (67.1)

Net hedge benefit/(cost) 0.9 (17.2) 0.1 (12.8)

Total Group Treasury (43.0) (62.5) (26.9) (41.4)

Interest Revenue and Expenses
− Interest revenue before tax decreased by A$10.2 million this year, as in the prior year the Group’s UK syndicated bank facility was 

fully drawn down for part of the year and the proceeds placed on deposit. The interest rate on invested cash averaged 3.1% per 
annum	for	the	year	(June	2009:	3.4%);	and

− Interest expense and borrowing costs before tax decreased by A$11.6 million compared with the prior year. This is due to lower 
drawn debt following the Group’s equity raising and the UK syndicated bank facility being drawn to a lower amount during 
the year. This was partially offset by interest on the A$570.0 million committed club facility which has been fully drawn since 
December 2009. 

Hedging and Foreign Exchange Exposure
− Lend Lease hedges material foreign currency cash flows. Any foreign exchange gains or losses arising on the underlying cash 

flow	or	the	hedging	of	business	unit	cash	flows	are	allocated	to	the	business	unit’s	operating	profit;	and
− Lend Lease uses natural hedging, where possible, to minimise its exposure to movement in foreign currency denominated net 

assets. The impact of foreign exchange movements on the Group’s net assets is accounted for in the Foreign Currency Translation 
Reserve (FCTR). In the year, the FCTR decreased by A$54.8 million, primarily due to a strengthening of the Australian dollar.

Group Liquidity
− At 30 June 2010, the Group was in a strong liquidity position, with cash and cash equivalents of A$1,635.9 million and un-drawn 

committed bank facilities of A$688.6 million. The Group’s net cash position as at 30 June 2010 was A$19.7 million, including other 
financial liabilities of A$169.6 million.
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Results Detail

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) Before Tax1 Profit/(Loss) After Tax2

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

 June 
 2010 
 A$m

 June 
 2009 
 A$m

Retail

Asia Pacific 43.4 41.2 17.5 12.5 17.3 12.1 13.3 8.9

Europe 64.1 84.6 54.3 39.6 52.9 38.2 35.4 24.0

Americas 27.2 33.9 27.2 33.9 17.6 27.4

Total Retail 107.5 125.8 99.0 86.0 97.4 84.2 66.3 60.3

Communities

Asia Pacific 610.3 463.0 132.7 90.4 121.1 100.8 122.1 99.9

Europe 123.6 123.4 47.9 (18.8) 46.2 (13.6) 42.5 (10.4)

Americas 0.2 (1.6) 0.1 (2.0) 0.1 (1.2)

Total Communities 733.9 586.4 180.8 70.0 167.4 85.2 164.7 88.3

Public Private Partnerships

Americas 935.0 1,378.1 89.9 79.5 92.8 83.0 55.3 68.2

Europe 126.7 128.9 1.0 (12.8) 13.9 4.7 10.2 6.2

Asia Pacific 7.3 (9.1) (9.1) (6.4)

Total Public Private Partnerships 1,069.0 1,507.0 81.8 66.7 97.6 87.7 59.1 74.4

Investment Management

Asia Pacific 56.7 60.5 62.0 35.5 60.9 35.2 45.7 27.1

Europe 16.4 7.8 13.3 1.9 12.6 1.9 4.7 3.1

Americas 0.1 0.8 2.9 (2.1) 3.0 (2.1) 2.7 (1.3)

Total Investment Management 73.2 69.1 78.2 35.3 76.5 35.0 53.1 28.9

Project Management, 
Design and Construction 

Asia Pacific 3,436.5 3,012.2 161.6 136.5 158.7 133.9 105.4 94.7

Europe 2,167.2 3,382.6 50.4 62.5 44.6 57.0 25.8 39.0

Americas 2,927.1 6,027.2 (66.7) 52.6 (71.0) 47.2 (45.0) 35.2

Total Project Management, 
Design and Construction 8,530.8 12,422.0 145.3 251.6 132.3 238.1 86.2 168.9

Total operating businesses 10,514.4 14,710.3 585.1 509.6 571.2 530.2 429.4 420.8

Corporate

Group Services 14.5 23.4 (103.5) (80.6) (107.4) (82.5) (75.2) (67.8)

Group Treasury 41.1 51.3 0.9 (17.2) (43.0) (62.5) (26.9) (41.4)

Group Amortisation (3.7) (4.1) (3.7) (4.1)

Total corporate 55.6 74.7 (102.6) (97.8) (154.1) (149.1) (105.8) (113.3)

Total operating 10,570.0 14,785.0 482.5 411.8 417.1 381.1 323.6 307.5

Property investment revaluations 33.7 (325.7) 33.7 (325.7) 22.0 (263.0)

Other asset impairments (712.0) (712.0) (645.9)

Savings implementation costs (120.8) (120.8) (83.9)

Net gain on Bovis UK pension 
scheme curtailment 44.3 44.3 31.7

Total statutory 10,570.0 14,785.0 516.2 (702.4) 450.8 (733.1) 345.6 (653.6)

1 Profit/(loss) before tax is before adjusting for the amount attributable to minority interests.
2 Profit/(loss) after tax is after adjusting for the profit after tax attributable to minority interests of A$2.6 million (June 2009: A$12.3 million loss after tax). 
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Operating Results Detail in Local Currency1

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) Before Tax2 Profit/(Loss) After Tax3

 June  
 2010 
 A$m

 June  
 2009 
 A$m

 June  
 2010 
 A$m

 June  
 2009 
 A$m

 June  
 2010 
 A$m

 June  
 2009 
 A$m

 June  
 2010 
 A$m

 June  
 2009 
 A$m

Asia Pacific 

Retail 43.4 41.2 17.5 12.5 17.3 12.1 13.3 8.9

Communities 610.3 463.0 132.7 90.4 121.1 100.8 122.1 99.9

Public Private Partnerships 7.3 (9.1) (9.1) (6.4)

Investment Management 56.7 60.5 62.0 35.5 60.9 35.2 45.7 27.1

Project Management, Design 
and Construction 3,436.5 3,012.2 161.6 136.5 158.7 133.9 105.4 94.7

Group Services and Amortisation 14.5 23.4 (103.5) (80.6) (111.1) (86.6) (78.9) (71.9)

Group Treasury 34.0 45.7 0.7 (12.3) 8.8 32.9 7.3 24.8

Total Asia Pacific 4,202.7 3,646.0 261.9 182.0 246.6 228.3 208.5 183.5

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) Before Tax2  Profit/(Loss) After Tax3

 June 
 2010 
 £m

 June 
 2009 
 £m

 June 
 2010 
 £m

 June 
 2009 
 £m

 June 
 2010 
 £m

 June 
 2009 
 £m

 June 
 2010 
 £m

 June 
 2009 
 £m

Europe

Retail 36.5 39.8 31.0 18.6 30.2 18.0 20.2 11.3

Communities 70.5 58.0 27.2 (8.8) 26.3 (6.4) 24.2 (4.9)

Public Private Partnerships 72.2 60.6 0.6 (6.0) 7.9 2.2 5.8 2.9

Investment Management 9.3 3.7 7.6 0.9 7.2 0.9 2.7 1.5

Project Management, Design 
and Construction 1,235.3 1,589.8 28.7 29.4 25.4 26.8 14.7 18.3

Group Treasury 1.0 2.0 (2.3) (21.8) (34.3) (15.7) (24.7)

Total Great British Pounds 1,424.8 1,753.9 95.1 31.8 75.2 7.2 51.9 4.4

Total Australian Dollars4 2,499.7 3,731.7 166.8 67.6 131.9 15.3 91.1 9.3

 Revenue  EBITDA  Profit/(Loss) Before Tax2 Profit/(Loss) After Tax3

 June 
 2010 
 US$m

 June 
 2009 
 US$m

 June  
 2010 
 US$m

 June  
 2009 
 US$m

 June  
 2010 
 US$m

 June 
 2009 
 US$m

 June  
 2010 
 US$m

 June  
 2009 
 US$m

Americas

Retail 24.5 24.7 24.5 24.7 15.8 20.0

Communities 0.2 (1.2) 0.1 (1.5) 0.1 (0.9)

Public Private Partnerships 841.5 1,006.0 80.9 58.0 83.5 60.6 49.8 49.8

Investment Management 0.1 0.6 2.6 (1.5) 2.7 (1.5) 2.4 (0.9)

Project Management, Design 
and Construction 2,634.4 4,399.9 (60.0) 38.4 (63.9) 34.5 (40.5) 25.7

Group Treasury 4.8 0.8 0.2 (12.2) (16.4) (6.0) (10.0)

Total US Dollars 3,480.8 5,407.3 48.4 118.4 34.7 100.4 21.6 83.7

Total Australian Dollars4 3,867.6 7,407.3 53.8 162.2 38.6 137.5 24.0 114.7

1 Local currency results exclude foreign exchange movements other than Great British Pounds and US Dollars.
2 Profit/(loss) before tax is before adjusting for the amount attributable to minority interests.
3 Profit/(loss) after tax is after adjusting for the profit after tax attributable to minority interests of A$2.6 million (June 2009: A$12.3 million loss after tax).
4 The foreign exchange rates applied are A$1 = £0.57 (June 2009: A$1 = £0.47) and A$1 = US$0.90 (June 2009: A$1 = US$0.73).

Appendix 2

 Lend Lease Group 71



This page has been left intentionally blank

72 2010 Annual Report to Securityholders



Portfolio Report

Investments 74

Investments Reported in Retail 74

Investments Reported in Investment Management 75

Retail  76

Assets Under Management 76

Communities 77

Overview 77

Communities – Asia Pacific  77

Senior Living  79

Communities – Europe  80

Communities – Americas  80

Public Private Partnerships 81

Overview 81

Public Private Partnerships – Americas   82

Public Private Partnerships – Europe  83

Public Private Partnerships – Asia Pacific 84

Investment Management 85

Funds Under Management 85

Project Management, Design and Construction 86

Major Projects 86

All currency amounts in the Portfolio Report are expressed in Australian dollars unless otherwise specified.

The Portfolio Report is based on the Lend Lease Group Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 and 
should be read in conjunction with those financial statements. 

Contents

 Lend Lease Group 73



Portfolio Report continuedInvestments

Investments Reported in Retail

Region

 Lend Lease  
 Interest 
 %

 Market Value1 
 June 2010 
 A$m

 Market Value1 
 June 2009 
 A$m

Asia Pacific

Pakenham Place Australia 25.0 10.7 10.8

Craigieburn Australia 25.0 10.0 11.3

PoMo Asia 25.0 7.5 7.2

313@somerset Asia 25.0 2 98.3 56.8

New	Zealand	Retail	Portfolio New	Zealand 100.0 149.0

Total Asia Pacific 275.5 86.1

Europe3

Bluewater4 UK 30.0 771.4 814.3

Performance Retail Limited Partnership5 UK 33.3 48.2

Warrington Retail Limited Partnership6 UK 50.0

Chelmsford Meadows Unit Trust7 UK 75.0 75.1 82.2

Preston Tithebarn Unit Trust UK 50.0 2.5 6.3

Total Europe 849.0 951.0

Americas3

King of Prussia USA 50.0 410.0 427.0

Total Americas 410.0 427.0

Total Retail 1,534.5 1,464.1

1 Market value is based on independent valuations and is net of project-specific debt.
2 Lend Lease owns 25% of the 313@somerset retail centre directly, with the remaining 75% held by Lend Lease Asian Retail Investment Fund (ARIF) in which Lend Lease holds 

a 10.1% interest (reported in Investment Management). 
3 The market value of UK assets has been translated at A$1 = £0.56 (June 2009: A$1 = £0.49) and the market value of USA assets has been translated at A$1 = US$0.85 

(June 2009: A$1 = US$0.81).
4 The market value at 30 June 2010 of 100% of Bluewater was £1,440.0 million (A$2,571.4 million). Bluewater is treated as inventory in the financial statements and is therefore 

reflected at cost, which at 30 June 2010 was A$451.9 million.
5 During the year, the Group sold its 33.3% interest in the Performance Retail Limited Partnership.
6 The market value of the Warrington Retail Limited Partnership net assets was below zero at 30 June 2010 and, as a result, Lend Lease’s investment has been written down to nil.
7 The Chelmsford Meadows Unit Trust is consolidated in the financial statements, with 100% of the underlying property asset being recognised as an investment property at a book 

value of A$100.1 million.
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Investments Reported in Investment Management

Region

 Lend Lease  
 Interest  
 %

 Market Value1  
 June 2010  
 A$m

 Market Value1 
 June 2009 
 A$m

Asia Pacific

Australian Prime Property Funds Australia Various2 46.9 199.0

Real Estate Partnership Funds3 Australia Various 56.1 5.6

Lend Lease Core Plus Fund (LLCPF) Australia 10.9 43.5 45.2

Lend Lease Communities Fund 1 Australia 20.8 11.8 9.8

Asia Pacific Investment Company No. 2 Limited (APIC2) Asia 21.1 116.6 108.8

Lend Lease Asian Retail Investment Fund Asia 10.14 30.7 18.7

Total Asia Pacific 305.6 387.1

Europe5

Lend Lease Retail Partnership UK 3.95 41.8 43.5

Lend Lease Overgate Partnership UK 30.7 68.4 62.7

Lend Lease Global Properties, SICAF Europe 24.8 1.9 2.8

Cohen	&	Steers,	SICAV Europe 8.8 9.2

Total Europe 120.9 118.2

Total Investment Management 426.5 505.3

Total Investments 1,961.0 1,969.4

1 Market value is based on independent valuations and is net of project-specific debt.
2 Lend Lease holds varying proportional interests in the Australian Prime Property Funds (APPF). During the year, the Group sold a proportion of its interest in APPF. 
3 Lend Lease Real Estate Partners 3 (REP3) was launched in December 2009. 
4 Lend Lease owns 25% of the 313@somerset retail centre directly (reported in Retail), with the remaining 75% held by ARIF. During the year ARIF acquired a 50% stake in the 

Setia City Mall development, with the remaining 50% held by an external party. Additionally, a joint bid by Lend Lease and ARIF was awarded the Jurong Gateway Road site, 
in Singapore. The asset will be owned 75% by ARIF and Lend Lease will have a 25% direct interest.

5 The market value of UK assets has been translated at A$1 = £0.56 (June 2009: A$1 = £0.49).
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Assets Under Management

 Australia  Asia  UK  Total

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June 
 2010

 June 
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

Number of centres 15 9 3 2 5 5 23 16

Assets under management (A$m) 5,343.3 4,145.3 1,820.3 877.7 3,538.1 3,693.7 10,701.7 8,716.7

GLA1 under management 
(square metres (sqm)/000s)

725.2 533.3 96.5 69.4 341.3 336.7 1,163.0 939.4

Shopping Centres Managed on Behalf of
 GLA 
 sqm/000s

 Market Value2

 June 2010 
 A$m

Market Value2 
 June 2009 
 A$m

Asia Pacific

Cairns Central, Qld APPF Retail/Other Owners 52.8

Caneland Central, Qld APPF Retail 39.3

Sunshine	Plaza,	Qld APPF Retail/Other Owners 73.3

Erina Fair, NSW APPF Retail/Other Owners 112.3

Macarthur Square, NSW APPF Retail/Other Owners 93.5

Mid City, NSW APPF Retail/Other Owners 9.0

Greensborough	Plaza,	Vic APPF Retail 58.2

Caroline	Springs	Square,	Vic APPF Retail/ LLCPF 21.0 5,343.3 4,145.3

Pakenham	Place,	Vic APPF Retail/Lend Lease 15.8

Lakeside Joondalup, WA APPF Retail/Other Owners 71.1

Menai Marketplace, NSW REP3 16.8

Settlement City, NSW REP3 19.2

Armadale Shopping City, WA REP3 31.0

Stud	Park,	Vic Other Owners 26.8

Indooroopilly, Qld3 Other Owners 85.1

Parkway Parade, Singapore4 APIC2 52.5 756.9 742.7

313@somerset, Singapore4 ARIF/Lend Lease 27.1 935.0

PoMo, Singapore4 Lend Lease/Other Owners 16.9 128.4 135.0

Total Asia Pacific5 821.7 7,163.6 5,023.0

1 GLA represents the gross lettable area of the centres.
2 Market value represents Lend Lease’s assessment of the value of the underlying assets.
3 Management rights for Indooroopilly will cease in October 2010.
4 Market value for Singapore assets in local currency is S$2,239.0 million (June 2009: S$1,026.9 million).
5 The potential gross estimated development cost on the Asia Pacific Retail portfolio is approximately A$2.0 billion with an estimated additional GLA of 270,000 sqm. 

Shopping Centres Managed on Behalf of
 GLA  
 sqm/000s

 Market Value1  
 June 2010 
 £m

 Market Value1 
 June 2009 
 £m

 Market Value1 
 June 2010 
 A$m

 Market Value1 
 June 2009 
 A$m

United Kingdom

Bluewater, Kent Lend Lease Retail Partnership/
Lend Lease Corporation

158.5 1,440.0 1,330.0 2,571.4 2,714.3

Overgate, Dundee Lend Lease Overgate Partnership 39.0 125.9 101.5 224.8 207.1

Touchwood, Solihull Lend Lease Retail Partnership 60.4 226.7 200.0 404.8 408.2

Golden Square, Warrington Warrington Retail Unit Trust 68.9 132.7 124.7 237.0 254.5

The Meadows, Chelmsford Chelmsford Meadows Unit Trust 14.5 56.1 53.7 100.1 109.6

Total United Kingdom2 341.3 1,981.4 1,809.9 3,538.1 3,693.7

Total assets under management 1,163.0 – – 10,701.7 8,716.7

1 Market value represents Lend Lease’s assessment of the value of the underlying assets.
2 The potential gross estimated development cost on the UK Retail portfolio is approximately A$0.9 billion with an estimated additional GLA of 145,000 sqm. 
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Communities

Overview

 Asia Pacific  UK  USA  Total

 June 
 2010

 June 
 20091

 June 
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

Number of development projects2 32 31 24 27 1 1 57 59

Number of retirement villages3 70 69 70 69

Number of aged care facilities3 33 33 33 33

Backlog4

−	 	Zoned	(with	planning	approvals) 38,595 26,375 12,165 13,115 3,855 3,855 54,615 43,345

−  Retirement villages 
(with planning approvals)

1,310 1,145 1,310 1,145

−	 	Unzoned	
(awaiting planning approvals)

33,035 58,005 260 275 33,295 58,280

Residential (units) 72,940 85,525 12,425 13,390 3,855 3,855 89,220 102,770

Commercial (sqm/000s)5 3,500.5 3,478.7 393.4 410.1 841.3 841.3 4,735.2 4,730.1

1 The June 2009 comparatives for the number of development projects, retirement villages and aged care facilities and backlog have been adjusted to include Primelife.
2 The number of projects in the UK includes Stratford Athletes Village, Stratford Stage 2 and Elephant and Castle. Elephant and Castle and Stratford Stage 2 are still under negotiation 

so they are not included in the backlog metrics above. Stratford Athletes Village is progressing on a fee based arrangement and therefore is excluded from the backlog metrics.
3 The number of retirement villages and aged care facilities includes owned and managed properties.
4 Backlog includes Company-owned, joint venture and managed projects. 
5 Represents net developable area of the project site. 

Communities – Asia Pacific – Project Listing

Project Location Ownership Interest

 Estimated  
 Completion  
 Date1

 Backlog  
 Land  
 Units2

 Backlog  
 Built-Form  
 Units2

 Estimated  
 Commercial  
 Backlog  
 sqm/000s

Zoned Projects

Woodlands3 Qld Land management 2012 605 100

Forest Gardens Qld 50%	JV/Land	management 2012 130 2.4

Varsity	Lakes Qld Land management 2012 15 20 21.5

Springfield Lakes Qld Land management 2020 5,840 1,110 135.7

Hyatt Coolum Qld 100% 2014 210 225

Rocky Springs Qld Land management 2042 12,450 550 548.0

Bingara Gorge NSW Land management 2022 1,065 87.9

St Marys – Other Precincts NSW 100% 2018 3,600 35 706.2

St Marys – Ropes Crossing3 NSW Land management 2015 1,195 50

Nelsons Ridge NSW Land management 2015 180 320

Jacksons Landing NSW 50%	JV 2012 275 15.7

Rouse Hill NSW 50%	JV/Land	management 2018 375 410 97.9

St Patricks NSW 50%	JV/Land	management 2012 50

Darling Walk NSW Development management 2011 64.0

Barangaroo4 NSW Staged payments 2023 430.0

Forde ACT 25%	JV/Land	management 2013 485 25 2.4

Springbank Rise ACT 50%	JV/Land	management 2015 830 255 2.5

Edgewater Vic 100% 2012 90

Subtotal zoned 26,980 3,515 2,114.2

1 Estimated completion date represents the estimated financial year of the last unit settled for master-planned communities and the construction completion date for apartments. 
2 Backlog includes the total number of units in Company-owned, joint venture and managed projects. The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning 

applications are obtained.
3 Projects managed on behalf of the Lend Lease Communities Fund 1. Lend Lease holds a 20.8% co-investment position in the fund. 
4 The Barrangaroo development rights are secured via a series of payments over eight years phased so as to coincide with the proposed development timetable, in addition to a value 

share arrangement over the life of the project. The developable mixed-use backlog under the current approved Concept Plan is for approximately 430,000 sqm with an additional 
approximately 60,000 sqm of backlog subject to a Concept Plan and SEPP Amendment to be submitted to the NSW Department of Planning in the 2011 financial year. 
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Communities – Asia Pacific – Project Listing continued

Project Location Ownership Interest

 Estimated  
 Completion  
 Date1

 Backlog  
 Land  
 Units2

 Backlog  
 Built-Form  
 Units2

 Estimated  
 Commercial  
 Backlog  
 sqm/000s

Zoned Projects continued

Craigieburn Town Centre Vic 100% 2013 180 135

Pakenham	Valley Vic Land management 2012 380 10 42.4

Caroline Springs Vic 50%	JV/Land	management 2012 360 70 10.3

Laurimar Vic 100% 2013 965 20

Victoria	Harbour

− Convesso Vic 50% 2013 220 1.6

− Serrata Vic 100% 2012 145 0.2

− Merchant Street Retail Vic 100% 2011 4.0

− Uncommitted Other Vic Land management Various 1,990 120.7

Blakes Crossing SA Staged acquisition 2015 1,085 110 27.8

Mawson Lakes SA 50%	JV/Land	management 2011 65 65 34.3

Alkimos WA Land Management 2018 1,945 355 70.0

Total zoned 31,960 6,635 2,425.5

Unzoned Projects

Yarrabilba Qld Staged acquisition 20,330 3,070 877.0

RNA Showgrounds Qld Land management 1,855 140.0

Calderwood NSW Land management 4,000 5.0

Richmond Vic 100% 540

Armadale Vic 50%	JV 490

Gawler SA 100%3 2,750 53.0

Total unzoned 27,080 5,955 1,075.0

Total 59,040 12,590 3,500.5

1 Estimated completion date represents the estimated financial year of the last unit settled for master-planned communities and the construction completion date for apartments. 
2 Backlog includes the total number of units in Company-owned, joint venture and managed projects. The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning 

applications are obtained.
3 Acquisition subject to rezoning.

Communities continued
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Senior Living – Project Listing

Project Location

 Estimated  
 completion  
 date1

 Backlog  
 Units2

Projects Under Development

The Terraces Qld 2011 5

The Lakes Qld 2012 35

Coastal Waters NSW 2016 215

Morpeth NSW 2016 225

Nelson’s Grove NSW 2014 90

Rochford Place NSW 2013 110

Abervale3 Vic 2011 10

Caesia Gardens Vic 2013 110

Evelyn Ridge Vic 2014 90

Martha’s Point Vic 2012 20

Waterford Park Vic 2012 40

Woodlands Park Vic 2015 155

Elliot Gardens SA 2011 20

Trinity Green SA 2012 50

Parkland Ellenbrook WA 2014 135

Total development backlog 1,310

1 Estimated completion date represents the financial year in which the construction is expected to be completed.
2 Backlog includes the total number of units in Company-owned and managed projects. The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning applications are 

obtained. Senior Living units relate to potential units on existing sites. 
3 Managed on behalf of the Lend Lease Core Plus Fund. 

 Owned  Managed/Leased/Other  Total

Project Location
 Number  
 of Villages

 Total  
 Units

 Number  
 of Villages

 Total  
 Units

 Number  
 of Villages

 Total  
 Units1

Village Management

Qld 4 729 11 3,283 15 4,012

NSW 11 1,756 2 661 13 2,417

Vic 14 1,726 10 1,421 24 3,147

SA 4 418 4 418

WA 9 1,376 9 1,376

NZ 5 987 5 987

Total Village Management2 47 6,992 23 5,365 70 12,357

Aged Care

Qld 1 89 1 49 2 138

NSW 13 1,083 13 1,083

Vic 14 914 3 173 17 1,087

SA 1 62 1 62

Total – Aged Care 29 2,148 4 222 33 2,370

1 Total units relates only to completed units under management.
2 Managed villages include those which are currently under development.
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Communities – Europe – Project Listing

Project Location
Ownership  

Interest

Estimated  
Completion  

Date1

 Backlog  
 Land  
 Units2

 Backlog  
 Built-Form  
 Units2

 Estimated  
 Commercial  
 Backlog  
 sqm/000s

Zoned Projects 

Crosby Projects UK Various Various 2,165 20.6

Greenwich Peninsula UK 51% 2030 5,000 5,000 372.8

Total zoned 5,000 7,165 393.4

Unzoned Projects

Crosby Projects UK 100% Various 260

Total unzoned – 260 –

Total Communities – Europe3 5,000 7,425 393.4

1 Estimated completion date for apartments represents the financial year in which the project construction is expected to be completed. 
2 Backlog includes the total number of units in Company-owned and joint venture projects. The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning applications 

are obtained.
3 The number of projects in the UK includes Stratford Athletes Village, Stratford Stage 2 and Elephant and Castle. Elephant and Castle and Stratford Stage 2 are still under negotiation 

so they are not included in the backlog metrics above. Stratford Athletes Village is progressing on a fee based arrangement and therefore is excluded from the backlog metrics.

Communities – Americas – Project Listing

Project Location
 Ownership  
 Interest

 Estimated  
 Completion  
 Date1

 Backlog  
 Land  
 Units2

 Backlog  
 Built-Form  
 Units2

 Estimated  
 Commercial  
 Backlog  
 sqm/000s

Horizon	Uptown	 Colorado 100% 2029 3,855 841.3

Total Communities – Americas 3,855 – 841.3

1 Estimated completion date for master-planned communities represents the estimated financial year of the last unit settled.
2 The actual number of units for any particular project can vary as planning applications are obtained.
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Public Private Partnerships

Overview
Public Private Partnerships – Americas

 Number of Projects1
 Estimated Capital Spend2 
 US$b

 Committed Equity3 
 US$m  Units Under Management

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

Operational (secured) 18 17 5.2 5.0 111.8 109.8 41,700 38,500

Preferred bidder (awarded) 2 3 0.5 0.5 2,350 5,550

Total 20 20 5.7 5.5 111.8 109.8 44,050 44,050

1 Number of projects includes extensions of existing projects and projects where Lend Lease is preferred bidder. 
2 Over the initial development period of the project.
3 Includes both invested and committed equity. 

Public Private Partnerships – Europe

 Number of Projects1
 Invested Equity 
 £m

 Committed Equity2 
 £m

 Facilities Management  
 Revenue Backlog3 
 £m

 June 
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

Operational (secured) 18 18 82.5 80.0 29.2 30.8 458 410

Preferred bidder (awarded) 1 1

Total 19 19 82.5 80.0 29.2 30.8 458 410

1 Number of projects combines extensions of existing projects. 
2 Committed equity refers to equity and loan stock contributions that Lend Lease has a future commitment to invest.
3 Facilities management revenue backlog disclosed is for a maximum of 10 years, although Public Private Partnership (PPP) contracts typically operate for a period of up to 40 years.

Public Private Partnerships – Asia Pacific

 Number of Projects
 Invested Equity 
 A$m

 Committed Equity1  
 A$m

 Facilities Management  
 Revenue Backlog 
 A$m

 June 
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

 June  
 2010

 June  
 2009

Operational (secured) 1 13.4

Total 1 – – – 13.4 – – –

1 Committed equity refers to equity that Lend Lease has a future commitment to invest.
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Public Private Partnerships – Americas – Military Housing – Project Listing 

Project Location Service Status

Actual/
Expected 
Financial 
Close Date

 Estimated  
 Capital  
 Spend1  
 US$m

 Percentage of 
 Construction  
 Completed  
 %

 Invested  
 Equity  
 US$m

 Committed  
 Equity2  
 US$m

 Units  
 Under  
 Management

Fort Hood Texas Army Operational Oct–01 220 100 6.0 5,700

Tri-Command South Carolina Marine 
Corps

Operational Feb–03 140 100 3.3 1,700

Fort Campbell Kentucky Army Operational Dec–03 200 100 6.0 4,250

Hickam Hawaii Air Force Operational Feb–05 240 97 16.5 1,400

Army RCI Hawaii Army Operational Apr–05 1,990 58 8.0 7,900

Fort Drum New York Army Operational May–05 225 100 5.0 3,100

Camp Lejeune North Carolina/
New York

Marine 
Corps

Operational Oct–05 355 93 7.5 3,300

Camp Lejeune 
Phase 2

North Carolina/
New York

Marine 
Corps

Operational Nov–06 125 43 2.5 1,050

Fort Knox Kentucky Army Operational Feb–07 215 48 3.0 2,550

Fort Campbell 
Additional Scoring

Kentucky Army Operational May–07 95 85 200

Fort Hood Stage 2 Texas Army Operational May–07 85 84 200

Air Combat 
Command  
Group II

Arizona/
New Mexico

Air Force Operational Jul–07 230 84 11.0 1,850

Fort Drum 
Unaccompanied 
Officer Quarters

New York Army Operational Jul–07 20 100 200

Hickam Phase 2 Hawaii Air Force Operational Aug–07 415 31 25.5 1,100

Tri-Group Colorado/
California

Air Force Operational Sep–07 250 60 11.0 1,450

Camp Lejeune 
Phase 3

North Carolina/
New York

Marine 
Corps

Operational Nov–07 240 17 4.5 2,000

Fort Drum 
Additional Scoring

New York Army Operational Jun–08 155 85 550

PAL Group A 
Phase 13

Various Army Operational Aug–09 55 37 2.0 3,200

PAL Group A  
Phase 23,4

Various Army Preferred 
bidder

Apr–11 175 550

Wainwright/ 
Greely4,5

Alaska Army Preferred 
bidder

Sep–10 295 8 1,800

Total PPP – Americas 5,725 61.3 50.5 44,050

1 Over the initial development period of the project.
2 Committed equity represents future equity investments in the projects. 
3 PAL Group A Phase 1 involves the renovation of existing hotels and is anticipated to take two years. PAL Group A Phase 2 involves the construction of four new hotels and further 

renovations on existing hotels.
4 The initial development period is three years for PAL Group A Phase 2, and seven years for Wainwright/Greely. 
5 A small design/build scope of work was executed in May 2009; however, financial close with the execution of the full design/build agreement is expected in September 2010.
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Public Private Partnerships – Europe – Project Listing

Project Location Status

Actual/
Expected 
Financial 
Close  
Date

 Construction  
 Period  
 Years

 Operational  
 Term  
 Years

 Estimated  
 Construction  
 Value1  
 £m

 Percentage of  
 Construction  
 Complete  
 %

 Facilities  
 Management  
 Revenue  
 Backlog2  
 £m

 Invested  
 Equity  
 £m

 Committed  
 Equity3  
 £m

Healthcare

Calderdale 
Hospital

UK Operational Jul–98 3 33 87 100 43 6.7

Worcester 
Hospital

UK Operational Mar–99 3 33 82 100 56 1.1

Hexham Hospital 
– Phases 1 and 2

UK Operational Apr–01 2 32 29 100 14 0.6

Burnley Hospital UK Operational Oct–03 3 30 27 100 14 1.0

Roehampton 
Hospital

UK Operational May–04 2 30 57 100 15 1.7

Leeds Hospital UK Operational Oct–04 3 33 175 100 40 9.9

Hexham Hospital 
– Phase 3

UK Operational Jul–06 2 27 24 100 3 1.3

Manchester 
Hospital

UK Operational Dec–04 5 38 393 100 34 11.1

Majadahonda 
Hospital 

Spain Operational Apr–05 3 30 187 100 5 3.0

Brescia 2 Italy Preferred 
Bidder

Oct–10 5 32 119

Education

Newcastle 
Schools

UK Operational Mar–02 2 27 50 100 17 1.8

Lincoln Schools UK Operational Sep–01 2 31 20 100 10 1.2

Lilian Baylis 
School

UK Operational Feb–03 2 27 13 100 7 0.8

Lancashire 
Schools Phase 1

UK Operational Dec–06 2 25 81 100 25 3.1

Lancashire 
Schools Phase 2

UK Operational Dec–07 2 25 34 100 8 1.6

Lancashire 
Schools Phase 2A

UK Under 
construction

Jul–08 2 25 59 95 12 2.6

Lancashire 
Schools Phase 3

UK Under 
construction

Jun–09 2 25 69 80 12 1.8

Cork Maritime 
College

Ireland Operational Feb–03 2 27 30 100 11 2.2

Birmingham 
BSF Phase 1

UK Under 
construction

Aug–09 3 25 69 56 23 4.8

Subtotal 1,605 349 53.7 2.6

1 Represents total construction value over the contract duration.
2 Facilities management revenue backlog disclosed is for a maximum of 10 years, although PPP contracts typically operate for a period of up to 40 years.
3 Committed equity refers to equity and loan stock contributions that Lend Lease has a future commitment to invest.
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Public Private Partnerships – Europe – Project Listing continued

Project Location Status

Actual/
Expected 
Financial 
Close 
Date

 Construction  
 Period  
 Years

 Operational  
 Term  
 Years

 Estimated  
 Construction  
 Value1  
 £m

 Percentage of  
 Construction  
 Complete  
 %

 Facilities  
 Management  
 Revenue  
 Backlog2  
 £m

 Invested  
 Equity  
 £m

 Committed  
 Equity3  
 £m

Accommodation

Treasury 1 UK Operational May–00 2 37 114 100 38 1.6

Treasury 2 UK Operational Jan–03 2 35 148 100 43 1.9

Sheffield 
University

UK Operational May–06 4 40 169 100 28 8.2

Waste

Lancashire Waste UK Under 
construction

Mar–07 4 25 252 99 17.1 26.6

Total PPP – Europe 2,288 458 82.5 29.2

1 Represents total construction value over the contract duration.
2 Facilities management revenue backlog disclosed is for a maximum of 10 years, although PPP contracts typically operate for a period of up to 40 years.
3 Committed equity refers to equity and loan stock contributions that Lend Lease has a future commitment to invest.

Public Private Partnerships – Asia Pacific

Project Location Status

Actual/
Expected 
Financial 
Close Date

 Construction  
 Period  
 Years

 Operational  
 Term  
 Years

 Estimated  
 Construction  
 Value1  
 A$m

 Percentage of  
 Construction  
 Complete  
 %

 Facilities  
 Management  
 Revenue  
 Backlog  
 A$m

 Invested  
 Equity  
 A$m

 Committed  
 Equity2  
 A$m

Education

South Australian 
New Schools

Adelaide Under 
construction

Jul–09 2 30 215 57 13.4

Total 215 – – 13.4

1 Represents total construction value over the contract duration.
2 Committed equity refers to equity contributions that Lend Lease has a future commitment to invest.
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Funds Under Management (FUM)1

Fund Fund Type

 FUM  
 June  
 2010  
 £b

 FUM  
 June  
 2009  
 £b

 FUM  
 June  
 2010  
 A$b

 FUM  
 June  
 2009  
 A$b

Asia Pacific

Australian Prime Property Funds Core 5.2 4.6

Lend Lease Core Plus Fund Core Plus 0.5 0.5

Lend Lease Communities Fund 1 Value	Add 0.2 0.2

Real Estate Partnership Funds Enhanced 0.4 0.1

Asia Pacific Investment Company No. 2 Limited Core Plus 0.9 0.8

Lend Lease Asian Retail Investment Fund Core/Value	Add 0.7 0.6

Managed Investment Mandates Core/Value	Add 0.8 0.2

Lend Lease Primelife2 Core Plus 1.5

Total Asia Pacific FUM 8.7 8.5

Europe

Lend Lease Retail Partnership Core 0.6 0.5 1.1 1.1

Lend Lease Overgate Partnership Core 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2

Chelmsford Meadows Limited Partnership Value	Add 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total Europe FUM 0.8 0.7 1.4 1.4

Total FUM – – 10.1 9.9

1 FUM represents the gross market value of real estate and other related assets managed on behalf of investors.
2 The acquisition of the remaining 56.8% interest in Primelife resulted in an A$1.5 billion reduction in FUM in the current year as the underlying Primelife net assets were consolidated 

at 30 June 2010.

Investment Management
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Portfolio Report continuedProject Management, Design and Construction

Major Projects1

Project Location Client
Contract 
Type2

 Construction  
 Value  
 A$m

 Completion  
 Date Sector Description

Asia Pacific

Gold Coast University 
Hospital

Qld Queensland 
Department of Health

GMP 1,264 2013 Healthcare Design and construction 
of a new hospital 

Royal Children’s 
Hospital

Vic Children’s Hospital 
Partnership

GMP 1,075 2015 Healthcare Design and construction 
of a new children’s 
hospital

Building Education 
Revolution (BER) 
Hunter/Central Coast 
and Northern Sydney 
Region

NSW NSW Department of 
Commerce

MC 647 2011 Education Design and construction 
of new facilities and 
refurbishments across 
380 primary schools 

Commonwealth 
New Build

ACT Federal Government MC 516 2012 Government Design and construction 
of a 40,000 sqm 
commercial office 
building

Brisbane Supreme 
Court 

Qld Queensland 
Government

GMP 516 2012 Government Design and construction 
of a new Supreme 
Court and District 
Court building

Top Ryde NSW Beville Group GMP 496 2011 Retail Design and 
construction of a new 
shopping centre

Renewable Energy 
Corporation Plant

Singapore Fluor Daniel Engineers 
& Constructors Ltd

CM 400 2011 Industrial Solar panel plant

Charlestown Square 
Redevelopment

NSW The GPT Group GMP 369 2011 Retail Redevelopment 
of shopping centre

Lonza	Biologics	
Expansion 

Singapore Lonza	Biologics	
Singapore – Plant 2

EPCM 320 2011 Pharmaceutical Biologics facility

Liverpool Hospital NSW NSW Government MC 304 2012 Healthcare Phase 1 of hospital 
redevelopment 

Darling Walk NSW Lend Lease 
Development/Sydney 
Harbour Foreshore 
Authority

GMP 304 2011 Commercial 1.5-hectare 
commercial office 
space development 

Melbourne Markets Vic Victorian	Government GMP 291 2012 Government New 120,000 sqm 
wholesale market/
distribution facility

Mulwala Ammunition 
Factory

NSW Australian Department 
of Defence

GMP 276 2012 Government Redevelopment 
of propellant 
manufacturing facility

420 George Street NSW Fortius Funds 
Management 
Pty Limited

GMP 270 2011 Commercial/
Retail

Redevelopment of retail 
space and new high rise 
office in Sydney

1 Disclosure of major projects is subject to client approval. This impacts the number of projects available for disclosure in each region.
2 Contract types are guaranteed maximum price (GMP); managing contractor (MC); construction management (CM); and engineering, procurement and construction 

management (EPCM). 
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Project Location Client
Contract 
Type2

 Construction  
 Value  
 A$m

 Completion  
 Date Sector Description

Asia Pacific 

Catholic BER 
Schools program

NSW Catholic Education 
Office – Archdiocese 
of Sydney

MC 250 2011 Education Project and construction 
management of the 
BER program for 
110 Catholic schools

Alcon Singapore 
Manufacturing

Singapore Alcon Singapore 
Manufacturing Pte Ltd

EPCM 167 2011 Pharmaceutical Ophthalmic 
pharmaceutical plant

Caneland Central 
Shopping Centre

Qld APPF GMP 148 2012 Retail Design and construction 
of an expansion to the 
existing shopping centre 

Department of 
Education and Training 
– Science Upgrade

NSW NSW Government MC 119 2011 Education Managing contractor 
for the upgrade of 
600 science laboratories 
across 105 schools

1 Disclosure of major projects is subject to client approval. This impacts the number of projects available for disclosure in each region.
2 Contract types are managing contractor (MC); engineering, procurement and construction management (EPCM); and guaranteed maximum price (GMP). 
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Portfolio Report continued

Major Projects1 continued

Project Location Client
Contract 
Type2

 Construction  
 Value  
 US$m

 Completion  
 Date Sector Description

Americas 

National Sep 11 
Memorial/Foundation/
Port Authority

New York National Sep 11 
Memorial and  
Museum at the 
World Trade Centre 

CM 683 2011 Other Memorial and museum 

Riverside South 
Building 

New York Extell Development Co. GMP 270 2011 Residential 38 storey residential 
tower with 
286 condominiums

Mt Sinai School 
of Medicine

New York Mount Sinai Hospital 
& Mount Sinai School 
of Medicine

CM 264 2012 Healthcare 43,000 sqm research/
clinical facility

North Shore – Long 
Island Jewish Women’s 
Bed Tower Hospital

New York North Shore – 
Long Island Jewish 
Health System

GMP 190 2011 Healthcare 29,000 sqm 
women’s hospital

UNC Bell Tower 
Development

North 
Carolina

University of 
North Carolina 

GMP 178 2012 Education 22,800 sqm science lab, 
with parking garage

One Museum  
Park West

Illinois Enterprise  
Companies

GMP 168 2011 Residential 53 storey luxury high 
rise residential building

Museum of African Art New York Brickman GMP 139 2011 Other Museum with additional 
residential element

Franklin Square Maryland MedStar Health GMP 138 2011 Healthcare Redevelopment of 
existing hospital

Walton on the Park 
South

Illinois The Enterprise 
Companies

GMP 112 2011 Residential 33 storey 
condominium building

NJ Health 
Environmental 
Agricultural Lab Facility

New Jersey NY Department 
of Environment

GMP 112 2011 Pharmaceutical Agricultural lab facility

CCSF Chinatown California City College of 
San Francisco

GMP 103 2012 Education 18,500 sqm 
classroom building

1 Disclosure of major projects is subject to client approval. This impacts the number of projects available for disclosure in each region.
2 Contract types are construction management (CM) and guaranteed maximum price (GMP). 

Project Management, Design and Construction
continued
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Project Location Client
Contract 
Type2,3

 Construction  
 Value  
 £m

 Completion  
 Date Sector Description

Europe

BP Retail Pan-Europe BP PM 741 2014 Retail Renewal of the framework 
agreement to maintain 
BP service stations 
across Europe

Athletes	Village London Lend Lease 
Development

CM 654 2012 Residential Mixed-use development. 
Athletes	Village	for	2012	
Olympics, then conversion 
post Olympics

Peel Media City Manchester Peel MC 497 2011 Commercial Mixed-use development 
consisting of commercial 
offices, studios, residential 
and retail buildings

MOD SLAM – Phase 2 UK Defence Estates GMP 433 2013 Government New and upgraded single 
living accommodation 
for the military

Manchester Joint 
Hospital

Manchester Catalyst 
Healthcare

LS 393 2011 Healthcare New hospital and 
refurbishment of 
existing hospital site

South West Prime 
Contract

South West 
England

Defence Estates GMP 294 2012 Government Provision of estate 
management 
services and project 
management of capital 
construction program

BBC Broadcasting 
House Phase 2

London Land Securities LS 264 2011 Communications Demolition and 
reconstruction of 
BBC headquarters

One New Change London Land Securities CM 250 2011 Commercial New retail and 
commercial construction

1 Disclosure of major projects is subject to client approval. This impacts the number of projects available for disclosure in each region.
2 Contract types are project management (PM); construction management (CM); managing contractor (MC); guaranteed maximum price (GMP); and lump sum (LS). 
3 Construction value in PM assignments is the gross construction value and may not correlate to revenue recorded on the project.
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Directors’ Report 

 The Directors present their Report 
together with the Annual Consolidated 
Financial Report of the consolidated 
entity, being Lend Lease Corporation 
Limited (‘the Company’) and its controlled 
entities including Lend Lease Trust (‘LLT’) 
(together referred to as the ‘Consolidated 
Entity’ or the Group), for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2010 and the Auditors’ 
Report thereon.

Following shareholder approval on 
12 November 2009, the shares of the 
Company and the units in LLT were 
combined as stapled securities. From 
13 November 2009, the shares in the 
Company and the units in LLT have been 
traded as one security under the name 
of Lend Lease Group on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) and the 
New Zealand Stock Exchange (‘NZX’).
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1. Governance

a. Board/Directors
The names, qualifications and experience of each person holding the 
position of Director of the Company at the date of this Report are:

D A Crawford AO, Chairman  
(Independent Non Executive Director)
Age 66
Mr Crawford joined the Board in July 2001 and was appointed 
Chairman in May 2003. Mr Crawford was appointed an Officer 
of the Order of Australia (AO) in June 2009 in recognition for 
service in various fields including to business as a Director of 
public companies, to sport particularly through the review and 
restructure of national sporting bodies, and to the community 
through contributions to arts and educational organisations.

Experience and Qualifications
Previously, Mr Crawford was National Chairman of the Australian 
firm of KPMG. He has extensive accounting and business 
experience having worked with many large corporations and 
governments. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor 
of Laws from the University of Melbourne. He is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Other Directorships and Positions
Mr Crawford is Non Executive Chairman of Foster’s Group 
Limited (appointed Director August 2001 and Chairman 
October 2007) and a Non Executive Director of BHP Billiton 
Limited (appointed May 1994). He was formerly a Non Executive 
Director of Westpac Banking Corporation (appointed May 2002, 
resigned December 2007) and National Foods Limited (appointed 
November 2001, resigned June 2005).

S B McCann,  
Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director  
(Executive Director)
Age 45
Mr McCann was appointed Group Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director in December 2008 and joined the Board 
in March 2009.

Experience and Qualifications
Mr McCann joined Lend Lease in 2005. Prior to his current role, 
Mr McCann was Group Finance Director, appointed in March 2007 
and Chief Executive Officer for Lend Lease’s Investment 
Management business from September 2005 to December 2007.
Mr McCann has more than 15 years experience in funds 
management and capital markets transactions. Prior to joining 
Lend Lease, Mr McCann spent six years at ABN AMRO, where 
his roles included Head of Property, Head of Industrial Mergers 
& Acquisitions and for the last three years, Head of Equity Capital 
Markets	for	Australia	and	New	Zealand.
Previous roles also include Head of Property at Bankers’ 
Trust, four years as a mergers and acquisitions lawyer at 
Freehills, Melbourne and four years in taxation accounting 
at Deloittes, Melbourne.

Mr McCann holds a Bachelor of Economics (Finance major) and a 
Bachelor of Laws from Monash University in Melbourne, Australia.

Other Directorships and Positions
Nil.

P M Colebatch  
(Independent Non Executive Director)
Age 65
Mr Colebatch joined the Board in December 2005 and is Chairman 
of the Personnel and Organisation Committee and a member of 
the Risk Management and Audit Committee.

Experience and Qualifications
Mr Colebatch has a Bachelor of Science and Bachelor of 
Engineering from the University of Adelaide, a Master of Science 
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and a Doctorate 
in Business Administration from Harvard University. He has 
held senior management positions in insurance and investment 
banking, and was formerly on the Executive Board of Swiss 
Reinsurance	Company,	Zurich.	He	was	previously	on	the	
Executive	Board	of	Credit	Suisse	Group,	Zurich,	where	he	was	
Chief Financial Officer, and was subsequently Chief Executive 
Officer of Credit Suisse Asset Management.

Other Directorships and Positions
Mr Colebatch is a Non Executive Director of Insurance Australia 
Group Limited (appointed January 2007), a Non Executive Director 
of Man Group plc (appointed September 2007) and is on the 
Board of Trustees for the Prince of Liechtenstein Foundation 
and the LGT Group Foundation (appointed September 2009).

G G Edington CBE 
(Independent Non Executive Director)
Age 64
Mr Edington joined the Board in 1999 and is a member 
of the Risk Management and Audit Committee and the 
Sustainability Committee.

Experience and Qualifications
Qualified as a Chartered Surveyor, Mr Edington brings to the 
Board extensive UK and international experience in the property 
sector. Mr Edington was a Director of BAA plc and Chairman 
of BAA International. He joined BAA plc in 1988, became a 
member of the Board in 1991 and has been the Chairman 
of six BAA companies. He is a past President of the British 
Property Federation, was the Chairman of UK property company 
Greycoat Estates Limited and was a member of the Bank of 
England Property Forum. Mr Edington was formerly Chairman 
of the Council of Trustees of the UK children’s charity, Action 
for Children, and was awarded a CBE for services to children.

Other Directorships and Positions
Nil.
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Directors’ Report continued1. Governance continued

a. Board/Directors continued
P C Goldmark 
(Independent Non Executive Director)
Age 69
Mr Goldmark joined the Board in 1999 and is Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the 
Sustainability Committee.

Experience and Qualifications
Mr Goldmark is Director, Climate and Air Program at Environmental 
Defense, a US based non-profit environmental advocacy 
organisation. He was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
The International Herald Tribune in Paris between 1998 and 2003. 
Prior to this, he was the President and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Rockefeller Foundation in New York for 10 years. Mr Goldmark 
has	held	positions	including	Senior	Vice	President	of	the	Times-
Mirror Corporation, Executive Director of the Port Authority of 
New York and New Jersey, and Director of the Budget for the State 
of New York. A writer and speaker on world affairs, Mr Goldmark 
graduated with a BA from Harvard College, Government 
Department, magna cum laude. He brings to Lend Lease his wide 
experience as a Chief Executive Officer and senior executive in the 
private and public sectors, both in the USA and internationally.

Other Directorships and Positions
Nil.

J A Hill  
(Independent Non Executive Director)
Age 64
Ms Hill joined the Board in May 2006. She is Chairperson of the 
Sustainability Committee and a member of the Personnel and 
Organisation Committee.

Experience and Qualifications
Ms Hill has held a number of senior executive positions in the land 
development and housing construction industry in North America. 
She was formerly the Chairperson, President and Chief Executive 
Officer	of	Costain	Homes,	Inc.	(US)	and	Vice	President	and	
General Manager, Mobil Land (Georgia) Corporation. She has a 
Bachelor of Arts from the University of California in Los Angeles 
and a Master of Arts in marketing and management from the 
University of Georgia.

Other Directorships and Positions
Ms Hill is a Non Executive Director of Wellpoint, Inc. (appointed 
March 1994). She was formerly a Non Executive Director of 
Resources Connection, Inc. (appointed January 2003, resigned 
December 2006) and Holcim (US) Inc (appointed February 2004, 
resigned January 2007). Ms Hill also sits on the Board of Directors 
of the Lord Abbett family of mutual funds, which is the trustee of 
31 mutual funds of publicly held companies.

D J Ryan AO  
(Independent Non Executive Director)
Age 58
Mr Ryan joined the Board in December 2004. He is Chairman 
of the Risk Management and Audit Committee and a member 
of the Personnel and Organisation Committee.

Experience and Qualifications
Mr Ryan has a background in commercial banking, investment 
banking and operational business management. He has previously 
held senior executive management positions in investment 
banking and industry, as well as being the Chairman or a 
Non Executive Director of a number of listed public companies. 
He has a Bachelor of Business from the University of Technology 
in Sydney, Australia, and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and CPA Australia.

Other Directorships and Positions
Mr Ryan is the Non Executive Chairman of Tooth & Co Limited 
(appointed Director September 1999 and Chairman January 2003) 
and ABC Learning Centres Limited (administrators appointed, 
receivers and managers appointed) (appointed Director June 2003 
and Chairman 30 May 2008). He was formerly the Non Executive 
Chairman of Transurban Holdings Limited (appointed Director 
April 2003 and Chairman February 2007 and resigned August 2010). 

Former Directors
Mr M W Selway retired on 10 February 2010, having joined the 
Board on 17 June 2008.

b. Company Secretary’s Qualifications and Experience
W Hara
Mr Hara was appointed Company Secretary in July 2007. Prior 
to his appointment as Group General Counsel and Company 
Secretary of Lend Lease in January 2007, Mr Hara was company 
secretary for another company listed on the ASX. Mr Hara has 
a Bachelor of Commerce and a Bachelor of Laws from the 
University of New South Wales and is a member of the Law 
Society of New South Wales.

W Lee
Ms Lee was appointed Assistant Company Secretary in January 
2010. Prior to her appointment, Ms Lee was a company secretary 
for several subsidiaries of a publicly listed financial institution. 
Ms Lee has a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Laws from 
the University of Sydney, and is an Associate of Chartered 
Secretaries Australia. 

c.  Officers Who Were Previously Partners of the 
Audit Firm

Mr Crawford was a Partner and Australian National Chair of 
KPMG. He resigned from this position on 28 June 2001 prior to his 
appointment as a Director of the Company on 19 July 2001. KPMG 
or its predecessors was appointed as the Company’s auditor at its 
first Annual General Meeting in 1958.
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d. Directors’ Meetings
During the financial year, 13 Board meetings were held. 
The Board recognises the essential role of Committees in 
guiding the Company on specific issues. Committees address 
important corporate issues, calling on senior management 
and external advisers prior to making a final decision or making 
a recommendation to the full Board.
There are four permanent Committees of the Board:

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists entirely of Non Executive 
Directors. The Committee assists the Board by considering 
nominations to the Board to ensure that there is an appropriate 
mix of expertise, skills and experience on the Board. During the 
financial year 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, all 13 meetings of 
the Nomination Committee were held in conjunction with Board 
meetings and all Non Executive Directors routinely attended.

Risk Management and Audit Committee
The Risk Management and Audit Committee consists entirely of 
Non Executive Directors. The principal purpose of the Committee 
is to assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and 
oversight responsibilities in relation to the Group’s risk management 

and internal control systems, accounting policies and practices, 
internal and external audit functions and financial reporting. During 
the financial year 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, four meetings of the 
Risk Management and Audit Committee were held.

Personnel and Organisation Committee
The Personnel and Organisation Committee consists entirely 
of Non Executive Directors. The Committee’s agenda reflects the 
importance of human capital to the Group’s strategic and business 
planning and it assists the Board in establishing appropriate 
policies for people management and remuneration across the 
Group. During the financial year 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, 
ten meetings of the Personnel and Organisation Committee 
were held.

Sustainability Committee
The Sustainability Committee consists entirely of Non Executive 
Directors. The Committee assists the Board in monitoring the 
decisions and actions of management in achieving Lend Lease’s 
aspiration to be a sustainable organisation. During the financial 
year 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010, four meetings of the Sustainability 
Committee were held.

Attendance at Meetings of Directors 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Board Meetings

Risk Management 
and Audit  

Committee Meetings

Personnel and 
Organisation  

Committee Meetings
Sustainability  

Committee Meetings
Other2  

Committee Meetings

Director Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended Held1 Attended

D Crawford 13 13 1 1

P Colebatch 13 13 4 4 10 10 1 1

G Edington 13 13 4 4 4 4 2 2

P Goldmark 13 13 4 4

J Hill 13 13 10 9 4 4

S McCann 13 13

D Ryan 13 13 4 4 10 9

M Selway3 9 8 2 2 2 2

1 Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year.
2 Committees constituted to address specific issues.
3 M Selway retired effective 10 February 2010.

In addition, matters were dealt with as required by circular resolution.

e. Interest in Capital
The interest of each of the Directors (in office at the date of this Report) in the issued securities of the Company at 16 August 2010 and 
20 August 2009 is set out below.

Director

 Securities  
 Held  
 Directly  
 2010

 Securities  
 Held  
 Beneficially/ 
 Indirectly 
 2010 1

 Total  
 2010

 Securities  
 Held  
 Directly  
 2009

 Securities  
 Held  
 Beneficially/ 
 Indirectly  
 20091

 Total  
 2009

D Crawford 73,593 73,593 48,128 48,128

P Colebatch 5,023 13,300 18,323 2,000 8,891 10,891

G Edington 19,643 20,425 40,068 15,000 16,323 31,323

P Goldmark 3,000 21,794 24,794 3,000 17,703 20,703

J Hill 2,000 12,324 14,324 2,000 8,233 10,233

D Ryan 31,273 31,273 21,242 21,242

S McCann 181,339 4,470 185,809 73,301 73,301

1 Includes securities in the Retirement Plan beneficially held by Non Executive Directors.
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Directors’ Report continued

a. Principal Activities
The Group has five lines of business that operate in three 
geographic regions: Asia Pacific, Europe and the Americas.
− The Retail business comprises retail property management, 

asset management and development. This business 
also includes the Group’s ownership in direct property 
investments,	including	those	held	via	limited	partnerships;

− The Communities business is involved in the development 
of master-planned urban communities, inner city mixed-
use	developments,	apartments	and	the	retirement	sector;

− The Public Private Partnerships (PPP) business manages 
and	invests	equity	in	large	PPP	projects;

− The Investment Management business provides real estate 
investment management services. The business includes 
the Group’s ownership interests in property investments 
held indirectly through investments in Lend Lease managed 
funds;	and

− The Project Management, Design and Construction business 
provides construction, project management and design 
services through Bovis Lend Lease.

b. Review and Results of Operations
A full review of operations is included in the Management 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations (MD&A) section of the Annual Consolidated 
Financial Report.

c. Dividends
The 2009 final dividend of A$73.2 million (16 cents per share, 
100% franked) referred to in the Directors’ Report dated 
20 August 2009 was paid on 25 September 2009.
Details of dividends in respect of the current year are as follows:

A$m

Interim dividend of 20 cents per security 
(100% franked) paid on 31 March 2010

92.2

Dividend ‘in specie’ of LLT units of 0.1 cents per 
share (100% franked) distributed November 2009

0.5

Final dividend of 12 cents per security 
(100% franked) declared by Directors to 
be paid on 24 September 2010

67.9

Total dividends declared 160.6

d. Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
Other than the acquisition of the remaining 56.8% of Lend Lease 
Primelife Limited securities not already owned by Lend Lease, and 
the acquisition of 100% of LLT by the Company in October 2009 
and subsequent stapling of LLT units to the Company shares, 
there have been no significant changes in the Group’s state 
of affairs.

e. Events Subsequent to Balance Date 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the 
financial year that have significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations 
or state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.

f. Likely Developments
Details of likely developments in the Group’s operations in 
subsequent financial years are contained in the reports from the 
Chairman and Managing Director in the Annual Report. In the 
opinion of the Directors, disclosure of any further information 
would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

g. Environmental Regulation
The Group is subject to many environmental regulations, in 
particular relating to real estate development, project and 
construction management, and asset management. These 
regulations relate to environmental compliance aspects including 
noise and dust control, solid waste management and discharge 
into waterways. In addition, the Group is impacted by energy 
efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions legislation which 
require disclosure and performance reporting of activities 
under its operational and/or financial control.
To respond to environmental regulatory risks, the Group requires 
each of its businesses to operate an integrated Environment, 
Health and Safety Management System. This framework 
ensures environmental risks associated with the Group’s 
operations or activities are managed via legal registers, risk 
assessment protocols, environmental management plans, 
trained environmental managers, routine inspections and audits.
The Board and the Sustainability Committee receive 
environmental compliance and performance reports on a 
quarterly basis. The Directors are not aware of any material 
non compliance with environmental regulations pertaining to 
the operations or activities during the period covered by this 
Report. Further details are available on the Lend Lease website: 
www.lendlease.com/sustainability.
 

2. Operations
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a. Introduction to the Remuneration Report

Dear Securityholder

The Personnel and Organisation Committee (‘P&O Committee’) is pleased to present the 
2010 Lend Lease Remuneration Report. We are committed to delivering clear and transparent 
disclosures and have changed the structure of this year’s report, which we hope will make 
it more user-friendly and informative. 

The P&O Committee’s main objective is to ensure that remuneration structures are aligned 
with securityholder wealth creation and the strategic imperatives of our organisation, provide 
the foundation for retaining and motivating talented people and reflect the views of our 
securityholders and other stakeholders.

During the year, Lend Lease began a comprehensive review of the executive reward 
strategy, objectives and policies across the Group, with assistance from external advisers 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. This review is consistent with Lend Lease’s guiding principles of 
executive remuneration, that:

− The remuneration practices should be:

	 −	 simple,	transparent	and	easy	to	communicate;	and

 − acceptable to internal and external stakeholders.

−  A significant portion of total remuneration should be at-risk, underpinned by achievable 
metrics	which	are	aligned	with	strong	performance;	and

−  Consistent with good remuneration governance practices, accountabilities should be 
clear to minimise potential conflicts of interest and enable effective decision-making by 
the Board and management.

In undertaking this review, we have considered a range of inputs from the dynamic internal and 
external environment in which Lend Lease operates. In shaping the remuneration framework, 
we considered the different markets in which Lend Lease operates, the significant breadth 
of Lend Lease’s business operations and the desire to continue to reinforce the performance 
culture through a disciplined focus on performance and reward. We also referenced changing 
community expectations of executive remuneration and the feedback received on our 2009 
Remuneration Report. This review of the executive reward strategy has led to a number of 
enhancements to Lend Lease’s remuneration arrangements. These enhancements assist 
Lend Lease to provide transparent, more easily understood incentives that will motivate our 
executives and assure security holders that company leadership will be motivated to generate 
long term value through well executed development projects and robust financial performance. 

Some specific key areas were addressed immediately following security holder feedback at the 
2009 Annual General Meeting. Further adjustments will be implemented in the 2011 financial year 
following completion of the comprehensive review that is currently underway. These adjustments 
were made to further improve the links between the Group’s strategic objectives, performance 
and reward, taking into account the specific challenges that Lend Lease faces, for example, 
a cyclical industry. The adjustments made in the 2010 financial year, as well as those we will 
implement in the year to come, are summarised in ‘Snapshot of Changes’ and explained in detail 
in this Report.

The P&O Committee hopes this Report increases the transparency of Lend Lease’s remuneration 
objectives and policies. We welcome your feedback on how we can further improve this Report 
in the future.

Yours faithfully

 
David Crawford, AO  Phillip Colebatch
Chairman Chairman, Personnel and Organisation Committee

3. Remuneration Report
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Directors’ Report continued

a. Introduction to the Remuneration Report continued

Snapshot of changes

Fixed remuneration There were no salary increases for the CEO and his direct reports in the year ended 30 June 2010 (or in the 
year ended 30 June 2009) where the executive remained in the same role, and where there were no significant 
changes to role responsibilities. 

Following a second consecutive year of no increases to fixed remuneration and a stronger outlook, in the 
year ending 30 June 2011 we will be reviewing fixed remuneration levels to maintain market competitiveness.

Short term incentive 
(‘STI’)

For the year ending 30 June 2011, the following enhancements will be made to the STI framework to ensure 
a more transparent link between Group performance and STI payments:

1 Refinement of the pool funding mechanism to increase transparency, and provide a clear link to Lend Lease’s 
ability	to	pay	and	the	value	created	for	security	holders	through	performance	against	profit	targets;

2 Driving a performance culture through the refinement of the Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs’) which 
are used to assess performance to ensure continued alignment to strategy. The reduced number of KPIs 
which are strongly aligned with our strategy will enable individuals to focus on areas in which they have 
the	greatest	impact;

3 Consistent with a more focused use of LTI (see below), the relative mix of remuneration elements will 
change,	and	the	STI	opportunity	for	some	individuals	will	increase;

4 Greater differentiation of reward outcomes for differing performance levels consistent with Lend Lease’s 
performance	culture;	and

5 Greater proportion of STI paid over a deferred period – for senior executives, the deferred STI amount 
to increase to 50% of actual STI awarded, deferred for up to two years. Given the decreased focus on 
LTI for the year ending 30 June 2011, the proportion of STI deferral and period of deferral have increased 
to ensure continued alignment to security holder interest through equity ownership. In addition, the 
extended deferral period provides an effective mechanism to retain key executives.

Long term incentive 
(‘LTI’)

For the year ended 30 June 2010, enhancements were made to the LTI plan, including:

1 Removing the retention component – the entire LTI grant is now subject to performance testing. Due to 
increased executive stability, the successful CEO transition and increased deferral of STI, it is no longer 
necessary	to	have	a	retention	component	as	part	of	the	LTI;

2 Removing the re-test mechanism – one-half of the LTI will now be tested at three years and lapse if 
conditions are not met, and one-half tested after four years and lapse if conditions are not met. This 
is	in	line	with	the	decreasing	prevalence	of	retesting	mechanisms	in	the	Australian	market;

3 Requiring aggregate Earnings Per Security (‘EPS’) targets to be met over the performance period to 
ensure that every year of EPS performance contributes to the final vesting outcome – EPS targets will 
be disclosed on a retrospective basis and be measured on the basis of statutory EPS to ensure greater 
transparency;	and

4 Removing accelerated performance testing for ‘good leavers’. On termination, ‘good leavers’ will receive 
a pro rated LTI allocation which will remain subject to the original performance hurdles and performance 
period. This ensures that executives will always be focused on long term security holder wealth creation, 
regardless of their termination date. The pro rated award value will be paid at the award vesting date.

For the year ending 30 June 2011, enhancements to the LTI framework will include:

1 Focusing LTI participation to a small number of key executives who have the most significant impact 
on	organisational	strategy	and	delivering	shareholder	value;	and

2 Assessing performance against relative Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) only. The relative TSR measure 
aims to provide greater alignment with shareholder outcomes, as it provides a direct comparison of 
relative performance and ensures the Group is rewarding for returns that are at or above the median of 
other	similar	sized	peers.	Due	to	the	focus	on	earnings	through	the	strengthening	of	the	STI	pool	funding	
mechanism and a continued emphasis on financial results in STI measures, EPS will no longer be a 
performance measure for future LTI awards.

Retention No new retention awards were made to the executives during the year ended 30 June 2010. This is reflective 
of greater stability after the appointment of the new CEO and successful implementation of key organisational 
changes. As such, while specific retention awards have not been necessary, the continued focus on retention 
is achieved by the enhanced deferral mechanism under the STI plan.

Non Executive  
Director (‘NED’) fees

Non Executive Director fees remain unchanged for the year ended 30 June 2010, other than the approved 
second step of the two step increase to the Chairman’s fee already reported in the 2009 Remuneration Report.

No change to the aggregate fee limit is proposed for the year ending 30 June 2011.

In light of securityholder feedback, the Directors have resolved to discontinue the further award of retirement 
securities, effective from 1 January 2010, resulting in a 17% reduction in NED fees.
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Actual Executive Remuneration Outcomes
To provide increased transparency, consistent with the Productivity Commission’s recommendation, we have outlined below the 
amounts actually received by executives during the current year.
The values in the table below differ from the Statutory Remuneration Table (on page 105) because the values in the Statutory 
Remuneration Table are calculated under applicable Australian Accounting Standards. For example, generally, the Australian Accounting 
Standards require the LTI and deferred equity amounts to be included using the ‘fair value’ at the date of grant and then this amount is 
expensed over the relevant performance period, regardless of the value (if any) which is ultimately received by the executive. In contrast, 
the table below includes Deferred STI and Retention which were granted in previous years and vested in the year ended 30 June 2010. 
The value has been calculated based on the share price of the Lend Lease securities at the date of vesting. For the year ended 
30 June 2010, no LTI vested for these executives so no amount has been included for LTI. This table does not show amounts granted 
during the year ended 30 June 2010 or previous years that are still subject to performance or employment conditions because those 
grants are still at-risk of forfeiture.

Amount Lapsed  
During the Year

Name

 Fixed  
 Annual  
 Remuneration1  
 A$000s

 Cash  
 STI for  
 Performance  
 in the  
 Year Ended  
 30 June 2010  
 A$000s

 Deferred  
 STI for  
 Performance  
 in the  
 Year Ended 
 30 June 20082

 A$000s

 LTI Value  
 Received  
 from  
 Previous  
 Allocations3  
 A$000s

 Retention4 
 A$000s

 Actual  
 Earned  
 Remuneration5  
 A$000s

 STI6 
 A$000s

 LTI7 
 A$000s

Executive Director

S McCann 1,726 1,368 122 – 965 4,181 224 438

Key Management 
Personnel

S Charlton 349 191 – – – 540 68 –

B Soller 736 414 73 – 116 1,339 148 115

Other Executives

M Bellaman 618 139 135 – – 892 361 102

M Coleman 889 345 134 – 588 1,956 210 134

W Hara 584 267 108 – 144 1,103 133 171

D Hutton 765 258 274 – – 1,297 133 121

R Leaver 860 481 149 – – 1,490 111 –

A Lombardo 659 320 59 – 93 1,131 59 93

N Martin 724 134 49 – 67 974 37 –

M Menhinnitt 1,060 354 250 – – 1,664 244 223

1 Fixed annual remuneration includes salary, non-monetary benefits, superannuation and other long term benefits.
2 Deferred STI refers to the value of the deferred STI securities that were granted in relation to performance in the year ended 30 June 2008 which vested on 1 September 2009. 

The value has been determined based on the closing share price of Lend Lease securities on 1 September 2009.
3 LTI value refers to the value of LTI awards that vested during the year ended 30 June 2010. The value has been determined based on the closing share price of Lend Lease 

securities as at the relevant vesting date.
4 Retention refers to the value of retention grants that vested during the year ended 30 June 2010. The value has been determined based on the closing share price of Lend Lease 

securities as at the relevant vesting date. No new retention awards were made in the year ended 30 June 2010.
5 Actual earned remuneration reflects the amount actually earned in the year ended 30 June 2010 and is the sum of the preceding five columns.
6 STI lapsed refers to the unearned component of each executive’s maximum STI. 
7 LTI lapsed includes the value of LTI that lapsed during the year ended 30 June 2010 (for whatever reason e.g. termination, or not meeting performance hurdles). The value has 

been determined based on the Lend Lease share price at the date of lapsing. 

 Lend Lease Group 97



Directors’ Report continued3. Remuneration Report continued

a. Introduction to the Remuneration Report continued
About this Report
The Directors of Lend Lease Corporation Limited present the Remuneration Report for the Company and its controlled entities 
for the year ended 30 June 2010. This report forms part of the Directors’ Report and has been audited in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards require Lend Lease to make disclosures about 
the remuneration of Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’). KMP are defined as those executives who have responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group directly or indirectly (as per AASB 124). In addition, the Corporations Act 2001 
requires Lend Lease to make disclosures in respect of the five highest-paid executives of the Group and of the Company. Those 
Directors and executives are listed below. In this Report, the term ‘executive’ refers to the Managing Director and the executives 
listed below.

Directors

Non Executive Directors

David Crawford Chairman, Independent Non Executive Director

Phillip Colebatch Independent Non Executive Director

Gordon Edington Independent Non Executive Director

Peter Goldmark Independent Non Executive Director

Julie Hill Independent Non Executive Director

David Ryan Independent Non Executive Director

Mark Selway Independent Non Executive Director (retired 10 February 2010) 

Executive Director

Stephen McCann Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Key Management Personnel

Scott Charlton Group Director of Operations (commenced employment on 9 March 2010)

Brad Soller Group Chief Financial Officer (appointed to this position on 1 October 2009)

Other Executives

The highest paid Group and/or Company individuals that are not KMP are as follows:

Michael Bellaman Chief Executive Officer, Bovis Lend Lease Americas

Murray Coleman Global Head of Project Management, Design & Construction (appointed to this position on 1 July 2010, 
previously Global Group Chief Executive Officer, Bovis Lend Lease)

William Hara Group General Counsel and Company Secretary 

David Hutton Group Head of Development (appointed to this position on 1 July 2010, previously Chief Operating 
Officer, Lend Lease Asia Pacific)

Rodney Leaver Chief Executive Officer, Australia (appointed to this position on 1 July 2010, previously Global Head 
of Investment Management)

Anthony Lombardo Group Head of Strategy and Mergers & Acquisitions

Neil Martin Group Head of Health and Safety, Risk and Insurance

Mark Menhinnitt Group Head of Public Private Partnerships (‘PPP’) (appointed to this position on 1 July 2010, 
previously Head of PPP and Project Management, Design & Construction)
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b. Our Governance Policy
Role of the Board and the Personnel and Organisation Committee
The Board is ultimately responsible for determining remuneration at Lend Lease. The P&O Committee helps the Board fulfil its 
responsibilities in people management and remuneration policies across the Group. 
While the P&O Committee’s responsibilities cover more than remuneration matters, the key purpose of its recommendations 
to the Board is to help create remuneration policies that:
1	 Attract,	retain,	motivate	and	foster	exceptional	human	capital;
2	 Align	performance	and	reward	structures	to	support	the	Group’s	long	term	success	and	ongoing	value	creation;	and
3 Provide appropriate and equitable reward to employees for their and the Group’s performance.

The P&O Committee’s broader people responsibilities include ensuring that human capital considerations are central to, and integrated 
into, the Company’s strategic and business plans. 
The P&O Committee consists entirely of independent Non Executive Directors. The Committee has unrestricted access to senior 
management and company records, and is authorised to obtain independent legal or other professional advice it considers necessary 
to execute its functions. 
The Board appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2010 to assist the P&O Committee in fulfilling its duties.
The P&O Committee’s charter is available on the Lend Lease website: www.lendlease.com.

c. Our Executive Remuneration Strategy and Philosophy
To achieve the above remuneration objectives, Lend Lease seeks to provide market-competitive remuneration and benefits and 
ensure the Group has access to qualified, skilled and talented human capital.
The guiding principles of executive remuneration at Lend Lease are as follows:
− The remuneration practices should be:
	 −	 simple,	transparent	and	easy	to	communicate;	and
 − acceptable to internal and external stakeholders.
− A significant portion of total remuneration should be at-risk, underpinned by achievable metrics which are aligned with strong 

performance;	and
− Consistent with good remuneration governance practices, accountabilities should be clear to minimise potential conflicts of 

interest and enable effective decision-making by the Board and management.

Remuneration practices at Lend Lease take into account:
−	 Group,	business	unit/function,	and	individual	performance;
−	 Remuneration	levels	at	companies	that	are	of	a	comparable	size,	complexity	and	scope	(including	local	and	international	

companies	within	the	property	and	construction	sectors);
−	 Remuneration	levels	in	each	business	location;	and
− An appropriate mix of fixed and variable pay including deferred and long term awards. 

Lend Lease continues to refine its executive reward strategy, with further initiatives to be implemented in the year ending 30 June 2011. 
These initiatives will help ensure that performance and reward align with the Group’s strategic objectives as they evolve over time, while 
also taking into account the specific challenges that Lend Lease faces.

d. The Executive Reward Framework
The executive reward framework has three components:

Component Composition Assessment At-risk?

Fixed remuneration Base salary, retirement and other benefits Based on responsibilities of the role 
and performance of the individual

No

Short term incentive Cash and deferred equity (or deferred cash 
for specific jurisdictions where it is not 
practicable to grant deferred equity)

Annual Group/business unit/function and 
individual financial and non-financial measures

Yes

Long term incentive Security-based awards Total TSR and EPS measured over three 
and four years

Yes
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d. The Executive Reward Framework continued
Each component is discussed in more detail below.

Fixed Remuneration
Fixed remuneration is a guaranteed annual salary. It may include benefits depending on the location of the individual and the specific 
requirements of each jurisdiction. Benefits might include a car, medical cover, retirement contributions, life cover and disability cover. 
International assignees may have additional benefits such as housing, schooling and tax return preparation. 
The objectives of fixed remuneration are to:
1	 Provide	base	salary	and	benefits	that	are	competitive	with	those	of	similar	companies;	
2 Reward performance relative to expectations based on job description and scope of responsibility, company values and 

codes	of	conduct;	and
3 Reflect appropriate market levels, taking into account factors such as skill, experience, contribution and length of service. 

Fixed remuneration for the CEO, his direct reports and other senior executives is set by the P&O Committee subject to approval by 
the Board. Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually and changes take effect from 1 September each year, except in the case of a 
new appointment.
The Group continued with the policy of no increases to salary for the CEO and his direct reports in the year ended 30 June 2010. This 
is the second consecutive year in which salary has remained unchanged for individuals in the same role, and where role responsibilities 
remain unchanged. 

Short Term Incentives (‘STI’)
Current STI Target Opportunity and Deferral
Executives’ current STI target opportunity reflects the maximum STI they can receive as a percentage of base salary (which includes 
superannuation for Australian roles). This is set taking into account internal and external relativities, and the nature and scope of the role. 
The STI has two components: a cash component and a deferred component. 
The cash component is paid shortly after the end of the financial year and the deferred component is delivered as Lend Lease securities 
which cannot be sold for a year. Where it is not practicable to deliver securities, the deferred component is delivered as deferred cash. 
The deferred amounts are subject to forfeiture if the employee is no longer employed by the Group at the end of the one-year period.
The STI target opportunity for the Managing Director and executives for the year ended 30 June 2010 is set out below.

Maximum STI Opportunity 
as a % of Base Salary1

 Cash  
 Component

 Deferred  
 Component

 Total  
 Maximum  
 STI  
 Opportunity  
 as a % of  
 Base Salary1 % Awarded % Forfeited

Executive Director

S McCann 95% 45% 140% 90% 10%

Key Management Personnel

S Charlton 70% 30% 100% 80% 20%

B Soller 70% 30% 100% 80% 20%

Other Executives

M Bellaman 65% 25% 90% 28% 72%

M Coleman 70% 30% 100% 70% 30%

W Hara 60% 40% 100% 77% 23%

D Hutton 50% 50% 100% 80% 20%

R Leaver 65% 35% 100% 87% 13%

A Lombardo 60% 30% 90% 89% 11%

N Martin 35% 25% 60% 86% 14%

M Menhinnitt 70% 30% 100% 68% 32%

1 Base salary includes superannuation for Australian roles.
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The average STI percentages awarded for the KMP included in the table above was 76%. This reflects the financial performance 
and non-financial achievement of the Group which delivered a Statutory Profit after Tax of A$345.6 million and secured a significant 
pipeline of development opportunities during the year.

STI Measures
The actual STI received by executives is based on their individual performance against annually agreed targets which reflect their 
responsibilities and accountabilities. These targets are aligned with business performance and the creation of security holder value, 
and consist of both financial and non-financial measures. The STI award is subject to the individual achieving satisfactory performance 
in safety, sustainability, values, control and diversity.

Financial Element Non-Financial Element

Weighting

Measures

40%–50% depending on role

Key measures, and the level at which they are assessed 
(i.e. at the Group or business unit level) vary according 
to the individual and include:
−	 Profitability;
−	 Growth;	and
− Capital efficiency.

50%–60% depending on role

Key measures and the level at which they are assessed 
(i.e. at the Group or business unit level) vary according 
to the individual and include:
−	 Achievement	of	strategic	objectives;
−	 Achievement	of	functional	goals;
−	 	Successful	implementation	of	people	goals;	and
−  Performance against health, safety, and 

environment goals.

In addition, the Board has discretion to reduce the STI pool available to fund individual payments to take into account the Group’s 
financial performance. The Board has continued to limit the pool of funds available for STI to recognise a balance between the 
continued challenging conditions and the contribution of employees to ongoing sustainable performance. As Group performance 
exceeded target performance, the total STIs paid have exceeded the prior year. 

Future Arrangements
For the year ending 30 June 2011, there will be enhancements to the STI framework to ensure that incentive structures continue 
to reflect Lend Lease’s strategy and support sustainable business performance. The key enhancements include:
− STI awards for executives to be funded based on Lend Lease Group and Region financial performance results, ensuring 

a	transparent	link	with	Lend	Lease’s	ability	to	fund	STI	payments;
− KPIs against which performance is measured to be refined, with the number of KPIs to be reduced to provide individuals 

with greater focus, and alignment to the strategic objectives of the organisation. The areas against which individuals would 
be	measured	include	Financial,	Operational	Excellence,	Strategy	&	Business	Development,	and	People	&	Leadership;

− Reward outcomes to be better differentiated for differing performance levels as a key aspect of continuing to drive our 
performance	culture;

− Consistent with a more focused use of LTI, the relative mix of remuneration elements will change and the STI opportunity for 
some	individuals	will	increase;	and

− Greater proportion of STI amounts to be paid over a longer deferred period. For senior executives, the deferred STI amount 
to increase to 50% of actual STI awarded, deferred for up to two years. This ensures continued alignment to security holder 
interests through equity ownership, and provides an effective mechanism for retention of key executives. 

Long Term Incentives (‘LTI’)
The LTI plan involves the annual granting of ‘performance securities’ to participants. The performance securities track the performance 
of Lend Lease securities subject to time-based and performance hurdles over three and four year periods. The Board’s current intention 
is that the cash value of the LTI awards will be settled in Lend Lease securities. Alternately, they may be settled in cash or through other 
benefit vehicles due to regulatory issues in particular jurisdictions.
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d. The Executive Reward Framework continued
Long term Incentives (‘LTI’) continued
LTI Hurdles
The LTI plan has varied over time in order to align with Lend Lease’s strategy and goals, and changes in market practice. Performance 
hurdles selected in previous years and the current year are shown below.

Year Ended Grant Date Vesting Date EPS Relative TSR Retention

June 2008 July 2007 June 20101 50% 50%

June 2009 September 2008 September 2011 (Retention and Performance Shares)

March 2012 (Performance Shares)

September 2012 (Performance Shares)

33%2 33%4 33%

June 2010 September 2009 September 2012 (50%)

September 2013 (50%)

50%3

50%3

50%4

50%4

1 The July 2007 grant did not vest as neither the EPS nor the TSR performance hurdles were met.
2 EPS awards in the September 2008 grant will vest subject to achieving annual growth rates set by the Board (see Section 3f) – EPS is calculated on the basis of statutory profit 

adjusted for unrealised carrying value adjustments, write-off of goodwill, movements in the value of investment properties, savings implementation cost and one-off benefits from 
the UK Pension Plan. This definition ensures that for the purposes of this LTI grant, management is held accountable for the impact of any unrealised write-downs in the value of 
development inventory held for sale. The September 2009 grant is discussed further below. 

3 EPS awards in the September 2009 grant will vest subject to the conditions as discussed below. EPS is calculated on the basis of statutory profit and weighted average number 
of ordinary securities (excluding treasury securities).

4 TSR awards will vest (on a sliding scale) subject to Lend Lease achieving a minimum total security holder return equal to or greater than the 50th percentile of a peer group of 
ASX100 companies. TSR-tested performance securities for the July 2007 grant will be tested at year three only. For the September 2008 grant, TSR-tested performance securities 
are tested at years three, three-and-a-half and four. The September 2009 grant is discussed further below.

September 2009 LTI Grant
As shown above, the performance hurdles selected for the September 2009 grant are relative TSR and EPS. The retention component 
that was included in the September 2008 grant during a period of considerable challenge has been removed for the September 2009 grant. 
Half of the September 2009 LTI grant is tested at three years and if the relevant performance hurdles are not met at that time, this 
portion of the LTI lapses. The remaining half is tested after four years. There is no opportunity to re-test any part of the LTI grant. 

Relative TSR Performance Hurdle (50% of Grant)
Relative TSR has been selected as a performance measure to link LTI rewards to the delivery of superior security holder returns relative 
to a comparator group of companies over the performance period.
The relative TSR peer group consists of the S&P/ASX100 companies (excluding Lend Lease) determined at the start of the performance 
period. Participants will only receive value if Lend Lease’s TSR is at, or above, the 50th percentile TSR of companies in the comparison 
group. 

Relative TSR Percentile Ranking 
Percentage of TSR-Tested Performance Securities  
That Vest if the Relative TSR Hurdle Is Met

Below the 50th percentile Nil vesting

At the 50th percentile 50% vesting

Above the 50th percentile but below the 75th percentile Pro-rated vesting on a straight line basis between 50% and 100%

At the 75th percentile or greater 100% vesting

EPS Hurdle (50% of Grant)
For the September 2009 grant, EPS is the reported Statutory EPS, defined as the statutory profit/(loss) after tax, attributable to 
members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary securities (excluding treasury 
securities). The EPS in each year of the EPS performance period is the Statutory EPS as reported in the Lend Lease Group Annual 
Report, to increase transparency for both internal and external stakeholders.
EPS performance will be assessed on the basis of Lend Lease’s actual EPS performance during the performance period compared to 
the EPS targets as determined by the Board. 
The Board sets both a minimum and a stretch aggregate EPS target, and a Final Year EPS Target for the three and four year 
performance periods.

Aggregate EPS Target The aggregate target is set at the commencement of the performance period, 
and actual performance is measured by the sum of three and four year EPS 
performance compared to the Aggregate EPS Target. 

Final Year EPS Target This is calculated by dividing the Aggregate EPS Target over the relevant 
performance period by the number of years in the performance period 
(i.e. three or four years) (‘qualifying condition’).
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For vesting to occur, Lend Lease’s actual Aggregate EPS must be equal to or greater than the Aggregate EPS Target, as defined above. 
Vesting	is,	however,	subject	to	a	qualifying	condition.	Vesting	will	only	occur	where	Lend	Lease’s	actual	EPS	in	year	three	(or	four)	of	
the performance period is equal to or greater than the respective Final Year EPS Target, as defined above. 
Subject to meeting the Final Year EPS Target at year three or year four, the table below shows how vesting will occur based on Lend 
Lease’s actual EPS performance at the vesting dates.

EPS Performance Levels Percentage of EPS-Tested Performance Securities That Will Vest

Less than: Minimum Aggregate EPS Target Nil vesting

Equal to: Minimum Aggregate EPS Target 50% vesting

Greater than: Minimum Aggregate EPS Target, 
but less than: Stretch Aggregate EPS Target

Pro-rated vesting (i.e. on a straight line basis) between 50% and 100%

At or above: Stretch Aggregate EPS Target 100% vesting

Advantages of this Approach
The advantages of this approach to EPS performance assessment are that:
− Actual EPS results in each year of the performance period will contribute to the overall vesting result, leading to greater focus on 

sustainable performance. The Final Year EPS Targets ensure that vesting occurs only where a threshold level of EPS performance 
is	achieved	in	the	final	year;	and

− It aligns with Lend Lease’s strategy to focus on sustainable performance within the context of a cyclical industry. This enables 
asset sales and transaction timing to be optimised without disproportionately affecting LTI vesting results. 

Participants are advised of the EPS targets at the time the LTI grant is made. The Board has committed to disclosing the EPS 
targets retrospectively in the Remuneration Report following the end of the relevant performance period. 
In setting the Minimum and Stretch Aggregate EPS Targets, the Board has taken into account the forecast business plan performance 
as well as market expectations to determine robust but achievable performance targets for the 50% and 100% vesting thresholds of the 
EPS component of the LTI.

Termination and Forfeiture
The treatment of unvested LTI performance securities on termination has been reviewed for the September 2009 LTI grant. For ‘good 
leavers’, a pro rata award will remain on foot after termination and be subject to the original performance hurdles, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances (e.g. death or total and permanent disability). Where an employee is terminated for cause or resigns, 
unvested LTI is forfeited. 
Unvested LTI grants will be forfeited if an executive enters into a prohibited pre-vesting hedging arrangement in relation to 
their LTI awards. 

Future Arrangements
For the year ending 30 June 2011, there will be refinements to the LTI framework to ensure that incentive structures continue to 
reflect Lend Lease’s strategy and provide further alignment between the interests of security holders and Lend Lease’s key executives. 
Key refinements include:
− LTI participation to be focused on a small number of key executives who have the most significant impact on Lend Lease’s 

strategy,	organisational	performance,	and	the	generation	of	shareholder	wealth;	and
−	 Vesting	to	be	subject	to	achievement	of	Lend	Lease’s	TSR	compared	to	that	of	a	peer	group	of	companies.

e. Retention Awards
No new retention awards were granted to the executives in the current year. 
When the Board believes an executive is an outstanding performer and the Group and security holders will gain from encouraging him 
or her to remain with the Group, a retention award may be made.
Details of the retention awards which have previously been granted to executives and which have not yet vested are shown 
in Section 3g. 

f. How Rewards are Linked to Group Performance
Key Financial Indicators: Group Performance over the Past Five Years

June 2010 June 2009 June 2008 June 2007 June 2006

Statutory profit/(loss) after tax1 A$m 345.6 (653.6) 265.4 497.5 415.2

Operating profit after tax2 A$m 323.6 307.5 447.1 413.7 354.2

Earnings per security on statutory profit after tax3 cents 72.9 (164.7) 71.6 134.5 112.7

Earnings per security on operating profit after tax3 cents 68.3 77.5 120.9 120.5 96.1

Dividends paid and declared A$m 160.6 186.7 308.9 308.5 243.7

(Decrease)/increase in closing price4 A$ 0.32 (2.54) (8.99) 4.55 1.03

1 Statutory profit/(loss) after tax represents profit/(loss) attributable to the security holders of the parent. 
2 Operating profit after tax for June 2010 excludes unrealised property investment revaluation gains of A$22.0 million after tax (June 2009: A$263.0 million loss after tax). June 2009 

operating profit after tax also excludes a reduction in the carrying value of inventory of A$188.3 million after tax, goodwill impairments of A$252.9 million after tax, other carrying value 
adjustments of A$204.7 million loss after tax, savings implementation costs of A$83.9 million after tax, and a net gain on closure of the Bovis UK pension scheme to future accrual 
of A$31.7 million after tax.

3 Earnings per security is calculated using the weighted average number of securities on issue excluding treasury securities for the respective periods.
4 Represents the movement in the closing security price calculated at 30 June of each financial year.
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f. How Rewards are Linked to Group Performance continued
Link Between Remuneration and Group Performance

Remuneration 
Element Link to Group Performance

Fixed 
remuneration

Fixed remuneration is not linked to Group performance. It is set with reference to the individual’s role, responsibilities 
and performance.

Short term 
incentive (‘STI’)

STIs are awarded to individuals based on achievement of Group and business unit financial targets in individual 
scorecards, and subject to the Group’s profitability and ability to pay STI awards. The Board maintains the right to adjust 
downwards the aggregate pool available to fund STIs if the Group’s actual operating profit after tax is below target. 

A portion of the STI for the year ended June 2010 is also deferred into equity for one year to ensure ongoing 
alignment with security holder interests.

Long term 
incentive (‘LTI’)

LTI is linked to Group performance through the relative TSR and EPS performance hurdles. 

For any of the TSR-tested performance securities to vest, Lend Lease’s TSR must be at least at the 50th percentile 
against companies in the peer group (full vesting occurs at the 75th percentile).

For any of the EPS-tested performance securities to vest, Lend Lease must have achieved challenging EPS growth 
hurdles. Historical EPS targets are outlined below:

Grant Date EPS Target Definition of EPS

July 2007 10% compound annual growth rate from year to 
30 June 2007 baseline to 30 June 2010 vesting date.

EPS on the basis of statutory EPS reported in 
the company’s financial statements adjusted for 
exclusion of treasury securities, and exclusion 
of unrealised revaluation gains or losses (unless 
assets are actually sold). 

September 
2008

The September 2008 grant will vest only if the 
cumulative annual EPS growth rates set by the Board 
are met.

EPS (as Defined 
for LTI Purposes)1,2

Target Actual

EPS for 30 June 2008 (Base 
year for growth calculations)

87.8c

EPS for 30 June 2009  
– % growth from previous year

80.9c
–8%

30.0c
–66%

EPS for 30 June 2010 
– % growth from previous year 
– compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR) from 2008 base year

90.7c
12%

2%

68.3c
127%

–12%

EPS for 30 June 2011 Due to commercial 
sensitivity, this will be 
disclosed in the 2011 
Remuneration Report

EPS on the basis of statutory EPS reported in 
the company’s financial statements adjusted for 
exclusion of treasury securities, and exclusion 
of unrealised carrying value adjustments, 
write-off of goodwill, movements in the value of 
investment properties, savings implementation 
costs and one-off benefits from the UK 
Pension Plan.

September 
2009

The September 2009 grant will vest only if the years 
three and/or four aggregate EPS targets are met, and 
the Final Year target is met. The baseline will have no 
impact on vesting. The first vesting date for the grant 
is September 2012, and the aggregate target will be 
disclosed at this time.

EPS is calculated on the basis of statutory EPS 
reported in the company’s financial statements, 
adjusted for exclusion of treasury securities.

1 The actual EPS result for LTI purposes differs from the EPS based on reported operating profit as disclosed in Section 3f. This is because under the terms of the September 2008 
LTI grant, management is held accountable for the impact of any unrealised write-downs in the value of development inventory held for sale.

2 EPS performance is tested against a cumulative growth target. As such, vesting will only occur when the EPS cumulative growth target has been achieved at the relevant vesting 
date(s). For the September 2008 grant, this will be September 2011 (or September 2012). In the September 2008 grant, the first year target of –8% was agreed to recognise 
the difficult economic circumstances in the year ended 30 June 2009. However, over the entire three (or four) year performance period (and for retest), it is expected that EPS 
compound annual growth will need to exceed approximately 5% p.a. for vesting to occur. 
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The historical vesting of LTI is shown below.

Grant Date Vesting Date Performance Hurdle(s) Performance Hurdle Achievement

July 2006 June 2009 EPS, Relative TSR 0%

July 2007 June 2010 EPS, Relative TSR 0% 

Sept 2008 September 2011 (Retention and Performance Securities)
March 2012 (Performance Securities)
September 2012 (Performance Securities)

EPS, Relative TSR, Retention 1st test date not yet reached

Sept 2009 September 2012 (50%)
September 2013 (50%)

EPS, Relative TSR 1st test date not yet reached

g. Statutory Executive Remuneration Disclosures – Audited 
Statutory Remuneration Table
The table shows the remuneration of the executives as calculated under the applicable Australian Accounting Standards. 

Short Term Benefits Post Employment Benefits Share Based Payment

Year

 Cash  
 Salary  
 A$000s

 Cash  
 STI1  
 A$000s

 Non-
Monetary 

Benefits2

 A$000s

 Super- 
 annuation  
 A$000s

 Life  
 Insurance  
 A$000s

 End of  
 Service  
 A$000s

 LTI  
 Cash  
 Settled  
 A$000s

 LTI
 Equity

 Settled3

 A$000s

 STI 
 Equity 

Settled4

 A$000s
 Retention5 
 A$000s

 Other  
 Equity6  
 A$000s

 Other  
 Long- 
 Term  
 Benefits7  
 A$000s

 Total  
 A$000s

Executive Director

S McCann8 2010 1,518 1,368 159 25 2 642 546 1,031 22 5,313

2009 1,329 968 18 41 2 (146) 130 1,755 15 16 4,128

Key Management Personnel

S Charlton9 2010 335 191 3 5 1 23 5 563

B Soller10 2010 672 414 32 19 3 151 130 26 10 1,457

2009 536 281 45 45 4 (69) 78 138 9 1,067

Other Executives

M Bellaman 2010 556 139 54 8 50 112 473 1,392

2009 685 334 65 9 (93) 144 336 1,480

M Coleman11 2010 683 345 30 166 2 159 117 530 8 2,040

2009 586 288 356 186 3 (126) 143 525 8 1,969

W Hara12 2010 563 267 14 160 175 39 7 1,225

2009 323 263 45 14 (101) 115 177 240 8 1,084

D Hutton 2010 594 258 10 150 3 168 189 44 8 1,424

R Leaver 2010 829 481 6 14 562 187 11 2,090

2009 778 348 8 14 4 272 159 50 12 1,645

A Lombardo13 2010 632 320 3 14 2 115 137 21 8 1,252

2009 527 275 82 14 1 5 63 111 7 1,085

N Martin  2010 399 134 183 136 92 78 19 6 1,047

 2009 400 109 278 147 (49) 52 83 6 1,026

M Menhinnitt 2010 697 354 351 2 208 135 51 10 1,808

2009 655 315 45 360 2 (53) 267 42 10 1,643

Footnotes on page 106. 
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Directors’ Report continued

g. Statutory Executive Remuneration Disclosures – Audited continued
Statutory Remuneration Table continued
1 The cash element of all STI bonuses has been accrued and is based on the performance criteria as outlined in Section 3d of this Report.
2  Non-monetary benefits include relocation benefits (such as housing, home leave, travel, cost of living and tax return advice) and motor vehicle costs.
3  Fair value expense of LTI awards that are equity settled. Negative amounts represent a reversal of awards that are not expected to vest. 
4  Represents fair value of deferred element of STI that is equity settled at a grant date value of A$9.27. Based on the 30 June 2010 Lend Lease Corporation security price, the value 

of the award is: Mr McCann A$417,055; Mr Soller A$101,345; Mr Bellaman A$87,777; Mr Coleman A$91,500; Mr Hara A$137,137; Mr Hutton A$147,370; Mr Leaver A$146,534; 
Mr Lombardo A$107,443; Mr Martin A$61,022; Mr Menhinnitt A$105,545.

5  No new retention awards were made during FY2010. These amounts represent the amortisation of previous retention awards made including the retention component of the 
September 2008 LTI award.

6  Represents executive participation in the Employee Share Acquisition Plan (‘ESAP’).
7  Other Long Term represents accrual of statutory employee entitlements.
8 Mr McCann’s remuneration in the year ended 30 June 2009 is based on remuneration earned as Finance Director to November 2008, and as Chief Executive Officer following 

this date. For remuneration in the year ended 30 June 2010, remuneration reflects the remuneration for the full reporting period in his current role.
9 Mr Charlton commenced employment on 9 March 2010. The remuneration data in this table reflects the total remuneration for the period from commencement of employment.
10 Mr Soller was appointed to the position of Group Chief Financial Officer on 1 October 2009 and as a result his remuneration disclosed in this table includes his new remuneration 

arrangements under the new position, from the date of appointment to 30 June 2010.
11 Mr Coleman was appointed to the position of Global Group Chief Executive Officer, Bovis Lend Lease on 14 January 2009 and as a result his remuneration disclosed in this table 

includes his remuneration from his previous role prior to his appointment to 30 June 2009 in his role as Global Group Chief Executive Officer, Bovis Lend Lease. For the year ended 
30 June 2010, the table depicts Mr Coleman’s remuneration for the full reporting period in his role as Global Group Chief Executive Officer, Bovis Lend Lease. Mr Coleman’s current 
role, Global Head of Project Management and Design & Construction, is effective 1 July 2010.

12 The remuneration disclosed for Mr Hara for the year ended 30 June 2009 reflects executive participation in the Employee Share Acquisition Plan.
13 Mr Lombardo’s increase in fixed remuneration reflects changes to his previous role including taking on the Sustainability function in his enhanced role. His cash salary includes 

five months’ back pay received in the year ended 30 June 2010.

Remuneration Components as a Proportion of Reported Total Remuneration1

Based on the above disclosures, the table below outlines the remuneration components as a proportion of reported total remuneration.

Performance Based

Fixed STI2 LTI

Executive Director

S McCann 40% 45% 15%

Key Management Personnel

S Charlton 62% 34% 4%

B Soller 52% 37% 11%

Other Executives

M Bellaman 67% 27% 6%

M Coleman 59% 31% 10%

W Hara 49% 37% 14%

D Hutton 56% 32% 12%

R Leaver 41% 32% 27%

A Lombardo 54% 37% 9%

N Martin 70% 21% 9%

M Menhinnitt 60% 28% 12%

1 Excludes retention awards.
2 STI includes the cash amount and the deferred amount accrued for performance for the year ended 30 June 2010.

3. Remuneration Report continued
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Equity-based Payments 
Long term Incentive Plan – Outstanding Performance Securities

 Expensed 2010

Name
Plan (for the 
Year Ended)1 Grant Date

Vesting  
Date2

 Number  
 Granted

 Fair Value  
 Per Equity  
 Instrument3  
 A$

 Total Fair  
 Value at  
 Grant  
 A$

 Award  
 Value at  
 30 June  
 20104  
 A$

 % Vested  
 in the Year

 % Forfeited  
 in the Year

 LTI  
 A$

 Retention  
 Component  
 A$

Executive Director

S McCann Jun 2008 Jul 2007 Jun 2010 59,717 11.51 687,641 0% 100% 77,334

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 60,135 7.01 421,464 440,790 140,488

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 120,235 6.35 763,566 881,323 190,892

Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 124,535 6.08 757,173 912,842 210,326

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 124,535 6.31 785,816 912,842 163,712

Total 3,147,797 642,264 140,488

Key Management Personnel

S Charlton Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 16,220 6.08 98,615 118,893 13,149

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 16,220 6.31 102,345 118,893 9,747

Total 237,786 22,896

B Soller Jun 2008 
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 15,688 11.51 180,647 0% 100% 20,316

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 11,191 7.01 78,435 82,030 26,145

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 22,376 6.35 142,101 164,016 35,525

Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 31,546 6.08 191,800 231,232 53,278

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 31,546 6.31 199,055 231,232 41,470

Total 708,510 150,589 26,145

Other Executives

M Bellaman Jun 2008 
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 13,860 11.51 159,598 0% 100% 17,949

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 10,204 7.01 71,529 74,795 23,843

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 20,408 6.35 129,589 149,591 32,397

Total 224,386 50,346 23,843

M Coleman Jun 2008 
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 18,346 11.51 211,254 0% 100% 23,758

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 13,087 7.01 91,724 95,928 30,575

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 26,167 6.35 166,176 191,804 41,544

Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 31,134 6.08 189,295 228,212 52,582

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 31,134 6.31 196,455 228,212 40,928

Total 744,156 158,812 30,575

Footnotes on page 109. 
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Directors’ Report continued

g. Statutory Executive Remuneration Disclosures – Audited continued
Equity-based Payments continued
Long term Incentive Plan – Outstanding Performance Securities continued

 Expensed 2010

Name
Plan (for the 
Year Ended)1 Grant Date

Vesting  
Date2

 Number  
 Granted

 Fair Value  
 Per Equity  
 Instrument3  
 A$

 Total Fair  
 Value at  
 Grant  
 A$

 Award  
 Value at  
 30 June  
 20104  
 A$

 % Vested  
 in the Year

 % Forfeited  
 in the Year

 LTI  
 A$

 Retention  
 Component  
 A$

Other Executives continued

W Hara Jun 2008  
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 23,360 11.51 268,990 0% 100% 30,251

Jun 2009  
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 16,664 7.01 116,793 122,147 38,931

Jun 2009  
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 33,319 6.35 211,593 244,228 52,898

Jun 2010  
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 25,664 6.08 156,037 188,117 43,344

Jun 2010  
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 25,664 6.31 161,940 188,117 33,737

Total 742,609 160,230 38,931

D Hutton Jun 2008  
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 16,447 11.51 189,387 0% 100% 21,299

Jun 2009  
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 18,769 7.01 131,569 137,575 43,856

Jun 2009  
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 37,538 6.35 238,363 275,150 59,591

Jun 2010  
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 28,910 6.08 175,773 211,910 48,826

Jun 2010  
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 28,910 6.31 182,422 211,910 38,005

Total 836,545 167,721 43,856

R Leaver Business 
Unit specific 
LTI7

Jan 2008 Jun 2012 17,628 13.81 243,443 129,213 54,313

Business 
Unit specific 
LTI7

Jan 2008 Jun 2013 14,423 13.24 190,961 105,721 34,833

Business 
Unit specific 
LTI7

Jul 2008 Jun 2012 57,267 7.84 448,973 419,767 112,166

Business 
Unit specific 
LTI7

Jul 2008 Jun 2013 46,885 7.49 351,168 343,667 70,195

Business 
Unit specific 
LTI7

Jul 2009 Jun 2012 94,893 5.82 552,277 695,566 183,924

Business 
Unit specific 
LTI7

Jul 2009 Jun 2013 77,640 5.51 427,796 569,101 106,876

Total 2,263,035 562,307

Footnotes on page 109. 
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 Expensed 2010

Name
Plan (for the 
Year Ended)1 Grant Date

Vesting  
Date2

 Number  
 Granted

 Fair Value  
 Per Equity  
 Instrument3  
 A$

 Total Fair  
 Value at  
 Grant  
 A$

 Award  
 Value at  
 30 June  
 20104  
 A$

 % Vested  
 in the Year

 % Forfeited  
 in the Year

 LTI  
 A$

 Retention  
 Component  
 A$

A Lombardo Jun 2008  
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 12,652 11.51 145,688 0% 100% 16,384

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 9,025 7.01 63,254 66,153 21,085

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 18,045 6.35 114,598 132,270 28,649

Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 23,351 6.08 141,974 171,163 39,437

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 23,351 6.31 147,345 171,163 30,697

Total 540,749 115,167 21,085

N Martin Jun 2008 
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 11,285 11.51 129,947 0% 100% 14,614

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 8,051 7.01 56,423 59,014 18,808

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 16,096 6.35 102,221 117,984 25,555

Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 17,358 6.08 105,537 127,234 29,316

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 17,358 6.31 109,529 127,234 22,819

Total 431,466 92,304 18,808

M Menhinnitt Jun 2008 
LTI

Jul 2007 Jun 2010 30,364 11.51 349,641 0% 100% 39,321

Jun 2009 
LTI – B5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2011 21,661 7.01 151,810 158,775 50,603

Jun 2009 
LTI – A5 

Sep 2008 Aug 2012 43,308 6.35 275,034 317,448 68,759

Jun 2010 
LTI – A6

Sep 2009 Aug 2012 33,358 6.08 202,817 244,514 56,338

Jun 2010 
LTI – B6

Sep 2009 Aug 2013 33,358 6.31 210,489 244,514 43,852

Total 965,251 208,270 50,603

1 The July 2007 and September 2009 grants vest on the basis of performance against equally weighted relative TSR and EPS hurdles. The September 2008 grant vests on the basis 
of performance against equally weighted relative TSR, EPS (based on adjusted operating profit) and retention hurdles. For further information, refer to Section 3d and Section 3f. 

2 Early vesting of the award may be available in certain circumstances. The award is forfeited on resignation, but in other cases of termination, may be awarded on a pro rata basis 
subject to early testing of the performance conditions. 

3 The fair value at grant date represents the estimated actuarial valuation, rounded to two decimal places, of the award using assumptions underlying the Black-Scholes methodology 
to produce a Monte-Carlo simulation model in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

4 Under Australian Accounting Standards, the value of a share-based payment is determined at the grant date, and recognised over the vesting period. Movement in the share price 
after grant date and before the vesting conditions are met is not subsequently considered. To provide greater transparency, a supplementary value is provided based on the share 
price as at 30 June 2010.

5 The September 2008 grant comprised three components, with one-third of the grant being tested against EPS and one-third against TSR (for the year ended June 2009 LTI – A), 
and the remainder vesting based on achievement of service conditions (for the year ended June 2009 LTI – B).

6 The September 2009 grant is split into two equal tranches that vest independently at three and four years, subject to meeting the TSR and EPS hurdles as described in Section 3d.
7  Mr Leaver participates in a Business Unit specific LTI plan, as outlined in his contract of employment. LTI awards are granted on an annual basis to July 2011 (vesting on 

30 June 2012), and granted on an annual basis to July 2012 (vesting on 30 June 2013). These awards vest subject to achieving three key Investment Management business 
metrics against predetermined commercial in confidence targets. These targets are assessed by the P&O Committee as soon as practicable after the sign-off of the Group 
Financial Statements. For each metric one-third of the awards will vest if performance meets or exceeds the target at any time during the performance period. 
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Directors’ Report continued3. Remuneration Report continued

g. Statutory Executive Remuneration Disclosures – Audited continued
Equity-based Payments continued
Retention – Outstanding Retention Grants

Name Grant Date Vesting Date1
 Number  
 Granted

 Fair Value  
 Per Equity  
 Instrument2  
 A$

 Total Fair  
 Value at  
 Grant  
 A$

 Award  
 Value at  
 30 June 20103  
 A$

 %  
 Vested  
 in the Year

 %  
 Forfeited  
 in the Year

 Expensed  
 for the  
 Year Ended  
 30 June 2010  
 A$

Executive Director

S McCann Aug 2007 Jun 2012 141,367 17.68 2,500,000 1,036,220 514,374

Nov 2008 Mar 20104 153,126 9.80 1,500,000 67%4 376,452

Total 1,036,220 890,826

M Bellaman Apr 2008 Apr 2011 61,885 12.93 800,303 453,617 234,849

May 2009 May 2012 90,000 7.14 642,600 659,700 213,946

Total 1,113,317 448,795

M Coleman Jul 2007 Jun 2010 80,214 18.70 1,500,000 100% 499,544

W Hara Sep 2008 Sep 2009 15,519 9.30 144,250 100%

A Lombardo Sep 2008 Sep 2009 10,086 9.30 93,750 100%

N Martin Sep 2008 Sep 2009 7,197 9.30 66,898 100%

B Soller Sep 2008 Sep 2009 12,506 9.30 116,250 100%

1 An employee must be employed at the vesting date for vesting. For a limited number of grants in certain circumstances (e.g. termination without cause) pro rata early vesting may 
be available.

2 The fair value at grant date represents the number of securities granted at the security price on the grant date.
3 Under Australian Accounting Standards, the value of a share-based payment is determined at the grant date, and recognised over the vesting period. Movement in the security 

price after grant date and before the vesting conditions are met is not subsequently considered. To provide greater transparency, a supplementary value is provided based on the 
security price as at 30 June 2010.

4 The retention grant made to Mr McCann in November 2008 vests in three equal tranches on 31 March 2009, 30 September 2009 and 31 March 2010. One-third of the grant 
vested in the prior financial year. Two-thirds of the grant vested in the current financial year. 

h. Executive Contracts – Audited
CEO Contract Details – Stephen McCann

Contract duration No fixed term. Not to exceed five years, effective 4 March 2009.

Benefits Total package includes fixed remuneration and superannuation. 

Additional benefits include vehicle lease cost, parking space at Lend Lease headquarters and 
life cover to the value of three times fixed remuneration.

Variable	remuneration	eligibility Eligible for STI and LTI plan at Board discretion.

Non-compete period 12 months

Non-solicitation period 12 months

Notice by Lend Lease 12 months

Notice by CEO 6 months

Treatment on termination Payment in lieu of notice: Where the CEO is not employed for the full period of notice, a payment 
in lieu of notice may be made. The payment in lieu of notice includes pro rata fixed remuneration 
and the cash value of statutory entitlements and benefits, and pro rata STI based on the level of 
performance achievement in the prior year. 

Treatment of incentives: The CEO may receive a pro rata STI award for the latest financial year 
based on assessment of his performance by the Board. LTIs will be treated according to ordinary 
award terms, and for the most recent LTI award before termination, the pro rata period is extended 
by 12 months.

Other The CEO has previously been granted retention awards. A number of these have not yet vested. 
They are described in Section 3g.
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Executives’ Contract Details 

Contract duration Executives are typically employed on contracts that have no fixed term.

Benefits May include:
Participation in the Employee Share Acquisition Plan, health/life insurance, car allowances, motor vehicle 
leases and salary continuance.

If an executive is relocated, relocation packages may be available.

Variable	remuneration	
eligibility

Eligible for participation in the STI plan, and LTI plan subject to Board discretion. 

For Mr Leaver only, eligible for an LTI on joining and an annual grant on 1 July:
–	 up	to	July	2011,	vesting	30	June	2012;
–	 up	to	July	2012,	vesting	30	June	2013;	and
–  subject to achievement of three equally weighted KPIs for the Investment Management business, 

as assessed by the P&O Committee.

Termination without cause results in pro rata vesting of the awards, based on early assessment of performance.

Termination clauses Termination clauses are specified in each contract describing treatment on termination based on the 
reason for termination (e.g. resignation, on notice illness or immediate termination for cause). 

Where notice is provided for termination, the relevant notice periods for each executive vary, but are 
typically between six and 12 months.

S Charlton B Soller M Bellaman M Coleman W Hara

Non-compete period 6 months Not applicable 3 months Not applicable 6 months

Non-solicitation period 6 months 6 months 3 months Not applicable 6 months

Notice by Lend Lease 6 months 12 months 90 days Reasonable notice 12 months

Notice by executive 6 months 6 months 3 months Reasonable notice 6 months

Treatment on termination 
for notice

Payment may 
be made in lieu 
of notice

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration, 
superannuation and 
accrued leave

Payment may 
be made in lieu 
of notice

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration, 
superannuation 
plus projected STI 
(if eligible in that 
year) of 60% of 
the target amount

Severance payment 
calculated as 
two weeks of 
pay per year of 
completed service

Payment of current 
year STI at the 
CEO’s discretion

Pro rata retention 
received

Any outstanding 
deferred STI or LTI 
will be treated in 
accordance with 
the plan rules

Payment may 
be made in lieu 
of notice

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration, 
superannuation 
plus projected STI 
(if eligible in that 
year) of 60% of the 
target amount

Other Restrictive 
covenants apply 
after termination in 
relation to ability to 
employ Lend Lease 
persons who may 
or are likely to 
have trade secrets 
or confidential 
information

Retention shares 
vested on 
4 September 2009 
(see Section 3g). 
No new retention 
arrangements have 
been awarded 

Restrictive covenants 
apply after 
termination in relation 
to ability to employ 
Lend Lease persons 
who may or are likely 
to have trade secrets 
or confidential 
information

Retention securities 
vesting April 2011 
and April 2012 
(see Section 3g). 
No new retention 
arrangements have 
been awarded

Retention 
securities vested 
on 30 June 2010 
(see Section 3g. 
No new retention 
arrangements have 
been provided

Retention shares 
vesting on 
4 September 2009 
(see Section 3g). 
No new retention 
arrangements have 
been awarded 
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h. Executive Contracts – Audited continued
Executives’ Contract Details continued

D Hutton R Leaver A Lombardo N Martin M Menhinnitt

Non-compete period 12 months 12 months 6 months 24 months 6 months

Non-solicitation period 12 months 12 months 12 months 24 months 12 months

Notice by Lend Lease 12 months 6 months 12 months 6 months 12 months

Notice by executive 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months

Treatment on termination 
for notice

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration, 
superannuation 
plus projected STI 
(if eligible in that 
year) of 60% of 
the target amount

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration 
(but not inclusive 
of superannuation)

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration, 
superannuation 
plus projected STI 
(if eligible in that 
year) of 60% of 
the target amount

Payment may 
be made in lieu 
of notice

Notice payment 
shall be based on 
fixed remuneration, 
superannuation 
plus projected STI 
(if eligible in that 
year) of 60% of 
the target amount

Other Not applicable Restrictive 
covenants apply 
after termination in 
relation to ability to 
employ Lend Lease 
persons who may 
or are likely to 
have trade secrets 
or confidential 
information

Retention shares 
vested on 
4 September 2009 
(see section 3g). 
No new retention 
arrangements have 
been awarded

Restrictive 
covenants apply 
after termination in 
relation to ability to 
employ Lend Lease 
persons who may 
or are likely to 
have trade secrets 
or confidential 
information

Mr Martin is 
on international 
assignment to 
Australia until 
December 2010

Restrictive 
covenants apply 
after termination in 
relation to ability to 
employ Lend Lease 
persons who may 
or are likely to 
have trade secrets 
or confidential 
information

i. Non Executive Director Remuneration – Audited 
Fee Structure

Component Composition At-risk?

Board fees Chairman fee

Board member fee

No

No

Committee fees Committee chairmanship fees

Committee membership fees

No

No

Travel fees Compensation for time spent travelling to overseas meetings No

Post-employment benefits Annual accrual of Lend Lease securities, accessible on retirement No

To maintain their independence and impartiality, Non Executive Directors’ rewards do not have any at-risk components. Directors 
may be affected by company performance with regard to personal security holdings and post-employment benefits delivered as 
Lend Lease securities. 
The total fees paid to the Non Executive Directors are kept within the total aggregate fee pool of A$2,500,000 as approved by security 
holders at the 2008 Annual General Meeting. No change to the aggregate fee limit is proposed for the year ending 30 June 2011. 
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Board and Committee Fees
Board and Board Committee fees are set based on advice from external advisers and market data, with reference to factors such as the 
responsibilities and risks associated with the role. 
The current Board fees are shown below. 

 Chairman Fee 
 A$

 Membership Fee  
 A$

Board 640,000 160,000

Nomination Committee 36,000

Personnel and Organisation Committee 36,000 20,000

Risk Management and Audit Committee 44,000 36,000

Sustainability Committee 36,000 20,000

The fees paid to compensate Directors for time spent travelling to overseas meetings are shown below. All business-related expenses 
(e.g. travel) are also reimbursed.

 Travel Less Than 4 Hours  
 A$

 Travel Between  
 4 and 10 Hours  
 A$

 Travel Over 10 Hours  
 A$

Fee (each way) 0 2,800 6,000

Post-employment Benefits
In recognition of feedback from security holders, the Directors have resolved to discontinue the further award of retirement 
securities indefinitely. However, the (now suspended) entitlements (as previously approved by security holders) are summarised below.
Non Executive Directors are entitled to an annual accrual of Lend Lease securities to the value of 0.2 times their Director fee (Board and 
Board Committee fees only). These securities will fluctuate in line with the Lend Lease security price and are accessible only on 
retirement (unless securities need to be sold to meet a tax liability in respect of those securities). 
Non Executive Directors are allowed securities under a waiver granted by the Australian Securities Exchange in 2001. The waiver was 
granted subject to there being (i) no amendment of the plan (which provides for award of these securities to Non Executive Directors) 
without	security	holder	approval;	(ii)	disclosure	of	the	Directors	and	their	ability	to	participate	in	the	plan;	(iii)	explanation	of	any	diluting	
effects	on	any	security	issues;	and	(iv)	disclosure	of	the	waiver	terms.	
Securities were allocated on 1 January each year based on the five (business) day weighted average security price. Under the approving 
security holder resolution, annual issues of securities are capped at 0.01% of the issued capital. From inception in 2001, securities 
issued under the plan have totalled only 0.05% of current issued capital, and the diluting effect for security holders is insignificant.
Two Non Executive Directors appointed before 1 January 2001 also have accrued benefits under the previous Retirement Benefit Plan:
−	 G	Edington	A$153,640	(30	June	2009:	A$138,520);	and
− P Goldmark A$156,960 (30 June 2009: A$144,722).
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Directors’ Report continued3. Remuneration Report continued

i. Non Executive Director Remuneration – Audited continued
Remuneration Details – Audited 
Details of the total remuneration of the Directors of the Company are set out on the following table. In accordance with the requirements 
of AASB 124, the remuneration disclosures in the remuneration tables are calculated on an accruals basis and only include remuneration 
relating to the portion of the relevant periods that each individual was a Director.

Short Term

 Post 
 Employment  
 Benefits

 Share 
 Based  
 Payment

Year
 Base Fees  
 A$000s

 Committee  
 Chairman  
 Fees  
 A$000s

 Committee  
 Fees  
 A$000s

 Travel Fees1  
 A$000s

 Super- 
 annuation  
 A$000s

 Other  
 Equity2  
 A$000s

 Total  
 A$000s

D Crawford 2010 640 35 14 118 807

2009 550 40 14 110 714

P Colebatch 2010 160 36 36 66 14 44 356

20094 150 30 25 54 14 41 314

G Edington 2010 160 56 78 14 41 349

20094 150 43 60 14 39 306

P Goldmark 2010 160 36 20 78 14 41 349

20094 150 30 17 65 14 40 316

J Hill 2010 160 36 20 83 14 41 354

20094 150 30 17 71 14 40 322

D Ryan 2010 160 44 20 35 14 43 316

20094 150 40 17 40 14 41 302

M Selway3 2010 99 25 36 9 40 209

20094 150 50 14 31 245

1 In addition, a number of Directors received fringe benefits in the following amounts:

A$000s

D Crawford 2

P Colebatch 9

G Edington 14

P Goldmark 13

J Hill 17

2 Other equity refers to the amount accrued under the Non Executive Directors’ Retirement Benefit Plan. This amount is not accessible until the Director retires. The Plan has been 
discontinued from 1 January 2010. Amounts are for 12 months to 31 December 2009.

3 Mr Selway retired as a Director on 10 February 2010.
4 Base fees per Director (excluding the Chairman) increased from A$140,000 to A$160,000 effective 1 January 2009, and averaged over the full 12 month period ended 30 June 2009, 

calculated as A$150,000 per Director. 

j. Additional Information – Audited 
Additional information about Key Management Personnel’s equity holdings and transactions, loans and other transactions is in Note 34 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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a. Security Options
No security options were issued during the year by the Company or 
any of its controlled entities, and there are no such options on issue.

b. Indemnification and Insurance of Directors 
and Officers
Rule 12 of the Company’s Constitution provides for indemnification 
in favour of each of the Directors named on pages 91 to 92 of this 
Report;	the	Company	Secretary,	Mr	W	Hara;	and	officers	of	the	
Company or of wholly owned subsidiaries or related entities of the 
Company (‘Officers’) to the extent permitted by the Corporations 
Act 2001. Rule 12 does not indemnify a Director, Company 
Secretary or Officer for any liability involving a lack of good faith.
In conformity with Rule 12 of the Company’s Constitution, since 
the date of the last report, the Company has entered into Deeds of 
Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each of the Directors named 
on pages 91 to 92 of this Report. The indemnities operate to the full 
extent permitted by law and are not subject to a monetary limit. The 
Company is not aware of any liability having arisen, and no claims 
have been made, during or since the financial year under the Deeds 
of Indemnity, Insurance and Access.
For related entities, the indemnification is provided under Rule 12 
of the Company’s Constitution unless the Directors determine 
otherwise. For unrelated entities in which the Group has an 
interest, deeds of indemnity may be entered into between 
Lend Lease Corporation Limited and the Director or Officer. 
Since the date of the last report, the Company has not entered 
into any separate deeds of indemnity with a Director or officer 
of an unrelated entity.
No indemnity has been granted to an auditor of the Company in 
their capacity as auditor of the Company.
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Rule 12 of the 
Constitution also permits the Company to purchase and maintain 
insurance or pay or agree to pay a premium for insurance 
for Officers against any liability incurred as an Officer of the 
Company or of a related body corporate. This may include a 
liability for reasonable costs and expenses incurred in defending 
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, and whatever their 
outcome. Due to confidentiality obligations and undertakings of 
the policy, no further details in respect of the premium or policy 
can be disclosed.

c. Non Audit Services
During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, performed certain 
other services in addition to its statutory duties.
The Board has considered the non audit services provided 
during the year by the auditor and, in accordance with written 
advice provided by resolution of the Risk Management and 
Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non audit 

services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did 
not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
− All non audit services were subject to the corporate 

governance procedures adopted by the Group and 
have been reviewed by the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity 
and	objectivity	of	the	auditor;	and

− The non audit services provided do not undermine the 
general principles relating to auditor independence as 
set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing 
the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision 
making capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for 
the Group or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

A copy of the Lead Auditors’ Independence Declaration as 
required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
is included at the end of this Report.
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, 
and its related practices for audit and non audit services provided 
during the year are set out below.

 Consolidated

 June  
 2010 
 A$000s

 June  
 2009 
 A$000s

Audit Services 7,122 7,657

Other Services

International assignees tax services 38 119

Other 78 15

Total other services 116 134

Total audit and other services 7,238 7,791

d. Rounding Off
Lend Lease Corporation Limited is a company of the kind referred 
to in the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class 
Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and, in accordance with that 
Class Order, amounts in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and this Report have been rounded off to the nearest tenth of 
a	million	dollars	or,	where	the	amount	is	A$50,000	or	less,	zero,	
unless specifically stated to be otherwise.

4. Other

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the Directors.

 

D A Crawford, AO S B McCann
Chairman Managing Director

Sydney, 16 August 2010
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
To: the Directors of Lend Lease Corporation Limited

 I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2010 there have been:
(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001	in	relation	to	the	audit;	and
(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

C Hall
Partner

Sydney, 16 August 2010
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Five Year Profile1

June 2010 June 2009 June 2008 June 2007 June 2006

Profitability

Revenue A$m 10,570 14,785 14,678 14,282 12,127

Statutory profit/(loss) before tax A$m 451 (733) 310 628 573

Operating profit before tax2 A$m 417 381 501 545 473

Statutory profit/(loss) after tax A$m 346 (654) 254 498 415

Operating profit after tax2 A$m 324 308 436 446 354

Operating EBITDA2 A$m 483 412 517 551 527

Earnings per security on statutory profit/(loss)3 cents 69.5 (151.1) 63.4 124.3 104.0

Earnings per security on operating profit2,3 cents 65.1 71.1 108.7 111.4 88.7

Statutory profit/(loss) after tax to security holders’ equity 
for the period (ROE)4 % 12.6 (24.4) 8.2 15.7 14.7

Distribution per security5 cents 32.1 41.0 77.0 77.0 61.0

Distribution payout ratio on operating profit after tax2,5 % 50 61 71 69 69

Corporate Strength

Total assets A$m 11,371 8,319 8,550 9,336 8,166

Cash A$m 1,636 1,121 843 550 560

Borrowings A$m 1,447 1,125 929 1,076 846

Current assets A$m 4,171 4,106 4,085 4,514 3,379

Non current assets A$m 7,201 4,214 4,465 4,822 4,788

Current liabilities A$m 5,517 4,082 3,915 3,869 3,179

Non current liabilities A$m 2,465 1,790 1,653 2,224 1,976

Total equity A$m 3,389 2,447 2,981 3,243 3,011

Cash flows provided by operations A$m 228 382 269 357 660

Net asset backing per security A$ 5.99 5.35 7.43 8.09 7.53

Ratio of current assets to current liabilities6 times 0.76 1.01 1.04 1.17 1.06

Net debt to total tangible assets, less cash7 % n/a 2.9 4.1 9.8 8.7

Borrowings to total equity % 42.7 46.0 31.2 33.2 28.1

Borrowings to total equity plus borrowings % 29.9 31.5 23.8 24.9 21.9

Gross borrowings to total tangible assets8 % 15.1 16.9 14.5 15.7 15.6

Borrowings to total market capitalisation % 34.9 35.1 24.3 14.5 15.1

Securities on issue m 566 458 401 401 400

Number of security holders no. 55,492 52,684 51,632 49,051 50,179

Number of equivalent full-time employees no. 11,094 10,656 12,039 10,817 9,652

Security Holders’ Returns and Statistics

Proportion of securities on issue to top 20 security holders % 75.3 74.3 75.4 76.9 76.4

Security holdings relating to employees9 % 6.1 7.9 9.3 9.5 9.6

Total distributions declared A$m 161 187 309 309 244

Security price as at 30 June as quoted on the Australian 
Securities Exchange A$ 7.33 7.01 9.55 18.54 13.99

1 Comparative information reflects the results in Lend Lease Corporation Limited and its controlled entities prior to stapling of the Lend Lease Trust (LLT) in November 2009. 
Refer to Note 1 ‘Significant Accounting Policies’ of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

2 Operating profit excludes unrealised property investment revaluations of A$33.7 million before tax, A$22.0 million after tax (June 2009: A$325.7 million loss before tax, 
A$263.0 million loss after tax). June 2009 also excluded inventory carrying value adjustments of A$226.1 million before tax, A$188.3 million loss after tax, goodwill impairments 
A$252.9 million before/after tax, other carrying value adjustments A$233.0 million before tax, A$204.7 million loss after tax, savings implementation costs A$120.8 million 
(A$83.9 million after tax) and a net gain on closure of the Bovis UK pension scheme to future accrual A$44.3 million before tax (A$31.7 million after tax).

3 Calculated using the weighted average number of securities on issue including treasury securities. June 2009 has been adjusted by a factor of 1.02 in respect of new securities 
issued during March and April 2010 via a 5 for 22 single bookbuild accelerated renounceable entitlement offer at A$7.70 per new security.

4 Return on equity (ROE) is calculated on weighted average equity.
5 Distributions include interim and final distributions. June 2010 also includes dividend ‘in specie’ of Lend Lease Trust units of 0.1 cents per security.
6 June 2010 ratio includes resident and accommodation bond liabilities (A$1,995.8 million) recognised following the Primelife acquisition. These are required to be classified as 

current liabilities as any resident may depart within 12 months. The investment properties, property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets to which they relate, however, 
are required to be classified as non current.

7 The June 2010 ratio is not relevant as the Group is in a net cash position.
8 Gross borrowings includes A$169.6 million of financial liabilities.
9 Securities held through employee benefit vehicles.

 Lend Lease Group 117



  

Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Income Statement  119

Statement of Comprehensive Income  120

Statement of Financial Position  121

Statement of Changes in Equity  122

Statement of Cash Flows  124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  125

1. Significant Accounting Policies  125

2. Revenue  135

3. Other Income  135

4. Finance Costs  135

5. Other Operating (Income) and Expenses  136

6. Taxation  137

7. Distributions  140

8. Earnings Per Share/Stapled Security  140

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents  141

10. Loans and Receivables   141

11. Inventories   142

12. Equity Accounted Investments  142

13. Investment Properties  145

14. Other Financial Assets  146

15. Property, Plant and Equipment  146

16. Intangible Assets  147

17. Defined Benefit Plan Asset  150

18. Trade and Other Payables  152

19. Resident and Accommodation Bond Liabilities  152

20. Borrowings and Financing Arrangements  153

21. Provisions  154

22. Other Financial Liabilities  155

23. Defined Benefit Plan Liability  155

24. Issued Capital and Treasury Securities  157

25. Reserves  158

26. Contingent Liabilities  158

27. Consolidated Entities  159

28. Segment Reporting  163

29. Capital Risk Management  165

30.  International Currency Management  
and Financial Instruments  165

31. Commitments  171

32. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows  172

33. Employee Benefits  173

34. Key Management Personnel Disclosures  175

35.  Non Key Management Personnel  
Related Party Information  176

36. Parent Entity Disclosures  177

37. Events Subsequent to Balance Date  177

Directors’ Declaration  178

Contents

118 2010 Annual Report to Securityholders



     June 2010 June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

Revenue 
Revenue from the sale of development properties   2a 454.4 366.8

Revenue from the provision of services   2b 9,904.8 14,159.0

Finance revenue   2c 68.5 102.1

Other revenue   2d 142.3 157.1

Total revenue     10,570.0 14,785.0

Other Income   3 149.6 57.6

Expenses 
Retail activities    (47.8) (221.3)

Communities activities:

 Cost of properties sold    (362.6) (581.4)

 Other expenses    (341.1) (552.3)

Public Private Partnerships (PPP) activities:

 Cost of inventories sold    (900.4) (1,357.3)

 Other expenses    (96.2) (80.2)

Investment Management activities    (35.3) (69.4)

Project Management, Design and Construction activities:

 Cost of inventories sold    (8,072.1) (11,805.2)

 Other expenses    (359.7) (462.9)

Corporate and administrative activities     (128.9) (185.0)

Finance costs   4 (94.1) (100.2)

Total expenses     (10,438.2) (15,415.2)

Profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments   12 169.4 (160.5)

Profit/(loss) before tax    450.8 (733.1)

Income tax (expense)/benefit   6a (102.6) 67.2

Profit/(loss) after tax     348.2 (665.9)

Profit/(loss) after tax attributable to:

 Members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited    345.6 (653.6)

 Non-controlling interests attributable to unit holders of Lend Lease Trust   – –

Profit/(loss) after tax attributable to security holders    345.6 (653.6)

 Other non-controlling interests    2.6 (12.3)

Profit/(loss) after tax    348.2 (665.9)

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Lend Lease Corporation Limited Share

Earnings per share excluding treasury shares  (cents) 8 72.9 (161.4)

Earnings per share on issue  (cents) 8 69.5 (151.1)

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Income Statement
Year ended 30 June 2010
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Profit/(Loss) After Tax    348.2 (665.9)

Other Comprehensive Income (Net of Tax)

Movements in Fair Value Revaluation Reserve

Revaluation gain/(loss)    6.7 (36.7)

Revaluation gain transferred to the income statement on asset disposal    (17.0) 

Revaluation loss on asset impairment transferred to the income statement    4.0 

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements    (0.4) 0.1

Movements in Hedging Reserve

Effective cash flow hedges attributable to equity accounted investments    (43.4) (54.9)

Other effective cash flow hedges     0.7

Transfer of ineffective cash flow hedge movement to the income statement    (1.1) 

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements    8.3 2.9

Movements in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Foreign currency translation differences attributable to foreign operations    (56.3) 126.1

Foreign currency translation differences transferred to the income statement on return of capital  1.5 0.2

Movements in Non-controlling Interest Acquisition Reserve

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    10.1 (13.3)

Other Movements    (2.5) 

Other comprehensive income    (90.1) 25.1

Total comprehensive income after tax    258.1 (640.8)

Total comprehensive income after tax attributable to:

 Members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited    252.2 (628.6)

 Non-controlling interests attributable to unit holders of Lend Lease Trust   – –

Total comprehensive income after tax attributable to security holders    252.2 (628.6)

 Other non-controlling interests    5.9 (12.2)

Total comprehensive income after tax    258.1 (640.8)

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 30 June 2010 

Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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     June 2010  June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents   9 1,635.9 1,120.8

Loans and receivables    10 1,769.7 2,265.0

Inventories    11 587.8 564.9

Current tax assets   6b 9.8 

Other financial assets   14 91.4 87.2

Other assets    76.0 67.8

Total current assets    4,170.6 4,105.7

Non Current Assets
Deferred tax assets   6d 95.7 209.2

Loans and receivables   10 369.9 495.1

Inventories   11 1,576.0 1,201.2

Equity accounted investments   12 913.9 1,059.4

Investment properties   13 2,820.9 147.7

Other financial assets   14 273.7 384.4

Property, plant and equipment   15 352.7 130.1

Intangible assets   16 694.1 526.0

Defined benefit plan asset   17 27.3 30.0

Other assets    76.3 30.6

Total non current assets    7,200.5 4,213.7

Total assets    11,371.1 8,319.4

Current Liabilities
Current tax liabilities   6b  27.7

Trade and other payables   18 3,271.3 3,797.4

Resident and accommodation bond liabilities   19 1,995.8 

Provisions   21 198.8 227.2

Other financial liabilities   22 51.5 29.8

Total current liabilities    5,517.4 4,082.1

Non Current Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities   6d 59.6 156.3

Trade and other payables   18 709.5 221.4

Borrowings and financing arrangements   20 1,446.6 1,125.0

Provisions   21 84.1 50.0

Other financial liabilities   22 146.9 191.6

Defined benefit plan liability   23 18.0 45.7

Total non current liabilities    2,464.7 1,790.0

Total liabilities    7,982.1 5,872.1

Net assets    3,389.0 2,447.3

Equity
Issued capital   24 2,019.2 1,195.9

Treasury securities   24 (74.4) (63.2)

Reserves   25 (35.1) 34.3

Retained earnings    1,439.1 1,238.5

Total equity attributable to members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited   3,348.8 2,405.5

Non-controlling interests attributable to unit holders of Lend Lease Trust    0.6 

Total equity attributable to security holders    3,349.4 2,405.5

Other non-controlling interests    39.6 41.8

Total equity    3,389.0 2,447.3

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2010
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     June 2010 June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

Issued Capital and Treasury Securities

Issued Capital

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    1,195.9 854.7

Transactions with owners for the year

 Equity issue via institutional placement (net of transaction costs)    792.6 296.2

 Equity issue – other    0.3 0.2

 Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRP)    30.4 44.8

Closing balance at end of financial year   24 2,019.2 1,195.9

Treasury Securities

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    (63.2) (62.6)

Transactions with owners for the year

 Treasury securities acquired    (2.6) (14.8)

 Treasury securities vested    11.0 14.2

  Movement on allocated treasury securities recognised directly in retained  
earnings and equity compensation reserve    (19.6) 

Closing balance at end of financial year   24 (74.4) (63.2)

Total issued capital and treasury securities    1,944.8 1,132.7

Reserves

Fair Value Revaluation Reserve

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    44.5 81.1

Comprehensive income for the year

 Revaluation gain/(loss) taken to equity (net of tax)    6.7 (36.7)

 Revaluation gain transferred to the income statement on asset disposal (net of tax)   (17.0) 

 Revaluation loss on asset impairment transferred to the income statement   4.0 

 Effect of foreign exchange rate movements    (0.4) 0.1

Closing balance at end of financial year   25a 37.8 44.5

Hedging Reserve

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    (58.1) (6.8)

Comprehensive income for the year

  Movements relating to effective cash flow hedges attributable to equity  
accounted investments (net of tax)    (43.4) (54.9)

 Movements attributable to other effective cash flow hedges (net of tax)    0.7

 Transfer of ineffective cash flow hedge movement to the income statement   (1.1) 

 Effect of foreign exchange rate movements    8.3 2.9

Closing balance at end of financial year   25b (94.3) (58.1)

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    (25.7) (152.0)

Comprehensive income for the year

 Movements attributable to translation of foreign operations    (56.3) 126.1

 Transfer of foreign currency translation reserve to the income statement on return of capital  1.5 0.2

Closing balance at end of financial year   25c (80.5) (25.7)

Non-controlling Interest Acquisition Reserve

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    (121.0) (107.7)

Comprehensive income for the year

 Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    10.1 (13.3)

Closing balance at end of financial year   25d (110.9) (121.0)

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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     June 2010  June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

Other Reserve

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    104.6 104.6

Transactions with owners for the year

 Net proceeds from renounceable entitlement offer received by  
 Lend Lease sponsored employee security plans    7.1 

 Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (1.3) 

Closing balance at end of financial year   25e 110.4 104.6

Equity Compensation Reserve

Opening balance at beginning of financial year    35.6 33.6

Transactions with owners for the year

 Movements attributable to allocation and vesting of securities    12.4 2.0

Closing balance at end of financial year   25f 48.0 35.6

Other Compensation Reserve

Balance at beginning and end of financial year   25g 54.4 54.4

Total reserves    (35.1) 34.3

Retained Earnings
Opening balance at beginning of financial year    1,238.5 2,126.1

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited    345.6 (653.6)

Transactions with owners for the year

 Distributions paid    (135.5) (205.1)

 Distributions on treasury securities    8.4 16.8

 Distributions under DRP    (30.4) (44.8)

 Movement on allocated treasury securities recognised directly in retained earnings   15.0 (0.9)

Other      (2.5) 

Closing balance at end of financial year    1,439.1 1,238.5

Non-controlling Interests Attributable to Unit Holders of Lend Lease Trust (LLT)
Transactions with owners for the year

 Movements attributable to the stapling of LLT units to the Company shares   0.5 

 Security issue via institutional placement    0.1 

Closing balance at end of financial year    0.6 –

Other Non-controlling Interests
Opening balance at beginning of financial year    41.8 56.0

Profit/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests    2.6 (12.3)

Transactions with owners for the year

 Movements attributable to dividends/distributions received    (1.4) (1.8)

 Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (3.4) (0.1)

Closing balance at end of financial year    39.6 41.8

Total equity    3,389.0 2,447.3

Total Comprehensive Income After Tax for the Financial Year
Attributable to:

 Members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited    252.2 (628.6)

 Non-controlling interests attributable to unit holders of LLT    – –

Total comprehensive income after tax attributable to securityholders    252.2 (628.6)

 Other non-controlling interests    5.9 (12.2)

Total comprehensive income after tax    258.1 (640.8)

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity continued
Year ended 30 June 2010
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     June 2010  June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash receipts in the course of operations    10,677.0 14,457.1

Cash payments in the course of operations    (10,485.0) (14,077.0)

Property development receipts    504.4 505.8

Property development expenditure    (491.7) (494.1)

Interest received    46.3 66.8

Interest paid    (80.1) (96.4)

Dividends/distributions received    139.2 107.4

Income tax paid in respect of operations    (82.1) (87.4)

Net cash provided by operating activities   32 228.0 382.2

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Sale/redemption of investments    374.3 112.9

Acquisition of investments     (256.0) (381.1)

Acquisition of/capital expenditure on investment properties    (46.8) (0.7)

Other payments    (103.7) (43.2)

Net loans to related parties    (21.7) (110.7)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest     (1.0)

Acquisition of consolidated entities (net of cash acquired)   27b (171.9) (0.2)

Disposal of consolidated entities (net of cash disposed)   27c  10.1

Disposal of property, plant and equipment    3.4 2.0

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment    (15.8) (35.3)

Acquisition of intangible assets    (71.7) (26.7)

Net cash used in investing activities    (309.9) (473.9)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net proceeds from equity issue    789.1 296.2

Proceeds from borrowings    566.7 248.1

Repayment of borrowings    (577.2) 

Distributions paid    (126.1) (188.3)

Net cash provided by financing activities    652.5 356.0

Other Cash Flow Items
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents    (55.5) 13.7

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    515.1 278.0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year    1,120.8 842.8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year   9 1,635.9 1,120.8

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 30 June 2010

Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Significant Accounting Policies
Lend Lease Corporation Limited (‘the Company’) is domiciled in 
Australia. The consolidated financial report of the Company for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2010 comprises the Company 
and its controlled entities including Lend Lease Trust (‘LLT’) 
(together referred to as the ‘consolidated entity’ or the ‘Group’).
Following shareholder approval on 12 November 2009, the shares 
of the Company and the units in LLT were combined as stapled 
securities. From 13 November 2009 the shares in the Company 
and units in LLT have been traded as one security under the 
name of Lend Lease Group on the Australian Securities Exchange 
(‘ASX’)	and	the	New	Zealand	Stock	Exchange	(‘NZX’).	LLT	was	
100% owned by the Company prior to approval of the stapling 
proposal. Units in LLT were subsequently distributed to Lend 
Lease Corporation Limited shareholders as an ‘in specie’ dividend. 
The Company is deemed to control LLT for accounting purposes 
and therefore LLT is consolidated into the Group’s financial 
report. The issued units of LLT, however, are not owned by the 
Company and are therefore presented as non-controlling interests 
in the consolidated entity statement of financial position within 
equity, notwithstanding that the unitholders of LLT are also the 
shareholders of the Company.
The consolidated financial report was authorised for issue by the 
Directors on 16 August 2010.

1.1 Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial 
report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (‘AASBs’), and Interpretations, adopted by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations 
Act 2001. The consolidated financial report of the Group also 
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), 
and Interpretations, adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

1.2 Basis of Preparation
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and is 
prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following 
assets and liabilities, which are stated at their fair value: derivative 
financial instruments, fair value through profit or loss investments, 
available for sale investments, investment property, resident 
liabilities and liabilities for cash settled share based compensation 
plans. Recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged are stated 
at fair value in respect of the risk that is hedged. Refer to the 
specific accounting policies in Note 1 for the basis of valuation 
of assets and liabilities measured at fair value.
The preparation of a financial report that complies with 
AASBs requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
These estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Information about critical accounting judgements in applying 
the Group’s accounting policies is set out in Note 1.30.
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently 
applied to all financial years presented in the consolidated 
financial statements and by all entities in the consolidated entity, 
except as explained in Note 1.3 which addresses changes in 
accounting policies. Certain comparative amounts have been 
reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Presentation of Financial Statements
The Group has applied revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (September 2007), AASB 2007-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101 and 
AASB 2007-10 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 101 which became effective 
1 January 2009. These standards introduce the statement of 
comprehensive income and make changes to the statement 
of changes in equity. They are only concerned with disclosure 
in the financial report and their application does not affect the 
financial results of the Group.
As a result of amendments to the Corporations Act 2001 arising 
from the Corporations Amendment (Corporate Reporting Reform) 
Bill 2010, effective 28 June 2010, full financial disclosures relating 
to the Group’s parent entity, Lend Lease Corporation Limited, 
are no longer required to be presented within the Group’s 
consolidated financial report. Summarised information relating 
to Lend Lease Corporation Limited’s results and financial position 
is set out in Note 36 ‘Parent Entity Disclosures’.

Basis of Consolidation
The Group consolidation comprises all entities controlled by 
the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, 
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable 
or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements 
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases.
The Group invests in special purpose entities (‘SPE’) for 
trading and investment purposes. The SPE are consolidated if 
the substance of the relationship with the Group is such that 
the Group controls the SPE. The Group will also consolidate the 
SPE if the Group is expected to obtain the majority of the benefits 
and/or is exposed to the majority of the residual risks of the SPE 
or its net assets.
Intragroup balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains 
or losses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Investments 
in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition in the 
Company’s financial statements. The Company sponsors a 
number of employee benefit vehicles, including employee share 
plans. Under AASBs, these vehicles, while not legally controlled, 
are required to be consolidated for accounting purposes.

1.3 Impact of Acquisition and New/Revised 
Accounting Standards
Acquisition of Primelife
Following Court approval on 15 December 2009, Lend Lease 
acquired 100% of Lend Lease Primelife Group (‘Primelife’). Refer 
to Note 27b ‘Consolidated Entities – Acquisitions’ for further 
details. The significant additional accounting policies impacting 
the Group during the year as a result of this acquisition are 
as follows:
– Revenue from the Provision of Services. Refer Note 1.4.
– Deferred Management Fees Receivable. Refer Note 1.11.
– Accommodation Bond Retentions Receivable. Refer 

Note 1.11.
– Approved Provider Aged Care Places (Bed Licences). 

Refer Note 1.16.
– Resident and Accommodation Bond Liabilities. Refer 

Note 1.19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Significant Accounting Policies continued
1.3 Impact of Acquisition and New/Revised Accounting 
Standards continued
New and Revised Accounting Standards
As a result of new and revised accounting standards which 
became operative for the annual reporting period commencing 
1 July 2009, the following represents those standards which have 
materially impacted the Lend Lease Group and its policies:
– Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs and AASB 2007-6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 123 have been applied prospectively from 
1 July 2009. These standards remove the option to 
expense borrowing costs and require borrowing costs, 
both general and specific, directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
to be capitalised. Previously, general borrowing costs had 
been expensed when incurred. There was no impact to the 
Group on the adoption of the standards for the year ended 
30 June 2010. 

– AASB 140 Investment Property has been amended by 
AASB 2008-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Process 
to include properties that are under construction or land 
held for/under development for future use as investment 
properties. These investment properties are to be 
measured at fair value unless fair value cannot yet be 
reliably determined. This is different from previous periods, 
where properties under construction were accounted for 
at cost, less any accumulated impairment, and presented 
under property, plant and equipment until completion of 
construction. The Group has used the fair value model to 
account for its investment properties, including investment 
property under construction. The amendment has been 
applied prospectively from 1 July 2009. The adoption of 
the standard for the year ended 30 June 2010 impacted 
the following areas:

 –  ‘Communities activities – Other expenses’: 
A$2.0	million	increase;	and

 –  Investment property: A$9.3 million increase.
 The decrease in the basic and diluted earnings per share was 

0.4 cents for shares excluding treasury shares and 0.4 cents 
for shares on issue for the year ended 30 June 2010.

– AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2007-3 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 8 have been applied retrospectively from 
1 July 2009. AASB 8 requires a ‘management approach’ 
under which segment information is presented on the same 
basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. Operating 
segments are now reported in a manner that is consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker, who has been identified as the Managing 
Director. The changes implemented are only concerned 
with disclosure in the financial report as set out in Note 28 
‘Segment Reporting’. There has been no impact on the 
financial results or measurement of assets and liabilities 
for the year ended 30 June 2010.

– Revised AASB 3 Business Combinations and AASB 2008-3 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127 have been applied 
prospectively from 1 July 2009. These standards change 
the application of acquisition accounting for business 
combinations and the accounting for non-controlling 
(minority) interests. The significant changes are:

 –  All payments to purchase a business are now recorded 
at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent 
payments classified as a liability and subsequently 
remeasured through the income statement. Under the 
Group’s previous policy, contingent payments were 
recognised only when the payments were probable 
and could be measured reliably, and were accounted 
for as an adjustment to the cost of acquisition.

 –  Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Previously, they were recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition and therefore included in the 
goodwill assessment.

 –   Non-controlling interests in an acquiree are now 
recognised either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
assets. This decision is made on an acquisition by 
acquisition basis. Under the previous policy, the 
non-controlling interest was always recognised at 
its share of the acquiree’s net assets.

 These standards were applied for the year ended 
30 June 2010 to the acquisition of Primelife and impacted 
the following areas:

 –   ‘Communities activities – Other expenses’: 
A$5.0 million increase.

 The decrease in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
was 1.1 cents for shares excluding treasury shares 
and 1.0 cents for shares on issue for the year ended 
30 June 2010.

– The Group has adopted for the first time AASB Interpretation 
15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate from 
1 July 2009. AASB Interpretation 15 clarifies whether 
AASB 118 Revenue or AASB 111 Construction Contracts 
should be applied to particular transactions. The Group has 
reviewed its current agreements for the sale of real estate 
based on the new guidance and has concluded that there 
is no material impact on the Group’s financial results for 
the year ended 30 June 2010.

– AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Improving Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments. AASB 2009-2 has been applied 
from 1 July 2009. The standard is prospective and 
has resulted in additional disclosures on the fair value 
measurement of financial instruments, including disclosure 
within a three-level hierarchy as set out in Note 30e.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations Not 
Yet Adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been 
published that are not mandatory for the financial year ended 
30 June 2010 but are available for early adoption. The Group 
has not applied the following standards in preparing this financial 
report. The assessment of the new standards and interpretations 
relevant to the Group is set out below:
– AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 will become mandatory for the June 2014 
financial year and are to be applied retrospectively. These 
standards address the classification and measurement of 
financial assets. Financial assets will be classified into those 
to be carried at amortised cost and those to be carried at 
fair value. The potential effect of AASB 9 and AASB 2009-11 
on the Group’s financial statement is yet to be determined.

– Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and AASB 
2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
will become mandatory for the 30 June 2012 financial 
year. These standards clarify the intended meaning of the 
definition of a related party and are not expected to have 
a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.
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– AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Process 
will become mandatory for the 30 June 2011 financial year. 
The amendments affect various AASBs resulting in minor 
changes for presentation, disclosure, recognition and 
measurement purposes, and are not expected to have 
a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

– AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Rights Issues will become 
mandatory for the 30 June 2011 financial year. The 
amendment addresses the accounting for rights issues 
that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the issuer and is not expected to have any 
material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

– AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Interpretation of a 
Minimum Funding Requirement will become mandatory for 
the 30 June 2012 financial year. The amendments remove 
an unintended consequence of the interpretation related to 
voluntary prepayments when there is a minimum funding 
requirement. AASB 2009-14 is not expected to have any 
material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

– AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities 
with Equity Instruments will become mandatory for the 
June 2011 financial year. The interpretation clarifies the 
accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of 
a financial liability resulting in the entity issuing equity 
instruments to extinguish all or part of a liability. The 
interpretation is not expected to have any material effect 
on the Group’s financial statements.

1.4 Revenue, Other Income and Profits
Revenue and Profits from the Sale of Development 
Properties
Revenue and profits from the sale of development properties 
are recognised in the income statement when:
– The significant risks and rewards have been transferred 

to	the	buyer;
– The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement 

to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 
effective	control	over	the	development	properties	sold;

– The revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable 
that	the	Group	will	receive	the	consideration	due;	and

– The Group can measure reliably the costs incurred or 
to be incurred.

Revenue from the Provision of Services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in the 
income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the 
transactions at the balance sheet date.
For property construction: the value of work performed using the 
percentage complete method, which is measured by reference 
to actual costs to date as a percentage of total forecast costs for 
each contract.
For property and funds management: property development and 
management fee entitlements for services rendered. 
For aged care and retirement living: 
– Deferred Management Fees (DMF):
  DMF are earned in the retirement village business from 

both owned facilities and those which are managed for 
third parties. A typical DMF contract provides for an annual 
retainer for a fixed period (e.g. 3% per annum of purchase or 
resale price for a period up to 12 years, or 36% in total) plus 
a share of the capital gain realised on turnover. The resulting 
DMF receivable is classified differently on balance sheet, 
between owned and managed retirement villages.

  For both owned retirement villages (Investment Property) 
and managed retirement villages, DMF income is recognised 
on an annual accrual basis based upon the expected term 
of the resident’s licence and estimates of capital growth 
since the resident first occupied the unit. The resulting 
DMF receivable is offset against the resident liabilities 
balance in current liabilities as they are net settled in the 
same future transaction.

 In relation to leased and managed retirement villages, the 
DMF income derived from these facilities is based on the 
individual resident contracts as described above. Revenue 
is calculated at its fair value on an annual accrual basis for 
each contract and is discounted to present value based 
upon the expected date of receipt. The resulting DMF 
receivable is recognised as a receivable split between 
current and non current assets based on the expected 
rate of resident turnover.

– Aged Care Revenue: 
 Aged Care revenue comprises daily resident living 

contributions, retention fees and government funding, which 
are all determined in accordance with Federal Government 
authorised rates. This revenue is recognised as the services 
are provided. The Group is entitled to charge an annual 
retention fee to hostel residents. These annual fees are 
regulated by the Federal Government and are paid by a 
resident on departure. These fees are accrued during the 
resident’s period of occupancy.

Dividends
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment 
is established, usually on declaration of the dividend.

Rental Income
Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a 
straight line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more appropriate. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

Net Gains or Losses on Sale of Investments
Net gains or losses on sale of investments are recognised when 
an unconditional contract is in place.

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using 
the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the 
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, 
being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original 
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding 
the discount as interest income.

1.5 Income Taxes
Income tax on the profit or loss for the financial year comprises 
current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for 
the financial year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous financial years.
Deferred tax is measured using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following 
temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition 
of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Measurement of deferred tax is 
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity or on different tax entities, but are intended to 
be settled on a net basis or be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available, against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies continued
1.5 Income Taxes continued
The Company is the head entity in the Australian Tax Consolidated 
Group comprising all the Australian wholly owned subsidiaries. 
The Company entered the Australian Tax Consolidation Regime 
effective 1 July 2002.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the 
Company also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits assumed from the Australian wholly owned subsidiaries 
of the Australian Tax Consolidated Group (after elimination of 
intragroup transactions).
The Australian Tax Consolidated Group has entered into a tax 
funding arrangement that requires wholly owned Australian 
subsidiaries to make contributions to the Company for tax 
liabilities and deferred tax balances arising from external 
transactions occurring after the implementation of tax 
consolidation. The contributions are broadly calculated as if 
each entity paid tax on a stand alone basis. 
The assets and liabilities arising under the Australian tax funding 
arrangement are recognised as intercompany assets and liabilities 
(at call) with a consequential adjustment to income tax expense/
revenue.

1.6 Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, investment 
properties (see Note 1.8), inventories (see Note 1.13) and deferred 
tax assets (see Note 1.5) are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life, the recoverable amount is estimated annually. An 
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an 
asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless 
an asset has been previously revalued through reserves.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the cash generating unit (or group of units) and then to 
reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit (or group of 
units) on a pro rata basis.

Calculation of Recoverable Amount
The recoverable amount of the Group’s investments in held 
to maturity securities and receivables is calculated as the 
present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate inherent in the asset. Cash 
flows relating to short term receivables are not discounted if 
the effect of discounting is immaterial (see Note 1.11 ‘Trade 
and Other Receivables’).
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the assets. For assets that do not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash 
generating unit to which each asset belongs.

Reversals of Impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a held to maturity security or 
receivable is reversed if a subsequent increase in the recoverable 
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In 
respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when 
there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist 
and there has been a change in estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed (other than goodwill) only to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

1.7 Investments
The Group classifies its investments in debt and equity securities 
in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, 
and available for sale financial assets. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
This category has two subcategories: financial assets held for 
trading, and financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term 
(held for trading) or if so designated by management either to 
eliminate a measurement or recognition inconsistency, or where 
a group of financial assets is managed, and its performance is 
evaluated, on a fair value basis (at inception). Derivatives are also 
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as 
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets 
if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods 
or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading 
the receivable. They are included in current assets, except 
for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date which are included in non current assets. 

Held to Maturity Investments
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 
Group’s management has the positive intent and ability to hold 
to maturity. 

Available for Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivatives that 
are either designated in this category or not classified in any 
other category. They are included in non current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the balance sheet date.

Recognition and Measurement Criteria
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date – 
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or 
loss. Investments are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the investments have expired or been transferred and 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. Available for sale financial assets and financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Loans and receivables and held to maturity investments are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category 
are included in the income statement in the financial year in which 
they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of non-monetary securities classified as available for sale 
are recognised in equity. When securities classified as available for 
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
are included in the income statement as gains or losses from 
investment securities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

128 2010 Annual Report to Securityholders



The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid 
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using 
valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially 
the same, and discounted cash flow analysis. Refer to Note 30e 
‘Fair	Values	of	Financial	Assets	and	Liabilities’	for	a	summary	of	
the basis of valuation of investments measured at fair value.
At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as 
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered in determining 
whether the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists 
for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – 
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity 
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses 
recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are 
not reversed through the income statement.

1.8 Investment Properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value based on periodic, 
but at least triennial, valuations by qualified external independent 
valuers. It is the policy of the Group to review the fair value of 
each property every six months. Fair value is based on current 
prices in an active market for similar properties in the same 
location and condition. If this information is not available, the 
Group uses alternative calculation methods such as discounted 
cash flow projections, recent prices on less active markets or 
capitalised income projections. Capitalised income projections 
are based on a perpetuity of net operating income and deferred 
management fees using a capitalisation rate derived from market 
evidence. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is 
recognised in the income statement. Rental income and deferred 
management fees from investment properties are accounted for 
as described in Note 1.4 ‘Revenue, Other Income and Profits’.
Senior Living Investment Property, principally comprising 
retirement villages (both operating villages and villages under 
development) is held for long term income yields and is not 
occupied by the Group. The Group makes a determination, on 
a property by property basis, as to whether a property should 
be considered an investment property. Factors taken into account 
include whether the property generates property related cash 
flows largely independent of other services provided to residents 
of	the	properties;	whether	the	property	is	held	for	long	term	
capital appreciation rather that for short term sale in the ordinary 
course	of	business;	and	the	probable	future	use	of	land	that	is	
not currently generating cash flows.
When an item of owner occupied property, plant and equipment 
(see Note 1.14 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’) becomes an 
investment property following a change in its use, any difference 
arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of 
the item and its fair value is recognised directly in equity if it is a 
gain. Upon disposal of the item, the gain is transferred to retained 
earnings. Any loss is recognised immediately in the income 
statement.
When an item of self constructed property, plant and equipment 
becomes an investment property following a change in its use, 
any difference between the fair value of the property at that date 
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the income 
statement.
Expenses capitalised to properties may include the cost of 
acquisition, additions, refurbishments, redevelopments, borrowing 
costs and fees incurred. 

1.9 Equity Accounted Investments (Associates and 
Joint Venture Entities)
Investments in associates and joint venture entities are accounted 
for using the equity method. Associates (including partnerships) 
are entities in which the Group, as a result of its voting rights, has 
significant influence, but not control, over financial and operating 
policies. A joint venture entity is an entity which has a contractual 
arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic 
activity which is subject to joint control.
The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share 
of the total recognised gains and losses of associates and joint 
venture entities on an equity accounted basis. For associates, this 
is from the date that significant influence commences until the 
date that significant influence ceases, and for joint venture entities, 
this is from the date joint control commences until the date joint 
control ceases. Other movements in associates’ and joint venture 
entities’ reserves are recognised directly in consolidated reserves.
Investments in associates and joint venture entities are carried 
at the lower of the equity accounted carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds 
the carrying amount of the equity accounted investment (including 
assets that form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture entity), the carrying amount is reduced to nil and 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent 
that the Group has incurred obligations in respect of the associate 
or joint venture entity.
Dividends from associates and joint venture entities represent a 
return on the Group’s investment and as such are applied as a 
reduction to the carrying value of the investment. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted 
investments are eliminated against the investment in the associate 
or joint venture entity to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence 
of impairment.

Venture Capital Exemption
Investments	held	by	Lend	Lease	Ventures’	investment	portfolio	
are carried at fair value even though the Group may have 
significant influence or joint control over those entities. This 
accounting is permitted by AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures which require 
investments held by venture capital organisations to be excluded 
from their scope when those investments are designated as at 
‘fair value through profit or loss’ from inception. 
The	investments	made	by	Lend	Lease	Ventures	are	considered	to	
be venture capital in nature due to management of the investments 
on a portfolio basis and are unrelated to the Group’s key business 
activities. The application of this exemption is assessed on each 
investment	made	by	Lend	Lease	Ventures.	Refer	to	Note	1.7	
‘Investments’ for an analysis of recognition and measurement 
criteria of investments classified and measured at ‘fair value 
through profit or loss’.

1.10 Joint Venture Operations
A joint venture operation is a joint venture that is not in the form 
of an entity. The Group’s interest in an unincorporated joint venture 
is brought to account by including its interest in the following 
amounts in the appropriate categories in the balance sheet and 
income statement:
–	 Each	of	the	individual	assets	employed	in	the	joint	venture;
– Liabilities incurred by the consolidated entity in relation to 

the joint venture and the liabilities for which it is jointly and/or 
severally	liable;

–	 Expenses	incurred	in	relation	to	the	joint	venture;	and
– Revenue earned in relation to the joint venture.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies continued
1.11 Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. Cash flows relating 
to short term receivables are not discounted if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and its fair value, which is estimated 
as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the effective interest rate where relevant. The amount of the 
provision is recognised in the income statement.

Deferred Management Fees Receivable
Deferred management fees receivable represent amounts owed 
to the Group in connection with resident occupancy at retirement 
villages subject to long term management agreements. Deferred 
management fees receivable are calculated in accordance with 
resident contracts, refer to Note 1.4 ‘Revenue, Other Income 
and Profits’.

Accommodation Bond Retentions Receivable
Accommodation bond retentions receivable represent amounts 
owed to the Group in connection with resident occupancy at aged 
care facilities or nursing homes, and are calculated in accordance 
with resident contracts.

1.12 Pre Contract and Project Bidding Costs
The Group expenses all pre contract and project bidding costs, 
unless there is a high degree of certainty that a contract will be 
entered into (at least preferred bidder status) and that the costs 
will be fully recoverable from contract revenues. Costs previously 
expensed are not subsequently reinstated when a contract award 
is achieved.

1.13 Inventories
Property Held for Sale
Property acquired for development and sale in the ordinary 
course of business is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses. The cost of property held for 
sale is based on the weighted average principle and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing 
them to their existing location and condition, including borrowing 
costs incurred. Property expected to be sold within 12 months 
of the end of the financial year is classified as current inventory.
The recoverable amount of each holding is assessed at each 
balance date and a provision for diminution in value is raised by 
the Directors where cost (including costs to complete) exceeds 
net realisable value. In determining the recoverable amount, the 
Directors have regard to independent valuations obtained in 
accordance with Note 1.8 ‘Investment Properties’, the market 
conditions affecting each property and the underlying strategy 
for selling the property.

Construction and Development Work in Progress
The gross amount of construction and development work in 
progress consists of costs attributable to work performed together 
with emerging profit and after providing for any foreseeable losses.

1.14 Property, Plant and Equipment
Owned Assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or 
deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses (see Note 1.6 ‘Impairment’). The cost of self constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of production overheads.
Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises 
components having different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items of property, plant and equipment. The residual 
value, useful life and depreciation method applied to an asset are 
reassessed at least annually.

Leased Assets
Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Plant and equipment acquired by way of finance lease are 
stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of 
the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
(see Note 1.6 ‘Impairment’).
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards 
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases.

Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the income statement during the financial year in which they 
are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant 
and equipment, and major components that are accounted for 
separately. Amortisation is provided on leasehold improvements 
over the remaining term of the lease. Most plant is depreciated 
over a period not exceeding 10 years, furniture and fittings over 
15 years, motor vehicles over eight years and computer equipment 
over three years. Land is not depreciated.

1.15 IT Software Systems
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis 
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful 
lives (three to five years).
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Costs directly associated with producing identifiable and unique 
software products that will generate economic benefits exceeding 
costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Direct 
costs include software development, employee costs and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are 
amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to five years).

1.16 Intangible Assets 
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets 
and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary/associate at 
the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is 
included in intangible assets as goodwill. Goodwill on acquisitions 
of associates is included in the carrying value of investments 
in associates. 
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Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised. 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
cash generating units (or groups of cash generating units) that 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combinations, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Approved Provider Aged Care Places (Bed Licences)
Bed licences held by the Group include owned and managed 
bed licences. Of the owned bed licences, only those acquired 
from third parties are recognised on balance sheet and are 
initially recorded at cost. All owned bed licences are assessed 
as having an indefinite useful life as these licences are issued for 
an unlimited period and therefore are not subject to amortisation 
but tested annually for impairment (at the same time every year) 
in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. These 
licences are issued by the Federal Government to approved 
providers and can also be purchased from third parties or 
managed on their behalf as approved by the Federal Government. 
Holders of bed licences receive Federal Government funding in 
accordance with predetermined rates. Managed bed licences 
which revert to aged care facility owners on expiration of 
long term leasehold/management agreements have a finite life and 
are amortised over the term of the agreements, generally 20 years.

Management Agreements and Other Intangible Assets
Management agreements and other intangible assets acquired by 
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses (see Note 1.6 ‘Impairment’). Amortisation is 
charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the intangible assets, ranging from three 
to 20 years. The recoverable amount of management agreements 
and other intangible assets is assessed at least annually using 
independent valuations or alternative calculation methods, such 
as discounted cash flow projections. 

1.17 Employee Benefits
Superannuation/Pension Obligations
Group companies operate various superannuation and pension 
schemes. The schemes are generally funded through payments 
to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds, 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Group has both 
defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit 
plan is a pension plan that defines the amount of pension benefit 
an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one 
or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the 
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
The asset and liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect 
of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of 
plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial 
gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined 
by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest 
rates of high quality corporate or government bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, 
and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the 
related pension liability.
In calculating the consolidated entity’s obligation in respect of 
a plan, to the extent that any cumulative unrecognised actuarial 
gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets, that 
portion is recognised in the income statement over the expected 
average remaining working lives of the employees participating in 
the plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not recognised in 
the income statement, it is recognised in the balance sheet against 
the defined benefit plan asset or liability.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in the income 
statement, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional 
on the employees remaining in service for a specified period 
of time (the vesting period). In this case, past service costs are 
amortised on a straight line basis over the vesting period.
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions 
to publicly or privately administered superannuation/pension 
insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary 
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised 
as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Current Employee Entitlements
The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries, 
annual leave and sick leave represent present obligations resulting 
from employees’ services provided up to the balance date, 
calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage 
and salary rates that the Group expects to pay at each balance 
date, including related on-costs. Non accumulating non-monetary 
benefits, such as medical care, housing, cars and free or 
subsidised goods and services, are expensed based on the net 
marginal cost to the consolidated entity as the benefits are taken 
by the employees.

Non Current Employee Entitlements
The provision for employee entitlements to long service leave 
represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows 
to be made resulting from employees’ services provided up to 
balance date. Consideration is given to expected future increases 
in wage and salary rates, including related on-costs and expected 
settlement dates based on turnover history.

Share Based Compensation
The Group operates cash settled and equity settled share based 
compensation plans that are referable to Lend Lease’s share price. 
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for 
the grant is recognised as an expense and a corresponding liability 
(if cash settled) or a corresponding increase in equity (if equity 
settled). The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period 
is determined by reference to the fair value of the services granted. 
At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the 
entitlement due. It recognises the impact of revision of original 
estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding 
adjustment to a liability (in the case of cash settled) or equity 
(in the case of equity settled) over the remaining vesting period. 
Changes in entitlement for equity settled plans are not recognised 
if they fail to vest due to market conditions not being met.

Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as 
a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance date are 
discounted to present value.

Profit Sharing and Bonus Plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and 
profit sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration 
the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain 
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision when contractually 
obliged or when there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies continued
1.18 Trade and Other Payables
Trade Creditors
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods or services received, whether or not billed to the Group. 
Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days. Trade 
and other payables are stated at amortised cost or cost when the 
impact of discounting would be immaterial.

Insurance Claims
A liability for outstanding claims is recognised in respect of 
Lend Lease’s wholly owned special purpose captive insurance 
subsidiary. The liability covers claims incurred but not yet paid, 
claims incurred but not reported and the anticipated direct and 
indirect costs of settling those claims. The liability for outstanding 
claims is measured at the present value of the expected future 
payments, reflecting the fact that all the claims do not have to be 
paid out in the immediate future. The discount rates used are risk 
free rates.

Financial Guarantee Contracts
Financial guarantee contracts, including the Company guarantees 
of Group entities’ borrowings, are recognised when issued as 
a financial liability. The liability is measured initially at fair value 
and subsequently at the higher of the best estimate to settle the 
obligation (see Note 1.23 ‘Provisions’) and the initial fair value 
less accumulated amortisation. Fair value is determined using 
a probability weighted discounted cash flow approach.

1.19 Resident and Accommodation Bond Liabilities
Resident Liabilities
This represents an amount paid by residents to occupy 
apartments and units classified as investment property. Resident 
liabilities are measured at face value, representing the principal 
amount plus the resident’s share of capital gains based on market 
values of the underlying property at balance date, less deferred 
management fees.
Resident liabilities are non interest bearing and are classified 
as current liabilities because any resident may depart within 
12 months, notwithstanding that history has shown that residents 
stay for an average period of 11 years in independent living units 
(ILUs) and five years in serviced apartments.

Accommodation Bonds
Accommodation bonds are paid typically by residents of low 
care aged care beds. Accommodation bonds are recognised at 
an amount equal to the proceeds received and are non interest 
bearing liabilities. Accommodation bonds are also classified as 
current liabilities because they are repayable following departure 
of the resident from the facility, notwithstanding that history has 
shown that residents stay for an average period of four years.

1.20 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised 
cost and any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the balance date.

1.21 Foreign Currency Translation
Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial report is presented in 
Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year 
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, 
except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges 
and qualifying net investment hedges in foreign operations.
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities 
held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the 
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 
items, such as equities classified as available for sale financial 
assets, are included in the fair value revaluation reserve in equity.

Group Companies
The results and balance sheet of all Group entities (none of which 
has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency 
(A$) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
– Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 

are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance 
sheet;

– Income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect 
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which 
case income and expenses are translated at the dates 
of	the	transactions);	and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised as 
a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of 
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges 
of such investments, are taken to the foreign currency translation 
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange 
differences are recognised in the income statement as part 
of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from 
operating, financing and investing activities. Derivative financial 
instruments are recognised initially at fair value on the date a 
derivative contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured 
at fair value. Recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends 
on the nature of the item being hedged.
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is their value 
at the current quoted forward price at the balance sheet date. 
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1.22 Derivative Financial Instruments and 
Hedging Activities
Fair Value Hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in the income 
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash Flow Hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised 
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the income statement.
Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the income 
statement when the hedged item will affect profit or loss (for 
instance, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). 
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results 
in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory) 
or a liability, the gains or losses previously deferred in equity are 
transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement 
of the cost of the asset or liability.
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative 
gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised 
in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported 
in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.
The fair value of interest rate derivatives is the estimated amount 
the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and 
the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

Net Investment Hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted 
for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is 
recognised	in	equity;	the	gain	or	loss	relating	to	the	ineffective	
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. 
Gains or losses accumulated in equity are included in the 
income statement on disposal of the foreign operation.

Held for Trading Derivatives
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting 
or hedge accounting treatment is not sought. These instruments 
are classed as held for trading and changes in their fair value are 
recognised immediately in the income statement.

1.23 Provisions
A provision is recognised on the balance sheet when the Group 
has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability.
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group 
has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 
restructuring has either commenced or has been announced 
publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the 
expected benefits to be derived from a contract by the Group 
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 
under the contract.

1.24 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs include interest, amortisation of discounts or 
premiums relating to borrowings, amortisation of ancillary costs 
incurred in connection with arrangement of new borrowings 
facilities and foreign exchange differences net of hedged amounts 
on borrowings.
Ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement 
of borrowings are capitalised and amortised over the life of 
the borrowings.
Borrowing costs are expensed immediately as incurred 
unless they relate to qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are 
assets that take more than six months to prepare for their 
intended use or sale. 

1.25 Earnings Per Security (EPS)
The Group presents basic and diluted EPS in the income statement.
Basic EPS is determined by dividing profit/(loss) after income tax 
attributable to members of the Company, excluding any costs 
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the financial year.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit/(loss) after 
tax attributable to members of the Company and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
The issued units of LLT are presented as a non-controlling interest, 
and therefore the profit attributable to LLT is excluded from the 
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per Company share 
presented in the income statement. A basic and diluted earnings 
per stapled security is disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Report.

1.26 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with banks, bank overdrafts and other short term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Bank overdrafts (if applicable) are shown as a current liability 
on the balance sheet and are shown as a reduction to the cash 
balance in the statement of cash flows.

1.27 Issued Capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Preference issued capital 
is classified as equity if it is non redeemable and any dividends are 
discretionary, or is redeemable but only at the Company’s option. 
Distributions on preference share capital classified as equity are 
recognised as distributions within equity.
Preference issued capital is classified as a liability if it is 
redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the shareholders, 
or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Distributions thereon 
are recognised in the income statement as interest expense.
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the 
amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable 
costs, is recognised as a change in equity. 
Dividends on redeemable preference shares are recognised as a 
liability on an accrual basis. Other dividends are recognised as a 
liability in the financial year in which they are declared.

1.28 Goods and Services Tax 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (‘GST’), except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In 
these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the Australian Taxation Office (‘ATO’) is included as a current asset 
or liability in the balance sheet. Cash flows are included in the 
statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies continued
1.29 Service Concession Arrangements (SCA) 
The Group has investments providing SCAs, originating through 
public private partnerships, in the areas of healthcare, education 
and government facilities. These arrangements provide facilities 
management and maintenance services for a fixed payment per 
annum (subject to inflationary increases per year) with terms 
generally 25 to 30 years. They also incorporate contractual 
obligations to make available the individual assets for their 
prescribed use and, where necessary, overhaul or replace 
major items of plant and equipment related to the assets with 
payment obtained through periodic draw-downs from the 
relevant government authorities.
The Group equity accounts its investment in project companies 
with SCAs. In the project company holding the SCA, the 
consideration receivable in respect of construction and services 
in the operational phase of the SCA is accounted for as a ‘loan or 
receivable’ and measured at amortised cost. Revenue arising from 
services provided will be recognised based on the fair value of 
each service provided. Borrowing costs are expensed rather than 
capitalised. Lifecycle costs are expensed as incurred rather than 
provided for as underlying services are provided.

1.30 Accounting Estimates and Judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact 
on the Group and are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The estimates and judgements that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below.

1.31 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Impairment of Goodwill and Management Agreements
Note 16a ‘Goodwill’ contains information about the assumptions 
and their risk factors relating to goodwill impairment testing.
The Group assesses whether goodwill is impaired at least 
annually in accordance with Note 1.6 ‘Impairment’. These 
calculations involve an estimation of the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. The 
recoverable amount of management agreements is assessed 
annually in accordance with Note 1.16 ‘ Intangible Assets’.

Valuation of Assets and Recoverable Amounts
The Group assesses the fair value of certain assets by using 
estimation techniques where there is no available market price. 
The Group assesses the recoverability of the carrying value 
of assets held at cost or amortised cost using estimations of 
their recoverable amount. For current and deferred tax assets, 
refer to Note 1.5 ‘Income Taxes’. For investment properties, 
loans and receivables and inventories refer to Notes 1.8 
‘Investment Properties’, 1.11 ‘Trade and Other Receivables’ and 
1.13	‘Inventories’.	Refer	to	Note	30e	‘Fair	Values	of	Financial	Assets	
and Liabilities’ for a summary of the basis of valuation of financial 
assets measured at fair value.

Defined Benefit Superannuation Fund Obligations
Various	actuarial	assumptions	are	utilised	in	determining	the	
Group’s defined benefit superannuation/pension fund obligations. 
These assumptions are discussed in Notes 17g and 23g ‘Principal 
Actuarial Assumptions’.

Share Based Compensation
The Group assesses the fair value of its cash settled and 
equity settled share based compensation plans. The fair value 
assigned represents an estimate of the value of the award to 
employees, which requires judgements on Lend Lease’s security 
price and whether vesting conditions will be satisfied. Refer to 
Note 1.17 ‘Employee Benefits’ for the accounting policy for share 
based compensation.

Critical Accounting Judgements in Applying the Group’s 
Accounting Policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the 
Group makes various judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations, that can significantly affect the amounts recognised 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. These include:
– When all the significant risks and rewards of ownership 

of development properties are substantially transferred 
to	the	purchaser;

– The percentage completion on construction work 
performed;	and

– Whether the substance of the relationship between the 
Group and a special purpose entity indicates that the special 
purpose entity should be consolidated by the Group.
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     June 2010 June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

2. Revenue

a. Revenue from the Sale of Development Properties    454.4 366.8

b. Revenue from the Provision of Services    9,904.8 14,159.0

c. Finance Revenue
Interest Income

Related parties    31.6 34.8

Other corporations    33.2 55.0

     64.8 89.8

Interest discounting    3.7 12.3

Total finance revenue    68.5 102.1

d. Other Revenue
Rental income    60.9 71.3

Hotel revenue    41.7 43.8

Dividends/distributions received    22.1 15.7

Other     17.6 26.3

Total other revenue    142.3 157.1

Total revenue    10,570.0 14,785.0

3. Other Income
Discount on acquisition of controlled entity   27b 48.3 

Net gain on disposal of equity accounted investments    53.0 3.0

Net gain on disposal of other assets and liabilities    11.8 54.2

Net gain on disposal of available for sale financial assets    24.0 

Fair value gain on negotiable instruments    3.8 0.4

Fair value gain on derivative contracts held for trading    8.7 

Total other income    149.6 57.6

4. Finance Costs
Interest Costs

Related parties    0.3 0.7

Other corporations    81.9 94.9

     82.2 95.6

Non interest finance costs    6.4 4.2

Interest discounting    5.5 0.4

Total finance costs    94.1 100.2
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     June 2010 June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

5. Other Operating (Income) and Expenses
(Profit)/loss before income tax has been determined after:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   15 29.0 25.0

Less: Capitalised depreciation    (0.8) (1.4)

Amortisation of management agreements   16 4.2 4.0

Amortisation of other intangibles   16 7.4 5.0

Total depreciation and amortisation    39.8 32.6

Net loss on sale of property, plant and equipment    1.5 

Total operating lease expense    60.5 71.8

Employee benefit expenses    1,269.7 1,617.1

Superannuation accumulation plan expense    27.3 20.6

Total net defined benefit plan expense/(income)   17d, 23d 30.6 (25.4)

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss    (3.7) 16.9

Net fair value loss on equity derivative swaps     48.4

Expenses include impairments/provisions raised/(written back) relating to:

 Loans and receivables

  Related parties     (10.7) 42.8

  Other    21.1 29.4

 Property inventories    (2.2) 230.9

 Other financial assets    12.1 16.5

 Employee benefits    33.6 42.8

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$000s A$000s

Auditors’ Remuneration

Amounts received or due and receivable by the auditors of Lend Lease Corporation for:

Audit Services    7,122 7,657

Other Services

International assignees tax services    38 119

Other     78 15

Total other services    116 134
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m  A$m

6. Taxation
a. Income Tax Expense/(Benefit)
Recognised in the Income Statement

Current Tax Expense/(Benefit)

Current year    115.5 81.7

Adjustments for prior years    (40.9) 0.2

Benefits of tax losses recognised    (21.5) (21.3)

     53.1 60.6

Deferred Tax Expense/(Benefit)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences    49.5 (127.8)

Total income tax expense/(benefit)    102.6 (67.2)

Reconciliation of Income Tax Expense/(Benefit)

Profit/(loss) before tax     450.8 (733.1)

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate (30.0%)    135.2 (219.9)

Non assessable dividends    (2.1) (0.5)

Non assessable income    (7.1) (3.6)

Loss accounted for using the equity method    (4.0) (7.3)

Non allowable expenses    16.3 98.8

Net recovery of tax losses    (4.7) (18.2)

Tax temporary differences not recognised in the period    (5.9) 103.4

Tax temporary differences written off/(recognised/recovered)    15.9 (19.0)

Variation	in	tax	rates	 	 	 	 3.8	 (2.9)

Other     (3.9) 1.8

(Over)/under provided in prior years    (40.9) 0.2

Income tax expense/(benefit)    102.6 (67.2)

Deferred Tax Recognised Directly in Equity

Relating to:

Equity issue costs    (6.6) 

Fair value revaluation reserve    (4.4) (7.9)

Hedging reserve    (0.6) (3.2)

Foreign currency translation reserve on equity accounted investment    (1.5) 3.4

Total deferred tax recognised directly in equity    (13.1) (7.7)

b. Current Tax Assets/(Liabilities)    9.8 (27.7)

Current tax assets/(liabilities) represent the amount of income taxes refundable/(payable) in respect of current and prior financial 
years where payments to date exceed income taxes payable/(income taxes payable exceed payments to date). 
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  June 2010 June 2009

   Tax   Tax 
  Before (Expense)/  Before (Expense)/ 
  Tax Benefit Net of Tax Tax Benefit Net of Tax 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

6. Taxation continued
c. Tax Effect Relating to Other Comprehensive Income
Movements in Fair Value Revaluation Reserve
Revaluation gain/(loss) 9.3 (2.6) 6.7 (44.6) 7.9 (36.7)

Revaluation gain transferred to the income  
statement on asset disposal (23.8) 6.8 (17.0)   

Revaluation loss on asset impairment  
transferred to the income statement 4.0  4.0   

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements (0.6) 0.2 (0.4) 0.1  0.1

Movements in Hedging Reserve
Effective cash flow hedges attributable to  
equity accounted investments (43.9) 0.5 (43.4) (57.9) 3.0 (54.9)

Other effective cash flow hedges    0.4 0.3 0.7

Transfer of ineffective cash flow hedge movement  
to the income statement (1.1)  (1.1)   

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements 8.2 0.1 8.3 3.0 (0.1) 2.9

Movements in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
Foreign currency translation differences attributable  
to foreign operations (57.8) 1.5 (56.3) 129.5 (3.4) 126.1

Foreign currency translation differences transferred  
to the income statement on return of capital 1.5  1.5 0.2  0.2

Movements in Non-controlling Interest Acquisition Reserve
Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements 7.3 2.8 10.1 (14.9) 1.6 (13.3)

Other Movements (2.5)  (2.5)

Total other comprehensive income net of tax (99.4) 9.3 (90.1) 15.8 9.3 25.1

  June 2010 June 2009

  Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m

d. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Recognised Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Loans and receivables 22.4 (16.0) 21.4 (11.4)

Inventories 45.0 (367.0) 45.9 (199.5)

Other financial assets 10.1 (27.3) 12.1 (38.1)

Other assets 0.2 (0.5)  (0.7)

Equity accounted investments 7.7 (169.4) 19.7 (165.5)

Investment properties  (17.7)  

Property, plant and equipment 21.1 (0.3) 22.8 (0.4)

Intangible assets 0.5  0.1 

Defined benefit plan asset  (8.2)  (9.0)

Trade and other payables 259.7 (0.2) 96.9 (0.1)

Resident and accommodation bond liabilities 10.4   

Provisions 75.4  69.1 

Other financial liabilities 2.6   

Defined benefit plan liability 5.1  12.8 

Unused revenue tax losses recognised 147.2  169.8 

Items with a tax base but no carrying value 51.2 (15.9) 49.7 (42.7)

Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 658.6 (622.5) 520.3 (467.4)
Deferred tax set off (562.9) 562.9 (311.1) 311.1
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 95.7 (59.6) 209.2 (156.3)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

138 2010 Annual Report to Securityholders



     Foreign 
  1 July Recognised Recognised Exchange/ 30 June 
  2009 in Income in Equity Other 2010 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

d. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities continued
Recognised Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities continued

Movement in temporary differences during the financial year:

June 2010

Loans and receivables 10.0 (6.0)  2.4 6.4

Inventories (153.6) (14.6)  (153.8) (322.0)

Other financial assets (26.0) 4.0 4.4 0.4 (17.2)

Other assets (0.7) 0.4   (0.3)

Equity accounted investments (145.8) (24.8) 2.1 6.8 (161.7)

Investment properties  (17.7)   (17.7)

Property, plant and equipment 22.4 0.3  (1.9) 20.8

Intangible assets 0.1 0.4   0.5

Defined benefit plan asset (9.0) 0.8   (8.2)

Trade and other payables 96.8 (2.1)  164.8 259.5

Resident and accommodation bond liabilities  (3.3)  13.7 10.4

Provisions 69.1 11.5  (5.2) 75.4

Other financial liabilities  2.6   2.6

Defined benefit plan liability 12.8 (6.0)  (1.7) 5.1

Unused revenue tax losses recognised 169.8 (12.2)  (10.4) 147.2

Items with a tax base but no carrying value 7.0 17.2 6.6 4.5 35.3

Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 52.9 (49.5) 13.1 19.6 36.1

     Foreign 
  1 July Recognised Recognised Exchange/ 30 June 
  2008 in Income in Equity Other 2009 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

June 2009

Loans and receivables (19.0) 27.9 0.3 0.8 10.0

Inventories (150.7) 15.2  (18.1) (153.6)

Other financial assets (37.4) 4.7 7.9 (1.2) (26.0)

Other assets  (0.7)   (0.7)

Equity accounted investments (166.7) 48.4 (0.5) (27.0) (145.8)

Investment properties (2.0) 2.0   

Property, plant and equipment 12.5 9.4  0.5 22.4

Intangible assets  0.1   0.1

Defined benefit plan asset (8.6) (0.4)   (9.0)

Trade and other payables 71.8 12.9  12.1 96.8

Provisions 66.2 6.2  (3.3) 69.1

Defined benefit plan liability 33.1 (21.2)  0.9 12.8

Unused revenue tax losses recognised 112.0 44.1  13.7 169.8

Items with a tax base but no carrying value 21.9 (20.8)  5.9 7.0

Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (66.9) 127.8 7.7 (15.7) 52.9
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

6. Taxation continued
d. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities continued
Unrecognised Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Capital losses    68.8 70.4

Revenue losses    96.9 108.0

Deductible temporary differences    300.2 165.3

Total unrecognised deferred tax assets    465.9 343.7

The unrecognised deferred tax asset of A$465.9 million includes A$42.3 million that will expire by 2030.

    Franked 
    Amount Company
   Cents  Per Share June 2010 June 2009 
   Per Share % A$m A$m

7. Distributions1, 2

Interim Dividend

December 2008 – paid 1 April 2009  25.0 60  113.5

December 2009 – paid 31 March 2010  20.0 100 92.2 

November 2009 – dividend ‘in specie’ of LLT units  0.1 100 0.5 

Final Dividend

June 2009 – paid 25 September 2009  16.0 100  73.2

June 2010 – declared subsequent to reporting date  
(payable 24 September 2010)3  12.0 100 67.9 

Total dividends declared    160.6 186.7

1 No distributions were declared by Lend Lease Trust (LLT) for the year ended 30 June 2010.
2 Includes distributions paid on treasury securities. 
3 No provision for this distribution has been recognised in the statement of financial position at 30 June 2010 as it was declared after the end of the financial year.

Dividend Franking
The dividend franking account balance at 30 June 2010 is A$56.7 million based on a 30% tax rate (30 June 2009: A$98.7 million). 
This is calculated after adjusting for franking credits which will arise from the payment of income tax provided in the financial statements 
and tax losses utilised in the current financial year. It excludes the A$29.1 million (June 2009: A$31.4 million) franking debit impact of the 
proposed dividend of A$67.9 million (June 2009: A$73.2 million).

  June 2010 June 2009

   Shares  Shares  
   Excluding  Excluding  
   Treasury Shares Treasury Shares 
   Shares on Issue Shares on Issue

8. Earnings Per Share/Stapled Security1

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Profit/(loss) attributable to members of Lend Lease  
Corporation Limited used in calculating basic/diluted EPS A$m 345.6 345.6 (653.6) (653.6)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares2 m 473.8 497.2 404.9 432.6

Basic/diluted EPS2 cents 72.9 69.5 (161.4) (151.1)

1 The earnings per stapled security are equivalent to the earnings per share for the year to 30 June 2010 as the earnings attributable to LLT for the year were nil.
2 June 2009 has been adjusted by a factor of 1.02 in respect of new securities issued during March and April 2010 via a single bookbuild accelerated renounceable entitlement 

offer at A$7.70 per new security.
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash     390.8 289.3

Short term investments    1,245.1 831.5

Total cash and cash equivalents    1,635.9 1,120.8

Short term investments earn variable rates of interest which averaged 3.1% per annum during the year ended 30 June 2010 
(30 June 2009: 3.4%).
     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

10. Loans and Receivables
Current – Measured at Amortised Cost
Trade debtors    1,112.7 1,464.9

 Less: Impairment    (40.2) (39.2)

     1,072.5 1,425.7

Related parties    50.9 106.8

 Less: Impairment    (1.3) (15.5)

Managed property funds     40.1 22.3

Retentions    269.9 410.5

Other receivables    358.0 317.8

 Less: Impairment    (20.4) (2.6)

Total current    1,769.7 2,265.0

Non Current – Measured at Amortised Cost
Related parties    383.0 526.0

 Less: Impairment    (165.4) (165.5)

Retentions    14.0 68.1

Other receivables    138.8 67.0

 Less: Impairment    (0.5) (0.5)

Total non current    369.9 495.1

Total loans and receivables    2,139.6 2,760.1

The	ageing	of	trade	debtors	as	at	the	reporting	date	is	current	A$890.5	million	(30	June	2009:	A$1,170.6	million);	past	due	
A$222.2 million (30 June 2009: A$294.3 million) of which A$182.0 million has not been impaired (30 June 2009: A$255.1 million). 
‘Past due’ is defined under accounting standards to mean any amount outstanding for one or more days after the contractual due date. 
Of the total trade debtors, 13.5% (30 June 2009: 9.5%) are aged greater than 90 days. Other than trade debtors, A$13.4 million of other 
loans and receivables are considered past due at 30 June 2010 (30 June 2009: A$nil).

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Impairment
Carrying amount at beginning of financial year    223.3 94.6

Bad and doubtful debts impairment loss net of provisions raised    9.1 70.4

Other movements (including foreign exchange rate movements)    (4.6) 58.3

Carrying amount at end of financial year    227.8 223.3

Total impairment as a percentage of total loans and receivables    9.6% 7.5%

The credit quality of all loans and receivables, including those neither past due nor impaired, is assessed and monitored on an 
ongoing basis. 
To determine the impairment provision for the financial year, the Group considers how economic and market conditions will affect the 
creditworthiness of certain entities. The impairment provision relates to specific loans and receivables that have been identified as being 
impaired, including related party loans where the Group’s interest in a development was via an equity accounted investment.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2010, A$27.0 million of receivables were renegotiated (30 June 2009: A$nil).
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     June 2010 June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

11. Inventories
Current
Development properties at the lower of cost and net realisable value   11a 369.7 327.4

Construction work in progress   11b 218.1 237.5

Total current    587.8 564.9

Non Current
Development properties at the lower of cost and net realisable value   11a 1,576.0 1,201.2

Total inventories    2,163.8 1,766.1

a. Development Properties (Completed and Work in Progress)
Total development properties comprises:

Retail, UK    455.8 510.7

Retail, Asia Pacific    149.0 

Communities, Australia    1,162.2 707.0

Communities, UK    144.5 244.9

Communities, US    15.1 15.4

Senior Living, Asia Pacific    19.1 50.6

Total development properties    1,945.7 1,528.6

b. Construction Work in Progress
Construction work in progress comprises:

Contract costs incurred to date    59,315.7 60,859.7

Profit recognised to date    2,651.3 2,543.5

     61,967.0 63,403.2

Less: Progress billings received and receivable on contracts    (62,952.9) (64,522.6)

Net construction work in progress    (985.9) (1,119.4)

Costs in excess of billings – inventories    218.1 237.5

Billings in excess of costs – trade payables   18 (1,204.0) (1,356.9)

     (985.9) (1,119.4)

Advances on construction projects in progress included in trade and other payables    49.4 31.2

Retentions on construction projects included in progress billings    283.9 478.6

12. Equity Accounted Investments
Non Current
Associates

Investment in associates    370.3 503.6

Less: Impairment    (14.9) (18.1)

Total associates   12a 355.4 485.5

Joint Venture Entities

Investment in joint venture entities    578.5 606.8

Less: Impairment    (20.0) (32.9)

Total joint venture entities   12b 558.5 573.9

Total equity accounted investments    913.9 1,059.4
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   Share of Profit/(Loss)  
  Interest After Tax Net Book Value

  June 2010  June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
  % % A$m A$m A$m A$m

a. Associates
Retail

CDR	JV	Ltd	(313@somerset,	Singapore)	 25.0	 25.0	 36.4	 	 96.8	 56.2

Performance Retail Limited Partnership  33.3 2.5 (24.5)  48.2

Other    0.8 0.1 7.5 7.2

    39.7 (24.4) 104.3 111.6

Communities

Lend Lease Primelife Group1 100.0 43.2 3.7 4.3  196.8

Other     (1.4) 4.5 

    3.7 2.9 4.5 196.8

Public Private Partnerships

Other    (0.3) 1.5 2.0 0.6

Investment Management 

Lend Lease Overgate Partnership 30.7 30.7 16.6 (45.8) 68.4 62.7

Asia Pacific Investment Company No. 2 Limited 21.1 21.1 16.5 (4.9) 116.6 108.8

Lend Lease Communities Fund 1 20.8 20.8 (1.0) (0.5) 17.8 17.9

Other    0.1 (0.4) 55.9 4.7

    32.2 (51.6) 258.7 194.1

Project Management, Design and Construction

Other    7.0 7.3 0.8 0.5

Total    82.3 (64.3) 370.3 503.6

Less: Impairment     (14.9) (18.1)

Total associates   82.3 (64.3) 355.4 485.5

1 In December 2009 the Group acquired the remaining interest in Primelife which is now classified as a controlled entity. Refer to Note 27b ‘Consolidated Entities’.

   Share of Profit/(Loss) 
  Interest After Tax Net Book Value

  June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
   % % A$m A$m A$m A$m

b. Joint Venture Entities
Retail

King of Prussia 50.0 50.0 23.3 (49.2) 410.0 427.0

Preston Tithebarn Unit Trust 50.0 50.0 (2.4)  2.5 6.3

Warrington Retail Limited Partnership 50.0 50.0 (5.7) (70.1) 18.8 26.5

    15.2 (119.3) 431.3 459.8

Communities 

Caroline	Springs	Joint	Venture	 50.0	 50.0	 15.4	 12.5	 23.9	 23.7

Pyrmont Trust (Jacksons Landing) 50.0 50.0 (2.1) 3.4 14.5 14.5

Casey	2	Joint	Venture	(Springbank)	 50.0	 50.0	 0.8	 	 20.6	 15.2

Other    28.3 (46.7) 65.2 31.7

    42.4 (30.8) 124.2 85.1

Public Private Partnerships

Catalyst Healthcare (Manchester) Holdings Ltd 50.0 50.0 (0.3) 4.1 6.6 12.6

Other    4.9 10.8  7.8

    4.6 14.9 6.6 20.4

Project Management, Design and Construction

Majadahonda Hospital 25.0 25.0 1.6 3.2 11.6 17.5

Other    23.3 35.8 4.8 24.0

    24.9 39.0 16.4 41.5

Total    87.1 (96.2) 578.5 606.8

Less: Impairment     (20.0) (32.9)

Total joint venture entities   87.1 (96.2) 558.5 573.9
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  June 2010 June 2009

   Associates Joint Ventures Associates Joint Ventures 
   A$m A$m A$m A$m

12. Equity Accounted Investments continued
c. Associates and Joint Venture Entities Additional Disclosures
Lend Lease’s Share of Results
Revenue  197.8 664.8 162.9 1,328.9

Fair value revaluations  64.8 43.5 (90.5) (68.8)

Expenses  (187.4) (586.2) (172.3) (1,284.8)

Share of profit/(loss) before tax  75.2 122.1 (99.9) (24.7)
Income tax benefit/(expense)  7.1 (2.9) 0.5 (7.3)

Share of profit/(loss) after tax  82.3 119.2 (99.4) (32.0)

Other Adjustments
Adjustments due to differences in accounting policies1   (4.8)  (83.7)

Movement in share of unrecognised losses   (25.8)  14.4

Fair value adjustments   (0.9) 35.6 (0.9)

Other    (0.6) (0.5) 6.0

Profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments  82.3 87.1 (64.3) (96.2)

Movements in Carrying Amounts
Carrying amount at beginning of financial year  485.5 573.9 375.1 683.5

Investment acquired during financial year  4.4 17.0 202.8 

Investment disposed of during financial year  (42.3) (10.1) (2.2) 

Investment transferred to controlled entities2  (200.5)   

Contributions   71.6 37.4 9.2 26.4

Capital redemptions   (16.1) (2.0) (31.7)

Share of profit/(loss)  82.3 87.1 (64.3) (96.2)

Distributions received  (18.7) (78.4) (23.2) (68.5)

Net impairment provision reversed/(raised)  3.1 9.5 (12.2) (22.4)

Other adjustments (including effect of foreign exchange rate movements)  (30.0) (61.8) 2.3 82.8

Carrying amount at end of financial year  355.4 558.5 485.5 573.9

Lend Lease’s Share of Balance Sheet
Current assets  51.6 693.6 292.9 820.2

Non current assets  695.8 2,200.5 1,650.6 2,431.5

Total assets  747.4 2,894.1 1,943.5 3,251.7
Current borrowings  157.0 53.9 320.4 207.7

Current other liabilities  47.1 323.5 814.63 420.4

Non current borrowings  153.6 2,046.4 214.6 2,273.6

Non current other liabilities  16.9 598.8 56.4 365.0

Total liabilities  374.6 3,022.6 1,406.0 3,266.7
Share of net assets/(liabilities)  372.8 (128.5) 537.5 (15.0)

Other Adjustments
Due to differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments  
on acquisitions1   397.6  418.0

Impairment  (14.9) (20.0) (18.1) (32.9)

Unrecognised share of losses   152.2 1.2 105.0

Other   (2.5) 157.2 (35.1) 98.8

Net assets attributable to equity accounted investments  355.4 558.5 485.5 573.9

Commitments
Share of capital expenditure and lease commitments contracted but not  
provided for and payable as follows:

Due within one year   2.4 6.3 1.4

Due between one and five years   0.1 26.1 6.7

Due later than five years    65.1 

1 Primarily relates to adjustments to King of Prussia to align the investment property accounting policies with Australian Accounting Standards.
2 In December 2009 the Group acquired the remaining interest in Primelife, which is now classified as a controlled entity. Refer to Note 27b ‘Consolidated Entities’.
3 June 2009 associates balance primarily relates to Primelife liabilities due to retirement village residents, which are classified as current under Primelife’s contractual arrangements. 

Historical experience shows that they are not expected to be paid within one year.
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

13. Investment Properties
Senior living properties    2,579.9 

Retail properties    115.5 147.7

Assets under construction    125.5 

Total investment properties    2,820.9 147.7

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amount for investment properties are set out below.

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year    147.7 190.4

Acquisition of consolidated entities    2,452.3 

Acquisition of senior living properties    20.2 

Capital expenditure    29.4 0.7

Disposals     (6.8)

Fair value loss through profit and loss    (31.8) (62.2)

Transfer from inventories and property, plant and equipment    72.3 28.1

Increase in retirement village capital gains    94.3 

Foreign exchange rate/other movements    36.5 (2.5)

Carrying amount at end of financial year    2,820.9 147.7

Leases as Lessor
The future minimum lease payments receivable from retail property tenants  
under non cancellable operating leases are as follows.

Less than one year    8.2 10.6

Between one and five years    28.4 39.3

Later than five years    23.1 39.1

Total future minimum lease payments receivable    59.7 89.0

Valuations
Refer to Note 1.8 ‘Investment Properties’ for the basis of valuation of investment properties. The key assumptions used in the 
fair value assessments, including those classified as assets under construction, have been derived from market evidence and 
are summarised as follows:

Senior Living Properties
For senior living retirement properties, the key long term assumptions adopted in the basis of valuation as at 30 June 2010 included:
–	 Weighted	average	discount	rate	of	13.3%;
–	 Weighted	average	future	growth	rates	3.9%;	and
– Average length of stay: 11 years for independent living units and five years for serviced apartments.

Retail Properties
When determining fair value, capitalisation rates used across the various retail and office assets were between 8.1% and 10.8% 
for UK properties (June 2009: 7.3% and 9.3%) and between 7.0% and 8.8% for Australian properties (June 2009: 8.0%).
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

14. Other Financial Assets
Current Measured at Fair Value
Available for Sale    11.7 15.1

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss – Designated at Initial Recognition

Negotiable instruments    75.8 70.8

Derivatives     3.9 1.3

Total current    91.4 87.2

Non Current Measured at Fair Value
Available for Sale

Australian Prime Property Fund    46.9 199.0

Lend Lease Core Plus Fund    43.5 45.2

Lend Lease Retail Partnership    41.8 43.5

Other     107.8 84.3

     240.0 372.0

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss – Designated at Initial Recognition

Unlisted equity investments    33.7 12.4

Total non current    273.7 384.4

Total other financial assets    365.1 471.6

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
Land, buildings and leasehold improvements    319.2 127.8

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment    (43.5) (41.5)

     275.7 86.3

Plant and equipment    196.9 149.0

Less: Accumulated depreciation and impairment    (119.9) (105.2)

     77.0 43.8

Assets under construction     3.5

Less: Accumulated impairment     (3.5)

Total property, plant and equipment    352.7 130.1

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows. 

Land, Buildings and Leasehold Improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year1    86.3 85.5

Acquisition of consolidated entity    229.2 

Additions    3.6 11.4

Disposals    (3.2) (2.0)

Transfer to investment properties    (21.9) 

Impairment     (7.2)

Depreciation    (13.4) (6.3)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (4.9) 4.9

Carrying amount at end of financial year    275.7 86.3

1 The carrying amount at 1 July 2008 of A$85.5 million represents A$111.1 million of costs and A$25.6 million of accumulated depreciation. 
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     June 2010 June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

Plant and Equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year1    43.8 57.8

Acquisition of consolidated entity    32.4 

Additions    12.1 22.9

Disposals    (1.6) (3.2)

Transfer to investment properties    (0.3) 

Impairment     (9.6)

Depreciation    (15.6) (18.7)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    6.2 (5.4)

Carrying amount at end of financial year    77.0 43.8

Assets under Construction

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year     1.9

Additions     1.7

Impairment     (3.5)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements     (0.1)

Carrying amount at end of financial year    – –

Total property, plant and equipment    352.7 130.1

16. Intangible Assets
Goodwill   16a 437.3 477.1

Aged care bed licences   16b 159.0 

Management agreements   16c 77.2 28.9

Other intangibles   16d 20.6 20.0

Total intangible assets    694.1 526.0

a. Goodwill
Bovis Lend Lease Group    437.3 477.1

Communities Group     252.9

     437.3 730.0

Less: Impairment    – (252.9)

Total goodwill    437.3 477.1

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each category of goodwill are:

Bovis Lend Lease Group

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year    477.1 449.4

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (39.8) 27.7

Carrying amount at end of financial year    437.3 477.1

Communities Group

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year     234.0

Impairment     (252.9)

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements     18.9

Carrying amount at end of financial year    – –

Total goodwill    437.3 477.1

1 The carrying amount at 1 July 2008 of A$57.8 million represents A$137.1 million of costs and A$79.3 million of accumulated depreciation and impairment.
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16. Intangible Assets continued
a. Goodwill continued
Goodwill Allocation
Goodwill relating to the Bovis Lend Lease Group is allocated to project management, design and construction cash generating units 
(‘CGUs’) identified according to region as set out below.

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Project Management, Design and Construction

Asia Pacific    27.4 27.4

Americas    165.6 173.7

Europe    244.3 276.0

Total goodwill    437.3 477.1

Impairment Tests and Key Assumptions Used
The	recoverable	amount	of	a	CGU	is	determined	based	on	value	in	use	(‘VIU’)	calculations.	For	the	project	management,	design	and	
construction CGUs, the assumptions used for determining the recoverable amount of each CGU are based on past experience and 
expectations for the future, utilising both internal and external sources of data and relevant industry trends. 
No impairment arose as a result of the review of goodwill for the project management, design and construction CGUs which relate to 
the Bovis Lend Lease Group for the year ended 30 June 2010. Based on information available and market conditions at 30 June 2010, 
a reasonably foreseeable change in the assumptions made in this assessment would not result in impairment of Bovis Lend Lease 
Group’s goodwill. 
The	following	describes	the	key	assumptions	on	which	management	has	based	its	cash	flow	projections	when	determining	VIU	relating	
to the project management, design and construction CGUs.

Cash Flows
The	VIU	calculations	use	pre	tax	cash	flow	projections	based	on	actual	operating	results,	and	financial	budgets	and	forecasts	covering	
a five-year period. The financial budgets and forecasts are approved by management. These budgets and forecasts are based on 
management estimates to determine income, expenses, capital expenditure and cash flows for each CGU.

Growth Rate
The terminal value growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year period is 3.0% (June 2009: 3.0%). The growth 
rate reflects the forecast long term average growth rate for each CGU and the countries in which they operate. 

Discount Rate
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is between 14.0% and 16.0% (June 2009: between 15.0% and 17.0%). The 
Group’s weighted average cost of capital is used as a starting point for determining the discount rate, with appropriate adjustments 
for the risk profile relating to the relevant CGUs and the countries in which they operate. The discount rates used are pre tax.

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

b. Aged Care Bed Licences
Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of aged care bed licences are as follows.

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year

Acquisition of consolidated entities    95.0 

Additions    64.0 

Carrying amount at end of financial year    159.0 –
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Impairment Tests and Key Assumptions Used
The	recoverable	amount	of	bed	licences	is	determined	based	on	Value	in	Use	(‘VIU’)	calculations.	The	assumptions	used	for	
determining the recoverable amount are based on past experience and expectations for the future, utilising both internal and 
external sources of data and relevant industry trends. 
No impairment arose as a result of the review of aged care bed licences which relates to the Lend Lease Primelife Group for 
the year ended 30 June 2010. This is because the provisional acquisition accounting is considered to accurately reflect fair value 
as at 30 June 2010.
The	following	describes	the	key	assumptions	on	which	management	has	based	its	cash	flow	projections	when	determining	VIU	
relating to aged care bed licences. 

Cash flows
The	VIU	calculations	use	pre	tax	cash	flow	projections	based	on	actual	operating	results	and	financial	budgets	and	forecasts	covering	
a five-year period extrapolated out for 20 years plus terminal value. The financial budgets and forecasts are approved by management. 
These budgets are forecasts based on management estimates to determine income, expenses, capital expenditure, bond movements 
and other cash flows associated with aged care bed licences.

Growth rate
The forecast accommodation bond growth rate on bondable beds is 5.0%. This is based on historical bond growth achieved across 
the portfolio and expected future growth. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five years is 3.0%. The growth 
rate reflects the forecast long term average growth rate for aged care.

Discount Rate
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 11.0%. The Group’s weighted average cost of capital is used as a starting 
point for determining the discount rate, with appropriate adjustments for the risk profile relating to the CGU and the sector in which 
it operates. The discount rate used is pre tax.

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

c. Management Agreements
Management agreements    87.1 46.9

Less: Accumulated amortisation    (9.9) (18.0)

Total management agreements    77.2 28.9

Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of management agreements are as follows.

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year1    28.9 31.4

Acquisition of consolidated entities    64.9 

Additions     17.5

Disposals     (16.0)

Amortisation    (4.2) (4.0)

Other     (12.4) 

Carrying amount at end of financial year    77.2 28.9

d. Other Intangibles
Other intangibles    37.9 30.4

Less: Accumulated amortisation and impairment    (17.3) (10.4)

Total other intangibles    20.6 20.0

Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of other intangibles are as follows.

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year2    20.0 15.3

Additions    9.3 9.8

Amortisation    (7.4) (5.0)

Impairment    (0.5) (0.6)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (0.8) 0.5

Carrying amount at end of financial year    20.6 20.0

1 The carrying amount at 1 July 2008 of A$31.4 million represents A$45.4 million of costs and A$14.0 million of accumulated amortisation.
2 The carrying amount at 1 July 2008 of A$15.3 million represents A$19.8 million of costs and A$4.5 million of accumulated amortisation and impairment.
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     June 2010  June 2009 
     A$m A$m

17. Defined Benefit Plan Asset1

a. Balance Sheet Amounts
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows.

Fair value of plan assets    148.2 128.5

Present value of defined benefit obligations    (137.0) (133.4)

Unrecognised actuarial loss    16.1 34.9

Recognised asset for defined benefit obligations    27.3 30.0

b. Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of financial year    128.5 156.3

Expected return on plan assets    6.7 8.2

Actuarial gains/(losses)     14.6 (32.9)

Contributions by Group companies    6.3 6.2

Contributions by plan participants    1.9 3.2

Taxes and premiums paid    (1.5) (1.5)

Transfers in     0.1

Contributions to accumulation fund     (1.0)

Benefits paid    (8.3) (10.1)

Fair value of plan assets at end of financial year    148.2 128.5

c. Reconciliation of the Present Value of Funded Obligations
Present value of funded obligations at beginning of financial year    133.4 126.4

Current service cost    5.5 6.3

Interest cost on benefit obligation    5.7 6.7

Contributions by plan participants    1.9 3.2

Actuarial losses    0.3 3.3

Taxes and premiums paid    (1.5) (1.5)

Transfers in     0.1

Contributions to accumulation fund     (1.0)

Benefits paid    (8.3) (10.1)

Present value of funded obligations at end of financial year    137.0 133.4

d. Expense Recognised in the Income Statement
Current service cost    5.5 6.3

Interest cost on benefit obligation    5.7 6.7

Expected return on plan assets    (6.7) (8.2)

Actuarial loss recognised    4.5 

Past service cost     0.2

Net defined benefit plan expense    9.0 5.0

e. Actual Return on Plan Assets    21.3 (24.7)

1 Relates to the Lend Lease Superannuation Fund (Australia).
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     % %

f. Categories of Plan Assets
Cash     6.0 7.8

Equity instruments1    50.8 48.3

Fixed interest securities    39.0 40.0

Property    4.2 3.9

     100.0 100.0

g. Principal Actuarial Assumptions
Discount rate (net)    4.4 4.7

Expected rate of return on assets2    6.5 5.9

Expected salary increase rate    4.0 4.0

h. Employer Contributions
For the year ending 30 June 2011, total employer contributions to the plan are expected to be A$6.4 million.
The Group made an additional contribution of A$1.0 million to the Lend Lease Superannuation Fund (Australia) to cover members’ 
insurance premiums for the year ended 30 June 2010.

  June 2010 June 2009 June 2008 June 2007 June 2006 
   A$m  A$m  A$m A$m A$m

i. Historical Summary
Plan assets 148.2 128.5 156.3 167.3 147.4

Defined benefit plan obligation (137.0) (133.4) (126.4) (116.1) (110.8)

Surplus/(deficit) 11.2 (4.9) 29.9 51.2 36.6

Experience gains/(losses) arising on plan assets 14.6 (32.9) (19.2) 17.2 9.4

Experience gains/(losses) arising on plan liabilities 1.4 3.0 (8.3) (6.8) (4.4)

1 The fair value of plan assets includes Lend Lease securities to the value of A$0.1 million (June 2009: A$0.1 million).
2 The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long term return for each asset class by the target allocation of assets to each asset class. 

The returns used for each asset class are net of tax, investment fees and administration expenses.
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     June 2010  June 2009 
    Note A$m A$m

18. Trade and Other Payables
Current Measured at Cost or Amortised Cost
Trade creditors    1,413.6 1,728.3

Construction revenue – amounts due to customers1   11b 1,204.0 1,356.9

Unearned premium reserve2    15.8 17.4

Insurance claim reserve2    8.9 5.3

Related parties    31.0 26.7

Retentions and deferred payments    520.6 566.7

Other     77.4 96.1

Total current    3,271.3 3,797.4

Non Current Measured at Amortised Cost
Insurance claim reserve2    41.9 37.0

Related parties    1.2 19.6

Retentions and deferred payments    510.3 162.8

Other     156.1 2.0

Total non current    709.5 221.4

Total trade and other payables    3,980.8 4,018.8

19. Resident and Accommodation Bond Liabilities3

Current
Gross resident liabilities    2,054.2 

Deferred management fees receivable on owned sites    (197.5) 

Total resident liabilities4    1,856.7 –

Accommodation bond liabilities    139.1 

Total resident and accommodation bond liabilities5    1,995.8 –

1 Represents construction contracts where the total progress billings issued to clients (together with foreseeable losses if applicable) on a project exceed the costs incurred to date 
plus recognised profit on the contract.

2 Unearned premium and insurance claim reserves relate to Lend Lease’s wholly owned special purpose captive insurance subsidiary. The ‘cost’ of the liability for outstanding claims 
(insurance claim reserves) is measured as the current estimate of the present value of expected future payments against claims incurred at the reporting date under insurance 
contracts issued by the special purpose captive insurance subsidiary. These expected future payments are discounted using a risk-free rate.

3 Recognised upon acquisition of the remaining interest in Primelife in December 2009. Refer Note 27b ‘Consolidated Entities’.
4 For retirement village properties, deferred management fees receivable on owned sites are offset against the gross resident liabilities as these amounts are settled net in the 

same transaction.
5 Resident and accommodation bond liabilities are required to be classified as current liabilities under Australian Accounting Standards, as residents may depart the accommodation 

at any time, notwithstanding that history has shown that residents stay for an average period of 11 years in independent living units (ILU), five years in serviced apartments (SA) 
and four years in aged care facilities. Retirement village total resident liabilities of A$1,856.7 million, which is net of deferred management fees receivable, are repayable out of the 
amounts paid to the Group by incoming retirement village residents for the right to occupy senior living properties (comprising both ILU and SA). The gross value of these senior living 
properties, which are classified as non current assets, was A$2,579.9 million at 30 June 2010 (refer Note 13 ‘Investment Properties’). The fair value of retirement village properties 
was A$689.7 million, representing the gross investment property value, less resident liabilities and related deferred revenue.
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     A$m A$m

20. Borrowings and Financing Arrangements
a. Borrowings – Measured at Amortised Cost
Non Current

Commercial notes    879.9 971.9

Bank credit facilities    566.7 153.1

Total borrowings    1,446.6 1,125.0

b. Finance Facilities
The Group has access to the following lines of credit.

Commercial Notes

Facility available    879.9 971.9

Amount of facility used    (879.9) (971.9)

Amount of facility unused    – –

Bank Credit Facilities

Facility available    1,245.3 755.1

Amount of facility used    (566.7) (153.1)

Amount of facility unused    678.6 602.0

Bank Overdrafts

Facility available    10.0 10.0

Amount of facility used

Amount of facility unused    10.0 10.0

Commercial notes include £300.0 million 6.125% annual coupon guaranteed notes due 12 October 2021 that were issued in October 2006 
in the UK public bond market and US$300.0 million of guaranteed senior notes at 5.75% (all in rate) issued in the US private placement 
debt market maturing in October of 2012, 2015 and 2017. 
Bank credit facilities include a committed syndicated bank facility maturing in July 2013 of £360.0 million (A$642.9 million) in the UK which 
was undrawn at 30 June 2010 and a floating rate A$570.0 million committed club facility maturing in December 2011, which was fully 
drawn at 30 June 2010. 
The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and are repayable on demand. 
Consistent with prior years, the Group has not defaulted on any obligations of principal or interest in relation to its borrowing and financing 
arrangements and other financial liabilities (refer Note 22 ‘Other Financial Liabilities’).
Refer to Note 30d ‘Liquidity Risk’ for analysis of the management of the Group’s liquidity risk.
The following schedule profiles the borrowings by currency and interest exposure.

  Interest Exposure  Currency

  Fixed  Floating Total A$ US$ £ Total 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

June 2010

Less than one year

Between one and five years 117.3 566.7 684.0 566.7 117.3  684.0

More than five years 762.6  762.6  234.8 527.8 762.6

Total  879.9 566.7 1,446.6 566.7 352.1 527.8 1,446.6

June 2009

Less than one year

Between one and five years 123.1 153.1 276.2  123.1 153.1 276.2

More than five years 848.8  848.8  246.1 602.7 848.8

Total  971.9 153.1 1,125.0 – 369.2 755.8 1,125.0
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

21. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits    104.3 97.3

Maintenance and warranty1    19.3 28.7

Restructure (including employee terminations)    22.4 55.2

Other     52.8 46.0

Total current    198.8 227.2

Non Current
Employee benefits    14.0 11.0

Other     70.1 39.0

Total non current    84.1 50.0

Total provisions    282.9 277.2

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of provision, except for  
employee benefits, are as follows.

Current
Maintenance and Warranty

Carrying amounts at beginning of financial year    28.7 41.6

Provisions written back during financial year    (2.2) (6.3)

Payments made during financial year    (5.7) (8.6)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (1.5) 2.0

Carrying amount at end of financial year    19.3 28.7

Restructure (Including Employee Terminations)

Carrying amounts at beginning of financial year    55.2 3.2

Provisions raised during financial year    10.9 91.0

Payments made during financial year    (40.9) (36.1)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (2.8) (2.9)

Carrying amount at end of financial year    22.4 55.2

Other

Carrying amounts at beginning of financial year    46.0 38.6

Provisions raised during financial year    26.3 15.8

Payments made during financial year    (37.2) (11.1)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    17.7 2.7

Carrying amount at end of financial year    52.8 46.0

Non Current
Other

Carrying amounts at beginning of financial year    39.0 35.4

Provisions raised during financial year    9.6 5.4

Payments made during financial year    (10.8) (11.6)

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    32.3 9.8

Carrying amount at end of financial year    70.1 39.0

1 Represents maintenance and warranty provisions to cover specific or estimated claims that arise due to defects or legal disputes in relation to completed projects. The timing of the 
utilisation of these provisions varies across each completed project.
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

22. Other Financial Liabilities
Current
Derivatives (measured at fair value)

 Forward foreign exchange contracts     19.6 29.8

 Interest rate swap contracts     8.4 

Other (measured at amortised cost)    23.5 

Total current    51.5 29.8

Non Current
Bluewater lease liability (measured at amortised cost)    146.7 167.6

Other     0.2 24.0

Total non current    146.9 191.6

Total other financial liabilities    198.4 221.4

23. Defined Benefit Plan Liability1

a. Balance Sheet Amounts
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows.

Present value of defined benefit obligations    671.2 691.2

Fair value of plan assets    (592.5) (559.2)

Unrecognised actuarial losses    (60.7) (86.3)

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations    18.0 45.7

b. Reconciliation of the Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligations
Present value of defined benefit obligations at beginning of financial year    691.2 686.2

Current service cost    12.6 21.7

Interest cost on benefit obligation    35.5 43.2

Contributions by plan participants    0.2 0.4

Actuarial losses    49.6 34.4

Benefits paid    (32.6) (27.4)

Curtailments     (54.4)

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements    (85.3) (12.9)

Present value of defined benefit obligations at end of financial year    671.2 691.2

c. Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of financial year    559.2 627.7

Expected return on plan assets    27.9 40.0

Actuarial gains/(losses)    62.8 (115.5)

Contributions by Group companies    43.2 44.9

Contributions by plan participants    0.2 0.4

Benefits paid    (32.6) (27.4)

Effect of foreign exchange rate movements     (68.2) (10.9)

Fair value of plan assets at end of financial year    592.5 559.2

d. Expense Recognised in the Income Statement
Current service cost    12.6 21.7

Interest cost on benefit obligation    35.5 43.2

Expected return on plan assets    (27.9) (40.0)

Curtailment gain     (55.3)

Net actuarial loss recognised in the period    1.4 

Net defined benefit plan expense/(income)    21.6 (30.4)

e. Actual Return on Plan Assets    92.3 (69.1)

1 Relates to the Bovis UK Pension Scheme. 
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     June 2010 June 2009 
     % %

23. Defined Benefit Plan Liability continued
f. Categories of Plan Assets
Equity instruments    34.2 32.4

Debt instruments    47.9 54.9

Other assets    17.9 12.7

     100.0 100.0

g. Principal Actuarial Assumptions
Discount rate (net)    5.4 6.1

Expected rate of return on assets1    6.3 6.1

1 The long term rate of return on the pension plan assets is determined by looking at the expected long term return on each asset class based on analysis of historical markets. 
Assets with higher volatility are assumed to generate higher returns consistent with widely accepted capital market principles. The expected returns are net of investment 
manager expenses. The overall expected rate of return on assets is derived by weighting the expected rate of return for each asset class over the asset allocation for the scheme.

h. Employer Contributions
For the year ending 30 June 2011, total employer contributions to the plan are expected to be A$21.4 million. In addition, a deficit 
contribution of A$16.1 million is expected to be paid.

  June 2010 June 2009  June 2008 June 2007 June 2006 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

i. Historical Summary
Plan assets  592.5 559.2 627.7 661.0 572.2

Defined benefit plan obligation (671.2) (691.2) (686.2) (778.3) (722.4)

(Deficit) (78.7) (132.0) (58.5) (117.3) (150.2)

Experience gains/(losses) arising on plan assets 62.8 (115.5) (12.7) 18.5 36.8

Experience gains/(losses) arising on plan liabilities 17.2 (27.4) (0.9) (7.1) (21.1)
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  Consolidated Lend Lease Trust

  June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009

  No. of   No. of  No. of  No. of  
  Shares   Shares  Units  Units 
  m A$m m A$m m A$m m  A$m

24. Issued Capital and Treasury Securities
Issued Capital
Issued at beginning of financial year 457.6 1,195.9 401.1 854.7

Movements during financial year:

  Equity issue to effect stapling of the  
Company’s shares to LLT units     460.8 0.5  

 Equity issue net of transaction costs 104.7 792.6 50.0 296.2 104.7 0.1  

 Equity issue – other 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.1   

 Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRP) 3.2 30.4 6.4 44.8    

Issued capital at end of financial year 565.6 2,019.2 457.6 1,195.9 565.6 0.6 – –

Issuance of Securities
During March and April 2010, Lend Lease issued 104.7 million new securities via a single bookbuild accelerated renounceable 
entitlement offer at A$7.70 per new security.
As at 30 June 2010, the Group had 565.6 million stapled securities on issue equivalent to the number of Lend Lease Corporation 
shares and Lend Lease Trust units on issue as at that date. The issued units of Lend Lease Trust are not owned by the Company 
and are therefore presented as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity.

Security Accumulation Plans
The Group’s DRP has been suspended for distributions relating to the financial year ending 30 June 2010. The Group’s Security 
Election Plan and Security Purchase Plan remain suspended. 

Terms and Conditions
Issued capital for Lend Lease Corporation Limited comprises ordinary shares fully paid.
A stapled security represents one share in the Company stapled to one unit in Lend Lease Trust.
Stapled security holders have the right to receive declared dividends from the Company and distributions from Lend Lease Trust and 
are entitled to one vote per stapled security at security holders’ meetings. Ordinary stapled security holders rank after all creditors in 
repayment of capital.
The Group does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued stapled securities.

  Consolidated Lend Lease Trust

  June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009

  No. of   No. of  No. of  No. of 
  Shares   Shares  Units  Units 
  m A$m m A$m m A$m m A$m

Treasury Securities1

Treasury securities at beginning of financial year 30.8 63.2 30.1 62.6    

Movements during financial year:        

 Treasury securities acquired 0.3 2.6 2.1 14.8    

 Treasury securities vested (1.2) (11.0) (1.4) (14.2)    

  Issue of Lend Lease Trust units upon stapling of  
the Company shares to Lend Lease Trust units2     29.9   

  Movement on allocated treasury securities  
recognised directly in retained earnings  
and equity compensation reserve  19.6      

Treasury securities at end of financial year 29.9 74.4 30.8 63.2 29.9 – – –

1 Represents unallocated Lend Lease stapled securities held by employee benefit vehicles, including employee security plans, which Lend Lease sponsors. The value reflects the 
original historical cost to the Group. The consolidated balance represents the Company shares which are disclosed in the statement of financial position as treasury securities as a 
reduction of equity. The Lend Lease Trust balance is disclosed in the statement of financial position within non-controlling interests attributable to unit holders of Lend Lease Trust.

2 Units in Lend Lease Trust were issued at 0.1 cents per unit.
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25. Reserves
Nature and Purpose of Reserves
a. Fair Value Revaluation Reserve
Unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value and foreign exchange rate differences on translation 
of non-monetary securities classified as available for sale 
are recognised in the fair value revaluation reserve. Amounts 
are recognised in the income statement when the associated 
securities are sold, redeemed or impaired.

b. Hedging Reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the 
cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments relating to hedged transactions that have not occurred.

c. Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve records the foreign 
currency differences net of income tax arising from the translation 
of foreign operations, the translation of transactions that hedge the 
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, or the translation 
of foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net 
investment in a foreign operation.

d. Non-controlling Interest Acquisition Reserve
The non-controlling interest acquisition reserve arises from 
additional acquisition of non-controlling interests, subsequent to 
obtaining control of the entity. The reserve represents the premium 
on the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the net identifiable assets of the acquired entity.

e. Other Reserve
Other reserve includes realised capital profits on the disposal of 
assets which did not attract capital gains tax. In addition, gains 
realised by Lend Lease sponsored employee security plans 
upon renouncing their rights to participate in the Group’s single 
bookbuild accelerated renounceable entitlement offer in March 
2010 have been recognised in other reserve.

f. Equity Compensation Reserve
The fair value of equity settled share-based compensation 
is recognised in the income statement and the equity 
compensation reserve over the vesting period of the underlying 
grant. Additionally, unallocated Lend Lease securities held by 
consolidated employee benefit vehicles that are used to meet 
equity related employee arrangements are recognised in the 
equity compensation reserve at their original historic cost to 
the Group.

g. Other Compensation Reserve
Unallocated Lend Lease securities held by consolidated employee 
benefit vehicles that are used to cash settle certain share-based 
payment arrangements are recognised in the other compensation 
reserve at their original historic cost to the Group. On allocation, 
the securities are revalued to their current market value against 
the income statement. Following the distribution of the proceeds 
to the beneficiary, the difference between the original cost of the 
securities and the market value is recognised in retained earnings 
as a ‘gain/(loss) on utilisation of treasury securities’.
Full disclosure of these reserves are included in the 
‘Statement of Changes in Equity’.

26. Contingent Liabilities
Lend Lease has the following contingent liabilities.
There are a number of legal claims and exposures which 
arose from the normal course of business. There is significant 
uncertainty as to whether a future liability will arise in respect of 
these items. The amount of liability, if any, which may arise cannot 
be measured reliably at this time. The Directors are of the opinion 
that all known liabilities have been brought to account and that 
adequate provision has been made for any anticipated losses.

In certain circumstances, Lend Lease guarantees the performance 
of particular Group entities in respect of their obligations. This 
includes bonding and bank guarantee facilities used primarily 
by the Project Management, Design and Construction business 
as well as performance guarantees for certain Communities 
business. These guarantees are provided in respect of activities 
that occur in the ordinary course of business and any known 
losses in respect of the relevant contracts have been brought 
to account.
Certain contingent liabilities exist in relation to the Lend Lease 
Retirement Benefit Fund (‘RBF’) and the Lend Lease Employee 
Investment Trust (‘EIT’). This is disclosed in detail in Note 33b 
‘Lend	Lease	Employee	Benefit	Vehicles’.
In September 2004, a class action was filed against a number of 
parties who responded to the World Trade Center emergency and 
debris removal following the events of 9/11. The action was brought 
against more than 50 defendants, including the City of New York 
and Bovis Lend Lease LMB Inc (‘Bovis Lend Lease’) (a subsidiary of 
Lend Lease). Judge Alvin K Hellerstein of the United States Federal 
Court for the Southern District of New York refused to certify the 
class action and as such the litigation proceeds as a consolidated 
action by individual claimants. The number of claimants who 
have brought proceedings against Bovis Lend Lease is currently 
approximately 16,337 (comprising 9,845 first named claimants 
and 6,492 derivative claimants – for example, spouses).
Bovis Lend Lease is one of the beneficiaries of the approximately 
US$1.0 billion captive insurance policy (administered by the WTC 
Captive) established by the US Congress to protect the City of 
New York and its contractors against liabilities that may arise from 
the clean-up. Bovis Lend Lease and other defendants have also 
benefited from certain project specific insurance.
On 23 June 2010, Judge Hellerstein signed an ‘Order Approving 
Modified and Improved Agreement of Settlement’. The settlement 
agreement (as amended from the agreement announced on 
12 March 2010) between counsel representing the claimants in 
these proceedings, the WTC Captive and counsel representing 
the defendants insured by the WTC Captive (including Bovis 
Lend Lease) requires the WTC Captive to contribute a total of 
US$712.5 million (plus US$3.5 million in administrative costs) 
if certain conditions are met. The agreement does not impose 
any financial obligations on Bovis Lend Lease. 
For the settlement to become effective, 95% of the plaintiffs 
who have brought claims against the defendants insured by the 
WTC Captive must accept the settlement terms and ‘opt in’ to 
the settlement within a 90-day period. Other conditions must 
also be met.
Bovis Lend Lease may still need to defend these claims at trial in the 
event that the settlement does not become effective, or in respect 
of claimants who do not opt into the settlement or who bring new 
claims against Bovis Lend Lease. To establish any liability on the 
part of Bovis Lend Lease, the claimants must prove that Bovis 
Lend Lease owed them a duty of care, breached that duty, and 
that their injuries were caused by the conduct of Bovis Lend Lease. 
The litigation therefore still needs to proceed through a number of 
stages before any liability can attach to Bovis Lend Lease. As with 
all litigation, to the extent that the claimants are able to establish 
liability against Bovis Lend Lease, it is not possible at this stage 
to quantify what that liability may or may not be or whether or not 
that liability will be entirely covered by insurance.
In April 2009, Bovis Lend Lease in New York received notice 
of investigations being conducted by the US Attorney’s Office 
for the Eastern District of New York and the New York County 
District Attorney’s Office. The investigations relate to allegations 
regarding, among other things, billing practices for union foremen 
on construction projects in New York. Bovis Lend Lease is 
co-operating with the authorities in their investigations. Until the 
investigations are complete, it is not possible to quantify what 
the financial consequences associated with this matter will be. 
Lend Lease has engaged independent advisers to conduct a 
review of Bovis Lend Lease’s practices and has recognised a 
provision to cover legal costs and make-good payments.
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     Year End Year End 
    Foreign 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 
    Country of Ownership Ownership 
   Country of  Business Interest Interest 
   Incorporation Operation % %

27. Consolidated Entities
a. Investments in Consolidated Entities
The material consolidated entities of the Group are as follows.

Parent Entity

Lend Lease Corporation Limited  Australia   

Project Management, Design and Construction

Australia

Bovis Lend Lease Pty Limited  Australia  100 100

International

Bovis Lend Lease Pte Ltd  Singapore Singapore 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease Holdings Limited  UK UK 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease International Limited  UK Malta 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease Limited   UK UK 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease Overseas Holdings Limited  UK UK 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease Holdings, Inc.  USA USA 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease, Inc.  USA USA 100 100

Bovis Lend Lease LMB, Inc.  USA USA 100 100

ML Bovis Holdings Limited  USA USA 100 100

Public Private Partnerships

International

Actus Lend Lease, LLC  USA USA 100 100

Catalyst Lend Lease Ltd  UK UK 100 100

Retail

International

Blueco Limited  UK UK 100 100

Lend Lease Europe Holdings Limited  UK UK 100 100

Lend Lease Europe Limited  UK UK 100 100

Yarmouth Lend Lease King of Prussia, Inc.  USA USA 100 100

Communities

Australia

Delfin Lend Lease Limited  Australia  100 100

Lend Lease Development Pty Limited  Australia  100 100

Lend Lease Millers Point Trust  Australia  100 

Lend Lease Primelife Limited  Australia  100 43.2

International

Crosby Lend Lease Group Limited  UK UK 100 100

The Crosby Group plc  UK UK 100 100

Investment Management

Australia

Lend Lease Real Estate Investments Limited  Australia  100 100

Lend Lease Securities and Investment Pty Limited  Australia  100 100

International

Lend Lease Europe Real Estate Advisors SA  Luxembourg Luxembourg 100 100

Lend Lease (US) Holdings, Inc.  USA USA 100 100

Lend Lease (US), Inc.  USA USA 100 100

Lend Lease (US) Services, Inc.  USA USA 100 100
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     Year End Year End 
    Foreign 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 
    Country of Ownership Ownership 
   Country of  Business Interest Interest 
   Incorporation Operation % %

27. Consolidated Entities continued
a. Investments in Consolidated Entities continued

Group Services

Australia

Lend Lease Finance Limited  Australia  100 100

Lend Lease International Pty Limited  Australia  100 100

Lend Lease Singapore Investments Pty Limited  Australia  100 100

Lend Lease Trust  Australia  100 

Lend	Lease	Ventures	Pty	Ltd	 	 Australia	 	 100	 100

International

Lend Lease (US) Capital, Inc.  USA USA 100 100

Lend Lease Europe Finance plc  UK UK 100 100

     Ownership  
     Interest  
     Acquired  Date 
     % Acquired

b. Acquisitions
During the year the consolidated entity acquired an interest in the following entities:

June 2010

Lend Lease Trust (formerly Sheffield Diversified Fund No. 2)1    100 2 Oct 09

Lend Lease Trust No. 2 (formerly Sheffield Diversified Fund No.1)1    100 2 Oct 09

Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited (formerly Sheffield Funds Management Limited)   100 2 Oct 09

Communities

Lend Lease Primelife Group2    56.8 15 Dec 09

June 2009

Communities

Lend	Lease	Villages	Responsible	Entity	Limited	 	 	 	 100	 22	Oct	08

1 On 2 October 2009, Lend Lease Corporation Limited acquired 100% of the voting interests in Lend Lease Trust and Lend Lease Trust No. 2. Subsequent to the acquisition 
of Lend Lease Trust, the units of Lend Lease Trust were stapled to shares in Lend Lease Corporation Limited as set out in Note 1 ‘Significant Accounting Policies’.

2 At 30 June 2009, the Group owned 43.2% of Primelife, which was classified as an equity accounted associate. Refer to Note 12 ‘Equity Accounted Investments’.

      Fair Value 
       A$m

Acquisition of Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited

Acquisition Cost

Cash paid for acquisition     0.2

Net Assets of Entity Acquired

Intangible asset (Australian Financial Services Licence)     0.2

Net assets acquired     0.2

On 2 October 2009, the Group acquired all of the shares in Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited for A$0.2 million in cash. The entity’s 
principal activity is to be the responsible entity of Lend Lease Trust and Lend Lease Trust No. 2. From acquisition date to 30 June 2010, 
the revenue and profit contributed to the Group is immaterial.
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Acquisition of Lend Lease Primelife Group 
Following court approval on 15 December 2009 (‘acquisition date’), the Group obtained control of Lend Lease Primelife Group 
(‘Primelife’), an owner and operator of senior living communities. This transaction resulted in the Group’s equity ownership in Primelife 
increasing from 43.2% to 100%. The transaction was completed via a scheme of arrangement and trust scheme. The acquisition is 
in line with Lend Lease’s strategy to increase the Group’s exposure to the retirement sector.
An initial interest held by the Group in Primelife of 43.2% at 30 June 2009 was recorded as an equity accounted investment. 
At the date of acquiring the remaining 56.8%, this initial interest was remeasured to fair value in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards.

      A$m

Carrying value of equity accounted investment as at acquisition date     (200.5)

Fair value of investment as at acquisition date     183.0

(Loss) on remeasurement to fair value     (17.5)

This loss has been recognised in ‘Communities activities – Other expenses’ in the Group income statement.
The carrying value of management agreements with Primelife of A$15.6 million was written off due to the acquisition. These agreements 
were previously recorded as intangible assets and the write-off has been reflected in ‘Communities activities – Other expenses’ in the 
Group income statement.

      Fair Value 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed      A$m

Cash and cash equivalents     21.9

Receivables     24.5

Inventories     31.7

Property, plant and equipment     261.6

Investment properties     2,452.3

Deferred tax assets     29.3

Equity accounted investments     16.9

Intangible assets     159.9

Other assets     1.4

Resident and accommodation bond liabilities     (1,799.2)

Borrowings     (445.6)

Payables     (224.6)

Provisions     (34.4)

Other liabilities     (72.4)

Total net identifiable assets     423.3

Total consideration transferred     192.0

Fair value of previous interest in Primelife     183.0

Discount on acquisition     48.3

The fair value ascribed to the net identifiable assets of Primelife at 31 December 2009 were considered provisional, given the proximity 
of the acquisition to the half year reporting date. Fair values of these assets and liabilities have been reassessed throughout the 
six months to 30 June 2010 with no net impact on the discount on acquisition.
At 30 June 2010, the net identifiable assets remain provisional, as permitted by Australian Accounting Standards, whilst the integration 
of the Primelife business into the Group is finalised. This will be completed prior to 31 December 2010. 
The discount on acquisition is based on the Group’s assessment of the fair value of the identifiable net assets at acquisition date which 
exceeded the consideration paid to acquire the remaining 56.8% equity interest. This amount has been reflected in ‘Other Income’ in 
the Group income statement. The consideration of A$192.0 million paid to acquire this interest consisted entirely of cash. The net cash 
outflow for the Group due to the acquisition, excluding transaction costs, was as follows:

      A$m

Cash consideration     192.0

Cash acquired     (21.9)

Net cash outflow     170.1

Transaction costs of A$5.0 million have been included in ‘Communities activities – Other expenses’ in the Group income statement. 
Gross contractual amounts due for receivables at acquisition of A$33.7 million comprised A$11.2 million of trade receivables and 
A$22.5 million of settlement funds receivables/sundry debtors. Of the total amount outstanding, A$9.2 million was expected to 
be uncollectible at the acquisition date.
In the period from 15 December 2009 to 30 June 2010, Primelife contributed revenue of A$143.8 million and profit after tax, excluding 
corporate management fees, of A$16.1 million. The profit for the period is inclusive of investment property revaluation losses of 
A$8.1 million after tax. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2009, management estimates that the Group’s consolidated revenue 
and profit would not have been materially different from the actual results disclosed in the income statement. 

 Lend Lease Group 161



    Ownership  
    Interest   Consideration 
    Disposed  Date Received 
    % Disposed A$m

27. Consolidated Entities continued
c. Disposals

June 2010

During the year, the consolidated entity disposed of its interests in the following entity.  
The operating results to date of disposal have been included in consolidated profit.

Communities

First Base Adelaide Wharf   45 29 Jun 10 0.2

June 2009

During the year, the consolidated entity disposed of its interest in the following entities.  
The operating results to that date were included in consolidated profit.

Communities

RBD Property Management Pty Ltd   100 30 Dec 08 14.4

Glenaeon	Retirement	Village	Pty	Ltd	 	 	 100	 30	Dec	08	 41.9

Lutanda	Manor	Retirement	Village	Pty	Ltd	 	 	 100	 30	Dec	08	 18.5

Forest	Hills	Village	Management	Pty	Ltd	 	 	 100	 30	Dec	08	 11.7

Peppertree Hill Management Pty Ltd   100 30 Dec 08 24.0

P.V.	Management	Pty	Limited	 	 	 100	 30	Dec	08	 6.8

Retirement	Village	Properties	Pty	Ltd	 	 	 100	 30	Dec	08	 3.3

   Consolidated

     June 2010  June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Details of the disposals of consolidated entities are as follows:

Sale Proceeds

Cash received    0.2 11.8

Convertible notes issued to Lend Lease     108.8

Total sale proceeds    0.2 120.6

Net Assets of Entities Disposed

Cash and cash equivalents    0.2 0.2

Trade and other receivables    1.1 1.9

Inventories     0.7

Investment properties     6.8

Property, plant and equipment     3.8

Intangible assets     12.7

Other assets     28.3

Trade and other payables    (1.3) (0.3)

Provisions      (0.9)

Other financial liabilities     (7.0)

Net assets disposed    – 46.2

Cash Flows Resulting from Sale

Cash consideration    0.2 11.8

Cash disposed    (0.2) (0.2)

Disposal costs     (1.5)

Net inflows of cash    – 10.1
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28. Segment Reporting
The segment results are discussed and analysed in the Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations (MD&A) included with this Report. 
The Group has identified various operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Group Chief 
Executive Officer and Managing Director (the chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and determining the allocation 
of resources. The operating segments have been aggregated into five reportable segments, being the Group’s five strategic business 
units as shown below. The operating segments have been aggregated on the basis that they exhibit similar long term financial 
performance and have similar economic characteristics, such as similar operating and competitive risks.
The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments.

Retail
Retail relates to retail property management, asset management and development. This segment also includes the Group’s ownership 
interest in direct property investments including those held via limited partnerships.

Communities
Communities relates to the development of master-planned urban communities, inner city mixed-used developments, apartments and 
the retirement sector. 

Public Private Partnerships
Public Private Partnerships relates to privatisation services in various sectors, including health, education, waste, defence estates 
and accommodation.

Investment Management
Investment Management relates to real estate investment management services. This segment also includes the Group’s ownership 
interests in property investments held indirectly through investments in Lend Lease managed funds. 

Project Management, Design and Construction
This business segment relates to construction, project management and design services. 
Segment performance is based on operating profit after tax. Operating profit after tax is used to measure performance as management 
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain reportable segments relative to other entities that 
operate within these industries. The Group does not consider corporate activities to be an operating segment. Financial information 
regarding the performance of each reportable segment and a reconciliation of these reportable segments to the statutory results is 
included below.

  Operating Result Before Tax Income Tax Expense Operating Result After Tax

  June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

Segment

Retail  94.9 97.7 (28.6) (37.4) 66.3 60.3

Communities 167.3 84.7 (2.6) 3.6 164.7 88.3

Public Private Partnerships 97.6 87.7 (38.5) (13.3) 59.1 74.4

Investment Management 76.5 35.0 (23.4) (6.1) 53.1 28.9

Project Management, Design and Construction 131.9 236.8 (45.7) (67.9) 86.2 168.9

Total segment  568.2 541.9 (138.8) (121.1) 429.4 420.8

Corporate activities (154.1) (149.1) 48.3 35.8 (105.8) (113.3)

Property investment revaluations 33.7 (325.7) (11.7) 62.7 22.0 (263.0)

Inventory provisions raised  (226.1)  37.8  (188.3)

Goodwill impairments  (252.9)    (252.9)

Other carrying value adjustments  (233.0)  28.3  (204.7)

Restructure and employee termination costs  (120.8)  36.9  (83.9)

Net gain on Bovis UK pension  
scheme curtailment  44.3  (12.6)  31.7

Statutory result attributable to security holders 447.8 (721.4) (102.2) 67.8 345.6 (653.6)

Other non-controlling interests 3.0 (11.7) (0.4) (0.6) 2.6 (12.3)

Statutory result 450.8 (733.1) (102.6) 67.2 348.2 (665.9)
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28. Segment Reporting continued
The following table sets out other financial information by reportable segment.

      Material Non-Cash 
      Items (Other Share of 
  Segment  Interest Interest Depreciation Than Depreciation Profit/(Loss)  Group 
  Revenue Revenue Expense and Amortisation  and Amortisation)  of EAIs1 Total Assets

  June June June June June June June June June June June June June June 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 
  A$m A$m A$m A$m  A$m  A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

Retail  107.5 125.8     (1.6) (1.8) 10.1 (144.8) 54.9 (143.7) 1,317.0 1,251.5

Communities 733.9 586.4 7.4 16.8 (2.2) (1.0) (13.3) (7.4) (15.5) (555.1) 46.1 (27.9) 5,281.2 1,993.2

Public Private  
Partnerships 1,069.0 1,507.0 15.8 19.3 (1.5) (2.3) (2.1) (1.3) (16.4) (4.2) 4.3 16.4 433.8 504.0

Investment  
Management 73.2 69.1 0.1    (1.7) (0.2) 2.3 (21.4) 32.2 (51.6) 452.5 573.1

Project  
Management,  
Design and  
Construction 8,530.8 12,422.0  0.6   (13.0) (14.1) (70.1) (132.7) 31.9 46.3 2,348.9 2,971.3

Total segment 10,514.4 14,710.3 23.3 36.7 (3.7) (3.3) (31.7) (24.8) (89.6) (858.2) 169.4 (160.5) 9,833.4 7,293.1

Corporate  
activities 55.6 74.7 41.5 53.1 (78.5) (92.3) (8.1) (7.8) (40.9) 0.4   1,537.7 1,026.3

Statutory  
result 10,570.0 14,785.0 64.8 89.8 (82.2) (95.6) (39.8) (32.6) (130.5) (857.8) 169.4 (160.5) 11,371.1 8,319.4

1 Equity accounted investments.

Geographic Segments
Revenue is attributed to geographic locations based on the location of customers. Non current segment assets exclude deferred tax 
assets, financial instruments and pension assets and are allocated based on the geographical location of assets. The analysis of the 
location of revenue and non current segment assets is as follows:

    Non Current  
  Revenue Segment Assets

   June 2010  June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
   A$m A$m A$m A$m

Asia Pacific1  4,202.7 3,646.0 4,764.4 1,309.0

Europe2  2,499.7 3,731.7 1,268.4 1,482.1

Americas3  3,867.6 7,407.3 771.0 799.0

Total   10,570.0 14,785.0 6,803.8 3,590.1

1 The majority of revenue for Asia Pacific is derived from Australia and Singapore. The majority of non current assets for Asia Pacific are attributable to Australia.
2 The majority of revenue and non current assets from Europe are attributable to the UK. 
3 The majority of revenue and non current assets from the Americas are attributable to the USA.

No revenue from transactions with a single external customer amount to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
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29. Capital Risk Management
The Group assesses capital management as part of its broader strategic plan. The Group focuses on interrelated financial parameters, 
including return on equity, earnings growth and borrowing capacity. These are taken into account when the Group makes decisions 
on how to invest its capital and evaluate its existing investments.
The Group’s capital includes total equity, borrowings, and other interest bearing liabilities. When investing capital, the Group’s objective 
is to deliver strong total shareholder returns and to maintain an investment grade credit rating by maintaining an appropriate financial 
profile. The S&P/Moody’s long term credit rating at 30 June 2010 is BBB–/Baa3 (June 2009: BBB–/Baa3).
There has been no significant change to the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital from the previous year.
The capital structure of the Group can be changed by equity issuance, such as the A$806.6 million (excluding costs) raised in March 
and April 2010, paying dividends, the dividend reinvestment plan and changing the level of debt. 

30. International Currency Management and Financial Instruments
The Group operates across numerous jurisdictions and markets. The Financial Markets Risk Committee oversees the management 
of the Group’s foreign currency, credit, interest rate and liquidity risk exposures, within the parameters of a Board approved policy.
The Lend Lease Risk Management and Audit Committee maintains a Group-wide framework for risk management and reviews issues 
of material risk exposure.

a. Foreign Currency
Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial commitment in local currency terms, or a recognised asset or liability 
will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency rates.
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily from foreign currency earnings, net investments in foreign operations, 
and transactions settled in foreign currency.
The Group’s policy is to manage currency risk so as to minimise any adverse impact of this risk and associated costs on the Group’s 
consolidated profit. The Group’s exposure is primarily to the United States dollar (USD), Great British pound (GBP), Singapore dollar 
(SGD) and euro (EUR).
The Group uses both physical and derivative financial instruments (mainly forward foreign exchange contracts) to hedge its 
foreign currency exposures. This includes borrowings in the relevant foreign currencies, which act as a natural hedge of net investments 
in foreign operations.
The majority of forward foreign exchange contracts hedge specific foreign currency exposures, including receivables, payables, certain 
revenues and expenses, and intercompany transactions and loans. The contracts are marked to market at balance dates with unrealised 
gains and losses recorded in the income statement or the hedge reserve when the derivative is used in a hedging relationship that 
satisfies AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement criteria. Exchange gains and losses on these contracts are 
accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for foreign currency (refer to Note 1.21 ‘Foreign Currency Translation’).
Certain derivative transactions are treated as cash flow hedges, fair value hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations 
when they meet the appropriate hedge accounting criteria outlined in Note 1.22 ‘Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities’.

Fair Value Hedges
The Group’s fair value hedges consist of forward foreign exchange contracts used as hedging instruments to protect against changes 
in the fair value of specific foreign denominated available for sale financial assets, due to movements in foreign exchange rates. 
Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the income statement in the period in which it occurs and 
are offset against the change in the fair value of the hedged item as shown below.

     June 2010  June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Gain/(loss) on hedging instrument    0.3 (6.0)

(Loss)/gain on hedged item    (0.3) 3.9

There are no fair value hedges outstanding at 30 June 2010 (30 June 2009: A$2.5 million).
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30. International Currency Management and Financial Instruments continued
a. Foreign Currency continued
Cash Flow Hedges
The Group’s cash flow hedges protect against foreign exchange rate fluctuations on highly probable forecast transactions using forward 
foreign exchange contracts. There are no cash flow hedges outstanding at 30 June 2010 (30 June 2009: A$nil).

Net Investments in Foreign Operations
Net investments in foreign operations are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. Foreign currency gains and losses arising from 
translation of net investments in foreign operations are recognised in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve until realised. The Group 
does not generally use derivatives to hedge net investments in foreign operations.
The net asset exposure by currency is detailed below:

  AUD USD GBP SGD EUR Other  
  m m m m m m

June 2010

Net asset exposure (local currency) 2,100.1 46.8 226.9 327.2 88.7 436.01

June 2009

Net asset exposure (local currency) 1,483.0 24.8 227.0 209.2 84.7 137.7

1 Included in other currency net asset exposure is A$300.0 million denominated in New Zealand dollars representing the net assets of the Primelife business acquired in 
December 2009 and the retail centres acquired in April 2010 from ING Retail Property Fund. 

Foreign Currency Hedges (Not Hedge Accounted)
The Group’s foreign exchange cash flow and fair value hedges by currency are as follows.

  Weighted Average  Gross Receivable/ 
  Exchange Rate (Payable) Under Contracts

   June 2010  June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
   (A$1=)  (A$1=) A$m A$m

Contracts to buy GBP at an agreed exchange rate  0.60 0.48 (69.9) (99.3)

Contracts to sell GBP at an agreed exchange rate   0.59 0.49 450.1 608.3

Contracts to buy USD at an agreed exchange rate  0.86 0.76 (328.5) (406.6)

Contracts to sell USD at an agreed exchange rate   0.88 0.78 38.0 85.2

Contracts to buy EUR at an agreed exchange rate   0.71 0.56 (32.0) (64.1)

Contracts to sell EUR at an agreed exchange rate   0.70 0.57 70.0 80.7

Contracts to buy SGD at an agreed exchange rate   1.20 1.13 (32.4) (27.3)

Contracts to sell SGD at an agreed exchange rate   1.21  16.6 

Contracts	to	sell	New	Zealand	dollars	at	an	agreed	exchange	rate	 	 1.27	 	 205.9	

Contracts to sell Canadian dollars at an agreed exchange rate  0.90  6.8 

Contracts to buy Japanese yen at an agreed exchange rate   68.89  (9.4)

Total A$    324.6 167.5

All contracts to buy or sell foreign currency mature within one year.
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Sensitivity Analysis
The sensitivity of the Australian dollar to movement in foreign currencies is based on a 10% fluctuation (June 2009: 10% fluctuation) in 
the blended rates during the financial year and the spot rate at balance date. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant. 
A 10% movement in the blended foreign exchange rates would have impacted the Group’s profit/(loss) after tax as follows:

  10% Weakening 10% Strengthening

   Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ 
   (Decrease)  (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) 
   in Profit  in Profit in Profit in Profit 
   After Tax After Tax After Tax After Tax 
   June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
   A$m A$m A$m A$m

USD   2.4 2.6 (1.9) (2.1)

GBP   10.7 (64.7) (8.8) 53.0

SGD   7.2 1.8 (5.9) (1.5)

EUR   (0.8) (0.6) 0.7 0.5

   19.5 (60.9) (15.9) 49.9

A 10% movement in the foreign exchange spot rates at balance date would have impacted the Group’s net assets as follows:

  10% Weakening 10% Strengthening

  Increase in Net Assets Decrease in Net Assets

   June 2010 June 2009 June 2010 June 2009 
   A$m A$m A$m A$m

USD   6.2 3.4 4.9 2.8

GBP   45.0 51.5 36.9 42.0

SGD   29.6 19.9 24.2 16.3

EUR   14.1 17.1 11.5 14.0

   94.9 91.9 77.5 75.1

b. Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk that a counterparty will not be able to complete its obligations under a financial instrument, resulting 
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group has exposure to credit risk from all recognised financial assets.

On Balance Sheet Financial Instruments
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date on financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet (excluding investments 
of the Group) equals the carrying amount, net of any impairment.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk on either a geographic or industry specific basis and has policies in place 
so that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
Credit risk on derivative financial instruments is managed under a Board approved credit policy that determines acceptable 
counterparties. The counterparties are recognised financial intermediaries with a minimum investment grade credit rating as determined 
by a recognised rating agency. The policy sets out credit limits for each counterparty based on these ratings. 
Foreign exchange contracts are subject to credit risk in relation to the counterparty failing to deliver the contracted amount of currency 
at settlement date. The full amount of the Group’s exposure at 30 June 2010 is disclosed in Note 30a ‘Foreign Currency’.
There was an impairment of A$8.1 million recorded during the year against other financial assets (June 2009: A$16.5 million). 
Refer to Note 10 ‘Loans and Receivables’ for information relating to impairment on loans and receivables.
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30. International Currency Management and Financial Instruments continued
b. Credit Risk continued
Collateral
In certain circumstances, the Group will hold either financial or non-financial assets as collateral to further mitigate the potential 
credit risk on selected transactions. The Group currently holds the following collateral as security for certain credit risk exposures:

– A trade debtor of A$27.0 million is secured by a first registered mortgage over land parcels (30 June 2009: A$24.3 million).

The Group did not obtain financial or non-financial assets as collateral during the period as a result of default by a counterparty 
(30 June 2009: A$nil). 

c. Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flow associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in the market interest rates.
The Group’s policy is to manage interest rate risk that impacts directly on the Group’s assets and liabilities. The Group uses physical 
and derivative financial instruments to assist in managing its interest rate risk. Speculative trading is not undertaken.
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on financial instruments is set out below.

   Carrying Amount

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Fixed Rate Instruments

Financial assets    239.7 394.3

Financial liabilities    (902.4) (995.9)

     (662.7) (601.6)

Variable Rate Instruments

Financial assets    1,661.6 1,102.2

Financial liabilities    (728.6) (339.4)

     933.0 762.8

Sensitivity Analysis
At 30 June 2010 it is estimated that an increase of one percentage point in interest rates would have increased the Group’s profit after 
tax and retained earnings by A$4.4 million (2009: A$7.1 million decrease in the Group’s loss after tax and retained earnings). A one 
percentage point decrease in interest rates would have decreased the Group’s profit after tax and retained earnings by A$4.1 million 
(2009: A$7.1 million increase in the Group’s loss after tax and retained earnings). The increase or decrease in interest income/expense 
is proportional to the increase or decrease in interest rates. Interest rate derivatives have been included in this calculation.
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d. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient funds to settle financial liabilities as and when they fall due. This includes having insufficient 
levels of committed credit facilities.
The Group aims to manage its liquidity risk exposure by maintaining sufficient levels of cash and committed credit facilities to meet 
financial commitments as and when they fall due.
Liquidity risk is reduced through prudent cash management which ensures sufficient levels of cash are maintained to meet 
working capital requirements. It also allows flexibility of liquidity by matching maturity profiles of short term investments with cash 
flow requirements, and timely review and renewal of credit facilities.
The Group’s main liquidity risk is the ability to refinance its current borrowings. At 30 June 2010 all borrowings are non current. In May 
2010 the £350.0 million syndicated facility in the UK maturing in November 2010 was replaced by a new £360.0 million facility maturing 
in July 2013.
The Group has provided collateral of A$114.1 million (June 2009: A$57.5 million) against letter of credit facilities.
The following are the contractual cash flow maturities of financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees), including estimated interest 
payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements.

   Carrying  Contractual Six months Six to Twelve One to Two to More than 
   Amount  Cash Flows or Less Months Two Years Five Years Five Years 
  Note A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m A$m

June 2010

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables – current  18 1,2 2,012.1 2,017.8 1,755.0 262.8   

Trade and other payables – non current 18 1,2 587.6 703.1   136.4 253.9 312.8

Resident and accommodation  
bond liabilities3 19 1,995.8 1,995.8 1,995.8    

Borrowings and financing arrangements  20 1,446.6 2,018.3 65.3 32.6 650.2 259.4 1,010.8

Other financial liabilities 22 170.4 179.7 2.1 25.2 2.6 149.8 

Total   6,212.5 6,914.7 3,818.2 320.6 789.2 663.1 1,323.6

Derivative Financial Liabilities

Foreign exchange contracts: 22       

 Outflow  (36.5) (850.8) (850.8)    

 Inflow  16.9 832.9 832.9    

Interest rate derivatives: 22       

 Outflow  (8.4) (9.5) (1.4) (1.3) (2.3) (4.5) 

Total   (28.0) (27.4) (19.3) (1.3) (2.3) (4.5) –

June 2009

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables – current  18 2 2,364.9 2,364.9 2,204.3 160.6   

Trade and other payables – non current 18 2 220.2 220.2   139.8 63.5 16.9

Borrowings and financing arrangements 20 1,125.0 1,742.6 48.6 10.4 211.5 288.4 1,183.7

Other financial liabilities 22 191.6 210.2 1.8 1.8 30.8 175.8 

Total   3,901.7 4,537.9 2,254.7 172.8 382.1 527.7 1,200.6

Derivative Financial Liabilities

Foreign exchange contracts:

 Outflow  (34.2) (842.4) (836.1) (6.0) (0.3)  

 Inflow  7.8 817.0 810.3 6.3 0.4  

Total   (26.4) (25.4) (25.8) 0.3 0.1 – –

1 The carrying amount of trade and other payables excludes A$1,259.2 million of current and A$121.9 million of non current amounts as they do not meet the definition of a financial 
liability under the Australian Accounting Standards. 

2 The repayment of these amounts will be funded through collection of outstanding loans and receivables: June 2010: A$2,139.6 million (June 2009: A$2,760.1 million).
3 Resident and accommodation bond liabilities are required to be classified as six months or less as any resident may depart at any time. The balance includes retirement village 

total resident liabilities of A$1,856.7 million, which is net of deferred management fees receivable, and is repayable out of the amounts paid to the Group by incoming retirement 
village residents for the right to occupy Senior Living Properties. (Refer Note 13 ‘Investment Properties’ and Note 19 ‘Resident and Accommodation Bond Liabilities’). 

Details of other contractually committed cash flows the Group is exposed to are in Note 31 ‘Commitments’.

 Lend Lease Group 169



30. International Currency Management and Financial Instruments continued
e. Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial Instruments
All financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet, including those instruments carried at amortised cost, are recognised 
at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value, with the exception of the following non current borrowings.

  June 2010 June 2009

   Carrying   Carrying  
   Amount  Fair Value Amount Fair Value 
  Note A$m A$m A$m A$m

Liabilities

Non Current

Commercial notes 20 879.9 904.6 971.9 772.9

The fair value of commercial notes has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows by the appropriate government 
bond rates and credit margin applicable to the relevant term of the commercial note.

Basis of Determining Fair Value 
The determination of fair values of financial instruments that are not measured at cost or amortised cost in the financial report are 
summarised as follows.
–  The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined by an assessment by the Directors based on the underlying net assets, 

future	maintainable	earnings	and	any	special	circumstances	pertaining	to	the	particular	investment;
–  The fair value of the unlisted investments in property funds has been determined by reference to the fair value of the underlying 

properties	which	are	valued	by	independent	appraisers;	and
–  The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance 

with generally accepted valuation models based on discounted cash flow analysis and compared to observable current market 
transactions for reasonableness. Derivative instruments comprise forward foreign exchange contracts, which are valued using 
forward rates at balance date, and interest rate swap contracts, which are measured at the present value of future cash flows 
estimated and discounted based on applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

Fair Value Measurements
As of 1 July 2009 the Group has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which requires disclosure by 
the level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
–  Level 1: The fair value is determined using the unadjusted quoted price for an identical instrument in an active market for identical 

assets	or	liabilities;
–  Level 2: The fair value is calculated using predominantly observable market data other than unadjusted quoted prices for an 

identical	instrument;	and
– Level 3: The fair value is calculated using inputs that are not based on observable market data.

  Consolidated Carrying Amount

   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
June 2010 Note A$m A$m A$m A$m

Financial Assets

Available for sale  9.8 1.9 240.0 251.7

Fair value through profit and loss – negotiable instruments  75.8   75.8

Fair value through profit and loss – unlisted equity investments    33.7 33.7

Derivatives   3.9  3.9

  14 85.6 5.8 273.7 365.1

Financial Liabilities

Derivatives 22 – 28.0 – 28.0

During the year there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value hierarchies.
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Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amount for Level 3 financial instruments is set out below:

     Available Unlisted Equity  
     for Sale Investments  
     A$m A$m

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year    372.0 12.4

Additions    20.9 27.7

Disposals    (153.1) 

Revaluation gain to other comprehensive income    9.2 

Effect of foreign exchange rate/other movements    (9.0) (6.4)

Carrying amount at end of financial year    240.0 33.7

f. Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of either a traded or non traded equity investment, derivative equity instrument, or a 
portfolio of such financial instruments increases or decreases in the future. The Group is exposed to equity price risk on all traded 
or	non	traded	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value.	Refer	to	Note	30e	‘Fair	Values	of	Financial	Assets	and	Liabilities’	for	the	
sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group’s equity investments classified as financial assets.

     June 2010  June 2009 
     A$m A$m

31. Commitments1

The Group leases various land and buildings, and plant and equipment under non cancellable  
operating leases. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal,  
the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

a. Operating Lease Commitments
The estimated aggregate amount of non cancellable operating lease expenditure agreed or contracted  
but not provided for in the financial statements is as follows.

Land and buildings – self occupied    187.4 184.2

Plant and equipment    11.4 14.4

     198.8 198.6

At balance date, commitments in relation to non cancellable operating leases are payable as follows.

Due within one year    47.6 53.4

Due between one and five years    114.7 112.9

Due later than five years    36.5 32.3

     198.8 198.6

b. Finance Lease Commitments
At balance date commitments in relation to the finance leases are payable as follows.

Due within one year    0.2 0.1

Due between one and five years    146.8 167.7

Due later than five years    0.1 

Recognised as a liability    147.1 167.8

Lease liabilities provided for in the financial statements are as follows.

Current    0.2 0.1

Non current    146.9 167.7

     147.1 167.8

c. Investments
At balance date capital commitments existing in respect of interests in equity accounted investments  
and other investments contracted but not provided for in the financial statements are as follows.

Due within one year    111.1 21.2

Due between one and five years    117.8 173.9

Due later than five years    4.3 4.7

     233.2 199.8

1 The commitments outlined in this note do not include the commitments of the entities accounted for using the equity method (refer to Note 12 ‘Equity Accounted Investments’).
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     June 2010 June 2009  
     A$m A$m

32. Notes to the Statements of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of Profit/(Loss) After Tax to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Profit/(Loss) After Tax (Including Minority Interest)    348.2 (665.9)

Amortisation and depreciation    39.8 32.6

Net gain on sale of financial assets    (24.0) 

Net gain on sale of other assets    (53.2) (46.6)

Net (write back)/impairment on investments accounted for using the equity method   (12.6) 34.6

Impairment of property, plant and equipment     20.3

Impairment of other financial assets    12.1 16.5

Net unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain) and currency hedging costs    18.3 71.6

Net fair value (gain)/loss on equity derivative swaps    (8.7) 48.4

(Profit)/loss of equity accounted investments    (169.4) 160.5

Discount on acquisition of Primelife business    (48.3) 

Dividends/distributions from equity accounted investments    99.2 91.7

Impairment of goodwill and intangibles    0.5 253.5

Fair value loss on investment properties    31.8 62.2

Other     2.3 32.1

Net cash provided by operating activities before changes in assets and liabilities   236.0 111.5

Changes in Assets and Liabilities Adjusted for Effects of Purchase and  
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Operations During the Financial Year

Decrease in receivables    622.4 144.4

(Increase)/decrease in inventories    (366.0) 338.6

Increase in other assets    (52.5) (71.7)

Decrease in defined benefit plan assets/liabilities    (25.0) (73.7)

(Decrease)/increase in payables    (120.1) 2.7

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities    (48.4) 27.2

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax items    46.1 (119.8)

Decrease in current tax liability/asset    (37.5) (26.0)

(Decrease)/increase in other provisions    (28.7) 49.0

Decrease in other intangibles    1.7 

Net cash provided by operating activities    228.0 382.2
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33. Employee Benefits
a. Lend Lease Employee Security Plans
Currently, employees own approximately 6.1% of the issued 
capital of Lend Lease Corporation through various Lend Lease 
employee security plans, details of which are outlined below.
– Australia: Employee Share Acquisition Plan (‘ESAP’): 

ESAP was established in December 1988 for the purpose of 
employees acquiring shares in Lend Lease Corporation and 
is funded by Lend Lease subscriptions. Those subscriptions 
have been used to acquire shares in Lend Lease Corporation 
at market value on behalf of employees, who may be 
nominated as members of ESAP. Employees may also 
be allocated securities by way of bonus arrangements 
on the basis of individual, corporate and business 
unit performance.

– UK/Europe/Asia: Employee Share Plan: The European 
(Guernsey based) Restricted Share Plan (‘the Restricted 
Share Plan’) was established in 1998. The Plan is similar 
in operation to the Australia-based ESAP. Securities in the 
Restricted Share Plan may be allocated to employees in the 
UK, Europe and Singapore based on individual and business 
unit performance. The Restricted Share Plan can acquire 
Lend Lease Corporation securities at market value on 
behalf of employees. The value of allocations to employees 
is ultimately based on a combination of the Lend Lease 
Corporation security price and the respective currencies 
and Australian dollar exchange rates.

– In 2002, two UK-based Inland Revenue approved Share 
Incentive Plans (‘SIPs’) were established for the acceptance 
of employee profit share contributions used to acquire 
Lend Lease Corporation securities for UK based Lend Lease 
Group employees. These plans are currently not accepting 
new contributions whilst Lend Lease makes all profit share 
payments to employees in cash. 

Eligibility
The rules for eligibility for particular plans are determined by 
reference to the regulatory, legal and tax rules of each country 
in which the Group operates.

Dividends and/or Voting Rights
Generally, employees in the various operating security plans are 
entitled to dividends and voting rights for allocated securities. 
The plans reflect this intention subject to regulatory, legal and 
tax	constraints.	Voting	and	dividend	rights	on	any	unallocated	
securities reside with the trustees of the relevant security plan 
trusts. The trustee may exercise these rights in accordance 
with any fiduciary or governance rules pertaining to the deed 
or trust laws in the legal and tax jurisdiction within which the 
trust operates.

b. Lend Lease Employee Benefit Vehicles
In addition to the plans discussed above, Lend Lease has 
established a range of employee share ownership vehicles, 
which includes the Lend Lease Retirement Benefit Fund (‘RBF’) 
and the Lend Lease Employee Investment Trust (‘EIT’).
RBF was established in 1984 with shareholder approval for the 
benefit of employees. The balance of the assets of RBF at 30 June 
2010 was 14.9 million (June 2009: 14.1 million) Lend Lease Group 
stapled securities. The Lend Lease securities in RBF are not 
available for allocation to employees other than in the event of a 
change of control of Lend Lease Corporation and, in accordance 
with RBF’s trust deed, the capital of the trust is not available to 
Lend Lease Corporation.

The RBF trustees are independent of Lend Lease Corporation. 
In the event of a change of control, the RBF Trustees may 
distribute RBF funds to employees who cease to be employees 
during the 12 months after a change of control. The RBF trustees 
have discretion as to how RBF funds are distributed following a 
change of control. Under Australian Accounting Standards, RBF, 
while not legally controlled, is required to be consolidated for 
accounting purposes and payments from it on a change of control 
will impact the Group’s financial statements. Any payments that 
the RBF trustees may make as a result of a change of control of 
Lend Lease Corporation are an obligation of RBF and not the 
Company. Any payments made will need to be funded by RBF 
and therefore cannot exceed the value of the assets of RBF, which 
was A$117.5 million at 30 June 2010 (June 2009: A$112.3 million). 
However, as RBF is consolidated by the Group, this potential 
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability.
EIT was established in 1985 to enable employees to invest in the 
Company. At 30 June 2010, 11.6 million Lend Lease Group 
securities were held by EIT (June 2009: 11.6 million), of which 
11.3 million securities were available for allocation to employees. 
In accordance with EIT’s trust deed, the capital of the EIT is not 
available to Lend Lease Corporation. 
As with RBF, Australian Accounting Standards require 
consolidation of EIT for accounting purposes, regardless of the 
control of EIT by independent trustees. Therefore payments from 
EIT impact the Group’s financial statements. On a change of 
control, the EIT trustees may (but are not required to) terminate 
the trust and distribute allocated proceeds to employees and 
unallocated proceeds to the Lend Lease Superannuation 
Fund or to RBF. Any payments are an obligation of EIT and 
not the Company, and cannot exceed the assets of the EIT of 
A$92.1 million as at 30 June 2010 (June 2009: A$88.1 million). 
No contingency is recorded in these financial statements as the 
potential for such payments is remote, with any termination of EIT 
in such circumstances, and any subsequent distribution to other 
funds, entirely at the discretion of the EIT trustees. 
It should be noted that given the timing and basis on which 
these vehicles purchased their Lend Lease Group securities, any 
capital gains tax payable on the Lend Lease securities sold by 
these vehicles as a result of a change of control (or otherwise) 
may be recognised from an accounting viewpoint as a tax expense 
of the consolidated entity. 

c. Share Based Payments
Short Term Incentives (STI)
The STI plan is an annual bonus plan where executives receive 
benefits dependent on the achievement of both Lend Lease 
financial targets and individual personal targets. The total value 
of the potential benefit (target opportunity) varies by executive, 
but is generally linked to salary.
The STI comprises a cash element paid in September following 
year end and a deferred element. The deferred element represents 
Lend Lease Group securities based on the security price at the 
date of determination of the bonuses. The securities are then 
held in trust on behalf of the executive for the deferred period. For 
executives to receive the full deferral, they must be employed by 
the Group at the date of vesting, which will usually be one year 
from the date of grant.

Long Term Incentives (LTI)
The current LTIs of Lend Lease were introduced and approved 
by the Board in 1999 and updated and extended for awards from 
2001 onwards. The objectives of the LTIs are essentially twofold: 
– Align executives with the long term interests of Lend Lease 

and	its	security	holders;	and
– Attract and retain high calibre executives by providing 

competitive rewards that relate to the performance of the 
Group, the individual executive and the Lend Lease Group 
security price.
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33. Employee Benefits continued
c. Share Based Payments continued
Long Term Incentives (LTI) continued
LTI grants are normally made in September each year. The 
Personnel and Organisation Committee intends that these awards 
will vest in Lend Lease Group securities rather than cash, with 
settlement occurring upon vesting if performance hurdles are 
met. Grants depend on personal contribution and potential, and 
are designed to retain and motivate high performing and key 
executives. The LTIs are in the form of an Australian dollar figure 
‘grant’ (converted from local salary for overseas participants), 
which is ‘invested’ in performance securities over time to deliver 
value depending on:
– Whether the executive remains with the Group – if the 

executive	resigns	before	vesting,	the	grant	will	lapse;	and
– The performance of the Group.

In the event of a change in control of Lend Lease Corporation, 
all awards will vest upon change in control, to the extent that 
performance conditions have been met. Participants would 
then be entitled to a pro rata settlement, with the Board having 
discretion to allow the entitlement to exceed this pro rata amount, 
if circumstances so provide.

Arrangements for LTI Awards Granted in the June 2008 
Financial Year
For awards granted 1 July 2007, the performance hurdle is based 
on two equal measures: long term profitability as measured by 
earnings per share (‘EPS’) and external total shareholder return 
(‘TSR’) compared with the TSR of the individual ASX100 listed 
companies as at the commencement of the performance period. 
The performance measures are:
– TSR measured against the ASX100 companies (with 50% 

vesting at median performance, rising proportionately to 
100%	on	reaching	top	quartile	performance);	and

– EPS on the basis of EPS reported in the Company’s financial 
statements adjusted for exclusion of treasury shares, and 
exclusion of unrealised revaluation gains or losses (unless 
assets are actually sold).

Each of the two performance hurdles is measured and can vest 
independently. The executive must remain with the Company until 
vesting date for the award to vest. The period may be shortened 
if an executive is a ‘good leaver’, that is, an executive who leaves 
employment by reason of death, total and permanent disability, 
redundancy or other reason as determined by the Personnel 
and Organisation Committee. Performance conditions continue 
to apply.

Arrangements for LTI Awards Granted in the June 2009 
Financial Year
For awards granted 1 September 2008, the performance hurdle 
is based on three equal measures: long term profitability as 
measured	by	EPS;	external	TSR	compared	to	the	TSR	of	the	
individual ASX100 listed companies as at the commencement 
of	the	performance	period;	and	a	retention	component.	The	
performance measures are:
– TSR measured against the ASX100 companies (with 50% 

vesting at median performance, rising proportionately 
to	100%	on	reaching	top	quartile	performance);	

– EPS on the basis of EPS reported in the Company’s financial 
statements adjusted for exclusion of treasury shares, 
and exclusion of unrealised carrying value adjustments, 
write-off of goodwill, movements in the value of investment 
properties, savings implementation costs and one-off 
benefits	from	the	UK	Pension	Plan;	and

– Retention component which will vest if the executive 
remains in employment with Lend Lease for three years 
from the grant date.

Each of the three performance hurdles is measured and can vest 
independently. The executive must remain with the Company until 
vesting date for the award to vest. The period may be shortened if 
an executive is a ‘good leaver’.

Arrangements for LTI Awards Granted in the June 2010 
Financial Year
For awards granted 1 September 2009, the performance hurdle is 
based on two equal measures: long term profitability as measured 
by EPS and external TSR compared with the TSR of the individual 
ASX100 listed companies as at the commencement of the 
performance period. The performance measures are:
– TSR measured against the ASX100 companies (with 50% 

vesting at median performance, rising proportionately to 
100%	on	reaching	top	quartile	performance);	and

– EPS on the basis of EPS reported in the Company’s financial 
statements adjusted for exclusion of treasury shares.

Each of the two performance hurdles is measured and can vest 
independently. 50% of the award vests after three years, the 
remaining 50% of the award vests after four years. The executive 
must remain with the Company until vesting date for the award 
to vest. The period may be shortened if an executive leaves 
employment by reason of death or total and permanent disability. 
Where employment ceases for redundancy or other circumstances 
as determined by the Personnel and Organisation Committee, 
a pro rata award may be retained subject to the original vesting 
date and performance conditions.

Other LTI Awards
During the June 2010 financial year, bespoke LTI plans have been 
granted to certain executives by the Personnel and Organisation 
Committee. These awards tend to have performance hurdles 
based on internal business unit performance targets, such as net 
profit after tax, global operating margin and global funds under 
management. The relevant performance hurdles must be satisfied 
in order for awards to vest, but the hurdles can vest independently. 
The executive must remain with the Group until vesting date for the 
award to vest. The Personnel and Organisation Committee intends 
that these awards will vest in Lend Lease Group securities.

Retention Awards 
When the Board believes an employee is an outstanding performer 
and Lend Lease and its security holders will gain from incentivising 
him or her to remain with Lend Lease, a retention award may be 
made. As an incentive to remain with the Group requires a degree 
of certainty of value delivered to the individual at the end of the 
retention period, performance conditions are not generally applied 
to the ultimate payment of such an award.

Amounts Recognised in the Financial Statements
LTI awards are valued using a Monte-Carlo simulation 
methodology where the security price can be projected based on 
the assumptions underlying the Black-Scholes formula. Retention 
awards are valued by discounting the security price by the 
expected dividends assumed to be paid from the valuation date 
until the vesting date (if applicable). The model inputs include the 
Lend Lease Group security price, a risk free interest rate, expected 
volatility and dividend yield.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2010, a A$17.5 million 
expense was recognised in the income statement in relation 
to equity settled security based payment awards (June 2009: 
A$19.2 million). This was partially offset by a net accrual reversal 
of A$0.1 million (June 2009: A$9.7 million) relating to previously 
accrued expenses for employees who left the Company during 
the year.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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34. Key Management Personnel Disclosures
Key Management Personnel compensation details are set out in Section 3 of the Directors’ Report.

Equity Holdings and Transactions
Security Holdings Financial Year Ended 30 June 2010
   Securities Held  Securities  Securities Held 
   at Beginning Received Other Net at End of 
    of Financial  During Change to Financial 
  Year Year the Year1,2 Securities Year

Non Executive Directors
D Crawford 2010 48,128 25,465  73,593

  2009 33,895 14,233  48,128

P Colebatch 2010 10,891 7,432  18,323

  2009 5,767 5,124  10,891

G Edington 2010 31,323 8,745  40,068

  2009 26,484 4,839  31,323

P Goldmark 2010 20,703 4,091  24,794

  2009 15,579 5,124  20,703

J Hill  2010 10,233 4,091  14,324

  2009 5,109 5,124  10,233

D Ryan 2010 21,242 10,031  31,273

  2009 15,834 5,408  21,242

Former
M Selway3  2010 6,488 4,089 (10,577) 

  2009 4,000 2,488  6,488

Executive Director
S McCann 2010 73,301 112,508  185,809

  2009 2,367 70,934  73,301

Executive
S Charlton 2010  5,000  5,000

B Soller 2010 12,407 25,417  37,824

  2009 3,445 8,962  12,407

Former
G Clarke 2009 1,000 48,287 (49,287) 

R Taylor 2009 191,023 30,511 (221,534) 

Total  2010 234,716 206,869 (10,577) 431,008
Total  2009 304,503 201,034 (270,821) 234,716

1 Non Executive Directors’ security allocations relating to retirement benefits are made in arrears on 1 January each year. Refer to Section 3i of the Directors’ Report for further details.
2 For Executive Director and executives, relates to security entitlements under employee benefit vehicles.
3 M Selway retired effective 10 February 2010.

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The key management personnel compensation included in ‘Employee Benefit Expenses’ (refer to Note 5 ‘Other Operating (Income) 
and Expenses’) is as follows:

     June 2010  June 2009 
     A$000s A$000s

Short term employee benefits    6,971 8,059

Post employment benefits    148 5,864

Share based payments    2,917 1,047

Other long term benefits    37 25

     10,073 14,995

Loans to Key Management Personnel 
No loans were made to key management personnel or their related parties during the current year or prior year.

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel
From time to time Directors and executives of the Company or its consolidated entities, or parties related to them, may purchase 
goods from the consolidated entity. These purchases are on terms and conditions no more favourable than those entered into by 
unrelated customers. 
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35. Non Key Management Personnel Related Party Information
Consolidated Entities
Lend Lease Corporation Limited
Lend Lease Corporation Limited provides a wide range of corporate services to its consolidated entities. Corporate management fees 
are charged to these entities for these services. These services principally relate to:
–	 Administration,	company	secretarial,	accounting,	legal,	tax,	insurance,	information	technology	and	public	relations;
– Human resources and employee services including the administration of salaries and superannuation, the provision of a defined 

benefit plan for a number of Australian employees (refer to Note 17 ‘Defined Benefit Plan Asset’) and security based payment 
plans	(refer	to	Note	25	‘Reserves’	and	Note	33	‘Employee	Benefits’);	and

– Finance and treasury services, which includes working capital facilities and long term financing. Interest is earned or incurred 
only on long term loans provided to or drawn with subsidiaries based on project specific risks and returns. Outstanding balances 
arising from working capital facilities and long term financing are typically repayable on demand. In addition, financial guarantees 
are provided on the borrowings of subsidiaries for which guarantee fees are charged under normal terms and conditions.

The following represents the transactions that occurred during the financial year and the balances outstanding at the year end between 
Lend Lease Corporation Limited and its consolidated entities.
   Company

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Transactions

Corporate management fees    34.0 47.6

Guarantee fees    12.1 14.4

Dividend income    73.1 71.8

Outstanding balances (net of provisions raised)

Receivables    4,084.6 3,536.4

Payables    1,353.3 1,882.4

Consolidated Entities
Transactions that occurred during the financial year between entities in the Lend Lease Group include:
–	 Provision	of	project	management,	design	services,	construction	management	and	engineering	services	to	development	projects;
–	 Provision	of	payroll,	transaction	and	management	services;
–	 Provision	of	investment	management	services;
–	 Receipt	and	payment	of	superannuation	contributions;
–	 Reimbursements	of	expenses	made	on	behalf	of	subsidiaries;
–	 Loan	advances	and	repayments	between	subsidiaries;
–	 Premium	payments	and	receipts	for	the	Group’s	insurance	policies;	and
– Dividends received or due and receivable from subsidiaries. 

Associates and Joint Venture Entities
Interests held in associates and joint venture entities by Lend Lease are set out in Note 12 ‘Equity Accounted Investments’ to the 
financial statements.
Transactions between the Lend Lease Group and its associates and joint venture entities principally relate to:
–	 Retail	business:	provision	of	retail	property	management,	asset	management	and	development	services;	
– Communities business: development management services and the sale and purchase of development properties with 

Lend	Lease	managed	funds;
– Investment Management: provision of strategic investment advice, asset management and investment portfolio management 

services;	
–	 Project	Management,	Design	and	Construction:	provision	of	construction,	project	management	and	design	services;	and
– Public Private Partnerships business: provision of construction, project management and design services, and asset and facilities 

management services. Loan stock is also provided to projects on which interest is earned based upon project specific risks 
and returns. 

Lend Lease provides long term loans on which interest is earned based upon project specific risks and returns. A subordinated 
non interest bearing loan has been provided to an associate and at 30 June 2010 the loan balance was A$31.3 million. A non interest 
bearing loan has also been provided to a joint venture and at 30 June 2010 the loan balance was A$26.4 million.
Except as noted above, transactions and outstanding balances are typically on normal terms and conditions.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Revenue earned by Lend Lease during the year as a result of transactions with its associates and joint venture entities is as follows.

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Revenue

Provision of services

 Associates    267.7 307.0

 Joint venture entities    423.7 778.8

Other transactions and outstanding balances with associates and joint venture entities have been disclosed in Note 2 ‘Revenue’, Note 3 
‘Other Income’, Note 4 ‘Finance Costs’, Note 5 ‘Other Operating (Income) and Expenses’, Note 10 ‘Loans and Receivables’ and Note 18 
‘Trade and Other Payables’.

Managed Funds
Lend Lease holds investments in a number of property funds for which it is also the fund manager. In addition to those property 
funds classified as associates and joint venture entities (refer to above and Note 12 ‘Equity Accounted Investments’), Lend Lease 
holds interests in property funds which are classified as available for sale financial assets (refer to Note 14 ‘Other Financial Assets’).
Transactions between the Lend Lease Group and such property funds classified as available for sale are priced on a commercial basis. 
These transactions relate principally to:
–	 Investment	management:	provision	of	strategic	investment	advice,	asset	management	and	investment	portfolio	management;
– Asset management: provision of property management services, property portfolio advisory services, maintenance and 

insurances,	strategic	advice	and	management	supervision	services,	administration,	marketing	and	risk	management	services;	and
– Communities businesses: provision of property capital works, design and construction services, development and refurbishment, 

and the sale of development properties.

During the year the following transactions occurred.

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Revenue

Provision of services    51.2 60.3

36. Parent Entity Disclosures
The following summarises the financial information of the Group’s parent entity, Lend Lease Corporation Limited (‘the Company’), 
as at and for the year ended 30 June 2010.

   Company

     June 2010 June 2009 
     A$m A$m

Results

Loss after tax    (49.6) (36.0)

Other comprehensive income after tax    (0.2) 1.0

Total comprehensive income after tax    (49.8) (35.0)

Financial Position

Assets/Liabilities

Current assets    4,269.3 3,563.2

Non current assets    836.3 1,477.2

Total assets    5,105.6 5,040.4

Current liabilities    1,419.5 1,965.5

Non current liabilities    30.4 43.1

Total liabilities    1,449.9 2,008.6

Net assets    3,655.7 3,031.8

Issued capital    2,019.2 1,195.9

Treasury securities    (79.9) (88.2)

Reserves    203.3 195.5

Retained earnings    1,513.1 1,728.6

Total equity    3,655.7 3,031.8

Parent Entity Contingencies
In respect of the contingent liabilities to the Group disclosed in Note 26 ‘Contingent Liabilities’, the Company participates in the 
provision of guarantees of Group entities and manages the legal action in relation to the World Trade Center.

37. Events Subsequent to Balance Date
There were no material events subsequent to the end of the financial year.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Lend Lease Corporation Limited (‘the Company’):
1. The financial statements and notes and the remuneration disclosures contained in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ 

Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 a.  Giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and consolidated entity as at 30 June 2010 and of 

their	performance	for	the	financial	year	ended	on	that	date;	and
 b.  Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 

Corporations Regulations 2001.
2. The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.1.
3. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable.
4. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

D A Crawford, AO
Chairman

S B McCann
Managing Director

Sydney, 16 August 2010
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Lend Lease Corporation Limited 

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Group comprising Lend Lease Corporation Limited (the Company) and 
the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year, which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2010, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 1 to 37 and 
the directors’ declaration. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 
The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from 
material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error;	selecting	and	applying	appropriate	accounting	policies;	and	making	accounting	
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, 
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating 
to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which 
is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s financial position and of its performance. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended 

on	that	date;	and	
 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001.
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1.

Report on the remuneration report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 105 to 114 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2010. 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with 
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our 
audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Lend Lease Corporation Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, complies with 
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

 
KPMG C Hall
   Partner

Sydney
16 August 2010
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Securityholder Information 

Stock Exchange Listings and Code
Lend	Lease	Group	is	listed	on	the	Australian	and	the	New	Zealand	Stock	Exchanges	and	trades	under	the	code	LLC.	American	
Depositary Receipts In the US, Lend Lease securities are traded on the over-the-counter market in the form of sponsored American 
Depositary Receipts (ADRs) under the symbol LLESY. Each ADR represents one ordinary security. Information about ADRs is available 
from the depositary, The Bank of New York Mellon (www.adrbny.com).

Share Accumulation Plan
The Share Accumulation Plan is designed to be a convenient way for securityholders with a registered address in Australia or New 
Zealand	to	build	their	securityholdings	without	incurring	transaction	costs.
The laws of other countries make it difficult for us to offer securities in this way. Lend Lease securityholders are able to reinvest their 
distributions to acquire more Lend Lease securities through the Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRP) or the Share Election Plan (SEP). 
Securityholders may also make contributions of between A$500 and A$2,500 to acquire new Lend Lease securities under the Share 
Purchase Plan (SPP). Together the DRP, SEP and SPP constitute the Share Accumulation Plan.
The rules of each of these plans are set out in the Share Accumulation Plan Information Sheet. Copies are available on the Lend Lease 
website. Please note that the Share Election Plan and the Share Purchase Plan are currently suspended.

Annual Report
Securityholders have the option of receiving either: 
–	 a	full	statutory	annual	report;	or
– a securityholder review.

Lend Lease makes both the annual report and the securityholder review available online. A hard copy of one of either the annual report 
or the securityholder review will only be sent to those securityholders who elect to receive them in that form. In addition, you may elect 
to receive notification that the annual report and the securityholder review are available online. 

Privacy Legislation
Under Chapter 2C of the Corporations Act 2001, a securityholder’s information (including the name, address and details of securities 
held) is required to be included in Lend Lease’s public register. This information must continue to be included in Lend Lease’s public 
register for seven years after a person ceases to be a securityholder. These statutory obligations are not altered by the Privacy 
Amendment (Private Sector) Act 2000. Information is collected to administer the securityholder’s holding and if some or all of the 
information is not collected, then it might not be possible to administer the holding. Lend Lease’s privacy policy is available on 
our website.
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Distribution and Share Accumulation Plan Issue Price History

   Distribution 
Payment Date Distribution  per security Franking Rate DRP Price A$  SEP Price A$ SPP Price A$

24 September 2010 Final 12 cents 100% suspended suspended suspended

31 March 2010 Interim 20 cents 100% suspended suspended suspended

20 November 2009 In specie 0.1 cents 100% N/A N/A N/A

25  September 2009 Final  16 cents 100% 9.4997 suspended suspended

1 April 2009 Interim 25 cents 60% 5.292 suspended suspended

26 September 2008 Final 34 cents 45% 9.357 suspended suspended

26 March 2008 Interim 43 cents 40% suspended suspended suspended

12 September 2007 Final* 42 cents 50% suspended suspended suspended

27 March 2007 Interim* 35 cents 50% suspended suspended suspended

13 September 2006 Final* 31 cents 100% suspended 15.50 suspended

14 March 2006 Interim* 30 cents 100% suspended 13.32 suspended

14 September 2005 Final* 29 cents 100% suspended 13.14 suspended

8 March 2005 Interim* 28 cents Nil suspended suspended suspended

15 September 2004 Final* 26 cents Nil suspended suspended suspended

17 March 2004 Interim* 18 cents Nil suspended suspended suspended

18 September 2003 Final* 20 cents Nil  10.64 suspended suspended

19 March 2003 Interim* 10 cents 100% 8.71 8.71 8.71

19 September 2002 Final* 9 cents 100% 11.02 11.02 11.02

20 March 2002 Interim* 9 cents 100% 11.79 11.79 11.79

13 September 2001 Final* 8 cents 100% 10.97 suspended 10.97

14 March 2001 Interim* 13 cents Nil  14.85 suspended 14.85

14 September 2000 Final* 32 cents 100% 19.82 19.82 Suspended

15 March 2000 Interim* 32 cents 100% 20.34 20.34 20.34

16 September 1999 Final* 31 cents 100% 19.66 19.66 19.66

17 March 1999 Interim* 29 cents 100% 21.46 21.46 21.46

17 September 1998 Final 54 cents 100% 34.12 34.12 34.12

18 March 1998 Interim 53 cents 100% 35.06 35.06 35.06

18 September 1997 Final  50 cents 100% 30.48 30.48 30.48

19 March 1997 Interim 48 cents 100% 23.41 23.41 23.41

1 November 1996 Final 47 cents 100% 20.71 20.71 20.71

29 March 1996 Interim 43 cents 100% 17.47 17.47 n/a

3 November 1995 Final 38 cents 100% 16.89 16.89 n/a

28 June 1995 2nd interim 11 cents 100% 16.84 16.84 n/a

31 March 1995 Interim 36 cents 100% 15.08 15.08 n/a

28 October 1994  Final 36 cents 100% 15.18 15.18 n/a

27 June  1994 2nd Interim 10 cents 100% 15.10 15.10 n/a

13 April 1994 Interim  34 cents 100% 16.10 16.10 n/a

22 October 1993 Final 33 cents 100%  suspended suspended n/a

15 July 1993 Special 10 cents Nil 12.79 12.79 n/a

29 March 1993 Interim 33 cents 100% suspended suspended n/a

*1:1  bonus issue was implemented in December 1998.
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Securityholder Information continued

Security Information at a Glance at 31 August 2010 (31 August 2009)

   2010 2009

Number of securityholders 55,492 52,684

Units issued 566 million 458 million

Percentage owned by 20 largest securityholders 75.47% 73.93%

Interim dividend 20 cents per security 25 cents per security 
   (100% franked) (60% franked)

Final dividend 12 cents per security 16 cents per security 
   (100% franked) (100% franked)

Total dividend1 32.1 cents per security 41 cents per security

Dividend payout ratio2 50% 61%

1  Total dividend includes ‘in specie’ dividend of Lend Lease units of 0.1 cents per security.
2 Operating profit excludes unrealised property investment revaluations. Distributions include interim and final distributions. June 2010 also includes dividend ‘in specie’ of Lend Lease 

Trust units of 0.1 cents per security

Spread of Securityholdings
Details of the spread of securityholdings at 31 August 2010 (31 August 2009) are as follows:

   2010 2009

1 to 1,000 securities 28,765 30,783

1,001 to 5,000 22,059 18,985

5,001 to 10,000 3,089 2,230

10,001 to 100,000 1,606 1,089

100,001 securities and over 100 93

Total number of securityholders 55,619 53,180

   3,491 2,742 
Securityholders with less than a marketable parcel (representing 99,002 securities) (representing 59,884 securities)
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Twenty Largest Securityholders at 31 August 2010

    No. of  % of Issued 
Name   Units  Capital

National Nominees Limited  105,887,229 18.72

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  101,804,625 18.00

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  91,989,598 16.27

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  21,315,486 3.77

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited  19,669,413 3.48

LL Employee Holdings Custodian Pty Limited  14,914,384 2.64

AMP Life Limited  12,013,788 2.12

LL Employee Holdings Custodian Pty Ltd  11,610,202 2.05

ANZ	Nominees	Limited	 	 8,161,165	 1.44

Australian Reward Investment Alliance  6,997,447 1.24

LL Employee Holdings Custodian Pty Limited  6,548,940 1.16

Tasman Asset Management Ltd  5,142,974 0.91

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited  4,340,054 0.77

Argo Investments Limited  3,437,063 0.61

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited  3,082,979 0.55

Queensland Investment Corporation  2,387,469 0.42

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd  2,242,090 0.40

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd  2,005,217 0.35

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  1,736,808 0.31

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  1,527,045 0.27

     75.48

Substantial Securityholders as Shown in the Company’s Register at 31 August 2010

   Date of Last  No. of % of Issued 
Name  Notice Received Units Capital 

Balanced Equity Management Pty Ltd 20 May 2010 47,187,674 8.34

LL Employee Holdings Custodian Pty Limited1 15 March 2010 34,626,669 6.63

Ausbil Dexia Limited 15 March 2010 27,495,153 5.27

National Australia Bank Limited 15 March 2010 26,957,677 5.16

1 This is a Lend Lease employee benefit vehicle.
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BBB–/Baa3 (stable)
Credit rating (Standard & Poor’s/Moody’s)

$10.1 billion
Funds under management

55,492
Total number of securityholders

11,094
Total number of employees

   Cover: Urban regeneration is a core competency for Lend Lease.  
The cover shows Lend Lease Jacksons Landing team members in 
front of the Evolve apartment building at Jacksons Landing community 
development on Sydney Harbour. See the inside back cover for full details. 

1.  Distributions include interim and final distributions. June 2010 also includes 
a dividend ‘in specie’ of Lend Lease Trust units of 0.1 cents per security.

2.  Operating Profit after Tax excludes net property investment revaluation  
gains/losses.

3.  Earnings per security is calculated based on Operating Profit after Tax 
and the weighted average number of securities on issue including treasury 
securities. June 2009 has been adjusted by a factor of 1.02 in respect of 
new securities issued during March and April 2010 via a 5 for 22 single  
book build accelerated renounceable entitlement offer at $7.70 per security.

4. Based on operating profit after tax from operating businesses.

Performance at a glance 
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 *  Exact dates will be confirmed on the Lend Lease website  
Investor Relations section at www.lendlease.com in due course

Important dates to remember*

February  Announcement of Half Year Results

March  Security price quoted ex distribution

March  Interim distribution record date

March  Interim distribution payable

August  Announcement of Full Year Results

August  Security price quoted ex distribution

August  Final distribution record date

September  Final distribution payable

November  Annual General Meeting

Contribution by segment4

 12% Investment management

 14% Public private partnerships

 15% Retail 

 20%  Project management, 
design and construction 

 39% Communities 
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Contribution by geography4
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 7% Americas

 28% Europe 

 65% Asia Pacific

Lend Lease is a member of the Dow Jones Sustainability 
World Index which is used by DJSI licensed asset managers 
to manage investments worth close to US$8 billion each year.

* All financial amounts in this report are in Australian Dollars 
unless otherwise specified 

 Lend Lease Corporation Limited ABN 32 000 226 228

 Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited ABN 72 122 883 185 
AFS Licence 308983 as responsible entity for  
Lend Lease Trust ABN 39 944 184 773 ARSN 128 052 595

Our philosophy 
Founded in Sydney in 1958 by 
Dutch immigrant and innovator 
Dick Dusseldorp, Lend Lease 
was born out of a vision to 
create a company that could 
successfully combine four 
disciplines: property, financing, 
development and investment. 
Our vision is to be the leading 
international property company. 

We are committed to being 
Incident & Injury Free wherever 
we have a presence. We 
are committed to creating 
and building innovative and 
sustainable solutions, forging 
partnerships and delivering 
strong investment returns. 
Sustainability has been an 
integral part of our culture, as 
we believe every action adds up. 
Through design and investment 
in new technologies, we are 
delivering the next generation 
of sustainable property solutions. 

Our philosophy, coupled with our 
integrated capabilities, enables us 
to deliver the best outcomes for 
our securityholders, our clients, 
our partners and our employees.

Together… 

Front cover: Urban regeneration is a core competency for Lend Lease. 
Jacksons Landing is a major mixed-use residential and commercial 
development on the Pyrmont peninsula, on Sydney Harbour. The 
cover shows Lend Lease Jacksons Landing team members in front of 
the Evolve apartment building. (L-R) Trent English, Bovis Lend Lease 
structure foreman; Jennifer Cooper, Vivas Lend Lease senior development 
manager; Peter Sheehan, Bovis Lend Lease site manager; and 
Tarah Spencer, Vivas Lend Lease marketing manager.

Contact details

Lend Lease Corporation Limited ABN 32 000 226 228

Incorporated in NSW Australia and

Lend Lease Responsible Entity Limited ABN 72 122 883 185

AFS Licence 308983 as responsible entity for 

Lend Lease Trust ABN 39 944 184 773 ARSN 128 052 595

Registered Office

Level 4, 30 The Bond 

30 Hickson Road Millers Point 

NSW 2000 Australia

Contact

T: 61 (2) 9236 6111

F: 61 (2) 9252 2192

W: www.lendlease.com

Environmentally Friendly in Every Way

Environmental Credentials Statement 
The cover and editorial section of this Report are printed on Nordset, 
an environmentally responsible paper produced from FSC (Mixed Sources) 
CoC certified pulp from Well Managed Forests, is Elemental Chlorine 
Free (ECF) and is made Carbon Neutral. The greenhouse gas emissions 
produced from the transport, processing and manufacture of the wood 
pulp to the delivery to Raleigh Paper’s clients (the cradle to gate lifecycle) 
has been calculated, offset and certified by the Carbon Reduction 
Institute (CRI). Raleigh Paper has purchased carbon offset credits under 
the Voluntary Carbon Standard to offset these emissions. Nordset is 
manufactured by Nordland Papier, a company certified with environmental 
management systems ISO14001 and EMAS, the EU Eco-Management 
and Audit Scheme (Reg.No.D-162-00007) Nordset has also been awarded 
the EU “Flower” eco-label certification.

The financials of this Report are printed on Sumo Offset Laser. It is an 
environmentally responsible papers manufactured under the environmental 
management system ISO14001 using Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) 
pulp sourced from sustainable, well managed forests. Sumo Offset Laser 
is FSC Chain of Custody (CoC) certified (mixed sources).

Printing specifications
The cover and editorial of this Report are printed using vegetable based 
inks and varnish. These inks are biodegradable. They do not harm the 
environment.

Corporate directory

Annual General Meeting 2010

The 2010 General Meeting 
of Lend Lease Corporation 
Limited and Meeting 
of Securityholders of 
Lend Lease Trust will be 
held at 10am on Thursday 
11 November 2010 at 
The Four Seasons Hotel, 
199 George Street, Sydney. 
Full details are contained 
in the Notice of Meeting 
sent with this Report.

precinct.com.au

Cert no. SGS-COC-003898

2011 Financial Calendar

February  Announcement of Half Year Results

March  Interim distribution payable

August  Announcement of Full Year Results

September  Final distribution payable

November  Annual General Meeting



Lend Lease is committed to 
creating and delivering innovative 
and sustainable solutions 
for future generations.

Creating  
for generations

“ Our future lies in building relationships with all 
stakeholders to deliver the best outcomes imaginable. 
Our leadership in sustainable practices ensures this 
will be achieved.”

 Steve McCann, Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, Lend Lease

lendlease.com
2010 Annual Report 
to Securityholders Lend Lease


